
 

 
 

 
Tuesday, 16 November 2021 
 

 

Trafford Town Hall 

Talbot Road 
Stretford 

M32 0TH 
 
Dear Councillor, 

 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Council of the Borough of Trafford on  
WEDNESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2021, at 7.00 PM in the WESLEY HALL, THE 
LIFECENTRE, 235 WASHWAY ROAD, SALE, M33 4BP, for the transaction of the 

business set out below: 
 

Note: As the Council continues to manage the risk of Covid-19, public attendance at 

this meeting will be limited and anyone wishing to attend is asked to contact 
democratic.services@trafford.gov.uk to register in advance. The Council has a duty 
to protect the health, safety and welfare of staff and others from Covid transmission 

risks so far as is reasonably practicable and all attendees are reminded of the need 
for self-isolation where positive cases and contacts have been identified. 

 
Please note that the meeting will also be streamed live via the following link: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg in line with the 

principles of openness and transparency in local government. 
 

  Pages  

1.  Minutes   

 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held 
on 13 October 2021 for signature by the Mayor as Chair of the Council. 
 

 
 

 
1 - 24 

2.  Announcements   

 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, 
Members of the Executive, Chairs of Scrutiny Committees and the Head of 
Paid Service. 

 

 

3.  Questions By Members   

 
This is an opportunity for Members of Council to ask the Mayor, Members of 
the Executive or the Chairs of any Committee or Sub-Committee a question 

on notice under Procedure Rule 10.2. 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@trafford.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg


Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

4.  Petition - No Cones on Chester Road   

 
To consider the following petition requiring debate: 

 
The cones on the A56 need to be removed.  A new and improved solution 
with local public consultation to allow better access for all road users. 

 
Local social media forums are full of this very lively debate. The cones cause 

standing traffic and therefore greater emissions in an area where there are 4 
primary schools in close proximity. The residents and businesses in Gorse 
Hill are effectively boxed in on 3 sides as drivers, the only exits lead onto the 

A56. At the traffic lights on Thomas Street turning right is much more 
problematic across the box junction which has standing traffic and an 

immediate right turn lane onto Davyhulme Road East. We need that other 
lane open and further information from the public on the other problem areas. 
 

Key workers are struggling to attend their clients, ambulances are being 
delayed. The cones are affecting our use of our roads detrimentally. 

Drivers are constantly commenting on the scarcity of cyclists in the lanes and 
increase of accidents and near misses. 
 

We feel the cones were quite literally sneaked in during lockdown without an 
effective public consultation. 
 

Some residents say they have written to Trafford Council and have been 
informed the cones are there to stay. A review is clearly needed. 

 
Note: In accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme, a petition 
containing more than 500 signatures will be debated by the Council. The 

petition organiser will be given five minutes to present the petition and 
then it will be discussed by the Council for a maximum of 15 minutes. 

 

 

5.  Corporate Plan Refresh 2021-24   

 

To consider a report of the Executive Member for Covid-19 Recovery and 
Reform, which is anticipated to be referred from the Executive Meeting held 

on 22 November 2021. 
 
[PLEASE NOTE: The Corporate Plan Refresh brochure will be circulated 

under separate cover in advance of the Executive Meeting.] 
 

 
 

 
 

25 - 66 

6.  Trafford Climate Emergency Progress Report   

 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Environmental and 

Regulatory Services providing the Executive’s response to the Climate 
Change Task and Finish Group report and recommendations. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
67 - 106 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

7.  Gambling Act 2005 - Statement of Gambling Principles 2022-2025   

 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Environmental and 

Regulatory Services referred from the Executive meeting held on 
22 November 2021. 
 

 

 
 

 
107 - 190 

8.  Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private 
Hire - Stage 2 Recommendations Report (Vehicles)   

 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Environmental and 
Regulatory Services referred from the Executive meeting held on 

22 November 2021. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

191 - 284 

9.  Motions   

 
To consider the following motions submitted in accordance with Procedure 

Rule 11: 
 

 

(a)   Motion Submitted by the Labour Group - End Misogyny and 
Violence against Women and Girls   

 

The Council notes: 
 

· Across the UK misogyny, harassment and violence towards 
women and girls is endemic. 

 
· Like women and girls across the country, our residents suffer 

harassment and abuse every single day. A 2021 YouGov national 
survey on behalf of UN Women UK found that among women 
aged 18-24, 97% said they had been sexually harassed, while 

80% of women of all ages said they had experienced sexual 
harassment in public spaces. 

 
· The Office for National Statistics reported that last year alone 

618,000 women were victims of a sexual assault or an attempted 
sexual assault by a man. 

 

· In the year to March 2020, just 1.4% of rape cases recorded by 
police resulted in a suspect being charged (or receiving a 

summons). 
 

· That the Law Commission is currently reviewing all current hate 
crime legislation to consider whether any additional 

characteristics, including misogyny, should be granted legal 
protection, and is due to report back to Parliament in 2021. 

 

· The Government announced in March that from Autumn Police 
Forces will record misogyny as a hate crime on an ‘experimental 

basis’, following years of Campaigning from Women’s Groups 
and campaigners. 

Continued … 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

· In Trafford, the birthplace of Emeline Pankhurst, we are proud of 

our history and connections to the Women’s rights movement. We 
want Trafford to be a safe place for our women and girls and will 

support organisations who have continually fought for the safety 
and protection of women. 

 
· Studies have shown that the intersectional nature of 

discrimination means that women with additional protected 
characteristics, such as those who are from Black, Asian or 
Ethnic Minority communities, disabled or LGBT+, are even more 

likely to experience harassment, discrimination and abuse. 
 

The Council resolves: 
 
· To ensure that Trafford Council continues to do everything in its 

power to build a borough free from misogyny and violence against 
women and girls. 

 
· It is vital that women’s and girl’s voices are heard; and that the 

Council will bring forward a process that proactively encourages 
and listens to women’s voices across the wards. This task force 

will involve all women Councillors. 
 
· That the newly refreshed Domestic Abuse strategy will strengthen 

support for victims, and will deliver safe accommodation for 
women and their children in Trafford. 

 
· To call on the Government to listen to the lived experience of 

women and girls across our country and to urgently act on any 
recommendations the commission makes to strengthen the law 

on hate crime, and to reform legislation around harassment 
to recognise as an offence a ‘course of conduct’ which targets 
women and girls in their community. 

 
· To call on the Government to provide the legislation, resource 

and funding for police forces across the UK to effectively tackle 
harassment, misogyny and domestic abuse. 

 
· To call on Greater Manchester Police to record harassment of 

women as a hate crime as soon as possible. 
 
· To adopt the Greater Manchester’s recently published Violence 

against Women and Girls Strategy. 

 
· To become a White Ribbon Accredited Organisation. 

 
 
 

 
 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

(b)   Motion Submitted by the Labour Group - Future Trafford Park and 

Just Transition to a Greener Economy   

 

Council recognises that in order to tackle the climate crisis we must 
tackle the emissions caused by industrial practices and ensure a just 
transition to a greener economy. In Trafford this need is particularly 

acute as the home of Trafford Park, a key economic centre in the 
north-west region but also a major driver of carbon emissions in 

Trafford. 
   
Whilst many of the levers needed to drive this transition are controlled 

by national government, Council recognises that there are steps we 
can take locally to support this work and facilitate change in Trafford 

Park. 
  
Council therefore welcomes news of the Local Authority’s three 

successful bids to the Greater Manchester Evergreen Fund under the 
umbrella of ‘Future Trafford Park’ which focus on the following issues: 

 
-  Low Carbon Park: to identify the opportunity for new, carbon 

neutral and sustainable forms of power generation in the Park 

and potential sites. The investment and job creation potential of a 
low carbon Park will also be identified in terms of the green 
economy and its facets; along with practical measures for how 

existing businesses can future-proof to achieve a low carbon 
Park. 

  
- Greening Trafford Park: produce a ‘greening’ infrastructure 

framework for the Park to reduce carbon emissions through 

environmental and infrastructure improvements. This will cover 
measures to improve the visual appearance of the Park through 

sustainable greening, and improvements to transport infrastructure 
focusing on active travel, public transport and the better utilisation 
of the existing rail line and stations. 

 
–  Trafford Wharfside Development Framework: produce a 

Development Framework; with accompanying Delivery Strategy 
and Masterplan with design code, to identify how this important 
area should operate as a ‘place’, guide future development and 

enable the Council to facilitate the delivery of opportunity sites in 
a planned and sustainable way. 

 
In particular Council appreciates that the Low Carbon Park element of 
this work is crucial to working towards a just transition and securing a 

greener future for Trafford Park. 
  

Council notes that the successful bids will fund activity to develop 
business cases to move all three strands of our ‘Greening Trafford 
Park’ work forward. Council requests that a briefing is offered to all 

members by those preparing the business case for broader investment 
once they are appointed and work is underway. 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

(c)   Motion Submitted by the Conservative Group - GMCA Scrutiny   

 
This Council notes that: 

 
- The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) is the 

combined authority for Greater Manchester and is jointly run by 

the leaders of the ten Greater Manchester districts along with the 
elected Mayor;  

 

- Trafford residents are further directly affected by GMCA as it has 

a range of boards, panels and committees which look specifically 
at areas like transport, health and social care, planning and 

housing; 
 
- GMCA has 3 Overview and Scrutiny Committees which are the 

Greater Manchester Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the Greater Manchester Economy, Business 

Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Greater Manchester Housing Planning and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. There are also other 

committees which perform a scrutiny function such as the Police, 
Fire and Crime Panel; 

 
- The role of the scrutiny committees is to review or scrutinise 

decisions made, or other actions taken by the GMCA and the 

Mayor; to make reports or recommendations to the GMCA or the 
Mayor concerning the discharge of their functions that are the 

responsibility of the GMCA; to make reports or recommendations 
to the GMCA or the Mayor on matters that affect the GMCA's 
area or the inhabitants of the area; to Call-In decisions made by 

the GMCA or the Mayor and to establish formal sub committees 
or informal task and finish groups if they wish;  

 
- To make scrutiny committee meetings quorate, two-thirds, that is 

ten committee members must be present for a meeting to be 

quorate.  The two thirds requirement also applies to sub 
committees; and 

 
- From 1 January to 5 November 2021, 3 out of 6 Greater 

Manchester Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee meetings have been cancelled, 3 out of 6 
Greater Manchester Economy, Business Growth and Skills 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings have been cancelled 
and 3 out of 9 Greater Manchester Housing Planning and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny meetings have been 

cancelled.  
 

Continued … 

 

 
 

 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

This Council believes that: 

 
- The scrutiny committees have not been able to undertake their 

scrutiny function effectively due to the number of meetings being 
cancelled due to non-attendance by Members; and 

 

- Article 7 of The Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 

2017 which imposes a duty on a combined authority to respond to 
reports and recommendations of overview and scrutiny committee 
is being impeded through a reduction in the volume of reports and 

recommendations being produced due to cancelled meetings. 
 

This Council resolves: 
 

- For the Chief Executive of the Council to write to the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester, the Chief Executive of the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority and the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to request that: 
 

- The Mayor of Greater Manchester attends scrutiny 
committee meetings when he has indicated that he would do 

so; and  
 
- Scrutiny arrangements with the Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority are improved and that the promised 
review of scrutiny arrangements in Greater Manchester is a 

meaningful one and commenced as soon as possible. 
 

(d)   Motion Submitted by the Conservative Group - Public 

Consultations   

 

This Council notes that: 
 

- Public Consultations are a vital way of getting residents involved 

and influencing important local decisions. Consulting ensures 
better decisions, builds understanding and helps progress 

towards consensus and should be at a stage when there is still 
scope to influence policy outcome. Considering stakeholders’ 
views early into the process, stimulates debate and helps ensure 

all policy options are taken into account. 
 

- Trafford Council primarily uses the online platform ‘Citizen Space’ 
to host its public consultations.   

 

 This Council believes that: 
 

- More thought needs to be given on when public consultations are 
held and how long they run for. Conducting important  
 

Continued … 

 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

consultations such as on the Hale and Sale Moor Place Plans, 

during the summer months of a pandemic for example will not 
achieve the level of engagement desired; and 

 
- Trafford Council relies predominantly on people looking for 

information and visiting Council and social media platforms. A 

more proactive approach, such as a direct mail shot would 
encourage greater involvement. 

 
This Council resolves: 
 

- To listen to and engage with all residents and not the selected 
few; 

 
- To  review when public consultations take place and how long 

they are open for; and 

 
- To ensure groups that need to be included in consultations are 

included with the option to either send a consultation response 
back digitally or via a paper-based copy free of charge. 

 

(e)   Motion Submitted by the Green Party Group - Bikeability Training 
for Children Who Missed Out During the COVID-19 Pandemic   

 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, 4,729 Year 6 pupils missed out on 
Bikeability training among the 2019-20 and 2020-21 year groups in 

Trafford. The cost of training the children is normally covered by a 
grant from the Department for Transport (£40 per child trained). 
  

This Council will: 
 

- work with Trafford’s secondary schools to ensure that every child, 
that has previously missed out and is able to participate, receives 
Bikeability (or equivalent) training prior to starting Year 10. 

 
- work with TfGM, Sports England and other funding bodies to fund 

the training, or, as necessary, consider prioritising for funding as 
part of its 2021-22 budget. 

 

 

Yours sincerely,  

 
SARA SALEH 

Deputy Chief Executive 
 
 

 



Council - Wednesday, 24 November 2021 

   
 

 

Membership of the Council 

 
Councillors L. Walsh (Mayor), C. Boyes (Deputy Mayor), D. Acton, S. Adshead, 

A. Akinola, J.M. Axford, Dr. K. Barclay, J. Bennett, Miss L. Blackburn, J. E. Brophy, 
B. Brotherton, D. Bunting, D. Butt, T. Carey, Dr. S. Carr, G. Carter, K.G. Carter, 
D.N. Chalkin, R. Chilton, G. Coggins, M. Cordingley, L. Dagnall, J. Dillon, N. Evans, 

M. Freeman, S.J. Gilbert, J. Harding, B. Hartley, W. Hassan, S. J. Haughey, J. Holden, 
C. Hynes, D. Jarman, D. Jerrome, J. Lamb, J. Lloyd, S. Longden, S. Maitland, 

M. Minnis, M. Mirza, A. Mitchell, D. Morgan, P. Myers, A. New, J.D. Newgrosh, 
D.C. O'Sullivan, E. Patel, K. Procter, T. Ross, J. Slater, S. Taylor, S. Thomas, 
R. Thompson, M.J. Welton, A. Western, D. Western, M.P. Whetton, G. Whitham, 

A.M. Whyte, A.J. Williams, B.G. Winstanley, J.A. Wright and Mrs. P. Young. 
 

 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 

 
Ian Cockill, Governance Officer 

Tel: 0161 912 1387 
Email: ian.cockill@trafford.gov.uk  
 
This Summons was issued on Tuesday, 16 November 2021 by the Governance 

Services Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford M32 0TH 
 

 
1. 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

TRAFFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

13 OCTOBER 2021 
 

PRESENT  

 
The Worshipful the Mayor (Councillor Laurence Walsh), in the Chair. 

 
C. Boyes 

D. Acton 
S. Adshead 
A. Akinola 

J.M. Axford 
Dr. K. Barclay 

Miss L. Blackburn 
J. E. Brophy 
B. Brotherton 

D. Bunting 
D. Butt 

Dr. S. Carr 
K.G. Carter 
G. Coggins 

M. Cordingley 
N. Evans 

M. Freeman 
 

S.J. Gilbert 

J. Harding 
W. Hassan 
S. J. Haughey 

J. Holden 
D. Jarman 

D. Jerrome 
J. Lamb 
J. Lloyd 

S. Maitland 
M. Minnis 

M. Mirza 
A. Mitchell 
D. Morgan 

P. Myers 
A. New 

J.D. Newgrosh 
 

E. Patel 

K. Procter 
T. Ross 
J. Slater 

S. Taylor 
S. Thomas 

R. Thompson 
M.J. Welton 
A. Western 

D. Western 
M.P. Whetton 

A.M. Whyte 
A.J. Williams 
B.G. Winstanley 

J.A. Wright 
Mrs. P. Young 

 

In  attendance 

 
Deputy Chief Executive   S. Saleh 

Corporate Director of Governance and Community 
Strategy 

J. Le Fevre 

Governance Manager J. Addison 

Business Support Officer E. Gorman 
Senior Governance Officer I. Cockill 
 
APOLOGIES 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J. Bennett, T. Carey, 
G. Carter, D.N. Chalkin, R. Chilton, L. Dagnall, J. Dillon, B. Hartley, C. Hynes, 

S. Longden, D.C. O'Sullivan and G. Whitham. 
 

29. MINUTES  

 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 28 July 2021, be approved 

as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



  2 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

30. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

Coronavirus Infections 
 
The Leader of the Council provided an update on Covid Infection Rates which in 

recent days had seen Trafford record the highest infections in the country per 
100,000 head of population and advised Members that the Council was taking all 

steps to bring the rate of infection under control. The primary cause of the spike 
was believed to be a significant surge in infections in the school age population 
and the Council would continue to work with public health officers and take their 

advice on the steps needed to be taken. The key message for all residents was 
not to panic and to follow the basic principles of public health guidance and to take 

sensible steps such as regularly sanitising hands and social distancing where 
appropriate. 
 

31. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS  

 

The Mayor reported that the following 4 questions had been received under 
Procedure Rule 10.2 and that in accordance with the procedure rules, full written 
answers were to be provided to the questioners at a later date and additionally the 

responses would be published on the Council’s website. 
 

Question 1 - Submitted by Councillor Butt 
 

“Can the Executive Member for Culture and Leisure tell me which parks have 

damaged play equipment, what items are damaged and when will the equipment 
be repaired?” 

 
Question 2 - Submitted by Councillor Morgan 
 

“Recently, some Trafford households received a letter with a Trafford Council logo 
on it in a GMCA envelope telling the householder that they may be eligible for a 

government backed Green Homes Grant. Can the Executive Member for 
Environmental and Regulatory Services, whose name was on the letter tell me 
how must it cost to design and deliver the letter, who funded it and how was it 

decided which homes received the letter?” 
 

Question 3 - Submitted by Councillor Mirza 
 

“The Hong Kong British National (Overseas) (BN(O)) visa opened on 31 January 

2021 and delivers on the UK Government’s historic and moral commitment to the 
people of Hong Kong. As many families from Hong Kong have settled in Trafford 

through the visa programme we have as Conservatives councillors reached out to 
them and welcomed them but it is vital we get it right as a council. Specifically 
relating to accessing English courses (ESOL), can the Executive Member for 

Communities and Partnerships tell me what the timeline and plan is to make new 
arrivals from Hong Kong aware of the language courses available?” 

 
 
 

Page 2



  3 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Question 4 – Submitted by Councillor Morgan 
 

“Can I ask the Deputy Leader of the Council and Executive Member for Children’s 
Services what plans the Council have to support the National Adoption Week 
beginning next Monday?” 

 
32. GREEN PARTY GROUP LEADERSHIP AND MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES  

 
The Council was informed of changes to the leadership of the Green Party Group 
and were requested to note a number of consequential changes to the 

membership of Committees, as agreed by the Deputy Chief Executive under 
delegated authority. 

 
Councillor Jerrome placed on record his thanks to Councillor Coggins for leading 
the Green Party as a new Group on the Council and for her accomplishments in 

that time, making a positive difference for the residents of the Borough.  
 

RESOLVED: That the Council notes: 
 

(a) Green Party Group Leadership 

 
 With effect from 6 September 2021, Councillor Coggins stood down as 

Leader of the Green Party Group with Councillor Jerrome becoming 
Group Leader and Councillor Welton Deputy Leader. 

 

(b) Accounts and Audit Committee 
 

 Councillor Jerrome replaced Councillor Coggins as a member of the 
Accounts and Audit Committee, with effect from 6 September 2021. 

 

(c) Planning and Development Management Committee 
 

 With effect from 6 September 2021, Councillor Welton replaced 
Councillor Jerrome as a member of the Planning and Development 
Management Committee and consequently, Councillor Jerrome was 

appointed to the Substitute member position previously held by 
Councillor Welton. 

 
(d)  Standards Committee 
 

 Councillor Jerrome replaced Councillor Coggins as a member of the 
Standards Committee, with effect from 6 September 2021. 

 
(e)  Licensing Committee and Public Protection Sub- Committee 
 

 Councillor Coggins replaced Councillor Welton on the Licensing 
Committee and as a member of the Public Protection Sub-Committee, 

with effect from 6 September 2021. 
 
 

Page 3



  4 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

33. PETITION - NO ROADS ACROSS CARRINGTON MOSS  

 

Lead petitioner, Anna Chopping introduced the following petition containing 1632 
signatures, which had been presented to the Council: 
 

“We respectfully request that Trafford Council do not agree to build any new 
roads across or through Carrington Moss. The proposal to build a bridge across 

the Manchester Ship Canal, as set out in Trafford’s 2012 Core Strategy, should 
be fully explored. We believe this would be a much more effective solution to 
alleviate the existing traffic problems in the area, without impacting the health 

and wellbeing of the local populations of both humans and wildlife.” 
 

The lead petitioner explained that, as a resident of Carrington Village and 
Secretary of the Friends of Carrington Moss, she spoke on behalf of all those local 
signatories overwhelmed by development in their area and requested that the 

Council give consideration to 3 main requests for: 
 

- more consultation; 
- alternative options to the building of roads across Carrington Moss; and 
- more consideration of the environmental impact of the road proposal in the 

wake of the climate emergency. 
 

Explaining that local people were feeling powerless and fearful as well as angry 
that planning and development appeared to be carried out despite, rather than for 
the community, residents were requesting a seat at the table and involvement at 

the design stage of plans for their locality. To date there had not been any 
consultation with the local community regarding the strategic agenda for the 

Carrington Relief Road. Carrington Village was desperate to stop the large 
number of HGVs on the roads in their village but the proposal did not promise to 
deliver any benefits or ‘relief’ to residents suffering daily from the vehicles. Rather 

than health, wellbeing and basic safety, the key objective of scheme was about 
increasing capacity to deliver growth. 

 
Regarding alternative options there was no discussion about alternative tram or 
train connections or options to make safer, more sustainable transport choices 

that reduce the reliance on cars or even a commitment to improve public transport. 
It was understood that there was time limited external funding for the scheme 

which could be at risk, however, a decision now would ultimately cost more in the 
long term to the local environment and habitat. Emphasising that the Friends 
Group was not anti-development and wished to engender progressive change, 

professional reviews, however, by the Countryside Charity, Natural England and 
the Cheshire and Lancashire Wildlife Trusts, of the places for everyone proposals 

were damning and an appeal was made to Members to read them as there was 
nowhere else in Trafford as unique as Carrington Moss. 
 

Councillor Wright the Executive Member for Housing and Regeneration and 
Councillors Evans, Newgrosh and Coggins responded to the petition on behalf of 

the political parties and made the following points: 
 

Page 4



  5 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Councillor Wright: Sustainable development was the main issue and how to 
provide the social and economic opportunities that current and future residents 

need without sacrificing environmental assets. The Council was not promoting 
transport improvements which included a new road without good reason with 
the aim of providing people a home of their own and the prosperity and 

opportunity that derived from full and secure employment. A full assessment of 
route options was undertaken and a new route was considered more beneficial 

than one based on the current road. In terms of the impact on any peat moss, 
investigations had been undertaken in relation to potential carbon emissions 
due to peat/soil disturbance and a thin layer of peat was found in an isolated 

trial hole that in itself was insufficient to change the overall carbon performance 
of the two routes. It should be noted that the peat was not expected to be 

disturbed. A full environment scoping report would be prepared for the planning 
application which was the appropriate stage for the detailed assessment and 
Natural England would be consulted as part of the process. 

 
Inconsistency was suggested with the petition regarding road building with 

objection to roads to the east of the area, whilst they were acceptable to the 
west. The Carrington Relief Road was a part of a series of transport measures 
planned for the area and would provide safe cycling to the rest of Trafford for 

the first time. Combined with Greater Manchester reform it would facilitate 
swifter links by bus, however, the road on its own would never be an answer to 

the transport challenges of the area. The Council subscribed to the Transport 
for Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy, which was clear that 
fundamental change in the way we travel was vital for future movements in the 

City Region.  
 

For Carrington, reuse of the former rail corridor was proposed for green travel 
and links to the adjacent areas of Trafford and the Metrolink and also the 
Council was in discussion with Salford Council regarding the use of the 

Cadishead viaduct and links to Irlam station. A bridge could compliment 
planned transport improvements but it was not viewed as a substitute for them. 

 
The Council was taking a responsible approach of tackling transport problems 
in the present and the link road was a vital component in a planned suite of 

improvements. 
 

Councillor Evans: There was no doubt improved access was needed to the 
area with multiple homes planned. Alternatives to the current road had been 
explored over numerous years and he suggested that the Council should be 

bold and perhaps imagine re-instating the Moss and to come up with a different 
solution. 

 
Councillor Newgrosh: Supported the petition and the suggestion that all of 
Trafford would benefit from the re-instatement of the railway in the area, whilst if 

improved road links were needed, a bridge to the west would work from an 
ecological and sustainable solution rather than a road over moss. 

 
Councillor Coggins: Spoke of the issues associated with the proposed road: 
 

Page 5



  6 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

- biodiversity loss in one of Trafford’s wildest and greenest spaces; 
- carbon emissions and air pollution from the extra traffic it would invite over 

many decades; 
- the lost carbon sequestration opportunities as a result of building over 

degraded wetland rather than restoration; and 

- the potential health and wellbeing impact through increased car 
dependence.  

 
Carrington and Partington were struggling with congestion and poor transport 
options but measures were available to the Council to tackle them. Whilst there 

was evidence of new roads attracting new traffic, no modelling had been 
undertaken on projected usage and congestion.  

 
Following the discussion the Leader of the Council, Councillor Andrew Western 
thanked Ms. Chopping and the residents for bringing the petition to Council and 

summarised the Council’s response. 
 

The Leader acknowledged that it was clearly a significant issue that was 
controversial across Trafford communities and wished to state that the Controlling 
Group had been consistent on its position as to why the relief road was needed, 

fundamentally the transformative impact it would have on the Partington and 
Carrington communities. The Council had heard alternative measures suggested 

that evening, however, they would not solve the problems of poor connectivity and 
poor transport infrastructure in the area. Whilst the Council would mitigate as best 
it could, the right to a good quality job and a safe and warm home were the 

Council’s priorities.  
 

34. SALARY AND BENEFITS PACKAGE IN EXCESS OF £100,000  

 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report advising the Council of a Director 

salary and benefits package that was going to exceed £100,000 for a temporary 
period and that it was vital to ensure that the Council continued to have a robust 

approach to the pandemic response and recovery planning. 
 
In response to a question, the Leader of the Council advised he would provide 

Councillor Jerrome with the specific reasons as to why the issue had not come to 
light earlier and would suggest an investigation of measures designed to auto-flag 

any similar occurrence, should in the future, any additional payments breach the 
officers’ scheme of delegation. 
 

RESOLVED: That the salary and benefits package for the Director of Public 
Health, be approved as set out in the report. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 6



  7 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

35. GREATER MANCHESTER MINIMUM LICENSING STANDARDS FOR TAXI 
AND PRIVATE HIRE STAGE 1  

 
The Executive Member for Environmental and Regulatory Services submitted a 
report setting out the proposed Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards 

for Taxi and Private Hire which had been referred from the Executive meeting on 
27 September 2021. The report represented Stage One of the Standards which 

relate to Drivers, Operators and Local Authorities and set out the responses to the 
recent public and trade consultation for Stage One and outlined the proposed 
standards, policies and procedures. Stage Two related to Vehicles and it was 

anticipated that those proposals would be reported to the Executive in October 
2021.  

 
Councillor Miss Blackburn referred to Standard 6 Driver Training (page 33 of the 
report) and Councillor Adshead indicated that he would reply directly regarding the 

frequency of the training and what would happen should a driver refuse the 
training and whether the relevant authority would be notified of refusal by a driver 

from outside the area. 
 
 RESOLVED:  

 
(1)  That Enhanced Criminal Record checks be undertaken as per Driver 

Standard 1 in table A of the report. 
 
(2) That Medical Checks be undertaken as per Driver Standard 2 in table A of 

the report. 
 

(3) That assessments of English proficiency be undertaken as per Driver 
Standard 4 in table A of the report. 

 

(4) That driver proficiency tests be implemented as per Driver Standard 5 in 
table A of the report. 

 
(5) That driver training is undertaken as per Driver Standard 6 in table A of the 

report. 

 
(6) That the Licensed Drivers Dress Code, set out at Appendix 1 to the report, 

be approved. 
 
(7) That the Private Hire Driver Conditions Policy, set out at Appendix 2 to the 

report, be approved. 
 

(8) That the Private Hire Operator Conditions Policy, set out at Appendix 3 to the 
report be approved and that Council notes the proposed amendments to 
Operator Conditions set out at Appendix 4. 

 
(9) That Enhanced Criminal Record checks for Operators and their staff be 

undertaken as per Operator Standard 2 in table B of the report. 
 

Page 7



  8 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

(10) That the timescales for applications be adopted, as per Local Authority 
Standard 1 in Table C of the report. 

(11) That the development of a common enforcement approach be approved, as 
per Local Authority Standard 2 in Table C of the report. 

 

(12)  That a common methodology for setting the costs and calculating the taxi 
and private hire fees be adopted, as per Local Authority Standard 3 in Table 

C of the report. 
 
(13) That the Council delegates decision making powers, as per Local Authority 

Standard 5 in Table C of the report. 
 

(14) That the implementation dates for standards, policies and procedures 
contained within the report, be delegated to the Corporate Director of Place, 
in consultation with the Executive Member for Environment and Regulatory 

Services, with consideration of the need to communicate changes to the 
trade and ensure that processes are in place to ensure the robust 

implementation of the standards. 
 

36. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE GREEN PARTY GROUP - UNIVERSAL BASIC 

INCOME TRIAL (DEFERRED FROM COUNCIL ON 28 JULY 2021)  

 

 RESOLVED: That the Council notes that the Motion has been withdrawn. 
 

37. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE LIBERAL DEMOCRATS GROUP - 

HONGKONGERS IN TRAFFORD  

 

It was moved and seconded that: 
 

“As a result of the Chinese government’s imposition of new ‘national security’ 

laws and the British government’s policy shift on British National (Overseas) 
[BN(O)] visas, many people are choosing to emigrate to the UK from Hong 

Kong. The Home Office predicts that as many as 300,000 Hongkongers may 
choose to relocate to Britain with many choosing to settle in Trafford and 
elsewhere across Greater Manchester. This Council recognises and 

welcomes the enormous contribution that immigrants of all nationalities and 
backgrounds have made to British life. The historical, political and economic 

factors currently surrounding democratic freedoms in Hong Kong make the 
decision to emigrate particularly stressful for many Hongkongers. There are 
several considerations and measures that local authorities can take to 

extend the warmest possible welcome to everyone who decides to make the 
journey to the UK. 

  
This Council notes: 
 

- That the Home Office figure of 300,000 migrants from Hong Kong is an 
estimation for the next 5 years and that – with around 70% of the 

population of Hong Kong being eligible for BN(O) status – that number 
may rise considerably.  

Page 8



  9 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

- The ‘Coming for Hope’ report published by ‘Hongkongers in Britain’, 
which indicates the following: 

- That the mean age of applicants is 37 and that 71% of applicants 
hold a university degree. 

- That 16% of those surveyed say they cannot afford the cost of living 

for the first 6 months after arriving in the UK. 

- That, of those surveyed, 73% expect to have difficulty finding 

accommodation, 57% are concerned about living costs and 48% 
are anxious about finding employment.  

- That 96% of respondents felt that Hong Kong was no longer a ‘safe 

and free home’. 

- That Home Office estimates suggest a net benefit to government 

finances of between £2.4 and £2.9 billion over five years as a 
result of the arrival of highly skilled migrants from Hong Kong.  

 

This Council also notes the advice and guidance that is available through the 
governments ‘Hong Kong UK Welcome Programme’. 
 

This Council welcomes: 
 

- The provision of up to £2,720 per BN(O) household for destitution 
support. 

- The government’s commitment to set up 12 new ‘Welcome Hubs’ 
across the UK, to support the settlement of BN(O) holders. 

 

This Council resolves to: 
 

- Monitor the intake of Hong Kong children into Trafford’s schools and 
allocate additional resources for ‘English as a Second Language’ and 
Personal, Social, Health and Economic education to aid with 

integration.  

- Assist parents of children with special educational needs by providing 

information on the ‘SEN Local Offer’ and Educational Health Care Plans 
in Cantonese through the council website. 

- Write to the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

to express Trafford’s interest in contributing to and forming part of the 
UK’s new Hong Kong ‘Welcome Hubs’.  

- Ensure progress on the resolutions of this motion are regularly reported 
back to this council and are incorporated into the Executive Member for 
Communities and Partnerships brief.” 

 
It was moved and seconded as an amendment that: 
 

“As a result of the Chinese government’s imposition of new ‘national security’ 
laws and the British government’s policy shift on British National (Overseas) 

[BN(O)] visas, many people are choosing to emigrate to the UK from Hong 
Kong. The Home Office predicts that as many as 300,000 Hongkongers may 
choose to relocate to Britain with many choosing to settle in Trafford and 

elsewhere across Greater Manchester. This Council recognises and 

Page 9



  10 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

welcomes the enormous contribution that immigrants of all nationalities and 
backgrounds have made to British life. We are proud that Trafford has 

seen a particularly high number of Hongkongers move in to the 
borough in recent months, and formally welcome them here and 
express our delight that they have chosen to make Trafford their home. 

 
The historical, political and economic factors currently surrounding 

democratic freedoms in Hong Kong make the decision to emigrate 
particularly stressful for many Hongkongers. There are several 
considerations and measures that local authorities can take to extend the 

warmest possible welcome to everyone who decides to make the journey to 
the UK. 

  
This Council notes: 
 

- That the Home Office figure of 300,000 migrants from Hong Kong is an 
estimation for the next 5 years and that – with around 70% of the 

population of Hong Kong being eligible for BN(O) status – that number 
may rise considerably.  

- The ‘Coming for Hope’ report published by ‘Hongkongers in Britain’, 

which indicates the following: 
- That the mean age of applicants is 37 and that 71% of applicants hold a 

university degree. 
- That 16% of those surveyed say they cannot afford the cost of living for 

the first 6 months after arriving in the UK. 

- That, of those surveyed, 73% expect to have difficulty finding 
accommodation, 57% are concerned about living costs and 48% are 

anxious about finding employment.  
- That 96% of respondents felt that Hong Kong was no longer a ‘safe and 

free home’. 

- That Home Office estimates suggest a net benefit to government 
finances of between £2.4 and £2.9 billion over five years as a result of 

the arrival of highly skilled migrants from Hong Kong.  
 
This Council also notes the advice and guidance that is available through the 

governments ‘Hong Kong UK Welcome Programme’. 
 

This Council welcomes: 
 

- The provision of up to £2,720 per BN(O) household for destitution 

support. 
- The government’s commitment to set up 12 new ‘Welcome Hubs’ 

across the UK, to support the settlement of BN(O) holders. 
 

Following a recent meeting between the Leader of the Council, the 

Acting Chief Executive, and representatives of Trafford Hongkongers, 
Council further acknowledges: 

 

- That there have unfortunately been a small number of hate crime 

incidents experienced by Hongkongers in recent months. 

Page 10



  11 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

- That many Hongkongers are experiencing delays in receiving 

National Insurance numbers from the DWP, impacting on their 

ability to find work. 

- That Trafford’s Skills Coordinator and ESOL Coordinator are fully 

engaged with Trafford’s growing Hong Kong community, and are 

actively signposting Hongkongers to training, employment 

opportunities and conversation groups. 

This Council resolves to: 
 

- Stand against any and all hate crime in Trafford as a borough that 
values tolerance and inclusion and is proud of our diversity. 

-  Monitor the intake of Hong Kong children and other children for 

whom English is a second language into Trafford’s schools and 

allocate additional resources for ‘English as a Second Language’ and 

Personal, Social, Health and Economic education to aid with integration 

in accordance with need.  

-  Assist parents of children with special educational needs by providing 

information on the ‘SEN Local Offer’ and Educational Health Care Plans 
in Cantonese through the council website. Work with the Trafford 

Hongkongers Group to ensure that relevant information can be 
cascaded in Cantonese to those residents who require it, noting 
that this dissemination has already commenced. 

- Write to the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to 

express Trafford’s interest in contributing to and forming part of the 
UK’s new Hong Kong ‘Welcome Hubs’ subject to the necessary 
funding to make this a success being made available by 

government. 
-  Write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions to ask that 

more is done to swiftly expedite the allocation of National 
Insurance numbers for Hongkongers, recognising that they do not 
have recourse to public funds. 

- Ensure progress on the resolutions of this motion are regularly reported 
back to this Council and are incorporated into the Executive Member for 
Communities and Partnerships brief that relevant Executive Members 
subsume these actions into their duties as appropriate at the 
instruction of the Council Leader.” 

 
Following a debate on the matter, the amendment was agreed with the general 

consent of the Council. Subsequently, the substantive Motion was then agreed by 
Council consent and declared carried. 
 

RESOLVED: That as a result of the Chinese government’s imposition of new 
‘national security’ laws and the British government’s policy shift on British 

National (Overseas) [BN(O)] visas, many people are choosing to emigrate to 
the UK from Hong Kong. The Home Office predicts that as many as 300,000 
Hongkongers may choose to relocate to Britain with many choosing to settle 

in Trafford and elsewhere across Greater Manchester. This Council 
recognises and welcomes the enormous contribution that immigrants of all 

Page 11



  12 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

nationalities and backgrounds have made to British life. We are proud that 
Trafford has seen a particularly high number of Hongkongers move in to the 

borough in recent months, and formally welcome them here and express our 
delight that they have chosen to make Trafford their home. 
 

The historical, political and economic factors currently surrounding 
democratic freedoms in Hong Kong make the decision to emigrate 

particularly stressful for many Hongkongers. There are several 
considerations and measures that local authorities can take to extend the 
warmest possible welcome to everyone who decides to make the journey to 

the UK. 
  

This Council notes: 
 

- That the Home Office figure of 300,000 migrants from Hong Kong is an 

estimation for the next 5 years and that – with around 70% of the 
population of Hong Kong being eligible for BN(O) status – that number 

may rise considerably.  
- The ‘Coming for Hope’ report published by ‘Hongkongers in Britain’, 

which indicates the following: 

- That the mean age of applicants is 37 and that 71% of applicants hold a 
university degree. 

- That 16% of those surveyed say they cannot afford the cost of living for 
the first 6 months after arriving in the UK. 

- That, of those surveyed, 73% expect to have difficulty finding 

accommodation, 57% are concerned about living costs and 48% are 
anxious about finding employment.  

- That 96% of respondents felt that Hong Kong was no longer a ‘safe and 
free home’. 

- That Home Office estimates suggest a net benefit to government 

finances of between £2.4 and £2.9 billion over five years as a result of 
the arrival of highly skilled migrants from Hong Kong.  

 
This Council also notes the advice and guidance that is available through the 
governments ‘Hong Kong UK Welcome Programme’. 

 
This Council welcomes: 

 
- The provision of up to £2,720 per BN(O) household for destitution 

support. 

- The government’s commitment to set up 12 new ‘Welcome Hubs’ 
across the UK, to support the settlement of BN(O) holders. 

 
Following a recent meeting between the Leader of the Council, the Acting 
Chief Executive, and representatives of Trafford Hongkongers, Council 

further acknowledges: 
 

- That there have unfortunately been a small number of hate crime 

incidents experienced by Hongkongers in recent months. 

Page 12



  13 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

- That many Hongkongers are experiencing delays in receiving National 

Insurance numbers from the DWP, impacting on their ability to find 

work. 

- That Trafford’s Skills Coordinator and ESOL Coordinator are fully 

engaged with Trafford’s growing Hong Kong community, and are 

actively signposting Hongkongers to training, employment opportunities 

and conversation groups. 

This Council resolves to: 
 

- Stand against any and all hate crime in Trafford as a borough that 
values tolerance and inclusion and is proud of our diversity. 

-  Monitor the intake of Hong Kong children and other children for whom 

English is a second language into Trafford’s schools and allocate 
resources for ‘English as a Second Language’ and Personal, Social, 

Health and Economic education to aid with integration in accordance 
with need.  

-  Work with the Trafford Hongkongers Group to ensure that relevant 

information can be cascaded in Cantonese to those residents who 
require it, noting that this dissemination has already commenced. 

- Write to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities to express Trafford’s interest in contributing to and 
forming part of the UK’s new Hong Kong ‘Welcome Hubs’ subject to the 

necessary funding to make this a success being made available by 
government. 

-  Write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions to ask that more 
is done to swiftly expedite the allocation of National Insurance numbers 
for Hongkongers, recognising that they do not have recourse to public 

funds. 
- Ensure progress on the resolutions of this motion are reported back to 

this Council and that relevant Executive Members subsume these 
actions into their duties as appropriate at the instruction of the Council 
Leader. 

 
38. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE GREEN PARTY GROUP - EMPOWERING 

TRAFFORD TO TAKE CLIMATE ACTION  

 
It was moved and seconded that: 

 
“This Council acknowledges that in order to tackle the climate crisis we must 

empower residents and council officers to take action. In order to enable 
everyone to act with sufficient urgency, the Council’s procedures must be 
better aligned with its priorities. 

 
The Council has also learned about dealing with crises from the pandemic 

and lessons learnt from Covid can give examples of how council systems 
can treat the climate emergency as an emergency. 
 

 
 

Page 13



  14 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

This Council resolves to: 
 

-     Emphasise urgency in the language we use around the climate. Where 
possible the Council, its Councillors and officers should choose the 
language of ‘climate crisis’ or ‘climate emergency’ – not the more 

passive ‘climate change’ or ‘global warming’. 
 

-     Carry out a case study on the way that the community hubs were 
created, in a nimble and effective way at a crucial stage in the 
pandemic. See what lessons can be learnt for the climate crisis 

response in terms of how the Council can act quickly and with impact. 
Report back on what lessons can be learnt in terms of creating an 

urgent and nimble response to a crisis. 
 
-     Events and buildings: ensure that alongside accessibility information, 

council building and events highlight how to access them by walking / 
cycling / using public transport. Currently the Town Hall part of the 

website only talks about parking options, despite being on National 
Cycle Network route 55, and extremely near to Old Trafford tram and 
several bus stops. 

 
-     Highlight the Council’s climate emergency web pages on the front page 

of the Council’s website. This will enable residents to easily find 
information on what the Council is doing. It will also raise awareness 
the urgency of the crisis by highlighting it to everyone who comes to the 

council’s home page. 
 

-     To review our HR policy in respect of dress codes. These need to 
explicitly support staff and officers who chose to commute or travel for 
work by active or public transport. Too often spoken or unspoken 

assumptions about what looks professional stop people using active or 
public transport when they would otherwise like to. 

 
-     In advance of COP26 to add our voice to calls for a joint local and 

national government task force on reaching ‘net zero’ emissions. This 

partnership could set regulations, benchmarks and targets and create 
long-term funding mechanisms to enable local communities to 

decarbonise whilst remaining resilient and sustainable. 
 
-     Write to Alok Sharma MP, President for COP26 , the Prime Minister and 

the Leadership Board of the LGA informing them of our support for a 
joint Local/National Government Climate Change Partnership Taskforce 

and asking for one to be established as soon as possible.” 
 
It was moved and seconded as an amendment that: 

 
“This Council acknowledges that in order to tackle the climate crisis we must 
empower and enable residents and council officers to take action. In order to 

enable everyone to act with sufficient urgency, the Council’s procedures 
must should be better aligned with its priorities in this area. 

Page 14



  15 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
The Council has also learned about dealing with crises from the pandemic 

and lessons learnt from Covid can give examples of how council systems 
can treat the climate emergency as an emergency. 
 

This Council resolves to: 
 

-      Emphasise urgency in the language we use around the climate. Where 
possible the Council, its Councillors and officers should choose the language 
of ‘climate crisis’ or ‘climate emergency’ – not the more passive ‘climate 

change’ or ‘global warming’. 
 

-      Carry out a case study on the way that the community hubs were created, in 
a nimble and effective way at a crucial stage in the pandemic. See what 
lessons can be learnt for the climate crisis response in terms of how the 

Council can act quickly and with impact. Report back on what lessons can be 
learnt in terms of creating an urgent and nimble response to a crisis. 

 
-      Events and buildings: ensure that alongside accessibility information, council 

building and events highlight how to access them by walking / cycling / using 

public transport. Currently the Town Hall part of the website only talks about 
parking options, despite being on National Cycle Network route 55, and 

extremely near to Old Trafford tram and several bus stops. 
 
-      Highlight the Council’s climate emergency web pages on the front page of 

the Council’s website Ensure that information on the Council’s progress 
on addressing the climate emergency can be easily accessed from the 

home page of the Council’s Website as part of the overhaul of the 
website content planned as part of the Trafford Digital Strategy 2020-
2023. This will enable residents to easily find information on what the Council 

is doing. It will also raise awareness of the urgency of the crisis by 

highlighting it to everyone who comes to the Council’s home page. 

 
-      To review our HR policy in respect of dress codes in line with professional 

advice from officers to . These need to explicitly support staff and officers 

who chose to commute or travel for work by active or public transport whilst 
ensuring the Council maintains a professional appearance in its 

customer facing work. Too often spoken or unspoken assumptions about 

what looks professional stop people using active or public transport when 
they would otherwise like to. To also ensure that information is available 

on the council intranet about the cycling and changing facilities 
available to staff. 

 
-      In advance of COP26 to add our voice to calls for a joint local and national 

government task force on reaching ‘net zero’ emissions. This partnership 

could set regulations, benchmarks and targets and create long-term funding 
mechanisms to enable local communities to decarbonise whilst remaining 

resilient and sustainable. 
 

Page 15



  16 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

-      Write to Alok Sharma MP, President for COP26, the Prime Minister and the 
Leadership Board of the LGA informing them of our support for a joint 

Local/National Government Climate Change Partnership Taskforce and 
asking for one to be established as soon as possible. 

 
- As there is still no formal relationship between local and national 

government on climate action, write to Alok Sharma MP, President for 

COP26, to request the establishment of a formal Local and National 
Government Climate Crisis Taskforce to collaboratively work together 
towards net zero emissions, as advocated by the Local Government 

Association and other bodies.” 

 

Following a debate on the matter, the amendment was put to the vote and 
declared carried. After a further speaker, the substantive Motion was then put to 
the vote and declared carried. 

 
RESOLVED: That this Council acknowledges that in order to tackle the 

climate crisis we must empower and enable residents and council officers to 
take action. In order to act with sufficient urgency, the Council’s procedures 
should align with its priorities in this area. 

 
This Council resolves to: 

 
-     Events and buildings: ensure that alongside accessibility information, 

council building and events highlight how to access them by walking / 

cycling / using public transport. Currently the Town Hall part of the 
website only talks about parking options, despite being on National 

Cycle Network route 55, and extremely near to Old Trafford tram and 
several bus stops. 

 

-     Ensure that information on the Council’s progress on addressing the 
climate emergency can be easily accessed from the home page of the 

Council’s Website as part of the overhaul of the website content 
planned as part of the Trafford Digital Strategy 2020-2023. This will 
enable residents to easily find information on what the Council is doing. 

It will also raise awareness of the urgency of the crisis by highlighting it 
to everyone who comes to the Council’s home page. 

 
-     To review our HR policy in respect of dress codes in line with 

professional advice from officers to support staff and officers who chose 

to commute or travel for work by active or public transport whilst 
ensuring the Council maintains a professional appearance in its 

customer facing work. Too often spoken or unspoken assumptions 
about what looks professional stop people using active or public 
transport when they would otherwise like to. To also ensure that 

information is available on the council intranet about the cycling and 
changing facilities available to staff. 

 
-     As there is still no formal relationship between local and national 

government on climate action, write to Alok Sharma MP, President for 

Page 16



  17 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

COP26, to request the establishment of a formal Local and National 
Government Climate Crisis Taskforce to collaboratively work together 

towards net zero emissions, as advocated by the Local Government 
Association and other bodies. 

 
39. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE LABOUR GROUP - TACKLING HEALTH 

INEQUALITIES IN TRAFFORD  

 
It was moved and seconded that: 
 

“This Council notes: 
 

- From the beginning of the 20th century, England experienced 
continuous improvements in life expectancy but from 2011 these 
improvements slowed dramatically, almost grinding to a halt. For part of 

the decade 2010-2020 life expectancy actually fell in the most deprived 
communities outside London for women and in some regions for men. 

For men and women everywhere the time spent in poor health is 
increasing. 

 

- The health of the population is not just a matter of how well the health 
service is funded and functions, important as that is: health is closely 

linked to the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and 
age and inequities in power, money and resources – the social 
determinants of health. 

 
- Government spending has decreased most in the most deprived places 

and cuts in services outside health and social care have hit more 
deprived communities hardest. 

 

- Approximately 11.6% of children aged 0-16 in Trafford (an estimated 
5,085 children) live in poverty, with this percentage rising to almost 40% 

in some of the most deprived wards: well above the regional or national 
averages. Poverty and deprivation can damage the health and 
wellbeing of children and young people and have severe impacts on 

‘life chances’. 
 

- Life expectancy is 9.3 years lower for men and 7.4 years lower for 
women in the most deprived areas of Trafford than in the least deprived 
areas. 

 
- The Marmot review into health inequalities of 2020 found that Covid 19 

death rates were a quarter higher in Greater Manchester than the rest 
of England. The more impoverished a local authority, the higher its 
mortality rate. 

 
This Council believes: 

 
- As a local authority we have a crucial role to play in tackling some of 

the widest and most entrenched health inequalities across our Borough. 

Page 17



  18 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
- Tackling health inequalities should be a priority across all the local 

authority’s areas of responsibility. 
 
- All councillors, whether members of the Executive or Scrutiny and in 

our community and casework roles, can play a positive role in 
championing the work we do to reduce health inequalities and tackle 

the wider determinants of health. 
 
- Levelling up will only succeed if there is investment across all local 

government. 
 

This Council resolves to: 
 
Consider how Trafford meet the six policy objectives of the Marmot review 

2020 as part of Scrutiny, Health & Wellbeing Board and sub board work 
plans. 

 
Give every child the best start in life. 
  

Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their lives. 

 
Create fair employment and good work for all. 
 

Ensure a healthy standard of living for all. 
 

Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities. 
 
Develop a health and social care system that prioritises not just the treatment 

of ill health but also focuses on how it can be prevented in the first place. 
  

Consider the health inequality impact on all our decision making. 
 
Write to Ministers to request an urgent reversal of cuts to public health 

budgets in order that Councils can truly work to reduce the health inequalities 
that Covid 19 has so starkly highlighted.” 

 
Following a debate on the matter, the Motion was put to the vote and declared 
carried. 

 
RESOLVED: That this Council notes: 

 
- From the beginning of the 20th century, England experienced 

continuous improvements in life expectancy but from 2011 these 

improvements slowed dramatically, almost grinding to a halt. For part of 
the decade 2010-2020 life expectancy actually fell in the most deprived 

communities outside London for women and in some regions for men. 
For men and women everywhere the time spent in poor health is 
increasing. 

Page 18



  19 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

- The health of the population is not just a matter of how well the health 
service is funded and functions, important as that is: health is closely 

linked to the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and 
age and inequities in power, money and resources – the social 
determinants of health. 

 
- Government spending has decreased most in the most deprived places 

and cuts in services outside health and social care have hit more 
deprived communities hardest. 

 

- Approximately 11.6% of children aged 0-16 in Trafford (an estimated 
5,085 children) live in poverty, with this percentage rising to almost 40% 

in some of the most deprived wards: well above the regional or national 
averages. Poverty and deprivation can damage the health and 
wellbeing of children and young people and have severe impacts on 

‘life chances’. 
 

- Life expectancy is 9.3 years lower for men and 7.4 years lower for 
women in the most deprived areas of Trafford than in the least deprived 
areas. 

 
- The Marmot review into health inequalities of 2020 found that Covid 19 

death rates were a quarter higher in Greater Manchester than the rest 
of England. The more impoverished a local authority, the higher its 
mortality rate. 

 
This Council believes: 

 
- As a local authority we have a crucial role to play in tackling some of 

the widest and most entrenched health inequalities across our Borough. 

 
- Tackling health inequalities should be a priority across all the local 

authority’s areas of responsibility. 
 
- All councillors, whether members of the Executive or Scrutiny and in 

our community and casework roles, can play a positive role in 
championing the work we do to reduce health inequalities and tackle 

the wider determinants of health. 
 
- Levelling up will only succeed if there is investment across all local 

government. 
 

This Council resolves to: 
 
Consider how Trafford meet the six policy objectives of the Marmot review 

2020 as part of Scrutiny, Health & Wellbeing Board and sub board work 
plans. 

 
Give every child the best start in life. 
  

Page 19



  20 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their lives. 

 
Create fair employment and good work for all. 
 

Ensure a healthy standard of living for all. 
 

Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities. 
 
Develop a health and social care system that prioritises not just the treatment 

of ill health but also focuses on how it can be prevented in the first place. 
  

Consider the health inequality impact on all our decision making. 
 
Write to Ministers to request an urgent reversal of cuts to public health 

budgets in order that Councils can truly work to reduce the health inequalities 
that Covid 19 has so starkly highlighted. 

 
40. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE LABOUR GROUP - SOCIAL CARE FUNDING  

 

It was moved and seconded that: 
 

“Council notes that on 7 September this year the Prime Minister announced 
plans to reform how people pay for adult social care in England and the 
introduction of a new Health and Social Care Levy.  

 
Council recognises that plans for adult social care reform are long overdue 

and that the financial sustainability of the sector is at risk. However this 
Council is deeply concerned that the Prime Minister’s announcement does 
not amount to reform; does not appear to improve the current funding 

position, and will have a significant financial impact on working people. 
 

In particular, Council notes: 
 

- That the provision of social care is one of our most important duties as 

a local authority. 
- That the current situation in adult and children’s social care is an 

emergency after 11 years of austerity and that the funding of adult and 
children’s social care in England is in crisis. 

- That the overwhelming majority of funding arising from the new Health 

and Social Care Levy will be spent on dealing with the current NHS 
backlog rather than on social care. 

- That the Conservatives went into the 2019 election claiming they had a 
plan for social care which did not involve increasing income tax or 
National Insurance. 

- That a National Insurance increase impacts working people and 
struggling businesses without taxing income from unearned wealth. 

- That this proposal considers the future of adult social care funding only, 
and does nothing to address the issues in the funding of children’s 
social care. 

Page 20



  21 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Council, therefore, calls on the Government to review their proposed 
changes, to properly fund social care, and to look at a mechanism to do so 

that asks those with the broadest shoulders to pay their fair share of the 
burden. 
 

Council resolves that the Leader of the Council write to the Prime Minister 
outlining these concerns.” 

 
Following a debate on the matter, the Motion was put to the vote and declared 
carried. 

 
RESOLVED: That Council notes that on 7 September this year the Prime 

Minister announced plans to reform how people pay for adult social care in 
England and the introduction of a new Health and Social Care Levy.  
 

Council recognises that plans for adult social care reform are long overdue 
and that the financial sustainability of the sector is at risk. However this 

Council is deeply concerned that the Prime Minister’s announcement does 
not amount to reform; does not appear to improve the current funding 
position, and will have a significant financial impact on working people. 

 
In particular, Council notes: 

 
- That the provision of social care is one of our most important duties as 

a local authority. 

- That the current situation in adult and children’s social care is an 
emergency after 11 years of austerity and that the funding of adult and 

children’s social care in England is in crisis. 
- That the overwhelming majority of funding arising from the new Health 

and Social Care Levy will be spent on dealing with the current NHS 

backlog rather than on social care. 
- That the Conservatives went into the 2019 election claiming they had a 

plan for social care which did not involve increasing income tax or 
National Insurance. 

- That a National Insurance increase impacts working people and 

struggling businesses without taxing income from unearned wealth. 
- That this proposal considers the future of adult social care funding only, 

and does nothing to address the issues in the funding of children’s 
social care. 

 

Council, therefore, calls on the Government to review their proposed 
changes, to properly fund social care, and to look at a mechanism to do so 

that asks those with the broadest shoulders to pay their fair share of the 
burden. 
 

Council resolves that the Leader of the Council write to the Prime Minister 
outlining these concerns. 

 
 
 

Page 21



  22 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

41. MOTION SUBMITTED BY THE LABOUR GROUP - VOTER ID  

 

It was moved and seconded that: 
 

“Council notes Government plans to legislate to require people to show an 

approved form of identification in order to vote.  
 

Council believes that this is an expensive and unnecessary change that will 
cost the taxpayer millions of pounds. In particular, Council recognises that: 
 

- Public confidence in the running of elections is at its highest since 2012. 
- Research for the Cabinet Office found that more than 2 million people 

do not have recognisable photographic ID. 
- Women are considerably less likely than men - and black people 

considerably less likely than white people - to have a driving licence; 

whilst certain ethnic groups are much less likely than the average to 
have a passport. 

- The cost of requiring photo ID at elections will be circa £40 million over 
the next decade. 

- At the last General Election there were 47 million registered electors 

and just one conviction for electoral personation. 
 

This Council, therefore, opposes these changes which could lead to 
widespread disenfranchisement and voter suppression, with marginalised 
communities and those with protected characteristics the most likely to be 

impacted by this change.” 
 

(Note: During the debate, the time being 9:21 p.m., the Mayor indicated that 
speeches on this matter would now be limited to a maximum of two minutes par 
speaker.) 

 
Following a debate on the matter, the Motion was put to the vote and declared. 

 
RESOLVED: That Council notes Government plans to legislate to require 
people to show an approved form of identification in order to vote.  

 
Council believes that this is an expensive and unnecessary change that will 

cost the taxpayer millions of pounds. In particular, Council recognises that: 
 

- Public confidence in the running of elections is at its highest since 2012. 

- Research for the Cabinet Office found that more than 2 million people 
do not have recognisable photographic ID. 

- Women are considerably less likely than men - and black people 
considerably less likely than white people - to have a driving licence; 
whilst certain ethnic groups are much less likely than the average to 

have a passport. 
- The cost of requiring photo ID at elections will be circa £40 million over 

the next decade. 
- At the last General Election there were 47 million registered electors 

and just one conviction for electoral personation. 

Page 22



  23 
Meeting of the Council  

13 October 2021 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 

This Council, therefore, opposes these changes which could lead to 
widespread disenfranchisement and voter suppression, with marginalised 

communities and those with protected characteristics the most likely to be 
impacted by this change. 

 

The meeting commenced at 7.00 p.m. and finished at 9.27 p.m. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
 

Report to:   Executive  
Date:    22 November 2021 
Report for:    Decision 
Report of:    Executive Member for COVID-19 Recovery and Reform  
 

 
 
 
Report Title 
 

 
Corporate Plan Refresh 2021/24 
 

 
Summary 
 

 
This report provides a summary of the Council’s refreshed Corporate Plan.  
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 

It is recommended that the Executive: 

 
1. Approves the refreshed Corporate Plan and recommends its adoption to 

Council; and 

 
2. notes the reporting schedule for Corporate Plan updates. 

 

   

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name: Dianne Geary   
Extension: 1821   
 
 
Background Papers: None 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

The Corporate Plan 2021/22 report summarises the 
Council’s performance in relation to the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities  

Relationship to GM Policy or Strategy 
Framework  

The Corporate Plan is aligned to the GM policy and 
strategy where required.  

Financial  None 
Legal Implications: The Corporate Plan forms part of the Council’s 

overarching Policy Framework. Subject to the 
urgency procedure contained in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution, decisions about any matter in the 
discharge of an executive function which is covered 
by the policy framework or the budget where the 
decision maker is minded to make it in a manner 
which would be contrary to the policy framework 
must be referred to the full Council for decision. 

Equality/Diversity Implications The Corporate Plan enables the Council to fully 
observe & promote equality of outcomes for service 
users and their families 

Sustainability Implications The Corporate Plan is a key driver for the long term 
sustainability of the council and the borough  

Carbon Reduction The Corporate Plan is a key driver to supporting 
carbon reduction, delivering the Council’s Carbon 
Neutral Action Plan and supporting the growth of the 
green economy.  

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing / 
ICT / Assets 

No direct impact 

Risk Management Implications   A risk management log has been developed as part 
of the overall governance for the Corporate Plan and 
this will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis 

Health & Wellbeing Implications No direct impact 
Health and Safety Implications No direct impact 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The Corporate Plan describes Trafford Council’s strategic vision, outcomes and 

priorities for the borough, with the priorities being key to its delivery. It includes an 
overview of what the council will do and how we will work with our residents, 
communities, businesses and other partners to deliver change to Trafford in line 
with these commitments. 
 

1.2 The 2018/9 Corporate Plan has been refreshed to set out the most critical things 
that we need to do over the coming years to recover from COVID-19, deliver public 
services and collaborate with communities, businesses and other partners. This 
plan reflects the ambition of Trafford’s leadership and the values and aims of the 
Council to provide a blueprint for improving the borough. It will shape the activity 
within the council, help prioritise resources and monitor progress made, as well as 
aligning with strategic financial planning.  

 
1.3 The delivery of the plan will focus on a blend of service performance and qualitative 

case studies to inspire and demonstrate the Council’s achievements on these 
outcomes and priorities between now and 2024.  

 

Page 26



1.4 It is also intended as a guide for our partner organisations to help identify shared 
objectives so we can work together more effectively to achieve far more for 
Trafford than we ever could working alone. 

 
 

2.0 THE REFRESHED PLAN 
 

2.1 The vision, outcomes and priorities set out below have been refreshed with input 
from members, staff and residents and were shared at the October meeting of the 
Executive.  
 

2.2 Following Executive feedback, reinforced by the online survey and staff engagement 
with more than 400 contributions, it was acknowledged that two of the priorities 
which had initially been proposed described our approach to delivering the vision 
and outcomes; our “way of working”, and that our key priorities should instead focus 
on what we will deliver. As such it is proposed that we focus on three key priorities 
to ensure that our strategies and resources are directed where they are most 
needed and where they will deliver the best outcomes for the Borough. This will 
ensure that that we are continuing to build on our amazing communities, as 
demonstrated during the pandemic, supporting those most in need, addressing 
poverty and improving healthy life expectancy. At the same time, we will ensure our 
town centres and high streets continue to go from strength to strength and we 
continue to make best use of our fantastic parks and green spaces. This means that 
the priorities will concentrate on the three key areas described below. 
 

2.3 The new vision for Trafford is: 
 
Trafford - where all our residents, communities & businesses prosper 
 

2.4 The key outcomes are:  
 

 All our residents will have access to quality learning, training and jobs  

 All our communities will be happy, healthy and safe 

 All our businesses and town centres will be supported to recover and flourish 
for the benefit of everyone 

 
2.5 The refreshed priorities are:  
 

1. Reducing health inequalities 

Working with people, communities and partners, particularly in deprived areas, 
to improve the physical and mental health of all our residents  

Rationale: The diversity of our population is one of our greatest strengths and 
we want all our neighbourhoods to have thriving and healthy communities. 
However, some groups are currently disadvantaged – not just in life 
expectancy but in areas such as housing and poverty that can contribute to 
poorer health.  

Throughout the pandemic, we’ve made rapid changes to the ways we support 
residents in their community, their own home, in acute care and across our 
health and social care services. We will create the conditions for our 
communities to thrive by increasing access to jobs, investing in local 
infrastructure and transport and improving the local high street. 

In Trafford we have a 16-year difference in healthy life expectancy between 
our most affluent and most deprived areas, and the pandemic has laid bare 
these inequalities. Nationally, new inequalities have emerged and existing 
inequalities have intensified. We must do more to address these inequalities 
so all our residents can live long and healthy lives.  

Page 27



2. Supporting people out of poverty 

Tackling the root causes to prevent people from falling into poverty, and raising 
people out of it 

Rationale: We know that more people will be experiencing poverty as we 
emerge from the pandemic. For some, this will be temporary as the economy 
recovers and job opportunities are created. For others, the poverty and 
inequalities they were already experiencing will have deepened due to the 
challenges of the pandemic.  

This priority will mean that we will focus on both tackling the root causes of 
poverty in our communities and on helping to raise people out of poverty.  

By providing the necessary skills, opportunities, information and advice we will 
work with partners to give people the choices and power to make best use of 
their income and prevent and reduce poverty.  

By recognising the importance of access to good quality affordable and 
sustainable housing we will prioritise increasing affordable and social housing. 
We will work with partners to encourage the building of adjustable, sustainable 
low-energy housing which in turn will help to reduce fuel poverty. 

We want our borough to be a place where no-one is marginalised or 
discriminated against and especially not due to their financial or material 
circumstances. 

 

3. Addressing our climate crisis 

Reducing our carbon footprint and tackling the impact of climate change 
 
Rationale: We can only address our climate crisis and the impact of climate 
change by working together and having clear plans to prevent future 
challenges. This priority focuses on both reducing our carbon footprint and 
adapting to the challenges posed by climate change.  
 
Being in lockdown showed just how important our local environment, green 
spaces and parks are for our physical health, our mental health and wellbeing. 
We want to enable more residents to be environmentally responsible in their 
daily lives, with improved access to local transport and more active travel 
including cycling and walking.  
 
We will help clean up the air we breathe by supporting the delivery of the 
Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan and work with partners to improve the 
energy efficiency of our homes and encourage the building of new housing 
developments which are adjustable, sustainable and have low-energy use.  

 
By increasing the amount we reuse, repurpose and recycle and through 
educating everyone, it will help to reduce our carbon footprint and minimise the 
amount we waste. 
 
We will be looking at the Council’s own carbon footprint: looking at the 
sustainability of our own buildings and ways of working and supporting and 
encouraging our workforce and partners to adopt more measures which will 
reduce our impact on the environment and help towards our carbon reduction 
targets. 
 
 

 

 
Page 28



3.0 OUR APPROACH 
 

3.1 The key to the successful delivery of the vision, outcomes and priorities in the 
corporate plan is the approach adopted. This is defined as:  
 

 Delivering the right, quality services at the right time for residents, 
communities, businesses and partners using our skilled and diverse workforce; 
 

 Being responsive, accessible and fair to all and placing this at the heart of 
everything that we do. This means becoming a digital council, improving 
connectivity and helping more residents to get online and access new 
technology. At the same time, we will ensure that residents are not left behind 
in our increasingly digital society; 
 

 Providing value for money, targeting investment and better partnership 
working; ensuring our services are built around the needs of people who live, 
work and visit the borough; 
 

 Working with residents, communities and business to provide properly 
maintained, clean, attractive and safe green spaces for everyone to enjoy; 

 

 Continuing to maintain tight control on our finances through the medium term 
financial plan (MTFP) to deliver a balanced budget; 
 

 Working more closely with residents and using data effectively, to influence 
and inform our local decision making and continuing to engage both directly 
and through social media, websites and online platforms; and 
 

 Working together to help develop a strong, dynamic and diverse voluntary 
sector as a key partner in the borough and actively encourage volunteering. 

 
 
4.0 ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY 

 
4.1 To raise awareness and wider understanding of our refreshed Corporate Plan it is 

important that residents, businesses, communities and partners are aware of the 
changes to the Corporate Plan, understand the reasons for the changes and 
understand how the changes can benefit them. 
 

4.2 An online survey on the Corporate Plan vision and priorities opened on 16 October 
and closed on 7 November. The purpose of the survey was to seek feedback on 
which of the priorities matter and to test the definitions and understanding of each 
priority. Feedback was sought on the ‘we will’ statements which state the intent and 
what the Council will do to reach its outcomes and vision and deliver on the 
priorities. There was also the opportunity to share other ideas/suggestions for 
inclusion in the final version of the plan.  

 
4.3 Two ‘Drop-In’ engagement sessions were held internally for staff in the Council to 

introduce and outline the refreshed priorities, capture views on which of the ‘we will’ 
statements were most important from their perspective and to provide feedback on 
additional points and how the new priorities could be delivered. 

 
4.4 Other engagement included sharing information at the senior leaders and 

colleagues ‘Let’s Talk’ events held in October and November as well as obtaining 
input from the Strategic Delivery Group. 

 

 

Page 29



5.0 SURVEY AND ENGAGEMENT FEEDBACK  
 

5.1 There were 389 responses to the survey on the refresh of the Corporate Plan held 
between 16 October and 7 November 2021. 
 

5.2 The respondents were evenly split across all age groups, with the main survey 
respondents being white British or white other between the ages of 45 to 54. 11% 
of respondents were aged 18 to 34 which was encouraging. 65% was equally split 
between North and Central Trafford respondents, with the remaining 30% being 
equally split between West and South Trafford. 5% of the respondents were from 
outside of the borough of Trafford 

 
5.3 Generally respondents felt that the right priorities were being focused on. The ‘we 

will’ statements were accepted although the order of the ranking slightly changed 
for priority one and two. This will be reflected in the corporate plan document. 
There were no amendments to the order of the ‘we will’ statements for priority 
three.  

 
5.4 By reflecting on the key points from the responses there are a range of topics that 

residents have highlighted as being important either personally or to the wider 
community. Specific mention was made of making full and active use of the 
fantastic pool of talent in Trafford’s communities, through listening to the public and 
their views as well as taking into consideration the needs of different races and of 
marginalised communities experiencing inequalities.  

 
5.5 Respondents provided additional feedback on both the priorities and on a range of 

topics. A summary is outlined below with detailed analysis contained in Appendix 1. 
 
Reducing Health Inequalities 

 There was a focus on care for children and mental health services and support 
for SEND.  

 There was a focus on looking after older people to tackle loneliness and 
isolation, preventing suicide and supporting care homes, improving wellbeing 
and support for disabled people and thorough at-home care. 

 Feedback was given on improving leisure facilities and accessibility, with more 
physical activities and sports sessions being available in the community.  

 The importance of supporting active travel, environmentally friendly transport, 
cycling and buses were seen as key, while reducing noise pollution at night. 

 Feedback was shared on the importance of cooking healthy school meals and 
making these available for people on low incomes. 

 
Supporting People out of Poverty 

 There was recognition of the need to support people to get into work. 

 Reference was given to the real living wage and preventing reliance on 
benefits and the need for better job security. 

 There was an acknowledgement that alleviating poverty for the most 
vulnerable, such as through second-hand furniture initiatives, second hand 
uniform shops and vouchers for food and bills, would assist.  

 The importance of educating people on how to manage money, training and 
development for the unemployed was fed back. 

 The cost of transport was identified as a barrier with respondents requesting 
free travel for young people to go to work or school, free bus travel for 
disabled people and young people, and support for the BEE network. 

 Another key theme mentioned for this priority was the importance of housing, 
specifically affordable housing, minimum standards in private rented 
accommodation, insulated housing, lower cost of rent, social mix in new 
developments, hostels for homeless people, and more council housing. 

Page 30



 
Addressing our Climate Crisis 

 A range of methods were suggested to tackle climate change, such as 
rethinking town centres, low traffic neighbourhoods, more community power 
generation projects, renewable energy/ alternative sources, advice for 
residents, giving spare land to community groups, group cookouts with food, 
developing community groups, increasing education on waste, educating 
young people, and promoting low carbon diets. 

 Feedback relating to not building on greenbelt or not cutting down trees was 
received 

 Housing was also a common theme in this priority, specifically home 
insulation, retrofit over new build, use of derelict buildings, not building in 
overpopulated areas, adapting older houses and sustainable property 
development. 

 Better waste management and helping increase recycling everywhere was 
another theme. 

 Importance of cheaper, improved and more accessible public transport as an 
enable to encourage walking to reduce traffic.  

 A small number of respondents disagreed with the priority and wanted there to 
be no Clean Air Plan. 

 
5.6 The information received against each of the priorities broadly aligns with the 

refreshed corporate plan and the measures. 
 

5.7 From the feedback and suggestions received to date, it would appear that it is not 
always clear which services the Council delivers and which are led and managed 
by partner organisations. This will be taken into account when considering how to 
improve awareness and communicating Council services. 
 

5.8 During October and November, drop-in sessions and Let’s Talk sessions were held 
with staff in the Council which included 
 

 Presenting the refreshed vision, outcomes and priorities 

 Capturing feedback on the importance of the priorities and at the drop-in 
session which of the ‘we will’ statements was most important 
 

Although these sessions were with a smaller cohort of people than those who 
completed the resident survey, the feedback supported the three refreshed priorities.  

 
 

6.0 COMMUNICATION 

  
6.1 The Corporate Plan will be relaunched using a variety of channels – media press 

release, website, internal presentations and externally with partners, videos for 
each priority - all supported by social media to demonstrate how we are working 
together for the good of the borough. 

 
6.2 The communication and engagement will continue on an ongoing basis for the 

duration of the plan. 

 

 
7.0 PERFORMANCE 

  

7.1 The strategic measures will provide clarity about where we are going as a Council. 
They will demonstrate to our residents, businesses, communities, partners and 
other stakeholders that our Council is overcoming the challenges of Covid-19, 
seizing new opportunities and on our way to becoming stronger than ever.  

Page 31



 
7.2 The table in Appendix 2 outlines the suggested list of indicators, annual data for the 

past three years where available and a description of the measure. For ease of 
navigation, indicators are aligned to relevant shared priorities. Some of the 
indicators are subject to wider factors, and the levers of change sit outside of 
Trafford Council’s control, so targets will not be set but they are important to track 
progress against our longer-term ambitions. It should be noted that some of the 
indicators also have a long lag between data capture and publication, particularly in 
the health inequality section.  

 
7.3 The measures were chosen to align with Trafford and GM strategies where 

possible – for example health inequality measures are aligned to the Independent 
Inequalities Commission and the Marmot City -Region Build Back Fairer reports 
and the addressing our climate crisis measures are aligned with Trafford’s Climate 
Action Plan and the overarching GM Strategy.  

 
7.4 A dashboard will be developed to complement the quarterly reporting and will 

include corporate priority measure data and wider Council services performance 
data. All measures will show a direction of travel based on latest available data 
compared to previous outturn. The quarterly reports will also showcase a case 
study or feature piece highlighting each priority. Charticles will be used with a short 
narrative alongside charts or maps to demonstrate the level of performance. 
 

7.5 Work and wider discussions are continuing to finalise the indicators suggested in 
the table and are therefore subject to change or refinement.  
 
 

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
It is recommended that the Executive: 

 
8.1 Approves the refreshed Corporate Plan and recommends its adoption to Council; 

and 
 

8.2 notes the reporting schedule for Corporate Plan updates. 
 

 
Finance Officer Clearance: GB 

 

Legal Officer Clearance: JL 

 

 
 

 
 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE & CORPORATE DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE: Sara Saleh  

  

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the Executive 
Member has cleared the report.  

  

Page 32

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/about-our-work/latest-updates-from-the-institute/greater-manchester-a-marmot-city-region


Appendix 1: Survey and Staff Drop In Session – Feedback 
 

Background 
 
This Appendix summarises feedback from engagement on the refreshed Corporate Plan and 
priorities through: 
 

1. A Resident Survey on Citizen Space  

2. Staff Drop-In sessions for the Council 
 

1. Residents Survey on Citizen Space 

 
A Residents Survey was published on Citizen Space which asked for: 
 

 Feedback on whether residents agreed these were the right priorities overall  

 Feedback on whether residents agreed these priorities would meet future challenges 

 Ranking the priorities in order of importance 

 Ranking the ‘we will’ statements under each priority in order of importance 

 Providing additional feedback and suggestions on areas to consider including 

 
There were 389 responses in total to the resident survey. 

  

Survey Respondents Profile 

 

 Majority of respondents aged 45-54, then 35-44, then 55-64 

 11% of respondents were aged 18-34 

 Majority of respondents 94% were White British or White Other (Trafford Profile – 14% at 

2011 Census from BAME group) 

 Respondents located in: North Trafford (33%), Central Trafford (32%), West Trafford 

(15%), South Trafford (15%), Outside of Trafford (5%) 
 

Feedback on overall corporate priorities 

 

On being the right priorities for the council to focus on 

 

 7 in 10 (73%) either strongly agree or agree these are the right priorities 

 1 in 10 (12%) either strongly disagree or disagree there are the right priorities 

 

On the priorities meeting future challenges 

 

 6 in 10 (62%) either strongly agree or agree these meet future challenges 

 1 in 10 (14%) either strongly disagree or disagree these meet future challenges  
 

Order of most important Corporate Priority to you 

 

1. Reducing health inequalities 

2. Supporting people out of poverty 

3. Making best use of our resources to deliver quality services 

4. Addressing our climate crisis 

5. Being a more open and accessible Council 
 

 

 Page 33



Ranking ‘We Will’ Statements (1 = Top Ranking) 

 

1) Reducing Health Inequalities 

 

1. Prevent poor health in children and promote good mental and physical health. 

2. Ensure Trafford’s mental health services are resilient, accessible and fit for purpose. 

3. Ensure more people are in good health for longer. 

4. Focus on areas of deprivation and with the highest rates of illness, and reduce the impact 

of deprivation.  

5. Work with partners to improve how services are delivered, and to help reduce health 

inequalities. 

6. Provide effective and sustainable physical activity and sport opportunities for our 

communities. 

 

2) Supporting people out of poverty 

 

1. Support children out of poverty and to have the best start in life. 

2. Give people skills and opportunities to enable them to get out of poverty. 

3. Prioritise support for people to avert poverty, and improve the situation for people 

experiencing poverty. 

4. Ensure agencies work well together to minimise the risk of individuals becoming homeless 

and to support those who are experiencing homelessness. 

5. Give people the power to maximise their household income. 

 
3) Addressing our climate crisis  

 

1. Reduce our carbon footprint and increase the amount we re-use, repurpose and recycle. 

2. Ensure that new housing developments are adaptable, sustainable and low-energy use, 

while working with partners to increase the energy efficiency in our homes. 

3. Reduce the amount of food waste in our borough and encourage surplus food to be 

donated to foodbanks. 

4. Promote and increase environmentally friendly travel, such as walking and cycling. 

5. Put in place the measures in the GM Clean Air Plan. 

6. Promote sustainable, healthy and lower-carbon diets, such as locally grown and seasonal 

food. 

 
4) Being more open and accessible 

 

1. Ensure the way we serve our borough is built around the needs of residents, businesses 

and communities. 

2. Ensure our communications are open and accessible to all. 

3. Put respect at the heart of how we work with colleagues, residents, business, partners and 

voluntary groups. 

4. Make better use of technology to improve the way we deliver services. 

5. Help people that are less digitally able to get online.  

 
5) Making best use of our resources 

 
1. Ensure our highways, roads and pavements are safe, well maintained and well lit.  

Page 34



2. Drive the borough’s economic recovery from Covid-19 by supporting businesses, 

increasing investment and improving our economic resilience to ensure Trafford remains a 

great place to live.  

3. Develop our leisure areas and use our parks and green spaces to benefit residents. 

4. Make smart decisions about what we buy and how we get the most out of our purchases. 

5. Deliver more joined-up services. 

6. Give staff the right skills to deliver and commission good quality services. 

 

 
Additional feedback and suggestions from free text question 

 
Reducing Health Inequalities 

 Active travel, environmentally friendly transport, cycling and buses promoted. 

 Address waiting times (for GPs), access to health services, aftercare, parental care, dental 

care.  

 Improve leisure facilities, open up membership, increase exercise, more physical activities 

and tackle noise pollution at night. 

 Focus on green spaces, parks and accessibility, disabled parking. 

 Care for Children, including children mental health services, sport classes, community 

sports, support for SEND. 

 Support for disabled people and at home care. 

 Older people, including fitness classes, elderly care, tackling loneliness and isolation, 

prevent suicide, care home funding. 

 Education on cooking healthy meals, in schools, for people on low incomes. 

 Consider needs of different races and of marginalised communities experiencing 

inequalities. 

 
Supporting People out of Poverty 

 Childcare funding so parents can work, unpaid carers, free travel for young people to go to 

work or school, free school dinners for all children, fresh fruit for all children, cooking skills 

for low income families, English language lessons. 

 Fairness and support for pensioners, free bus travel for disabled people and young people, 

support the BEE network. 

 Match people with vacancies, apprenticeships, tackle skillset shortage. 

 Education on how to manage money, starting in schools, free development courses, 

training for unemployed, employers provide time off for people with young children. 

 Affordable housing, minimum standards in private rented accommodation, insulated 

housing, lower cost of rent, social mix in new developments, hostels for homeless people, 

more council housing. 

 Pay people a real living wage to avoid relying on benefits and better job security.  

 Second-hand furniture initiative, second hand uniform shop, vouchers for food and bills. 

 
Addressing our climate crisis 

 Cheaper, improved and more accessible public transport, electric vehicles, reduce cars 

near schools, rethink town centres, low traffic neighbourhoods. 

 Community power generation projects, don’t build on greenbelt or cut down trees, more 

renewable energy/alternative sources and advice for residents. 

 Home insulation, retrofit over new build, use derelict building, don’t build in overpopulated 

areas, adapt older houses, sustainable property development. 

Page 35



 Improve choice of recycling, make all plastic recyclable, better waste management 

provider, timely collections, obligate businesses to recycle, upgrade recycling centres. 

 Support businesses who allow remote working to avoid travel, move pension fund away 

from fossil fuels. 

 Improve air quality, encourage walking and cycling, and promote green jobs.  

 Teach cycling in schools, safe cycle lanes, help people on low incomes. 

 Remove coned cycle lane, gully emptying, reduce HGV traffic, council owned electric 

vehicles and more charging points, more visible recycling in council buildings, no clean air 

plan. 

 Free car park for tram users, give spare land to community groups, group cookouts with 

food, develop more community groups, increase education on waste, educate young 

people, promote low carbon diets. 
 

Being more open and accessible 

 Consult residents before acting and listen to consultations, ensure a voice, webcast 

committees such as planning, change times for planning consultations so workers can 

access, active engagement, more transparent, encourage involvement, Q&A session for 

residents. 

 Find ways to bring people back together to tackle isolation, open discussion events, 

residents first, meaningful consultation, more visibility in community, support people in 

libraries to access the online services. 

 In person accessibility, contact face to face, connections and communications, answer 

people in person or over the phone. 

 Upgrade website to make it user friendly, clear route for accessing services, contact 

emails, keep human element, reply on social media, better communication from staff, 

website for suggestions and feedback. 

 You are great! It is the system and resources that need an improvement. 
 

Making best use of our resources 

 Make full and active use of the fantastic pool of talent in Trafford’s communities and 

voluntary sector, listen to the public and their views, encourage businesses to hire local 

people. 

 Economic recovery needs to include and encompass climate change and health 

inequalities. 

 Well-lit and safe cycle paths, prioritised pedestrians and cyclists, parking for disabled 

people, paths cleared for disabled people. 

 Pop ups in empty business spaces, invest in local businesses, lower rent for independents, 

support businesses impacted by covid. 

 Improve roads pavements and paths and repair potholes, manage roadworks so not all at 

once, unblock drains, tackle flytipping, collect litter, take ownership of road signs, no 

parking charges in small villages. 

 Revamped and new leisure facilities and centres, consider density of housing proposals. 
 

Page 36



2. Drop In Sessions for Staff  

 

Drop In sessions were held with staff in the Council which included 

 Presenting the refreshed vision, outcomes and priorities 

 Capturing feedback on which of the ‘we will’ statements was most important 

 

These sessions were with a smaller cohort of people than those who completed the resident 

survey. 

Staff were asked to pick an area(s) they thought was a priority for the council and responses 

were captured in a visual word cloud (see below). 

.  

 

Staff Poll Responses on We Will Statements 

Staff were asked to identify which ‘we will’ statement was the most important with the 

statement selected by most ranked highest. 

1). Reducing Health Inequalities (Ranked) 

Rank We Will Statement 

1 Ensure more people are in good health for longer. 

=2 Focus on areas of deprivation and with the highest rates of illness, and reduce the 
impact of deprivation.  

=2 Work with partners to improve how services are delivered, and to help reduce 
health inequalities. 

4 Prevent poor health in children and promote good mental and physical health. 

=5 Ensure Trafford’s mental health services are resilient, accessible and fit for 
purpose. 

=5 Provide effective and sustainable physical activity and sport opportunities for our 
communities. 

 

 

 
Page 37



2). Supporting people out of poverty (Ranked) 

Rank We Will Statement 

=1 Give people skills and opportunities to enable them to get out of poverty. 

=1 Prioritise support for people to avert poverty, and improve the situation for people 
experiencing poverty. 

=3 Ensure agencies work well together to minimise the risk of individuals becoming 
homeless, and support those who are experiencing homelessness. 

=3 Support children out of poverty and to have the best start in life. 

=5 Give people the power to maximise their household income. 

 

3). Addressing our Climate Crisis (Ranked) 

Rank We Will Statement 

=1 Promote and increase environmentally friendly travel, such as walking and 
cycling. 

=1 Reduce our carbon footprint and increase the amount we re-use, repurpose and 
recycle. 

3 Ensure that new housing developments are adaptable, sustainable and low-
energy use, while working with partners to increase the energy efficiency in our 
homes. 

4 Put in place the measures in the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan. 

5 Promote sustainable, healthy and lower-carbon diets, such as locally grown and 
seasonal food. 

 

4). Being a more open and accessible Council 

Rank We Will Statement 

1 Ensure the way we serve our borough is built around the needs of residents, 
businesses and communities. 

2 Put respect at the heart of how we work with colleagues, residents, business, 
partners and voluntary groups. 

=3 Ensure our communications are open and accessible to all. 

=3 Help people that are less digitally able to get online. 

=3 Make better use of technology to improve the way we deliver services. 

 

5). Making best use of our resources to deliver quality services 

Rank We Will Statement 

=1 Drive the borough’s economic recovery from Covid-19 by supporting businesses, 
increasing investment and improving our economic resilience to ensure Trafford 
remains a great place to live. 

=1 Give staff the right skills to deliver and commission good quality services. 

=3 Deliver more joined-up services. 

=3 Make smart decisions about what we buy and how we get the most out of our 
purchases. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



Appendix 2: Corporate Plan Refresh Proposed Performance Indicators 
 

Priority Indicators Frequency 
of 

publication 

Current performance Details regarding the Indicator 

Reducing 
Health 

Inequalities 

Improve % of 'social 
value' spending (as 
% of total 

tendering/contracting) 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Social Value Target Against Contract Value (%) 
Social Value plays an important part of 
procurement of services. Social value is the 

wider benefit gained by a local community from 
the delivery of public contracts or services. 

Examples of social value may be the skills 
gained by young apprentices from an area or the 
wellbeing gained by communities from having 

access to greener spaces or organically sourced 
produce. These things hold great importance but 

aren't always as easy to quantify in the same 
way as financial value. 

NA 30% 31% 

Improve number of 
housing completions 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 The building of quality, affordable and social 
housing is a key priority for the Council. New 

homes are required to meet identified local need 
across the borough to ensure that Trafford has 

the homes which residents need, can afford and 
that the borough continues to be an attractive 
place to live. 

  
The delivery of new homes provides the Council 

with income from additional Council Tax revenue 
and New Homes Bonus which is paid directly by 
the government. This income plays an important 

part in the Council’s future funding strategy and 
can be used to support the delivery of Council 

services to benefit the residents and businesses 

953 788 1301 

P
age 39



in the borough. 

  
The number of housing completions is 
determined via undertaking quarterly site visits 

on those residential sites with full planning 
permission. 

 
 Reduce the % of 

children who are 
classified as obese 

Annual 
(Children 
2019/20) 

 

2013/14 - 
2017/18 
 

Reception 

 

Most deprived 
quintile 
12.16 

 
 

Second most 
deprived 
quintile 

9.3 
 

 
Average 
deprived 

quintile  
8.5 

 
Second least 
deprived 

quintile 
6.7 

 

2014/15 - 
2018/19 
 

Reception 

 

Most 
deprived 
quintile 

12.0 
 

Second 
most 
deprived 

quintile 
9.6 

 
Average 
deprived 

quintile  
8.5 

 
Second 
least 

deprived 
quintile 

6.9 

2015/16 - 
2019/20 
 

Reception 

 

Most 
deprived 
quintile 

11.6 
 

Second 
most 
deprived 

quintile 
8.8 

 
Average 
deprived 

quintile  
8.8 

 
Second 
least 

deprived 
quintile 

6.9 

Indicator Names: 
Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including 
severe obesity), 5-years data combined or 

Year 6: Prevalence of obesity (including severe 
obesity), 5-years data combined 
 

Number of children in Reception Year (aged 4-5 
years) or Year 6 (aged 10-11 years) classified as 
obese (including severely obese) in the National 

Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) 
attending participating state maintained schools 

in England as a proportion of all children 
measured for five years’ worth of data. 
 

Child obesity prevalence shows a close 
association with socioeconomic deprivation. 

Obesity prevalence in children living in the 10% 
most deprived areas of the country is more than 
double that of children living in the least deprived 

10% of areas 
 
Deprivation data are provided by deprivation 

quintiles (groups of five equal-sized bands), 
based on the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 

decile (ten equal-sized bands) (2019 IMD for 
2015/16-2019/20 data and 2015 IMD for all 

P
age 40



 

Least deprived 
quintile 
5.6 

 
 

Year 6 

 
Most deprived 

quintile 
24.2 

 
 
Second most 

deprived 
quintile 

21.4 
 
 

Average 
deprived 

quintile  
19.0 
 

Second least 
deprived 

quintile 
15.8 
 

 
Least deprived 

quintile 
11.5 

 

Least 
deprived 
quintile 

4.8 
 
Year 6 

 
Most 

deprived 
quintile 

23.8 
 
Second 

most 
deprived 

quintile 
21.5 
 

Average 
deprived 

quintile  
19.7 
 

Second 
least 

deprived 
quintile 
15.7 

 
Least 

deprived 
quintile 

 

Least 
deprived 
quintile 

5.3 
 
Year 6 

 
Most 

deprived 
quintile 

24.6 
 
Second 

most 
deprived 

quintile 
21.9 
 

Average 
deprived 

quintile  
19.5 
 

Second 
least 

deprived 
quintile 
15.2 

 
Least 

deprived 
quintile 

previous years).  

 
Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity), 
3-years data combined is available at ward level. 

 
Source: https://digital.nhs.uk/services/national-

child-measurement-programme/ 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

P
age 41

https://digital.nhs.uk/services/national-child-measurement-programme/
https://digital.nhs.uk/services/national-child-measurement-programme/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


 11.7 

 

12.7 

 

Reduce the % of 

adults who are 
classified as 

overweight or obese 

Annual 2017/18 

57.3 
Better than 

England 

2018/19 

64.0 
Similar to 

England 

2019/20 

59.3 
Better 

than 
England 

Indicator Name: 

Percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as 
overweight or obese 

 
Obesity is recognised as a major determinant of 
premature mortality and avoidable ill health. 

 
Questions on self-reported height and weight are 

included in Active Lives to provide data for 
monitoring excess weight in adults at local 
authority level for the Public Health Outcomes 

Framework (PHOF). 
 

Source: 
https://www.sportengland.org/research/active-

lives-survey/ 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

Percentage of adults 

who are active 
(increase)/fairly 

active/inactive 
(decrease) 

Annual 

(May 
2019/20 

latest 
published) 

2017/18 

Active adults 
64.2 

Similar to 
England 
 

 
Inactive adults 
20.8 

Similar to 
England 

2018/19 

Active 
adults 

69 
Similar to 
England 

 
Inactive 
adults 

19.9 
Similar to 

2019/20 

Active 
adults 

68.1 
Similar to 
England 

 
Inactive 
adults 

20.6 
Similar to 

Indicator names: 

Percentage of physically active adults 
Percentage of physically inactive adults 

 
Physically active is measured as doing at least 
150 moderate intensity equivalent (MIE) minutes 

physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes 
or more in the previous 28 days 
 

Physical inactivity is defined as engaging in less 
than 30 minutes of physical activity per week. 

P
age 42

https://www.sportengland.org/research/active-lives-survey/
https://www.sportengland.org/research/active-lives-survey/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


 

 

England 

 
 

England 

 
 
 

 

Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for 
global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths 
globally. People who have a physically active 

lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of 
cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease 

and stroke compared to those who have a 
sedentary lifestyle.  Regular physical activity is 
also associated with a reduced risk of diabetes, 

obesity, osteoporosis and colon/breast cancer 
and with improved mental health.  In older adults 

physical activity is associated with increased 
functional capacities. The estimated direct cost 
of physical inactivity to the NHS across the UK is 

over £0.9 billion per year. 
 

Source: Active Lives Adult Survey, Sport 
England 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

2018 

Fairly active 
adults 

13.1 

2019 

Fairly 
active 

adults 
10.9 

2020 

Fairly 
active 

adults 
12.3 

Indicator Name: 

Percentage of adults aged 16+ who are fairly 
active (30-149 minutes a week) 

 
Source: Active Lives Adult Survey, Sport 
England 

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/ 
 

Improve the % of 

children who are 
active 

Annual 

(May 
2019/20 
latest 

published) 

2017/18 

Active children 
and young 
people 

41.4 
Similar to 

2018/19 

Active 
children 
and young 

people 
47.5 

2019/20 

Active 
children 
and young 

people 
Not 

Indicator names: 

Percentage of physically active children and 
young people 
 

The percentage of children (5-15) undertaking an 
average of at least 60 minutes of physical activity 

P
age 43

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/


England 

 

Similar to 

England 
 

Available 

 
 

per day across the week. 

 
Regular moderate-to-vigorous physical activity 
(MVPA) improves health and fitness, strengthens 

muscles and bones, develops co-ordination, 
maintains healthy weight, improves sleep, makes 

you feel good, builds confidence and social skills 
and improves concentration and learning. 
 

Source: Public Health England (based on Active 
Lives Children and Young People Survey, Sport 

England) 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 
 

Reduce the under 75 

mortality rate from 
causes considered 

preventable (per 
100,000 population) 

Annual 

(2017-19 
latest 

published 
by PHE) 

2015 – 17 

143.2 
Similar to 

England 

2016 – 18 

141.2 
Similar to 

England 

2017 – 19 

139.4 
Similar to 

England 

Indicator Name: 

Under 75 mortality rate from causes considered 
preventable (2019 definition) 

 
Age-standardised mortality rate from causes 
considered preventable in persons aged less 

than 75 years per 100,000 population. 
 

The basic concept of preventable mortality is that 
deaths are considered preventable if, in the light 
of the understanding of the determinants of 

health at the time of death, all or most deaths 
from the underlying cause (subject to age limits if 

appropriate) could mainly be avoided through 
effective public health and primary prevention 
interventions. 

 
The data are insufficiently robust to provide local 

authority and unitary authority estimates for 

P
age 44

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


single years and must be aggregated over three 

years; this means the timeliness of non-
overlapping time periods to make judgements on 
health improvement is limited. 

 
Deaths from causes considered preventable, 

under 75 years, standardised mortality ratio for 
period 2015 - 2019 is available at Ward level. 
 

Source: Public Health England (based on ONS 
source data) 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 
 

Improve the healthy 
life expectancy (by 

deprivation and 
gender) 

Annual 
(2019 latest 

published 
by PHE) 

2015 – 17 

Female 

65.3 
 

Male 
64 

2016 – 18 

Female 

66.0 
 

Male 
66.0 

2017 – 19 

Female 

65 
 

Male 
65.6 

Indicator Name: 
Healthy life expectancy at birth 

 
A measure of the average number of years a 

person would expect to live in good health based 
on contemporary mortality rates and prevalence 
of self-reported good health. 

 
Life expectancy at birth, (upper age band 90+) 

for the period 2015 – 2019 is available at Ward 
level. 
 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
death extracts, Mid-year population estimates, 

Annual Population Survey (APS).  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

2015 – 17 

Female 

8 
 

2016 – 18 

Female 

7.4 
 

2017 – 19 

Female 

7.9 
 

Indicator Name: 
Inequality in life expectancy at birth 

 

The slope index of inequality (SII) is a measure 

P
age 45

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


Male 

9.5 

Male 

9.3 

Male 

8.8 

of the social gradient in life expectancy, i.e. how 

much life expectancy varies with deprivation. It 
takes account of health inequalities across the 
whole range of deprivation within each area and 

summarises this in a single number. This 
represents the range in years of life expectancy 

across the social gradient from most to least 
deprived, based on a statistical analysis of the 
relationship between life expectancy and 

deprivation across all deprivation deciles. 
 

Source: Figures calculated by Public Health 
England using mortality data and mid-year 
population estimates from the ONS and Index of 

Multiple Deprivation 2015 and 2019 (IMD 2015 / 
IMD 2019) scores from the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government. 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

Reduce the 
proportion of five year 

old children with 
experience of visually 

obvious dental decay 

Bi-Annual 
(2018/19 

latest 
published 

by PHE) 

2014/15 

26.4 

Similar to 
England 

2016/17 

19.0 

Similar to 
England 

2018/19 

26.0 

Similar to 
England 

Indicator Name: 
Percentage of 5 year olds with experience of 

visually obvious dental decay 
 

Source: Dental Public Health Epidemiology 
Programme for England: oral health survey of 
five-year-old children 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 
 

Reduce the 

depression (recorded 
prevalence age 18+) 

Annual 

(2019/20 
latest 
published 

by PHE) 

2017/18 

12.6 

2018/19 

13.9 

2019/20 

14.8 

Indicator Name 

Depression: Recorded prevalence (aged 18+) 
 
The recorded depression prevalence is the 

estimated number of people with depression 
recorded on their practice register as a 

P
age 46

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


proportion of the practice list size, aged 18 years 

or over, allocated to a local authority boundary 
using the postcode of the practice. 
 

Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework 
(QOF), NHS Digital 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

Reduce smoking in 
routine/manual 
workers vs general 

population (inequality 
in smoking rates) 

Annual 
(2019 latest 
published 

By PHE) 

2017 

26.8 
Similar to 

England 

2018 

26.4 
Similar to 

England 

2019 

17.4 
Similar to 

England 

Indicator Name: 
Smoking Prevalence in adults in routine and 
manual occupations (18-64) - current smokers 

(APS) 
 

The prevalence is calculated by dividing the 
weighted number of self-reported smokers aged 
18-64 years by total number of respondents (with 

a valid smoking status) aged 18-64 years in a 
subset of the routine and manual group, 

expressed as a percentage. 
 
Smoking is the most important cause of 

preventable ill health and premature mortality in 
the UK. Smoking is a major risk factor for many 

diseases, such as lung cancer, chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and 
heart disease. It is also associated with cancers 

in other organs, including lip, mouth, throat, 
bladder, kidney, stomach, liver and cervix. 

 
Source: Annual Population Survey (APS) 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 

 
 

P
age 47

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


Supporting 

people out 
of poverty 

Reduction in those 

receiving Universal 
Credit and the 
Claimant Count 

Monthly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21  

The figures are for March in the given fiscal year. 
 
The Claimant Count (CC) constitutes those 

claiming unemployment related benefits. It 
includes all Universal Credit (UC) claimants who 

are required to seek work and be available for 
work, as well as all JSA claimants. 
 

UC includes benefit claimants who are not in 
employment and those eligible who are in 

employment (it can be claimed by people in or 
out of work). 
 

The CC stat is for % of pop aged 16+ whilst UC 
is for % aged 16-65. UC data comes from the 

DWP’s Stat-Xplore service and CC data can be 
accessed via Nomis. Both can be found via LG 
Inform. 

 
Note: The CC does not attempt to measure 

unemployment. However, it can provide a useful 
indication of how unemployment is likely to vary 
(both geographically and over time). 

2.3% (CC) 
5.1% (UC) 

2.5% (CC) 
6.4% (UC) 

5.3% (CC) 
11.8% 

(UC) 

Number of people 

prevented from 
becoming homeless 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Homeless prevention is vital. The Council and 

partners must ensure they intervene earlier to 
help prevent families and individuals becoming 

homeless in the first place. Preventing 
homelessness also reduces the costs associated 
with securing temporary or emergency 

accommodation. 
Homeless Prevention refers to where an 

applicant has been prevented from becoming 

416 444 303 

P
age 48

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/


homeless by securing their current 

accommodation or securing new and suitable 
accommodation before a crisis situation occurs. 
Homelessness can be prevented through various 

methods. Mediation and conciliation with family 
or friends is the main preventative method used 

to enable to applicants to remain in their existing 
home. In addition resolving rent or service 
charge arrears in the social and private sector 

has enabled applicants to remain within their 
existing home, thus preventing homelessness. 

 

Improve the number 
of affordable housing 
completions 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Ensuring that there is a supply of permanent 
affordable in Trafford is vital in tacking poverty. 
People living in poor quality unaffordable 

accommodation can end up in a situation 
whereby mortgage or rent arrears occur which 

can lead to them being in poverty and in some 
cases homeless.  
 

Trafford has an affordability ratio of 8.35 
(average income to property price) which 

presents difficulties in terms of local residents 
getting on the property ladder and also the 
recruitment and retention for both businesses 

and public services because lower paid staff 
cannot afford to live in the borough. This may be 

having an adverse effect on the local economy 
and, anecdotally, is causing recruitment and 
retention problems in some parts of the public 

sector in areas such as social care. The 
provision of new affordable homes is therefore 

critical. 

82 69 79 

P
age 49



  

The Council and partners need to increase the 
supply of affordable housing of the right size and 
type to meet this shortfall as well as provide for 

future needs. 
  

Affordable housing completions are determined 
through undertaking quarterly site visits and 
liaising with the Registered Providers/Housing 

Associations. 
 

Reduction in % of 

children in poverty 

Annual 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 The actual measure in question is % of children 

in relative low income families. Relative low 
income is defined as a family in low income 
before housing costs in the given year. More 

detail on what actually constitutes low income 
can be seen in the downloadable files. 

 
The stats in brackets are those children in 
absolute low income families. This is the same 

as the relative low income approach, except it 
looks at things in comparison with incomes from 

2010/11. 
 
For reference, the UK’s 2019/20 stats are 19% 

and 16% (the latter being the absolute low 
income one). 

 
Children included are those aged 15 and under. 
Figures for all children (i.e. including 16 to 19 

years old) are available on Stat-Xplore and can 
be broken down by age (years and bands). 

 

13% 

(11%) 

13% 

(11%) 

12% 

(10%) P
age 50



Source is the DWP. 

 
Note: This data appears to be the most up-to-
date and relevant metric considering child 

poverty. Some institutions/researchers have 
combined this data with other sources to 

facilitate a more robust approach to quantifying 
child poverty. Could be worth looking into these 
efforts.  

Maintain the low level 

of 16-17 year olds 
who are not in 

education training or 
employment (NEET) 

Quarterly 2018 2019 2020 The figures presented are the annual (calendar 

year) ones. 
 

This is the number of 16 and 17-year olds who 
are NEET, expressed as a proportion of that 
cohort known to the local authority (i.e. those 

who were educated in government-funded 
schools). Refugees, asylum seekers and young 

adult offenders are excluded. Ages are taken at 
the beginning of the academic year (31 August). 
 

The second statistic (underneath in brackets) is 
NEET plus young people whose status is not 

known. 
 
The data is produced by the DfE but can be 

found easily on LG Inform. 
 

 

2.3% 

(5.3%) 

1.8% 

(5%) 

2.3% 

(4.8%) 

Improve the number 
of people being re-
housed (from 

Trafford’s housing 
waiting list) 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Trafford Council is not a stock holding authority 
and relies on Registered Providers/Housing 
Associations to provide a percentage of their 

available lets in order to re-house residents who 
are on the Council’s Housing Register. The 

229 301 119 

P
age 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/neet-and-participation-local-authority-figures


Registered Providers/Housing Associations 

operating in Trafford have signed a Nomination 
Agreement which ensures that 50% of available 
lets (75% from Trafford Housing Trust) are 

provided to the Council. The number of 
properties offered for nomination depends on the 

number of properties that are available. The 
Council continues to encourage Registered 
Providers/Housing Associations to increase the 

provision of affordable/social housing in Trafford 
to increase the number of properties available. 

Reduce % of 

households fuel 
poverty levels 

Annual 2017 2018 2019 This shows fuel poor households as a % of all 

households in the area. A household is said to 
be fuel poor if it needs to spend more than 10% 
of its income on fuel to maintain an adequate 

standard of warmth (usually defined as 21 
degrees for the main living room and 18 degrees 

for other occupied rooms). The definition also 
includes spending on heating water, lights and 
appliance usage and cooking costs. 

 
Produced by BEIS. On LG Inform. Seems to be a 

on a calendar year basis. 

11.4% 10.4% 12.8% 

Improve overall 
employment rate 

(aged 16-64) (%) 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 This is the proportion of the working age 
population who are in employment according to 

the ILO definition. 
 
Data is derived from the Annual Population 

Survey (a rolling annual survey updated 
quarterly). In our case the data is taken from the 

surveys ending in March of the given fiscal year 
(e.g. the most recent one being April 2020-March 
2021). Relevant survey data is accessible via 

77% 79.6% 76.5% 

P
age 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fuel-poverty-sub-regional-statistics
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/aps
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/aps


Nomis or LG Inform. 

Improve school 
readiness (free 

school meal status) 

Annual 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 School readiness: percentage of children 
achieving a good level of development at the 
end of Reception 

 

School Readiness: percentage of children with 
free school meal status achieving a good level of 

development at the end of Reception 
 
This is a key measure of early years 

development across a wide range of 
developmental areas. Children from poorer 
backgrounds are more at risk of poorer 
development and the evidence shows that 
differences by social background emerge early 
in life. 

 
Source: PHE England’s Fingertips site. 
 

Reception 
73% 

 
Reception with 

free school 

meal 
48.1% 

Reception 
75.3% 

 
Reception 

with free 

school 
meal 

50.3% 
 

Reception 
74.7% 

 
Reception 

with free 

school 
meal 

56% 
 

Improve employees 

paid at/above real 
living wage 

Annual 2019 2020 2021 The Living Wage Foundation sets real living 

wage (RLW) rates. They are calculated annually 
to “meet the real cost of living”. 

 
The ONS publication producing this analysis can 
be seen here (2021 version). It considers those 

paid under the RLW. They use Annual Survey of 
Hours and Earnings (ASHE) data for their 

estimates. 
 
Trafford is the workplace area in this context (i.e. 

we’re not looking at Trafford residents). 
 

77.4% 76.7% 80.7% 

FT/PT male: 
82%/18% 

 
FT/PT female: 
61%/39% 

78%/22% 

 
58%/42% 

79%/21% 

 
60%/40% 

P
age 53

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/adhocs/13855annualsurveyofhoursandearningsasheestimatesofthenumberandproportionofemployeejobswithhourlypaybelowthelivingwagebyworkgeographylocalauthorityandparliamentaryconstituencyukapril2020andapril2021
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/ashe
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/ashe


Addressing 

our climate 
crisis 

Reduce borough wide 

CO2 emissions 
(kilotonnes) 

Bi-

Annually 
(last 
published 

2019) 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 These statistics provide the most reliable and 

consistent breakdown of CO2 emissions across 
the country, using nationally available data sets 
going back to 2005. 

 
The main data sources are the UK National 

Atmospheric Emissions Inventory and 
the BEIS National Statistics of energy 
consumption for local authority areas. All 

emissions included in the national inventory are 
covered, except aviation, shipping and military 

transport, for which there is no obvious basis for 
allocation to local areas. 
 
Trafford’s Climate Action Plan aims for carbon 
neutrality by 2038, aligned with the GM 5 Year 

Environment Plan and overseen by a cross-
sectoral Trafford Climate Emergency and Air 
Quality Commission.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-
local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-

emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019 
 
 

1,507.0 

(2018) 

1,467.6 

(2019) 

Not yet 

published 

Reduce corporate 

CO2 emissions 
(kilotonnes) 

Annual 

data 
(Financial 

Year) 

Data not available  Data for this is not yet available but it is expected 

Jan 2022 

Increase number of 
electric charging 
points per 100,000 

population (Absolute) 

Annual 
(April) 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Department for Transport data for electric vehicle 
charging statistics on the number of publicly 
available electric vehicle charging devices in the 

UK. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/electric-

No data 
available 

21.6 (51) 19 (45) 

P
age 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/electric-vehicle-charging-device-statistics-july-2021


vehicle-charging-device-statistics-july-2021 

 
 

Improve percentage 
of household waste 

which is collected for 
recycling 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Household waste sent for 
recycling/composting/reuse (annual) is taken 

from the LA Collected and Household Waste 
Statistics. Data is based on figures entered by 

local authorities onto WasteDataFlow for each 
quarterly return for the financial year.  

57.3% 56.9% 54.1% 

Improve number of 

staff trained in carbon 
literacy  

Annual 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 The Public Health Team and HR provide Carbon 

Literacy training for staff.  39 staff were trained 
and 35 certified as Carbon Literate. Certified 
means that people have committed to specific 

actions to reduce their carbon footprint. 

NA 39  

Reduce vehicle miles 
travelled on roads in 

Trafford (millions) 

Annual 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 ‘Whilst historically significant, the long term 
trends can be misleading in most cases due to 

the extraordinary circumstances observed as a 
result of the coronavirus pandemic. Vehicle miles 
travelled in Great Britain have had year-on-year 

growth in each year between 2010 and 2019. 
However, the sharp decrease in 2020 has 

resulted in traffic estimates that are lower than 
the 2010 levels. Therefore, to say traffic has 
fallen over the last decade would misconstrue, 

as the overall decrease is entirely due to the 
decline in traffic levels observed in the 2020 

estimates.’ 
 
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/local-authorities/91 

 

1034.3 1084.7 886.6 

Reduce number of Annual 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 The first time in 5 years that the number of 

P
age 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/electric-vehicle-charging-device-statistics-july-2021
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/local-authorities/91


licenced vehicles with 

Trafford addresses 

130,076 131,133 129,116 license vehicles in Trafford has experienced a 

year-on-year reduction. The highest proportional 
reduction compared to previous years was HGVs 
and Buses and coaches. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-

sets/all-vehicles-veh01 (VEH0105) 

Increase number of 
licenced Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles 

with Trafford 
addresses 

(Number registered at 
year end) 

Annual 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) are those 
which emit less than 75g CO2 for every km 
travelled. This is 60% average CO2 emissions for 

cars registered for the first time in 2021 Q1 
(Vehicle Licensing Statistics).  

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-
sets/all-vehicles-veh01 (VEH0132) 

510 754 1,169 

Improve proportion of 
Energy Performance 
Certificates (EPC) 

registered to Trafford 
addresses that are 

A,B or C 

Annual 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Almost 40% of the UK’s energy consumption and 
carbon emissions come from the way our 
buildings are heated and used. Even 

comparatively small changes in energy 
performance and the way a building is used will 

have a significant effect in reducing energy 
consumption. 
An EPC is required when a building is 

constructed, sold or let, and is valid for 10 years. 
Domestic EPCs are banded from “A” to “G”, 
where “A” is the most energy efficient in terms of 

likely fuel costs and CO2 emissions. 
The ambition is to have as many homes as 

possible in EPC band C by 2035.  
 
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org 

31.2% 31.4% 32.5% 

Reduction in annual 
mean concentration of 

Annual 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 The burning of fossil fuels for transportation and 
industry is a major contributor to air pollution 

P
age 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1021032/vehicle-licensing-statistics-april-to-june-2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/


nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 

µg/m3 

29 30 21 emissions such as Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2).  

In Trafford, after the start of the Covid-19 
pandemic and during the associated lockdowns 
and restrictions the NO2 levels measured at the 

roadside site on the A56 have been lower 
compared to periods with no restrictions.  

Reduction in NO2 is part of the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan (GMCAP) 

Reduce household 
waste not sent for 

recycling (Tonnes) 

Annual 2018/19 
 

32,420 

2019/20 
 

33,815 

2020/21 Household waste not sent for recycling (annual) 
is taken from the LA Collected and Household 

Waste Statistics. Data is based on figures 
entered by local authorities onto WasteDataFlow 

for each quarterly return for the financial year. 
WasteDataFlow is a web-based system for 
quarterly reporting on Local Authority collected 

waste data by local authorities to central 
government. 

Household waste not sent for recycling (annual) 
in Trafford | LG Inform (local.gov.uk) 

Council 
Services 
 

Improve libraries 

loans (digital and 
physical) 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Throughout 2020/21 Trafford saw a shift to more 

e-library loans through the pandemic with the 
libraries closed for periods of time.  Tracking 
number of physical loans and e-library loans is 

one of the ways to highlight the use of libraries 
which provide a community resource and create 
opportunities for learning and a shared social 

space. Libraries have a role in supporting digital 
literacy and social prescribing.  This is an internal 

data source so no comparator information is 
available.   
 

80,219 
(digital) 

 
 

 
522,977 

(physical) 

160,718  
(digital) 

 
 

 
518,820 

(physical)  

311,710 
(digital) 

 
 

 
104,389  
(physical) 

Improve shifting 
enquiries to online 

Quarterly 2018/19 
 

2019/20 
 

2020/21 
 

Self-service request come through via the 
Internet pages through Contact 360 the 

P
age 57

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=8255&mod-period=4&mod-area=E08000009&mod-group=CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&mod-type=comparisonGroupType
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=8255&mod-period=4&mod-area=E08000009&mod-group=CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&mod-type=comparisonGroupType


self-service(reduce 

call volume) 

22,686 36,406 45,922 Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 

platform. Contact categories include: Blue 
Badges, complaints and compliments, 
information requests, parks and open spaces, 

pest control, recycling and rubbish, road and 
highways, and street care and cleaning.  

Contacts are captured if they are self-service or 
mediated (phoning up, emailing, face to face 
etc).  Self-service requests offer an accessible 

route for making contact as residents can do it 
quicker and at all hours of the day and at 

weekends and receive direct feedback about the 
progress of the service request.   
 

Polarity: High is good 

Improve timeliness of 
FOI requests 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 FOIs can enhance the transparency of policy 
making, administrative decision making and 

government service delivery. Under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 the normal timescales for 
completion of an FOI request is 20 working days. 

This measure looks at how many FOI requests 
were met within the 20 working days timescale.   

Polarity: High is good  

NA 83.4% 67.1% 

Improve residents' 
digital access via 
device lending 

scheme 

Quarterly 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 The device lending scheme aim is to improve 
digital literacy by giving people the skills and 
confidence to use digital technologies to help 

them in their everyday life. The co-ordinated 
project is being delivered though the Trafford 

Library service. The laptop lending was initially 
launched 11th March 2021 so no historical 
information is available. 

NA NA 110 

Improve % of 
Council’s controllable 

Annual 2018/19 
49% 

2020/21 
39% 

2020/21  
Spending more in Trafford is about creating a 

P
age 58



spend in Trafford 

 

 

 
 
 

 

resilient and inclusive economy for the benefit of 

the local area.  Procurement is the term used for 
how organisations and businesses acquire 
goods and services. When procuring goods and 

services it is also important to look at more than 
just the financial cost. We should also look at 

what additional value, or benefit, we can get from 
what we are buying.  Procuring locally supports 
local services and communities and cuts down 

on our carbon footprint. 
 

This then creates a ripple effect with local 
workers having better financial stability and 
available income to enjoy businesses in their 

area such as shops and restaurants ensuring the 
proceeds of business supports communities. 
 

 

Maintain percentage 
of council tax 
collected 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Council tax is a tax on domestic properties. It is 
collected by local councils, and it helps to pay for 
services which councils provide, such as 

education, refuse collection and streetlighting. 
Council Tax is charged on all domestic 

properties, whether they are rented or owned, 
and whether they are lived in or not. High 
collection rates help support service delivery. 

98.1% 97.8% 97.2% 

Maintain percentage 
of major planning 
applications 

processed within 
timescales 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Percentage of planning applications processed 
within 13 weeks or agreed time for major 
developments.   
Source name: Ministry of Housing, Communities 

& Local Government 

100% 100% 100% 

Maintain percentage 
of highway safety 

inspections carried 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 The One Trafford Partnership has an agreed 
programme of safety inspections of all roads in 

the Borough, either monthly, quarterly or 
97.0% 98.7% 100% 

P
age 59



out in full compliance 

with agreed 
programme 

annually, based on the national classification of 

roads. Highways inspectors carry out 
approximately 700 inspections per month in 
accordance with this programme. 

Improve adopted 

streets and paths 
scored at grade B or 

higher (road tidiness) 

Quarterly 2018/19 2019/20 

 

88.0% 

2020/21 

 

93.8% 

Street cleanliness is monitored against 

guidelines set out by Keep Britain Tidy, for litter 
and detritus (dust, mud, soil, grit, gravel, stones, 

rotted leaf and vegetable residues, and 
fragments of twigs, glass, plastic, etc.). 
Inspectors carry out 75 randomly selected 

surveys per month, and grade streets between A 
(clean) and D (heavy deposits). Grade B is an 

acceptable level of cleanliness at which all 
streets should be maintained. 

Improve the number 

of apprenticeships in 
the Council 

Quarterly   April 2017-

March 2021 
 

274 

2020/21 

 
 

71 

 

The Apprenticeship Levy came into force on 

6 April 2017 and was introduced by the 
Government in order to address the shortage of 
skilled workers in the UK, by increasing the 

number of apprenticeship opportunities offered 
by employers. 

The Target requires public sector employers to 
employ an average of 2.3% of their 
organisation’s headcount as new apprentice 

starts each year between 1 April 2017 and 31 
March 2021. 

Reduce sickness 

absence from 
previous year 

Quarterly  Q4 2019/20 

 
3.85% 

Q4 

2020/21 
3.56% 

This metric is the percentage of time lost to 

sickness absence over the 12 month period. It is 
based on taking the total hours of recorded 
sickness absence and dividing this into the total 

available or working hours and multiplying by 
100. 

*We previously used the old Local Authority 

P
age 60



BVPI12 indicator of average full time equivalent 

days lost to sickness and so this is detailed for 
2018/19. However we moved to percentage of 
time lost in 2019/20 as this is more widely used. 

It is also easier to calculate based on different 
working patterns.  

 

Reduce the % of 
turnover in the 12 
months period 

 2018/19 
12.49% 

 

2019/20 
10.21% 

2020/21 
10.50% 

This metric is the percentage of turnover over the 
12 month period. It is based on taking the total 
number of leavers and dividing this into the 

average total number of post holders and 
multiplying by 100. The average total number of 

post holders is calculated by taking the number 
of post holders at both the beginning and end of 
the period, adding them together and dividing by 

2. This includes leavers for all reasons. 

Maintain rate of 
admissions to 

permanent residential 
nursing in over 65+ 

Quarterly 2018/19 
 

539.5 

2019/20 
684.8 

(962 in 
ASCOF) 

2020/21 
543 

Older people whose long-term support needs are 
best met by admission to residential and nursing 

care homes relative to the population size. 
 

Avoiding permanent placements in residential 
and nursing care homes is a good measure of 
delaying dependency, and the inclusion of this 

measure in the framework supports local health 
and social care services to work together to 
reduce avoidable admissions. Research 

suggests that, where possible, people prefer to 
stay in their own home rather than move into 

residential care. However, it is acknowledged 
that for some client groups that admission to 
residential or nursing care homes can represent 

an improvement in their situation. 
 

P
age 61



Source: Measures from the Adult Social Care 

Outcomes Framework, England. 
https://digital.nhs.uk/ 

Maintain older people 
still at home 91 days 

after discharge from 
hospital into 

reablement services 

Quarterly 2018/19 
93% 

2019/20 
91.6% 

2020/21 
88.9% 

The proportion of older people aged 65 and over 
discharged from hospital to their own home or to 

a residential or nursing care home or extra care 
housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention 

that they will move on/back to their own home 
(including a place in extra care housing or an 
adult placement scheme setting), who are at 

home or in extra care housing or an adult 
placement scheme setting 91 days after the date 

of their discharge from hospital. 
 

There is strong evidence that reablement 

services lead to improved outcomes and value 
for money across the health and social care 

sectors. Reablement seeks to support people 
and maximise their level of independence, in 
order to minimise their need for ongoing support 

and dependence on public services. This 
measures the benefit to individuals from 

reablement, intermediate care and rehabilitation 
following a hospital episode, by determining 
whether an individual remains living at home 91 

days following discharge – the key outcome for 
many people using reablement services. It 

captures the joint work of social services, health 
staff and services commissioned by joint teams, 
as well as adult social care reablement. 

 
Source: Measures from the Adult Social Care 

Outcomes Framework, England. 

P
age 62

https://digital.nhs.uk/


https://digital.nhs.uk/ 

Improve the 
proportion of clients 

receiving community 
based services with 

direct payments 

Quarterly 2018/19 
26.8% 

2019/20 
28% 

2020/21 
24.9% 

The number of adults, older people and carers 
receiving Direct Payments as at 31st March as a 

percentage of all 
clients receiving community based services. 

 
Research has indicated that personal budgets 
impact positively on wellbeing, increasing choice 

and control, reducing cost implications and 
improving outcomes. Studies have shown that 

direct payments increase satisfaction with 
services and are the purest form of 
personalisation. The Care Act places personal 

budgets on a statutory footing as part of the care 
and support plan. 

 
Source: Measures from the Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Framework, England. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/ 

Maintain Children in 
Need rate 

Quarterly 2018/19 
 

291 

2019/20 
 

251 

2020/21 
 

258 

The rate of Children in Need as at the 31st March 
reflects the number of open episodes of need 

across Children’s’ Social Care, from Referrals 
through to Aftercare. Trafford’s child in need rate 
is already low in comparison to other authorities 

and comparator groups. 

Maintain Children In 
Care rate 

Quarterly 2018/19 
 

74 

2019/20 
 

67 

2020/21 
 

69 

Children looked after rate, per 10,000 children 
aged under 18 - This is the number of children 

looked after as at 31st March, expressed as a 
rate per 10,000 children aged 0-18. The term 

'looked after' includes all children being looked 
after by a local authority; those subject to a care 
order under section 31 of the Children Act 1989; 

P
age 63

https://digital.nhs.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/


and those looked after on a voluntary basis 

through an agreement with their parents under 
section 20 of that Act. Data is collected through 
the SSDA903 return.  

The rate of Looked After Children in Trafford is 
relatively high compared to most of the 

Authorities in the Statistical Neighbour group and 
when viewed against many other indicators. The 
average rate for the group was 56.8, so Trafford 

has amongst the higher rates seen in the 
Statistical Neighbour group. In National terms, 

the rate was 67: the same as Trafford. In 
regional terms, Trafford has a low rate of Looked 
After Children, the average for the region being 

almost 100. 
 

Improve Education 

Health Care (EHC) 
timeliness 

Quarterly 2018/19 

 
60.4% 

2019/20 

 
81.2% 

2020/21 

 
78.3% 

The Education Health and Care (EHC) planning 

and assessment process should take no more 
than 20 weeks from the date of the request until 
the plan is issued, unless certain conditions 

occur.  An education, health and care (EHC) plan 
is for children and young people aged up to 25 

who need more support than is available through 
special educational needs support.  

EHC plans identify educational, health and social 

needs and set out the additional support to meet 
those needs. 

This measure considers all new EHC plans, 
including ‘exceptions’.  Trafford has made 
significant improvement since 2017/18 (14%). 

National is 49%, Statistical Neighbours, 55%. 

P
age 64



Maintain Trafford’s 

Educational 
Attainment 
Performance 

 2018/19 

 
KS4, A8: 

 56.1 

 
KS4, P8:  

 
KS5: 3+ A 

grades: 

22.5% 
 

Average Point 
Score per 

entry:  39.6 

 
KS2, % pupils 

achieving 
expected 

standards in 

Reading, 
Writing and 

Maths 
(RWM):   77% 

2019/20 

 
KS4, A8: 

 59.2 

 
 

 
KS5: 3+ A 

grades: 

34.2% 
 

Average 
Point Score 

per entry:  

44 
 

2020/21 

 
KS4, A8:   

 

 
 

KS5: 3+ A 
grades:  

 

Average 
Point 

Score per 
entry 

Whilst there is data for Assessment 8 (A8) for the 

last two years (2021 yet to be published) it is not 
comparable with what came before due to being 
centre / teacher assessed outcomes.  Neither will 

they be comparable to what follows. Next year 
will be see a half-way house in terms of 

outcomes, before assessment methods and 
thresholds return to ‘normal’ in 2023.  
Progress 8 (P8) data has not been calculated for 

2020 nor 2021. 
Similarly, KS5 data is not comparable for 

previous or future. Outturns for 3+Agrades is 
essentially doubled across the country in 2020: 
22.5% in England. Trafford ranked 3rd. 

APS also saw significant increase from previous 
outturns similar to that seen in Trafford: England, 

34 to 39.5. Trafford ranked 2nd in country. 
 
No KS2 data for 2020 or 2021 

 

 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Executive 
Date:    28/09/2020 
Report for:    Decision 
Report of:  Executive Member for Environment, Air Quality and Climate 

Change  
 
Report Title 
 

 
Trafford Climate Emergency Progress Report 
 

 
Summary 
 

 

The report provides an update on progress since the Council’s Climate Emergency 
Declaration of 28th November 2018 and the report and recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group for Climate Change.  
 
The report also describes a Carbon Neutral Framework produced via consultants 
Anthesis, proposed new working and governance arrangements and the proposed 
scope and content of a Draft Trafford Carbon Neutral Action Plan. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 
It is recommended that the Executive: 
 

(i) Notes the progress on the recommendations made by the Climate 
Emergency Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group. 

 
(ii) Notes the progress made by the Council on implementing climate change 

measures in the borough.  
 

(iii) Notes the Trafford Carbon Neutral Framework Report produced by Anthesis 
and agrees to publish it on the Council’s website. 

 
(iv) Approves the proposed governance arrangements through the expansion of 

the existing Trafford Air Quality Commission into a Trafford Air Quality and 
Climate Change Commission. 

 
(v)  Approves the initial Draft Carbon Neutral Action Plan with a final draft and 

update to be brought back to Executive in December 2020. 
 

   
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
Name: Paul Farrand   
Extension: x5504   
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



 2 

Background Papers: None 

 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

The project supports the Council’s Corporate Plan 
priorities of ‘Health and Wellbeing’ ‘Successful 
and Thriving Places’ and ‘Green and Connected’  

Relationship to GM Policy or 
Strategy Framework  

The project supports the aims of the GM Strategy, 
GM 5 Year Environment Plan, draft GMSF and 
GM Cultural Strategy relating to Climate Change, 
Natural Capital, Green Infrastructure and Public 
Health 

Financial  No additional financial implications directly from 
this report.  All future studies and actions not 
covered by existing identified funding will be 
reviewed as they arise 

Legal Implications No legal implications 

Equality/Diversity Implications No adverse impacts 

Sustainability Implications The Framework and Action Plan will help to 
achieve the Council’s aims and objectives relating 
to the Council’s Climate Emergency declaration   

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

Staff resources required from across the council 
for delivery, implementation and governance 

Risk Management Implications   Not applicable 

Health & Wellbeing Implications The project has strong links to the Trafford Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 

Health and Safety Implications Not applicable 

 
 

Background 
 
1.0  The Council declared a Climate Emergency on 28th November 2018, committing to 

tackle climate change and work towards carbon neutrality for Trafford as an area as 
well as for the Council. This was partly in response to the UN Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) publishing a report in October 2018 on the impacts 
of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse 
gas emissions. The report warned that the risk of catastrophic climate change 
including extreme heat, drought, flooding and climate-related poverty would 
significantly increase unless global warming could be kept to a maximum of 1.5°C. 

 
1.1  Trafford Council was the first authority in Greater Manchester to make a climate 

change declaration and commissioned a Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group 
to compile a report recommending how the Council’s should respond. The report’s 
recommendations and progress against each are summarised in Section 4. The 
Council’s first strategy relating to climate change took the form of “Sustainable 
Trafford: A Strategy for the Transition to a Low-Carbon Future in Trafford” in 2008, 
which was published shortly before the 2008 UK Climate Change Act was 
introduced, which required the UK to reduce its emissions by 80% by 2050 
compared to 1990 levels. However, the most recent Committee for Climate Change 
report indicates that the UK needs to be more ambitious and set net-zero carbon 
targets by 2050 or sooner combined with strong policies to make cities greener. This 
work was supported by the work of a cross-party Sustainability Select Committee 
tasked with bringing together partners and expertise to reduce Trafford’s carbon 
footprint. 

 

Page 68



 3 

1.3  The Council produced a further Climate Change Strategy in 2013, entitled 
‘Sustainable Trafford: An Over-Arching Strategy to tackle Climate Change and 
Energy Security’, covering the period up to 2020, although it has since been 
superseded through the emergence of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) and publication of the GM 5 Year Environment Plan following the inaugural 
Green Summit of 2019. Nevertheless, many of the themes and identified projects 
remain relevant across the themes of buildings, energy, transport, public health and 
green infrastructure. 

 
2.0  Carbon Emissions in Trafford 
 
2.1  The Government requires all local authorities to report on carbon emissions in their 

areas annually. This task is carried out by Amey on the Council’s behalf and is 
available to view on the Government’s Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) website. Further information is also available via the 
Trafford Data Lab online resource, which brings together thematic open source data 
including data relating to climate change that can be assembled as a slide pack in 
visual form via an application and is also available to other local authorities across 
the country. 

 
2.2  Current data for Trafford indicates that progress has been made towards the 

reduction of both overall and per capita emissions, both of which have demonstrated 
a declining trend for transport, domestic and business/industrial emissions. 

 
2.3  The latest set of information published by BEIS in June 2020 shows that overall 

emissions from Trafford have declined from 2,156.5 kilo tonnes of carbon dioxide (kt 
CO2) in 2005 to 1,470.9 kt C02 in 2018. For the Industrial and Commercial sector, 
there was a reduction from 1,151.7 to 762.4 kt CO2 over the same period. Emissions 
from the Domestic Sector have been reduced from 579.1 to 357.0 kt CO2, whilst 
Transport emissions have been reduced from 420.7 to 348.0 kt CO2, a smaller 
relative reduction. 

 
2.4  In per capita terms, emissions from Trafford have been reduced from 10 tonnes per 

capita in 2005 to 6.2 tonnes per capita in 2018. 
 
3.0  Greater Manchester Context 
 
3.1  The inaugural GM Green Summit was held in March 2019, at which the GM 5 Year 

Environment Plan was launched, outlining the necessary steps to be taken to 
achieve carbon neutrality in GM by 2038. The Council is therefore committed to 
playing its part to help achieve the aims of the plan and is represented at officer level 
on both the GM Climate Emergency/5 Year Environment Plan and Decarbonising 
Our Public Estate officer groups as well as having member representation on the 
Green City Region Partnership Board, led by the Leader of the Council. 

 
3.2  Through these groups and others such as the GM Housing Retrofit Group, the 

Council is currently involved in joint projects in the fields of energy efficiency, 
renewable energy, heat networks, biodiversity, green infrastructure and natural 
capital. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



 4 

4.0  Climate Change Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group – Update 
 
4.1  Following the climate emergency declaration in November 2018, the Scrutiny Task 

and Finish Group on Climate Change was commissioned to undertake the following 
key tasks:  

 
(i) Seek advice from experts to develop a carbon budget and set a challenging target 
date for carbon neutrality in Trafford;  
(ii) Consider systematically the Climate Emergency impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities;  
(iii) Make recommendations and set an ambitious timescale for reducing these 
impacts;  
(iv) Assess the feasibility of requiring all report risk assessments to include Carbon 
Emission Appraisals, including presenting alternative approaches which reduce 
emissions wherever possible;  
(v) Report to full Council with the actions the Council needs to take to address this 
emergency. 

 
4.2  Progress against each of the recommendations of the Task and Finish Group in their 

final report submitted to and approved by the Council’s Executive on 30th September 
2019 are included in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1 – Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group Recommendations 
 

Recommendation 
 

Progress 

1. That a Committee be established to coordinate 
the Council’s work relating to Climate 
Emergency.  

Proposed arrangements detailed in 
section 9.0  

2. That the Committee complete activities 1-4 
four with external experts and partners.  

Anthesis commissioned and Carbon 
Neutral Framework Report produced 

3. That the Committee have executive 
membership plus representation from key service 
areas. 

Proposed arrangements detailed in 
section 9.0 

4. That there be a lead Executive Member 
dedicated to the Climate Emergency.  

Executive Member for Environment, Air 
Quality and Climate Change has 
responsibility for this remit. 

5. That a dedicated officer role, reporting to the 
Corporate Director of Place, be created to drive 
the Climate Emergency Agenda forward.  

Principal Officer position created via 
restructure of Strategic Planning & 
Growth Team. Director of Growth and 
Regulatory Services has a specific 
Climate Change remit. 

6. That the Committee will oversee the action 
plan and monitor Trafford’s performance against 
carbon reduction targets.  

Proposed arrangements detailed in 
section 9.0  

7. That the Councils Carbon Budget be published 
annually alongside the Financial Budget. 

No currently published – budget for 
Trafford included in Carbon Neutral 
Framework. 

8. That an additional Scrutiny Committee or Sub 
Committee be established to scrutinise the 
Council and their partners in relation to the 
Climate Emergency. 

Proposed arrangements identified in 
Section 9.0 

9. That Climate Emergency Implications and 
sustainability be listed as an area to be 

Sustainability currently included – to be 
considered further in the context of 

Page 70



 5 

considered in reports. report templates. 

10. That Climate Emergency be added to the 
Corporate Plan an additional priority forming part 
of the annual report and performance monitoring.  

To be addressed by the Council’s 
Corporate Plan Team as part of the 
next version of the plan. 

11. That the Council roll out Carbon literacy 
training across the workforce and Councillors.  

Training programme implemented via 
Public Health. Trafford’s Public Heath 
Annual Report for 2019 was focused on 
Combatting Climate Change. 

12. That Climate Emergency champions be 
recognised within the organisation.  

Not currently implemented although 
staff climate change group established. 

13. That a comprehensive Communication and 
Engagement Strategy be developed including 
dedicated Climate Emergency Section of the 
Council’s Website, wide distribution of the Public 
Health Annual Plan and Internal communications 
(sections on the intranet). 

To be taken forward in Action Plan. 
Dedicated website section under 
development via Strategic Planning 
Team with links to relevant information, 
plus information available via Trafford 
Data Lab’s Climate Emergency Open 
Data Companion. 

14. That the Executive consider the 33 Actions 
for Local Authorities laid out by Friends of the 
Earth and implement as many as possible.  

Included in The Anthesis Carbon 
Neutral Framework Report and 
monitored via GM Climate Emergency 
Group. 

15. That the Executive consider the following 
quick wins: 

 Buy Green Energy  

 Adjust the Council Social Value weighting 
in procurement to include carbon impact 

 Increase number of EV Charging points in 
Trafford  

 Stop promoting measures that increase 
greenhouse gasses  

 Install food waste collection bins in all 
Council buildings (including in kitchens for 
employees)  

 
 
STAR progress detailed in 4.12 
Procurement 
 
EVCP increased as part of new 
developments and through GM 
programme/OLEV and supporting 
council capital funding allocation. 
Not currently in place - to be taken 
forward in action Plan via 
Council/Amey. 
 

16. That the Executive ask officers to complete 
the Trafford position column of appendix 2 of the 
Friends of The Earth actions for Local Authorities. 

Trafford progress monitored via GM 
Climate Emergency Group and Council 
representatives. 

 
4.3  An Action Plan was also submitted by the Task and Finish Group to Executive, which 

combined GM 5 Year Environment Plan priorities with the Friends of the Earth’s ‘33 
Actions that Local Authorities Can Take on Climate Change’. Monitoring of this work 
falls under the remit of the GMCA Climate Emergency/5 Year environment working 
group attended by Trafford Council officers and co-ordinated by the GM Environment 
Team. The 33 actions have since been reduced to 31 actions following Friends of 
The Earth’s collaborative work with Ashden, a London-based charity that works in 
the field of sustainable energy and development. 

 
5.0  Update on Further Climate Emergency Activity in Trafford 
 

Further to the recommendations of the Scrutiny Task and Finish Group, the following 
sections highlight the significant additional progress that has been made by the 
Council across its service areas in responding to the climate emergency declaration. 

 
 

Page 71



 6 

5.1  Clean Air 
 
5.1.1  The Council and the other ten local authorities is working alongside GMCA and 

TfGM to develop the Clean Air Plan to tackle roadside Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels 
at the roadside, as well as the proposed Clean Air Zone across GM and associated 
public consultation and engagement. Although the principal objectives of the Clean 
Air Plan are not directly concerned with climate change, it is recognised in the 
Government’s 2020 “Decarbonising Transport – Setting the Challenge” that it is not 
possible to develop a pathway to net zero carbon without major transport emissions 
reductions.  This illustrates the complementary nature of the Clean Air Plan and 
associated emissions-based work around electric vehicle charging infrastructure, 
traffic reduction, vehicle replacement funds and public transport retrofit programmes. 

 
 
5.2  Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
 
5.2.1  In 2019 there were over 4,100 plug-in cars and light goods vehicles licensed in 

Greater Manchester, of which over 600 were licensed in Trafford, representing a 
37% increase in plug-in vehicles in Trafford from Q3 2018, compared to an overall 
increase in GM of 34% for the same period. To support the delivery of TfGM’s 
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Project, a procurement exercise was carried out in 
2019 and Amey were appointed to operate the GMEV network in December 2019, 
installation of charge points being focused primarily on publicly owned car parks. 
Council capital funding of £500k was also approved in early 2020 to support 
additional installations of EV charge points across Trafford. Procurement options and 
funding opportunities are being explored such as those available through The Office 
for Low Emissions Vehicles (OLEV), to maximise the potential leverage from this 
investment, including covering the cost of ongoing maintenance and generation of 
future revenues. 

 
5.3  Safety and Air Quality around School Gates 
 
5.3.1  The Council’s commitment to road safety and improving air quality around schools 

resulted in an Executive Member and Officers working group being established in 
October 2018 aimed at reducing traffic, improving air quality and improving road 
safety around schools at the start and end of the school day to increase the 
likelihood that children will walk or cycle to school, with additional benefits for 
children’s health and wellbeing. Public Health are also working with the Living 
Streets, a Manchester-based charity that promotes everyday walking.  

 
5.3.2  The Council is also promoting anti-vehicle idling policies within schools and more 

widely raising awareness of the issue of engine idling across the Trafford.  
 
5.4  Active and Sustainable Travel – Walking and Cycling 
 
5.4.1  Programme Entry status for major walking and cycling infrastructure schemes has 

been achieved via The Mayor’s Challenge Fund (MCF) including sections of the 
Stretford Cycleway, Wharfside, Sale Town Centre to Sale Water Park, Urmston 
Active Neighbourhood, Altrincham Link Route and Seymour Grove in tranches 1 to 6 
(see Table 1 below) As part of the Safe Streets Trafford programme features such as 
pop up walking and cycle lanes have been established, with further proposals as part 
of the Emergency Active Travel Fund for GM. There are also two further TfGM-led 
bids in Tranche 5: Active Neighbourhoods across the 10 districts and a GM Bike Hire 
scheme. 

Page 72



 7 

 
 
Table 2 - GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund Schemes in Trafford. 
 

Tranche Proposal 
Provisional 
Award 

Detail 

1 Talbot Road (White City Way to 
Seymour Grove), Stretford 

£500k Junction improvement for 
pedestrian/cyclists and light 
segregation for cyclists 

2 Talbot Road/A56 Chester Road 
and Talbot Road/Great Stone 
Road, Stretford 

£1.1m Junction improvement for 
pedestrians/cyclists 

4 Wharfside Way/Europa Way/Moss 
Road, Trafford Park 

£2.7m Dedicated walking and cycling 
improvements, including 
junction improvements 

5 Urmston Active Neighbourhood, 
Urmston 

£11.4m Active Neighbourhood scheme, 
comprising a community-led 
package of schemes to deliver 
improvements for 
walking/cycling 

5 Sale Town Centre to Sale Moor to 
Sale Water Park, Sale 

£8.4m Dedicated walking and cycling 
improvements, including 
junction improvements and 
public realm works 

6 Seymour Grove, Old Trafford £7.9m Dedicated walking and cycling 
improvements, including 
junction improvements 

6 North Altrincham Bee Network, 
Altrincham 

£3.9m Dedicated walking and cycling 
improvements, including new 
bridge, junction improvements 

 
5.5  Green Infrastructure and Natural Capital 
 
5.5.1  The Council has commissioned options appraisals or masterplans for three of 

Trafford’s key greenspace and natural capital assets at Longford Park, Sale Water 
Park and the former William Wroe Golf Course. Development Phase funding was 
secured from The National Lottery Heritage Fund for Longford Park in December 
2019, with climate change mitigation, adaptation and biodiversity at the heart of the 
bid and its project partnerships. Options Appraisals were also completed in 2019 for 
Sale Water Park and William Wroe, to be taken forward in conjunction with 
environmental partner organisations and community groups, emphasising the need 
for nature based, low carbon solutions to the challenges posed. Sale Water Park and 
William Wroe have strong links to the Sale and Urmston MCF schemes, whilst 
Longford Park has strong links to the A56 temporary walking and cycling route, 
Stretford Cycleway and the place shaping work in Stretford Town Centre and The 
Civic Quarter. 

 
5.5.2  In 2020, the Council’s Executive also approved the proposed voluntary dedication of 

Turn Moss, Stretford and the former William Wroe Golf Course as Town/Village 
Greens for the benefit of local people and the local environment. 

 
5.5.3  162 new trees have been planted across Trafford in 2020 in conjunction with City of 

Trees as part of The Urban Tree Challenge Fund through the GM Forest 
Partnership, funded via The Forestry Commission as part of their work to expand 
woodland and tree cover across England. A further woodland creation bid to DEFRA 
is currently in development, which will look to create an additional 10 hectares of 

Page 73



 8 

woodland cover across Trafford in each of the 5 years of the project with a 
commencement date of autumn/winter 2020/21. This project would link to work 
progressed through the GM Forest Partnership and GM Tree and Woodland 
Strategy published in early 2020.  These funding bids have been complemented by 
the Council’s investment in highway and park tree planting and replacement via the 
capital programme.  

 
5.5.4  Through the Trafford Countryside Management Partnership, led by City of Trees and 

involving The Conservation Volunteers, Amey and The Environment Agency; 
improvements have been achieved at sites such as Sale Water Park through the 
restoration of a former meadow for enhanced biodiversity and through the restoration 
of water vole habitat and public access around Urmston Meadows, funded through 
the Council’s capital programme and grant funding through Veolia Environment 
Trust. 

 
5.6  Housing Standards 
 
5.6.1  The Council is part of the Local Energy Advice Programme (LEAP) a free service 

open to all homeowners, private renters and social housing tenants that helps people 
keep warm and reduce their energy bills at no additional cost. Free advice available 
includes: 
 

 Installing free, simple home energy measures such as LED lighting and draught 
proofing. 

 Energy efficiency hints and tips and ensuring heating control is working correctly. 
 Checking cheapest available tariffs. 
 Arranging free telephone advice to help with benefits, money and bills. 
 Referral for further energy efficiency improvements such as loft or cavity wall 

insulation and in some instances a new boiler. 
 

5.6.2  There is also advice and signposting on offer regarding Warm Homes Discount, 
Winter Fuel Payment, Cold Weather Payment and the Priority Service Register 
which provides extra support from energy providers for vulnerable customers. 

 
5.7  Carbon Literacy 
 
5.7.1  The Council was involved in a Government-funded pilot to develop specific Carbon 

Literacy training for staff and elected members to enable participants to commit to 
personal and professional commitments to reducing their carbon footprint. This 
training was rolled out to Council staff in early 2020 to convey the message that 
every single person who works and lives in Trafford needs to understand how their 
actions and decisions impact on the climate emergency. 

 
5.8  Employee Incentives 
 
5.8.1  The Cycle to Work scheme, in conjunction with Halfords, is part of the government's 

Green Transport Plan and allows Council employees to access bikes and safety 
equipment tax free, encouraging a healthy lifestyle and reducing environmental 
impact and carbon emissions. 

 
5.9  Planning 
 
5.9.1  From a planning policy perspective, the draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

(GMSF) contains detailed policies on carbon and energy, resilience, air quality and 

Page 74



 9 

flood risk. Low carbon, active travel, decentralised energy, water management, 
green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain are key components of masterplanning 
for the Carrington and Timperley allocations.  Similar policy themes are being 
developed as part of the Trafford Local Plan, with climate change and the climate 
emergency featuring as an overarching theme, and as part of place shaping work 
such as the draft Area Action Plan for The Civic Quarter and Stretford Town Centre 
Masterplan. 

 
5.9.2  Through the development management process, the Council continues to secure the 

provision of SUDS schemes, electric vehicle charging points, green infrastructure 
and biodiversity enhancements, plus energy strategies for major development 
through the existing climate change related policies of the Core Strategy and 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5.10  Waste Management 
 
5.10.1 As part of its successful approach to waste reduction, reuse and recycling, the 

Council in partnership with Amey has introduced ‘Recycling on the go’ facilities in 
high footfall zones  to encourage more localised, everyday recycling of materials 
such as plastic bottles, paper and card. 

 
5.10.2 As part of the successful campaign to phase out single use plastics in Council 

buildings and functions, the Council has also worked with high profile partners such 
as INTU, for example by issuing reusable bottles and shopping bags as part of the 
campaign. 

 
5.10.3 The Council’s published annual recycling rate in 2019 was 57.3%, of which 24.06% 

was waste sent for recycling and 33.23% sent for composting. This headline figure 
represented one of the highest in the North West region. 

 
5.11  Business Support 
 
5.11.1 In 2019 the Council launched a new Small Business Loan Fund to provide much-

needed support for businesses across the borough, with a focus on loan applications 
from businesses looking to reduce their carbon footprint or those looking to have a 
positive impact on the environment. The carbon reduction initiative links to the wider 
central Government and GM Clean Growth agenda, complementing support and 
networking opportunities through the GM Business Growth Hub’s ‘Green’ team. 

 
5.12  Procurement – Buildings and Street Lighting 
 
5.12.1 Following the expiry of the Council’s electricity contract in 2019, STAR engaged with 

Trafford and partner authorities to assess opportunities for collaboration on the 
procurement of energy supplies. Although the wholesale cost of electricity has fallen 
in recent years, third party, non-commodity costs such as Transmission Network Use 
of System (TNUoS), Distribution Use of System (DUoS) and Feed in Tariff (FiT) have 
risen, with projected further future rises. To mitigate the impact of these additional 
costs, demand managed processes are applied across all Local Authorities to 
ensure Government targets on carbon emissions and climate change levies are met, 
therefore reducing the overall cost of energy in the future.  

 
5.12.2 Following the STAR options appraisal, the Council’s Executive approved proposals 

for the Council to enter into a contract via the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation for 
its electricity supply, with multiple benefits benefits including a rebate against spend 

Page 75



 10 

through the Framework Agreement and an option to agree the percentage of energy 
received via renewable sources. In 2019 STAR also launched a new ‘Responsible 
Procurement Strategy’ which covers issues such  how social value, modern slavery, 
carbon reduction and single use plastics can be addressed through ethical and 
sustainable procurement. 

 
5.13  Public Health 
 
5.13.1 Trafford’s 2019 Public Health Annual Report was focused on Climate Change and 

the Climate Emergency, whilst Public Health staff implemented a programme of 
Carbon Literacy training for employees and Members enabled via Government 
funding in early 2020. This has been complemented through the establishment of an 
employee Climate Change group. 

 
6.0  COVID 19 Impact 
 
6.1  The COVID-19 pandemic has brought about positive environmental and climate 

change benefits through reduced private car use, traffic congestion and improved air 
quality, increased levels of home working and walking, cycling and use of local 
greenspaces for exercise and commuting; as well as through support for community 
food networks and local food production. However, Council capacity has been 
diverted towards dealing with the multi-faceted impacts of the pandemic, reducing 
available capacity to progress the development of its climate change strategy. 

 
7.0  Anthesis Carbon Neutral Framework Report – Key Findings 
 
7.1  The Council commissioned consultants Anthesis to produce a Carbon Neutral 

Framework Report for Trafford (see Appendix 1), the objectives of which were as 
follows: 

 

 to provide an overview of Trafford’s emissions through the concept of a carbon 
budget;  

 to set out the roles and responsibilities of relevant stakeholder groups within 
Trafford;  

 to define reporting and governance mechanisms between local government, 
organisations and citizens within the borough of Trafford; 

 to establish clear structures for ambitious collaboration between committed 
organisations which will contribute to the borough becoming carbon neutral. 

 
7.2  The Carbon Neutral Framework Report is intended to underpin the future 

development and implementation of borough-wide actions and projects which 
contribute to carbon neutrality within Trafford. The report identifies that successful 
delivery of carbon neutrality targets within Trafford is contingent upon the following:  

 

 Trafford Council and other local organisations recognising their significant 
influence over the boroughs emissions; 

 A core of committed organisations working in partnership, demonstrating 
leadership and formally pledging support and resources to this agenda;  

 Future work and coordination to further develop and implement the structures 
defined in this document. 

 
7.3  The dominant source of emissions is buildings (c. 75%) specifically from the 

production and usage of energy to provide heat and electricity. Of the remaining 

Page 76



 11 

20%, the dominant contributor is from on-road transportation i.e. petrol and diesel 
vehicles, with a small contribution from waste management. 

 

 Achieving emissions reductions can be achieved in two ways: 

 Reducing the demand for energy through improved efficiency and decreased 
waste 

 ‘Greening’ the energy supply through the increased capacity of renewable energy 
sources 

 
Key Findings  

 
7.4 The key findings for Trafford identified in the report are: 

 

 Remain within a maximum cumulative emissions budget of 9,500 ktCO2for the 
period 2020-2100; 

 Initiate an immediate programme of emissions reductions measures averaging 
13.4% annual reduction in emissions; 

 Reach zero or near-zero carbon no later than 2041, by which point only 5% of the 
budget remains; 

 Unchecked, the current rate of emissions will use up all of Trafford’s 2100 budget 
within 7 years from 2020; 

 The target for carbon neutrality in Trafford has been set at 2038, consistent with 
the GM target set out in the 5 Year Environment Plan. 

 
7.5  The report identifies a Council-Business Alliance model to bring together the Council 

and the private sector with a commitment to reducing carbon emissions, which could 
involve a pilot approach for Trafford Park as part of the recommended geographical 
cluster approach. Also, a number of key stakeholders could form the bedrock of a 
Council-Business Alliance: 

 

 partners in Health (Trafford Public Health, NHS Hospital Trusts) 

 Trafford Housing Trust 

 Intu Trafford Centre 

 Peel 

 Kellogg’s 

 Bruntwood 
 
7.6  Five emissions sectors have been identified which the Council and partner 

organisations can directly influence in order to reduce their emissions and influence 
their own supply chains, with clear additional benefits for the local economy, people 
and nature: 

 
(i) Reduce waste and improve ‘circularity’ 
(ii) Shift to low-carbon transport 
(iii) Improve natural assets 
(iv) Improve low-carbon energy supply 
(v) Reduce stationary energy demand 

 
7.7  These emissions sectors are then applied to sectors such as Local Government, 

Health, Domestic Property, Commercial Property and Industry, with 
recommendations to be developed for each sector and framed within the Caron 
Neutral Action Plan for Trafford (See Appendix 2). The framework identified on page 
10 of the Anthesis attached as Appendix 1 identifies the Council as key facilitator 

Page 77



 12 

and convenor, seizing the potential of existing partnership structures and 
geographical clusters to provide a platform from which Trafford as a borough can 
share information, pool resources and develop and implement climate change 
projects.  

 
7.8  As stated in the Anthesis Report, no single organisation individually contributes more 

than 5% of Trafford’s total. All organisations must therefore reduce their emissions 
by unprecedented and significant margins to stay within the Trafford and GM budget. 

 
7.9  Carbon neutrality for Trafford can only be achieved in collaboration with private and 

public sector partners, as well as Trafford employees and residents. Effective 
collaborative action will play a central role in the climate emergency response as part 
of a green recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 
7.10  The Council, along with 18 other local authorities, is also supporting Anthesis in their 

Innovate UK funding bid to The Government’s Sustainable Innovation Fund around 
Local Authority-Based Insetting, which aims to stimulate more local investment in low 
carbon projects and help local economies to build back better following the COVID-
19 pandemic and help local councils and supporting organisations recognise the 
emissions impact of their actions that relate to projects outside of their direct control, 
but within the local authority boundary. 

 
 
8.0 Carbon Neutral Action Plan 
 
8.1  Building on the Anthesis Carbon Neutral Framework and recommendations, an initial 

Draft Trafford Carbon Neutral Action Plan is attached as Appendix 2. This Action 
Plan follows the suggested themes and measures identified in the Anthesis report 
and includes other actions that need to be implemented. The main themes are:  
 
(i) Governance (ii) Engagement and Collaboration (iii) Waste (iv)Transport  
(v) Energy (vi) Natural Assets 

 
8.2  The Action Plan is complementary to the Council’s Corporate Objectives and the GM 

5 Year Environment Plan. 
 
9.0  Governance Arrangements 
 
9.1  Currently, there are no officer or member level groups co-ordinating and monitoring 

climate change work across the Council or through the Trafford Partnership, 
although the Council continues to participate in GM working groups, projects and 
performance monitoring. The Anthesis Report proposes new partnering and 
governance arrangements that will enable the necessary collaborative work to take 
place. 

 
9.2   Figure 1 of the attached Anthesis Report (Appendix 1) illustrates proposed 

arrangements, which need to be considered alongside the existing structures and 
working relationships of the Council and the Trafford Partnership. A Council-
Business Alliance Model as identified would require the Council to review its current 
staff resource in order to administer and co-ordinate such a group. Existing groups 
such as the Trafford Park Business Network could offer the potential in terms of the 
application of this model, whilst The Business Growth Hub and Groundwork are 
highlighted as offering potential to link between organisations located within 

Page 78



 13 

geographical clusters through existing networks and relationships. This model will be 
assessed as part of the remit of the proposed group below. 

 
 
 

Proposed Approach 
 
9.3  To utilise existing structures and better link and co-ordinate clean air with the climate 

change agenda, it is proposed to broaden the scope and membership of the existing 
Trafford Air Quality Commission to become the Trafford Air Quality and Climate 
Change Commission, which would have responsibility for developing, delivering and 
monitoring the Carbon Neutral Action Plan. 

 
9.4  The expanded Commission would include representatives from relevant Council 

departments, partner organisations and cross-party nominated Councillors. The 
Commission would report to the Trafford Partnership’s Inclusive Growth Board and 
Health and Wellbeing Board and vice versa, with a relevant representative from the 
Commission siting on both Boards. This will enable improved co-ordination of 
activities and resources relating to climate change. 

 
10.0  Next Steps 
 

Following Executive approval, the proposed working arrangements detailed in 9.3 
will be established to develop, co-ordinate and implement the Action Plan. The Draft 
Action Plan and activity update will be submitted to the Executive in December 2020. 

 
11.0 Consultation 
 
11.1  Production of the Anthesis Report involved consultation with Council service 

representatives through a focused workshop session, with additional business 
engagement taking place at an event at Lancashire Cricket Club. Further 
engagement with key partners was undertaken following interest expressed at this 
event, which is ongoing due to the impact of COVID-19 on partners. 

 
11.2  A further programme of stakeholder and partner engagement will be developed 

alongside the production of the Carbon Neutral Action Plan for Trafford, including 
Council employees, Elected Members and Trafford residents. 

 
12.0  Wider Corporate Links 
 

The Trafford Carbon Neutral Action Plan will be consistent with the Council’s 
Corporate Plan and Corporate Objectives, as well as the adopted Core Strategy and 
the Trafford Local Plan as it is progresses through draft and consultation stages. The 
Action Plan and associated work will also support the Council’s COVID-19 recovery 
strategy. At GM level, the Action Plan will be aligned with the themes and approach 
expressed in the GM 5 Year Environment Plan, as well as the ambitions contained 
with the GM Strategy, draft GM Spatial Framework, GM Cultural Strategy, GM 
Transport Strategy, GM Local Industrial Strategy and GM COVID 19 Recovery Plan. 

 
13.0  Other Options 
 

Other options include continuing to report at GM level through relevant service areas 
in the context of the GM 5 Year Environment Plan and Green City Region 
Partnership without dedicated local arrangements in Trafford. Individual projects and 

Page 79



 14 

initiatives would be progressed in an ad-hoc manner across Trafford, missing 
opportunities for effective collaboration. 

 
14.0  Reasons for Recommendations 
 

The reason for the recommendations is to enable Trafford to reduce its carbon 
emissions to meet Climate Emergency, GM and Government targets and 
commitments on carbon neutrality. The recommended approach and associated 
working and governance arrangements are considered to offer the most potential to 
achieve success in responding to the climate emergency in Trafford. 
 

 
Key Decision (as defined in the Constitution):   Yes  
If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   Yes   
 
 
Finance Officer Clearance  PC…….… 
Legal Officer Clearance …TR……… 
 
 

[CORPORATE] DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE (electronic)  
To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the 
Executive Member has cleared the report. 
 

Page 80



 1 

Report format for all Executive Meetings –  
Report authors - please follow and then delete all instructions in Italics. 

 
If an associated report contains Exempt 
Information and is therefore to be considered 

in Part II, the following paragraph should be 
used in Part 2 of the report. 

 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of 

Paragraph ( insert no. )  of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by The Local 
Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006   

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
Select meeting title(s) and delete others as appropriate 

Report to:   [Briefing] [Executive] 
Date:     
Report for:    [Discussion] [Decision] delete as appropriate 

[Draft] Report of:  Executive Member for [Portfolio Title]  

  

 
Report Title 
 

 
 
 

 
Summary 

 

 
 

 

 

Recommendation(s) 
 

 

 
 

   

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 

Name:     
Extension:   

 
For non-confidential reports to Executive add the following mandatory information: 
 

Background Papers: [A “Background Paper” is not an annexe to the report: it is a legal term, meaning a 
document which has been relied on significantly in producing the report, which is suitable for public issue but 

not already in the public domain.] 
 
 Please list (and need to supply to Democratic Services along with the report) 

 If there are no background papers, state ‘None’ 

 

Page 81



 2 

 
 
 
 

Complete the table to include consideration of the following implications. Please specify what the implications 
are or if they have been included in the body of the report. If any do not apply, insert 'not applicable' so that it 
is clear that all implications have been considered. 
 
Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

 
 

Relationship to GM Policy or 

Strategy Framework  

Does the decision relate to any GM wide policies or strategy 

frameworks? 

Financial  Reports will not be accepted without completion of this 
section  

Legal Implications: Reports will not be accepted without completion of this 
section 

Equality/Diversity Implications See guidance note  

Climate Emergency and 

Sustainability 

See guidance note 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

 

Risk Management Implications   see guidance note overleaf 

Health & Wellbeing Implications  

Health and Safety Implications  

 
1.0 Background 
 

Contents of the report – must include all relevant and explanatory information.  
Please use numbered paragraphs 

 

 
The following 3 sections must be included at the end of the report if the report is 'For Decision' to the 
Executive or an Individual Executive Member. It is optional to include them if the report is 'For Discussion' at a 

Briefing. 
 

Other Options 
Alternative options must be explicit and explanation should be given as to why they are not recommended. If 
the only alternative is to do nothing i.e. not make the decision, the consequences of this course of action 

should be set out. 
 
Consultation 
Set out consultation already undertaken or proposed to be undertaken in respect of the subject matter.  
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
The recommendations will be set out on the first page of the report.  Set out here the reasons for those 
recommendations. 

 
 
Delete the following 2 sections if not applicable. 

 
Urgency of Decision   If the decision needs to be implemented as a matter of urgency, this should be 

specified, together with valid reasons for urgency. Otherwise the decision will be implemented 5 work ing days 

after it is published, unless it is called in. The permitted reasons for urgency are set out in the Constitution in 
the Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules, Section 16(k). 
 

Page 82



 3 

This report should be considered as 'urgent business' and the decision exempted from the 
'call-in' process for the following reason(s): (specify reasons) 

 
Key Decision (as defined in the Constitution):   Yes / No  (please delete) 

If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   Yes / No  (please delete) 

 
 

If an associated report contains Exempt Information and is therefore to be 
considered in Part II, the following paragraph should be used. The Following 

paragraph must be used in Parts 1 and Part 2 of the report. 
 
Exempt Information 

 
By virtue of Paragraphs [Insert Paragraph number from list below] of Part 1 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by The Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order, the following information has been excluded from Part 1 of 
this report and included in Part 2 of the report: 

 
[Delete as appropriate] 

1. Information relating to any individual. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the Council and employees of the Council. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 

maintained in legal proceedings. 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements 
are imposed on a person; or 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
In all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
Reports will not be accepted without completion of the following section - THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER AND 

DIRECTOR MUST CLEAR ALL REPORTS before they are sent to Democratic Services.  
 
Finance Officer Clearance (type in initials)……………… 

Legal Officer Clearance (type in initials)……………… 

 
 

[CORPORATE] DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE (electronic)………………………………………………… 

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the Executive 
Member has cleared the report. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

[Please note, follow and delete guidance on following pages.]

Page 83



 4 

Equality Impact Assessments - Guidance for Officers Preparing Reports for Decision 
 

Introduction 
 
Trafford Council is committed to achieving equality in both service delivery and employment. The Council has 

made a commitment to work  through the three levels of the Equali ty Framework for Local Government, 
demonstrating cumulative good practice to achieve equality of outcomes in relation to the six equality 
‘strands’:  

 
Age, Disability, Gender, Gender Identity, Race, Religion and Belief, Sexual Orientation 

A key requirement of the Equality Framework at Level 1, (a Developing Council), is the implementation of 

Equality Impact Assessments.  This will help the Council to meet the requirements of various pieces of 
equality legislation.  The Council must ensure that all sections of the community receive services appropriate 
to their needs, and that no-one is adversely affected in the way we deliver services.  An impact assessment 

will help to determine whether a service or policy is failing to meet the needs of specific groups or has 
discriminatory outcomes.   
  

What is an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)? 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment is a thorough and systematic assessment of how functions, policies and 

procedures, strategies etc; impact on people covered by the different equali ty strands. The primary function of 
the equality impact assessment should be to determine whether the impact of any developments is or is likely 
to be negative or adverse and the extent of this impact,  so that it can be addressed.  

 

If, as a result of the assessment, it is decided that the policy/procedure/decision has an adverse impact, the 
authority must consider alternative ways of acting to reduce or eliminate the impact and better achieve the 

promotion of equality of opportunity.  The processes involved in conducting an equality impact assessment 
should not be an end in themselves.  The aim of the assessment is the promotion of equality of opportunity.   It 
is the outcomes of the equality impact assessment that are of primary concern.  

 
There are two levels of EIA: initial and full. You need to decide what level of impact assessment is needed. 
The essential difference between the 2 k inds of assessment will be in the level of detail and consultation 

undertaken. An initial/screening assessment is mainly a desktop research exercise, while a full assessment 
will involve public consultation and involvement. The degree of assessment will depend on the relevance of 
the policy or strategy to equality and the general impact it will have on people’s lives.  Therefore, for larger, 

more significant changes to service delivery where it is known early on that there will be a large number of 
stakeholders affected by the changes, the lead officer will bypass the initial stage and go straight to a full EIA.  
 

When do I undertake an EIA? 
 
An impact assessment should begin as soon as a relevant new policy, function or procedure is considered, 

when policies/ procedures etc are reviewed or in line with the corporate schedule of impact assessments. It 
should be an integral part of policy and service development, so that equality considerations become a natural 
part of everything we do. EIAs should be an integral part of Service Improvement Projects, Transformation 

Projects and preparation of major strategies, for example, the Sustainable Community Strategy and the 
People Strategy. 
 

Implications for Decision Making 
 
When a decision maker eg the Committee or a senior officer is mak ing a formal decision on any matter they 

must be made aware of the implications of their decision in relation to the Council’s obligations in relation to 
equality. Therefore, all reports should state that an EIA has been carried out and summarise the main 
implications of the EIA. It may be appropriate in certain cases to append a copy of the EIA or a summary of it 

to the report or to set out in the report how the implications of the EIA will be met or managed.  
 

Training is available on: www.learningpool.com/trafford 

Further guidance is available on: http://intranet/yourtrafford/EqualityDiversity/EqualityImpactAssessments.asp 
For further advice and support, please contact: Adele Coyne, x 4605 

Page 84

http://www.learningpool.com/trafford


 5 

 
 

Sustainability Issues - Guidance for Officers Preparing Reports for Decision 
 
There are a number of areas around sustainability and climate change which must be taken into consideration 

in Decisions, and in the preparation of reports recommending these decisions.  
 
Energy Use in the Council's Own Estate 

 
The potential effects of a decision on energy use in the council's own estate, including schools, must be 
considered. The council must annually report carbon emissions from council activities via National Indicator 

NI185, and any decision which would increase energy use in either council buildings or the fleet must be 
raised and discussed with the council's Sustainability Manager before it is taken.  
 

Energy use in the council's estate is also a key aspect of the 'Use of Resources' Key Line of Enquiry under the 
Comprehensive Area Assessment, an area where the council needs to improve. 
 

Carbon Emissions in Trafford Borough 
 
Trafford has a target of a 9.4% reduction in per capita carbon emissions by 2011 under our Local Area 

Agreement. Emissions are measures across three sectors: domestic homes, business and industry and road 
transport, and are reported via National Indicator NI186. 
 

Any decision likely to have an impact on carbon emissions in any of these three sectors should be raised and 
discussed with the council's Sustainability Manager before it is taken. 
 

Adapting to the Effects of a Changing Climate 
 
Changes in local weather patterns resulting from global climate change will increasingly impact on council 

services and life in Trafford. As a result, steps need to be taken to adapt council services to take these new 
weather patterns such as storms, flooding and heatwaves into consideration.  
 

Any decision which may give rise to a risk  from the effects of a changing climate needs to be brought to the 
attention of the council's Sustainability Manager. The council has a Climate Change Adaptation Strategy 
(reported under National Indicator NI188) to deal with these issues, and it may need to be updated in the light 

of new decisions. 
 
Biodiversity 

 
The council has a duty to protect biodiversity in Trafford (reported under National Indicator NI197), and any 
decision which may have an impact on biodiversity in the borough should be brought to the attention of the 

Sustainability Manager before it is taken. 
 

Page 85



 6 

 
Risk  Management Implications - Guidance for Officers Preparing Reports for Decision  

 
This is a brief note setting out guidance for stating risk  management implications in reports for Decision.  
 

Identifying risk  management implications enables members and officers to establish clear and consistent 
interpretation of the exposures to risk , both threat and opportunity, that the Council may face. For those who 
are tasked with writing and interpreting reports the following guidance may be of assistance.  (More detailed 

risk  management guidance can be found on the risk  management site on the Authority’s intranet).  
 

 When reporting on risk  implications reference can be made to the Authority’s risk  management policy 

and guidance. 
 

 Risks should be referred to as either having Strategic or Operational implications or a combination of 

both. 
 

 Where significant issues form part of the report, confirmation that a risk  assessment was undertaken 
can be referred to. If no risk  assessment was undertaken then state when one is planned or why it is 

unnecessary to do so. 
 

 Identify who is responsible for managing any relevant risks and the action taken or proposed to 

ensure desired outcomes. 
 

 Indicate when the greatest risk  is likely to occur. Not all risks occur consistently or with the same 

magnitude over the course of a project.  
 

 State whether it is considered that controls are adequate enough to manage the risk  effectively and 
identify where improvements can be made to achieve success.  

 

 
 

Page 86



FOE  Greater Manchester 5 Year Plan Priorities  Trafford Position 

1. Stop promoting measures that increase greenhouse 
gases – for example, increasing road capacity as there is 

accepted evidence that doing so encourages increased journeys 
and therefore greenhouse gas emissions; also stop allowing for 
increased expansion of aviation within local plans or investing in 

airports. 
 

  

2. Introduce work-place parking charges and/or ultra-low 

emission zones and/or congestion charging area - recycle 

the funds to active travel and public transport. London pioneered 
congestion charging and is now exploring road charging by the 

mile. Nottingham City Council pioneered a work-place charging 
levy. 
 

  

3. Require all taxis to be EVs through licensing - London is 

aiming for all taxis to be zero carbon by 2033. 
 

  

4. Introduce differential change for parking permits (lowest 
EV, highest high carbon and/or diesel) – potentially also 

higher charges for second and third cars at the same address. 
 

  

5. Support the development of car-sharing – for example 

through extensive parking for car clubs. 
 

Travel and Transport – Priority 3 – Residents 

Where you need to use your car, consider car sharing options. 

Visit: https://www.carsharegm.com/register.aspx  

 

6. Ensure own fleet transition to EV asap – also the Energy 

Savings Trust can work with the council to undertake a ‘grey 
fleet’ review (e.g. vehicles that are required to be used by 

council staff but not owned by the council, such as social 
workers using their own cars) 
 

Transport and Travel – Priority 2 – Local Authorities 

GMCA, LAs and TfGM will procure zero emission (tailpipe) 
cars/vans where suitable and cost  effective when they come to 

replace existing fleet  and will keep under  review  the options 
for other types of vehicles 

 
Residents 

If you buy a new car or replace your current car, buy an Electric 

Vehicle. Visit: 
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electric-vehicles.  

 

7. Integrate the need to reduce car use into the local plan – 

this requires ensuring dense housing development with quality 
walking & cycling and restricted car parking provision; and for 
transport & delivery hubs to enable the use of cargo bikes and 

similar for deliveries.  This also needs to protect, enhance and 
increase green space, plus should incorporate green 

architecture (roofs, walls, etc.). 
 
8. Invest in active travel infrastructure and quality public 

transport - London is aiming for 80% of journeys to be by foot, 

bike or public transport by 2041, up from 60% currently. 

Transport for Quality of Life has produced briefings on these 
issues for Friends of the Earth. 
 
9. Require the use of electric buses - on bus subsidised 

Transport and Travel – Priority 1 – Local Policy 

GMCA, LA and TfGM will implement the 2040 Transport 
Strategy Delivery Plan. 
 

In the next five years this will include delivering the Mayor's 
Challenge Fund for walking and cycling, transforming cycling 

and walking infrastructure to encourage people to make walking 
and cycling their natural choice for short journeys. £160m will 
be invested between. 

 
2018/19 and 2021/22 over two tranches. To complement this, 

the GM Health and Social Care Partnership has invested further  
£2m over 3 years (to March 2021) to support population scale 
behaviour  change to create a cultural  norm for walking. 

 

 

P
age 87

https://www.carsharegm.com/register.aspx
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electric-vehicles


routes require the use of electric buses or hydrogen buses, but 
only if the hydrogen has been made using electrolysis powered 
by renewable energy. In England local authorities can use the 

Buses Act to work in partnership with bus companies to move 
towards low carbon buses for all routes, although the powers to 

achieve this differ from area to area (combined authorities with a 
mayor are likely to have the greatest powers through 
franchising). 

 

The Delivery Plan also includes implementing a "Streets for All" 
approach to street design and management, creating streets 
where the movement needs of all modes  of transport are 

balanced  with the need f or safer walking and cycling facilities, 
better public transport and a more attractive and less polluted 

environment. 
 
Transport and Travel – Priority 4 - Local policy: 

As part of the development of its plan to tackle N02 
exceedances, GMCA, LAs and TfGM are asking the 

government f or a financial package of support to retrofit/renew 
existing buses by 2021, upgrading them to cleaner EURO 6 
engines, reducing emissions. 

 
TfGM will assess and develop a roadmap to deliver a zero 

emission bus fleet, concluding this by 2025. 
 
Transport and Travel – Priority 1 - Residents 

Walk and cycle more for short journeys- half of trips within 
Greater Manchester are of 2km or less and 40% of these are 

made by car. Visit: https://my.tfgm.com/#/getactive/.  
 
Use public transport for longer journeys. Visit: 

https://my.tfgm.com/#/planner/. 
 

10. Put in place EV charging  - at council owned locations and 

facilitate rapid rollout of private-charging facilities 

Transport and Travel – Priority 2 – Local Policy  

GMCA, LA and TfGM will expand and promote the city region's 
EV charging network and aim to complete the businesses case 
for further expansion over the next 5 years. 48 new rapid 

charge points will be installed in addition to the city region's 
existing public charging points. 

 
Residents 

If you already have or buy an Electric Vehicle and charge it at 

home, make sure you are on the right electricity tariff: 
www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electricity-tariffs-

electric-vehicles.       
 

 

11. Enforce minimum energy efficiency standards in private 

rented sector – Newham Council in London has pioneered the 

use of licencing to identify rented homes and ensure full cost 
recovery of proper regulation and enforcement. 

Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 1- Local 

policy 

As part of its development of a Housing Strategy, GMCA and 
LAs will launch a major new drive to raise standards in the 

private rented sector, including the development of a Greater 
Manchester Good Landlord standard. 

 
GMCA and LAs will investigate encouraging greater energy 
efficiency through (nudge) business rates and other financial 

vehicles. 
 

Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 1 – 

 

P
age 88

https://my.tfgm.com/#/getactive/
https://my.tfgm.com/#/planner/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electricity-tariffs-electric-vehicles
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electricity-tariffs-electric-vehicles


Residents  

Get the basics right- fit LED and low energy  lighting, turn  off 
appliances when not  in use and draught proof  your windows 

and doors (Visit: http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-
energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins). You might be 

Check if you are eligible for a visit by a trained Home Energy 
Adviser to help do this. (Visit: https://applyforleap.org.uk/apply) 
 

Upgrade your home insulation- check your loft  insulation, 
replace any single glazed windows with double or triple glazing 

and fill cavity walls (if your property has them) 
 
If you're a home owner, think about whole home retrofit and the 

more  advanced energy efficiency measures you can install, 
such as solid wall  and floor insulation, particularly if you carry 

out building works.  (Visit: 
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uklhome-insulation)  
 

12. Use powers to require higher standards than current 
national standards – ideally all new homes and commercial 

properties should be zero carbon or even better built to 

Passivhaus standard.  Local authorities are unable to mandate 
this standard, however following work by the Green Building 
Council and Core Cities the government has clarified that “local 

authorities are not restricted in their ability to require energy 
efficiency standards above Building Regulations. Ipswich and 

Cambridge councils have included a requirement for all new 
homes to meet up to the equivalent of ‘Code for Sustainable 
Homes’ level 4 standard, which is a 19%  improvement on 

national standards. In London the Mayor’s powers are greater 
and the standard for new homes is zero carbon, although local 

authorities can use the offsetting approach used by Haringey for 
income generation). 
 

Energy – Priority 1 - Local Policy  

As part of proposals in the Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework, GMCA and LA are consulting on a minimum 
20% reduction in CO2 emissions in new 
buildings/dwellings through the use of on-site or nearby 

renewables and/or low carbon technologies. 
 
Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 3 - GM 
Housing Providers: 

In support of this plan, GMHPs have committed to building all 

new homes to zero carbon in advance of 2028 target as set out 
in Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. 

 

13. Through the local plan identify sites for renewable 

energy and development opportunities for heat networks. 

 

Energy - Priority 2 – Local Policy  

As part of proposals in the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework, GMCA and LAs are consulting on proposals to 

identify "Heat and Energy Network Opportunity Areas" and 
require an assessment of the viability of connecting new 

development s to a heat network within them. 

 

14. Retrofit council-owned properties - deep retrofit of all 

council-owned social housing, schools and other council 
properties (to EPC c or higher and fitting eco-heating, including 

heat networks where appropriate). Local authorities own around 
7% of housing in England. 

Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 1- Local 
policy 

GMCA and LAs will convene partners, including those 

delivering retrofit in Greater Manchester already and others in 
the construction and finance sectors, to develop a Greater 

Manchester retrofit partnership/accelerator. This would bring 
together the range of existing activity to focus collectively on 
tackling issues of demand, supply, skills and access to finance 

to develop delivery and business models for whole-house 
retrofit. 

 

P
age 89

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins
https://applyforleap.org.uk/apply
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uklhome-insulation/


 
Energy – Priority 2 – Local Authorities 

When replacing heating systems in their buildings, GMCA and 

LAs will install low carbon alternatives where viable, rather than 
replacing with carbon intensive technologies. 

15. Enforce building standards - enforce planning/building 

conditions to ensure all new builds are meeting the targets they 
were granted permission for. 

Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 3 – 

Local Policy 

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework sets out the 

proposal to require all new development to be net zero carbon 
by 2018. The GMCA and LAs will work with the UK Green 
Building Council (UKGBC) and other building environment 

professionals in Greater Manchester to test this date, including 
whether it can be brought forward, and the intervening steps 

required such as the balance between building efficiency, onsite 
energy generation and off-setting measures for remaining 
carbon emissions. 

 

 

16. Adopt circular economy waste policies – for example in 

local plans, minerals plans and waste management plans and 

contracts, as well as promoting community sharing, reuse and 
recycling 

Sustainable Consumption and Production – Priority 1 – 
Local Policy 

GMCA and LA will explore ways to support innovation that will 
help us transition to a circular economy. 

 

17. Zero waste to landfill or incineration - in waste disposal 

contracts ensure biodegradable waste, such as food waste and 

paper/cardboard, is recycled, composted or used to generate 
biogas (see below). Note these tend to be long contracts so in 

many places the ability to influence these may be very low. 
 

Sustainable Consumption and Production – Priority 3 – 
Local Policy 

GMCA and LAs will develop and consult on a Zero Waste 
Strategy to set out our approach to becoming a zero waste 

city region. 
Residents 

Recycle as much as you can - visit: 

https://recycleforgreatermanchester.com  
 

 

18. Identify areas suitable for renewable energy in the local 

plan - approve renewable energy applications (e.g. solar farms, 

and where possible on-shore wind).  

19. As above, require renewable energy in new build (solar, 

heat pumps, etc). 

24. Produce biogas - in the waste contract require the 

production of biogas from non-recyclable biodegradable waste. 

Biogas is an important contribution to decarbonising the gas 
grid. Heating of homes and commerce using gas is one of the 

largest sources of greenhouse gases in the UK. 

 

Energy – Priority 1   

Local Policy  

GMCA and LA will develop proposals for an investment 
vehicle, potentially via an Energy Innovation Company, to 

deliver renewable energy generation on their estate. 
 

With partners, GMCA and LA will examine the potential to 
establish a collective solar PV /battery purchase to drive up 
residential uptake of these technologies. 

 
VCSE  

We need to continue to realise and support the contribution and 
power of community energy groups to contribute to local 
electricity generation, including Generation Oldham and Greater 

Manchester Community Renewables. Community-led action 
can often tackle challenging issues around energy, with 

community groups well placed to understand their local areas 
and to bring people together with common purpose. Community 
groups have come together to develop a Community Energy 

Action Plan they will implement to support this. 

 

P
age 90

https://recycleforgreatermanchester.com/


 
Local Authority 

By June 2019, GMCA and LAs will have completed a full 

assessment of the potential of their assets for renewable 
energy. By the end of 2021, GMCA and LAs will have 

developed these assets (where financially viable) either 
themselves or in partnership with local communities. 
 
GMHSCP  

will  work with partners to assess opportunities for 

generating onsite renewable or ultra- low carbon energy  
(e.g. solar PV, solar heating, heat  pumps or 
biomass/biogas/fuel cell combined heat and power) 

 
Residents  

Generate their own energy by installing renewable generation 
technologies (e.g. so lar PV) at your home. (Visit: 
https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/measures/meta solar 

photovoltaic  panels).  
 

20. Switch street lighting to well-designed and directed LED 

lights – well-designed and directed LEDs can prevent urban 

sky-glare and other effects whereas dimming at certain times 
saves energy and is less harmful for nature. Investment in LED 

street lighting is expected to pay back with eight years. Solihull 
plans to have replaced all its 24,000 street lights by 2024 cutting 

its total energy costs in half to just £612,000 and reducing its 
own greenhouse gas emissions by 43 per cent 

Homes Workplaces and Public Buildings – Priority 1 – 

Residents  

Get the basics right- fit LED and low energy  lighting, turn  off 
appliances when not  in use and draught proof  your windows 

and doors (Visit: http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-
energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins). You might be 

Check if you are eligible for a visit by a trained Home Energy 
Adviser to help do this. (Visit: https://applyforleap.org.uk/apply) 

Trafford has updated all of its street lighting to LEDs. This was 

completed by Amey who are also responsible for the 
maintenance and eventual replacement of these lights. 

21.Reduce energy use in own estate and add renewable 

energy - the Re-fit Framework supported by the Government 

and the Local Government Association and used by some local 
authorities, such as City of Cardiff Council, uses an Energy 

Performance Contracting approach to deliver guaranteed energy 
efficiency improvements and energy production for their own 

estate. 
 

Energy - Priority 2 - Local Authorities - When replacing 

heating systems in their buildings, GMCA and LAs will install 
low carbon alternatives where viable, rather than replacing 
with carbon intensive technologies. 

 
Residents  

Think now about what you will do when you next need to 
replace your gas boiler or heating system and look at low 
carbon alternatives, such as a heat pump or solar thermal. 

(Visit: https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/pages/lowcarbon-
heating–options.)    

 

22. Divest from fossil fuels and invest in renewable energy 

projects – many local authorities have now chosen to divest 

their investments from fossil fuels. Campaigners in Waltham 
Forest , Southwark , Haringey, Hackney, South Yorkshire and 

Merseyside have all persuaded their councils to move money 
out of the coal, oil and gas companies whose actions are fuelling 

climate change. 
 

  

23. Commit to opposing fracking and other fossil fuel 
extraction – both on council owned lands but also more widely. 

Greater Manchester local authorities have committed to oppose 

  

P
age 91

https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/measures/meta
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-saving-quick-wins
https://applyforleap.org.uk/apply
https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/pages/lowcarbon-heating–options
https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/pages/lowcarbon-heating–options


any fracking and have embedded this opposition in their plans 
 
25. Develop district heating - map out and develop district 

heating, as long as it’s from low carbon sources. Enfield Council 
has formed a company that aims to provide lower carbon heat 
and hot water to around 15,000 residents with an explicit aim to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

Energy - Priority 2 – Local Policy 

GMCA and LAs will seek funding to roll out Local Area Energy 
Planning across the city region to identify which heating 
solutions are best suited to which areas. This will build on the 

work in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework to identify 
Heat and Energy Network Opportunity Areas. 

 

 

26. Explore forming a non-profit green energy company - 

Bristol City Council has formed an energy company (Bristol 
Energy) which aims to be in profit in 2021 with those profits 

invested in the city for energy efficiency. In a fiercely competitive 
energy market it remains to be seen is this approach will 

succeed or not. Greater Manchester are considering forming an 
energy company. Nottingham City Council also has an energy 
company which only sells green energy. These example have 

primarily been set-up to help resident reduce fuel bills, 
particularly those in fuel poverty. It is as yet uncertain if these 

have reduced greenhouse gases. 

Energy Supply – Priority 3 – Electricity North West 

Providing a local electricity network that supports this shift is the 
responsibility of ENWL, working in partnership with local 

stakeholders. ENWL is the distribution network operator (DNO) 
in Greater Manchester, operating and maintaining the regional 

grid that takes power from the national grid and local generators 
to homes and industrial/commercial l buildings and users. Over 
the coming years, ENWL will change to a Distribution 'System' 

Operator (DSO) model. The understanding of the roles and 
responsibilities of the DSO is still evolving, so ENWL will 

continue to work with local stakeholders and national bodies to 
develop the technical and regulatory framework to transition to 
this new model. The product of this transition will be a "Smart 

Grid", which will help optimise both the generation and usage of 
electricity in the region and facilitate the local trading of 

electricity. 
 

 

27. Buy green energy – Local authorities are major energy 

purchases. According to the LGA local authorities spend more 

than three-quarters of a billion pounds on energy alone. 
Sheffield City Council has recently committed to only buying 

green electricity which it says will not cost much more than its 
existing source. However it is important that such a shift 
increases the amount of renewable energy produced, for 

example through a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA). A PPA is 
a long-term purchasing contract with a developer which gives 

the developer the necessary confidence to build the renewable 
power plant. Power Purchase Agreements could also be used to 
support the development of community-owned energy schemes. 

 

Energy – Priority 1  
Local Authorities When procuring contracts for 

electricity supply in the future, GMCA and LAs will 
procure renewable energy tariffs (from Greater 

Manchester sources if possible). 
 
Greater  Manchester Health and Social  Care Partnership 
(GMHSCP) 

GMHSCP will explore options to purchase green energy. 
GMHSCP will encourage innovation and support new 
technologies that help improve their usage and carbon 

performance related to energy and water usage.  
 
Residents 

Switch to a renewable energy supplier- through the Big Clean 
Switch which can save them on average £ 270 per year (Visit: 

http://www.gmgreen.energy). 

 

28. Aim to win on sustainability – Nottingham City Council 

was named as ‘highly commended’ in the category for 

sustainable procurement in 2018. Sheffield City Council was 
also short-listed.  There is undoubtedly significant scope for local 
authorities across the UK to improve procurement processes to 

deliver on environmental and social goals. 
 

Sustainable Consumption and Production – Priority 1 – 
Local Authorities 

GMCA and LAs will embed environmental sustainability criteria 
in social value procurement mechanisms and all staff involved 
in procuring activity will receive Carbon Literacy Training. 

 

P
age 92

http://www.gmgreen.energy/


29. Require deliveries to be by electric vehicles - use 

procurement powers to require council deliveries to use EVs, 
including where appropriate electric cargo bikes. 
 

  

30. Use council land to drawdown carbon (e.g. tree planting) 
- not all local authority land is registered but will be by 2025) but 

some local authorities will have sizable levels of land ownership 
(e.g. Hampshire has over 2000 hectares of land). This land 

could be managed to offset carbon (e.g. through tree planted, 
soil carbon management, etc.) as could manage green spaces 
alongside roads and in urban settings. This will make a tiny but 

positive difference in carbon terms. Green infrastructure in towns 
and cities could aid climate adaptation. Many local authorities 

now produce green infrastructure strategies. 

Natural Environment – Priority 1 – City of Trees (CoT) 

CoT will continue to develop the Greater Manchester Tree and 

Woodland Strategy and work with partners to embed it at a local 
level in policy and to then support its delivery. This includes 

woodland management and widespread tree planting to 
contribute to Greater Manchester’s initial 3m target as part of 
the Northern Forrest; as well as tree planting in towns and cities 

to increase the resilience of our urban centres. The growing 
Citizen Forester programme will greatly increase volunteering 

and engagement opportunities in the natural environment for 
individuals, communities and businesses.  
 
Natural England (NE) 

NE will work with Partners to identify restoration opportunities 

for our upland and lowland peatlands including on-going 
support for the Greater Manchester Wetlands Nature 
Improvement Area and Carbon Landscape Programme. NE will 

also deliver a new scheme for Great Created Newt Licensing 
which will support pond restoration and creation across Greater 
Manchester. 

 
Local Policy 

GMCA and LAs will support peatland restoration approaches 
and provide a clear framework for approach and delivery as part 
of the development of a Resilience Strategy. 

 

31. Ensure the Sub-national Transport Body strategy is in-
line with carbon budgets – These and other groupings of local 

authorities are important for setting an agreed strategic direction 

and it is important that the strategies they write are in-line with 
the carbon budgets set by the Committee on Climate Change. 

Transport is a particularly important area, but local authorities 
also come together in other areas, for example in purchasing of 
energy. 
 

  

32. Influence LEPS - Local authorities have a very important 

role in cajoling or convening others. This particularly includes 

through non-statutory Local Economic Partnerships in England 
(38 in total). These are “business-led” partnerships that include 
local authorities. They are focussed on economic growth and 

access government grants in a range of areas, including housing 
and transport. They do not need to address climate change, but 

some do so (for example the Leeds LEP commissioned a report 
from the Carbon Trust on how to support decarbonisation across 
the economy). Local authorities need to actively influence the 

development of LEP strategies and proposals to ensure they 
embed carbon reduction at the level necessary to comply with 

Andy Burnham sits on the Greater Manchester LEP   

P
age 93



the Climate Change Act (and the future strengthening of these 
as a result of the international Paris Agreement), as well as other 
sustainable development goals. 
 

33. Provide advice - to individuals and businesses. 

Manchester City Council has supported a charity run ‘Carbon 

Literacy Project’ which aims to help individuals, businesses and 
other understand climate change and what can be done to tackle 

it. Local authorities can also help homes and businesses link-up 
with energy companies for grants (e.g. ‘Warm Up Bristol’ 
programme, ‘Better Homes Yorkshire’). 
 

Travel and Transport – Priority 3 – Residents 

Switch off your engine when at a standstill and make sure your 

tyres are correctly inflated. 
 
Sustainable Consumption and Production – Priority 2 - 
Residents  

Reduce the amount  of waste you produce and use reusable 

products wherever possible, rather than single-use products, 
visit: https://recycleforgreatermanchester.com/how-doi-waste-

less/  
 
Cut down the amount of plastics you use. Tips are available 

online from numerous sources, including: 
https://friendsoftheearth.uk/plastics/living-without-plastic.   

 
Buy sustainable products - such as Fairtrade products or those 
with higher recyclable content. 

 
Look at alternatives to purchasing large items such as lease 
agreements or take-back schemes. 

 
Natural Environment – Priority 1 – Residents 

If you have a garden or an allotment, manage this for wildlife. 
This includes avoiding the use of artificial grass and paving over 
your garden. Advice on how to make your garden wildlife 

friendly is available online, including from the Wildlife Trusts 
(https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/gardening), RHS 

(www.rhs.org.uk/get-involved/wild-about-gardens) and RSPB 
(https://www.rspb.org.uk/birds-and-wildlife/advice/gardening-for-
wildlife) or if you are interested in tree planting from City of 

Trees (http://www.cityoftrees.org.uk/about-city-trees). 
 
Landowners and farmers: 

If you are a farmer, woodland owner, forester or land manager, 
funding is available to make environmental improvements on 

your land through the Countryside Stewardship Scheme 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/countryside-

stewardship-get-paid-for-environmental-land-management ).  
 
Support and advice from conservation charities, such as RSPB 

and the Wildlife Trusts and from City of Trees on tree planting 
and woodland management (http://www.cityoftrees.org.uk). 

 
Additional funding will be available to landowners to create or 
restore ponds through new District Licencing scheme for great 

crested newts. 

 

P
age 94

https://recycleforgreatermanchester.com/how-doi-waste-less/
https://recycleforgreatermanchester.com/how-doi-waste-less/
https://friendsoftheearth.uk/plastics/living-without-plastic
https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/gardening
http://www.rhs.org.uk/get-involved/wild-about-gardens
https://www.rspb.org.uk/birds-and-wildlife/advice/gardening-for-wildlife
https://www.rspb.org.uk/birds-and-wildlife/advice/gardening-for-wildlife
http://www.cityoftrees.org.uk/about-city-trees
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/countryside-stewardship-get-paid-for-environmental-land-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/countryside-stewardship-get-paid-for-environmental-land-management
http://www.cityoftrees.org.uk/


Priority 5 – Residents 

Visit, spend time, and be active in our green and blue spaces. 
There are many parks, green spaces, riversides, and canals 

(see: https://naturegreatermanchester.co.uk/discover, as well  
as over 90 local nature reserves in Greater Manchester that  

you could visit (see: 
https://designatedsites.naturaIengland.org.uk/) 
 

Volunteer for projects that protect or improve the environment in 
your local area (see here for a list of organisations you could 

help: https://naturegreatermanchester.co.uk/getinvolved/). 
 
 

 

P
age 95

https://naturegreatermanchester.co.uk/discover
https://designatedsites.naturaiengland.org.uk/
https://naturegreatermanchester.co.uk/getinvolved/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
Report to:   Executive 
Date:    30 September 2019 

Report for:   Decision  
Report of:    Scrutiny Task and Finish Group - Climate Emergency  

  
 
Report Title 

 

 
Climate Emergency  

 

 

Summary 
 

 

On 28 November 2018 the Council Declared a Climate Emergency and 
Commissioned a Task and Finish group to complete a number of activities to 

instigate the Council’s response to that Emergency. This report gives an 
update on the Group’s progress against those activities and lays out 
recommendations for how the Council should continue in its efforts to tackle 

the Climate Emergency. 
 

 

Recommendation(s) 
 

 
That the Executive consider the recommendations made in section 6 of this 
report and submit their response alongside the report to Full Council. 

 

   

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:  Alexander Murray – Governance Officer   

Extension: 4250 
 

Background Papers: None 
  

Page 97



Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

 
The report calls for an adjustment to the Council’s 

Corporate Priorities in recognition of the council’s 
declaration of a climate emergency  

Relationship to GM Policy or 

Strategy Framework  

The report links directly to the GM 5 Year 

Environment Plan for Climate Change and links 
into a number of other GM Policies such as the 

Spatial Framework.  

Financial  In the short term the report calls for the funds that 
were to be allocated for use by the task and finish 
group to held and be reallocated for use by a new 

Board/ Executive Member for Climate Emergency. 
It also calls for a new post to be created to lead on 

the Climate Emergency. There are a number of 
other recommendations that will have a financial 
impact although this has not yet been calculated. 

Legal Implications: If a new Committee is created with devolved 

powers it will require changes to the Council’s 
governance structure and constitution. 

Equality/Diversity Implications  

Sustainability Implications That the Council will set new targets around 

sustainability that all staff and partners will work 
towards. 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 

/ ICT / Assets 

Resources will be required to support for a new 

Committee and a new Scrutiny Committee. A new 
position to be created to lead on Climate 
Emergency within the Council. 

Risk Management Implications    

Health & Wellbeing Implications  

Health and Safety Implications  

 
 

 
1. Background 

1.1 At its meeting on 28 November 2018 Trafford Council acknowledged the climate crisis 

emanating from accelerating man-made global warning and recognised. 
 

“That at the current level of commitments, the world is on course for 3°C of warming 

with irreversible and catastrophic consequences for humans and the natural world” 
 

1.2 In declaring a climate emergency, Trafford was placing itself amongst the forefront of 
local authorities recognising that carbon reduction could not be left to Government, that it 
was a matter for all of us and all organisations. 

 
1.3 Council resolved to commission a task and finish group to:  

 
(i) Seek advice from experts to develop a carbon budget and set a challenging target 
date for carbon neutrality in Trafford;  

 

Page 98



(ii) Consider systematically the Climate Emergency impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities; 
 

(iii) Make recommendations and set an ambitious timescale for reducing these 
impacts; 

 
(iv) To assess the feasibility of requiring all report risk assessments to include 
Carbon Emission Appraisals, including presenting alternative approaches which 

reduce emissions wherever possible; 
 

(v)Report to full Council with the actions the Council needs to take to address this 
emergency. 

 

1.4 This report seeks to give an update on the progress that has been made against each 
activity:  

 
2. Activities commissioned by Council 

 
2.1. Activity 1:  Seek advice from experts to develop a carbon budget and set a 
challenging target date for carbon neutrality in Trafford;  

 

 Expertise 
a budget has been allocated to recruit expertise and the Council is currently liaising 

with a company which has a track record of working in partnership with Local 
Authorities within Greater Manchester. 

 

 Carbon Budget 

Amey One Trafford is obligated to submit statistics on behalf of Trafford Council to 
central government in relation to the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

 
2.1.1The statistics that Amey One Trafford, and previously the Council, reported between 

2005 and 2017 fed into the national Carbon foot print report below. 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-

emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017 
 
2.1.2 These statistical returns will form the starting point for calculating Trafford’s carbon 

footprint which will be developed further through the input of experts appointed by the 
Council. Once Trafford’s carbon footprint is identified the Council working alongside 

experts, private industry, other public services, and local VCSE groups will set a 
challenging target date for a carbon neutral Trafford and develop a Carbon Budget with 
annual targets to track progress in reduction down to carbon neutrality.   

 
2.2.0 Activity two: Consider systematically the Climate Emergency impact of each 

area of the Council’s activities; 

 
2.2.1 This activity has not yet begun but it is envisaged that once calculated the carbon 

footprint will be a critical component of decision making and procurement within the 
Council. To understand the true impact that each area of the Council’s business has on 

Climate Emergency will be something to be looked at in conjunction with the experts who 
will be working out the current baseline and carbon budget for Trafford.  

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017


 
2.2.2 Government guidance to measure and report Greenhouse Gas emissions remains a 
useful document with still worthwhile case studies from 2009 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-how-to-measure-and-report-

your-greenhouse-gas-emissions 
 

2.2.3CASE STUDY: Tesco plc – How does a large organisation identify which of its 

activities release Greenhouse Gas emissions into the atmosphere? 
Tesco has been reporting on its Group direct carbon footprint since 2007, and prior to 

that had been reporting on the energy use of its stores since 2002. 
 
2.2.4 The starting-point for deciding what to include in the reported carbon footprint 

was that it should include all operations over which Tesco or its subsidiaries had direct 
control. The aim was to inform where to focus emissions reductions measures within 

the business, as well as providing a comprehensive and transparent picture for 
external stakeholders. 
 

2.2.5 The main direct Tesco emissions-generating activities are the operation of stores 
and distribution centres (“property”), the transport of goods (“distribution”) and 

employee business travel. 
 
2.2.6Other activities are excluded for two main reasons: a lack of data (e.g. emissions 

from waste) or because they fall outside Tesco’s direct control (e.g. use phase of 
goods). It is possible that any of the activities currently excluded may be included as 

better information becomes available or as Tesco is able to influence those activities 
more directly. It is also important to note that Tesco is taking steps to reduce emissions 
in some areas even though full data is not yet reported, e.g. through carbon foot 

printing products and diverting 100% of waste from landfill. 
 

2.2.7Tesco reports overall emissions figures in its annual Corporate Responsibility 
Report: this includes a total carbon footprint, a carbon intensity footprint (emissions per 
square foot net sales area), and specific KPI figures for emissions from stores and 

distribution operations. 
More detailed figures are published on the company website: 

www.tescoplc.com/plc/corporate_responsibility_09/environment/climate_change/leadin
g_by_example/carbon_footprint  
 

2.2.8 Tesco also reports annually to the Carbon Disclosure Project, and in 2009 was 
awarded the Carbon Trust Standard for year-on-year reductions to its emissions in the 

UK. Its carbon footprint reporting is externally assured by external auditors, with the 
assurance statement published on the website. The Tesco diagram below shows 
which activities were included and excluded in its 2009 emissions reporting. 

 
2.2.9 Trafford will have to make similar choices to Tesco in activities included in its carbon 

footprint. There has been unanimity that Trafford has responsibilities that extend beyond 
the immediate workforce, premises and subcontractors. The Group are therefore minded 
that whilst the Trafford carbon accounts might be broken down, that they still report more 

widely beyond council carbon usage. The clearest areas where this is true are in terms of 
planning and development in the area, procurement, licensing, and building control.  

 

Page 100

http://www.tescoplc.com/plc/corporate_responsibility_09/environment/climate_change/leading_by_example/carbon_footprint
http://www.tescoplc.com/plc/corporate_responsibility_09/environment/climate_change/leading_by_example/carbon_footprint


3. Activity 3:  Make recommendations and set an ambitious timescale for reducing 
these impacts; 
 

3.1 The Group feel that the completion of activity 1 and 2 will be vital in enabling the 
completion of activity 3 and recommend that the Council is to do all three of these activities 

working with experts and wider Trafford partners. While a specific date is yet to be set the 
Group feel that it should be no later than 2038 in line with the Greater Manchester target. 
While setting a date for carbon neutrality helps to focus the Council and its partners it must 

be remembered that the reduction of the amount of carbon produced is the overall goal, 
with even slight reductions being a step in the right direction.  

 
4. Activity 4: To assess the feasibility of requiring all report risk assessments to 
include Carbon Emission Appraisals, including presenting alternative approaches 

which reduce emissions wherever possible; 

 

4.1 The Group recommend that all Council reports which require implications to be 
considered, such as Executive Reports, include Climate Emergency and Sustainability 
Implications as an area to be considered instead of just sustainability and update the 

guidance to officers to bring it in line with the Council’s current targets, as per Appendix 1. 
This is to prelude an end to end review of the Council’s project management 

documentation to ensure that consideration of the Climate Emergency is an intrinsic part of 
the process from conception through to implementation. The level of consideration 
required needs to be set out by the Council to balance the urgency of tackling the Climate 

Emergency against the cost and time required to perform the prescribed assessment. 
However, the Group feel that prior to a decision being made the carbon footprint of a 

proposal and the alternative options needs to be provided. By doing this decision makers 
would be able to help the Council achieve its Carbon Budget as they would be presented 
with the relevant information prior to making their decision. 

 
5. Activity 5: Report to full Council with the actions the Council needs to take to 

address this emergency. 
 

5.1 Over the course of the meetings of the Group it has become clear to members that 

while a task and finish group can quickly assess the ways in which the Council could 
respond to the Climate Emergency, it is not the correct mechanism to deliver the change 

required. The group recognise that activities one through four as set out by the Declaration 
of a Climate Emergency are integral parts to the creation of the Council’s response. 
Therefore, these activities should not be conducted by a time limited group but rather 

should become part of the work programme of a new element of the Council’s governance 
structure created specifically to deal with the Climate Emergency.  

 
5.2 The group believe that the way for the Council to do this is through the creation of a 
new Committee with a membership that includes Executive Members as well as lead 

officers from Public Health, Licensing, Procurement, Amey, Highways, and Planning. The 
Board would need to have oversight of all of the Council’s plans to reduce carbon 

emissions across Trafford. The Group propose that it should be such a Committee that is 
to hire and work alongside experts in completing activities one to three and would also 
lead on the delivery of activity four. The Committee would monitor the Council’s progress 

on meeting its annual carbon budget set out by the completion of activity one and would 
have oversight of the delivery of any actions identified for the achievement of the Council’s 

climate objectives.  
 

Page 101



5.3 The Group believes that an Executive Member or Members should be dedicated to 
addressing the Climate Emergency. In addition the group recommends that the Council 
appoint an officer dedicated to the Climate Emergency who would support the Committee 

and report directly to the Corporate Director of Place and the Executive Member 
responsible for the Climate Emergency. This officer would need to be of a sufficient level of 

experience to be able to drive Climate Emergency work within the Council and have 
sufficient authority to lead on any projects to this end.  
 

5.4 The Committee would need to have oversight of the delivery of the Councils Climate 
Emergency agenda but the Group feel that the first item for completion, once in place, 

should be the identification of the Trafford Carbon Footprint, setting of a Carbon Budget 
and date for Trafford to reach Carbon Neutrality (no later than the 2038 set by GM), and to 
set out an action plan to achieve those targets. The Group believe that the hiring of 

experts will be necessary to aid in this work and the Group see the work Anthesis have 
done with Manchester City Council as a good example of how this can be achieved. Once 

the Council’s Carbon Budget is calculated the Group recommend that it be published on 
an annual basis alongside the Council’s Annual Financial Budget. The Committee would 
then regularly monitor the Council’s performance against the Carbon Budget throughout 

the year to help ensure that targets are met. 
 

5.5 In addition to the creation of a new Committee the Group recognise the need to have 
adequate arrangements in place to scrutinise this Committee and the delivery of the 
Climate Emergency work programme. The Group believe that due to the scope and the 

importance of this work programme it is not feasible for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to scrutinise this in addition to their ongoing work programme. Therefore the 

Committee request that either an additional Scrutiny Committee or a sub-committee of the 
Over View and Scrutiny Committee be created with the sole focus upon the Climate 
Emergency. During discussions the Group expressed that they would prefer that a full 

additional Scrutiny Committee be created. 
 

5.6 One recurring issue that arose at each meeting of the Committee was the impression 
that despite declaring a Climate Emergency the Council did not seem to adequately 
prioritise the Climate Emergency. When speaking to Council officers and Trafford residents 

the Members found that many were unaware that a Climate Emergency had been 
declared or that the Council was driven to tackle the Climate Emergency. As a first step to 

remedying this situation the Group recommend that the Council list the Climate 
Emergency as an additional priority within the Councils Corporate Plan. The Group are 
aware that Climate Change is included under Priority 6 Green and connected however, 

only one of the six bullet points under this priority mention Climate Change. The Group 
feels that given the Council has declared a Climate Emergency the current position within 

the Corporate Plan is inadequate and it needs to be elevated to a prominent position.  
 
5.7 The fact that many officers within the Council do not know that Trafford has declared a 

Climate Emergency highlighted to the group that engagement within the workforce was 
required. One of the best ways to increase awareness of the work that the Council was 

doing and could be doing is through training of the workforce. At meetings the Interim 
Director of Public Health informed the group of carbon literacy training which was available 
from a local charity. Over the time that the task and finish group has been running the 

charity approached a number of Council’s including Trafford about piloting their carbon 
literacy programme. The group supported Trafford piloting this training and recommend 

that the Council use this opportunity to roll out a full carbon literacy programme across the 
Council. The Group ask that this training be provided to staff at all levels in the workforce, 

Page 102



Councillors, and key partners to ensure that carbon literacy becomes embedded within the 
culture of the organisation.  
 

5.8 To support Carbon Literacy becoming part of the Councils culture the Group also 
recommend that Climate Emergency Champions be created within the organisation. The 

Group ask that suitable individuals be identified by the Corporate Leadership Team to 
become Champions and that these individuals be among the first cohort to receive Carbon 
Literacy Training. The group would like for the Climate Emergency Champions to be 

representative of the whole organisation coming from all departments and levels of 
seniority. The demographic of champions should ensure that the Climate Emergency and 

the Carbon footprint become an intrinsic part of the Council’s business as usual, especially 
the decision making process.   
 

5.9 The elevation of the Climate Emergency within the Corporate Plan, the roll out of 
Carbon Literacy Training, and the identification of Climate Emergency Champions will help 

to increase awareness within the Council and across Trafford of the Council’s commitment 
to address the Climate Emergency. However, the group feel that the Council needs to 
develop an all-encompassing communication and engagement strategy around the 

Climate Emergency within Trafford. The strategy should involve a wide range of 
communication and engagement with staff and Trafford residents. The Climate Emergency 

should be noted on the front page of the Council’s website with a dedicated area of the 
website and intranet populated with all the work the Council is doing to tackle the Climate 
Emergency, resources that residents and staff can use to make a difference, and links to 

groups or websites, for example the City of Trees website.  
 

5.10 The Council needs to act as a leader of the community helping to coordinate and 
facilitate the efforts of residents. The Council needs to work with existing resident groups 
and look at the possibility of creating a citizen’s assembly to act as a focal point for 

engagement. Through the Interim Director of Public Health the Council have a connection 
with Dr Malcolm Oswald who helps to organise citizen’s juries and could help the Council 

in developing an assembly. The student and pupil demonstrations in Manchester have 
shown that the Climate Emergency is an issue that is of the highest importance to children 
and young people and the Council should look at ways to utilise this interest and energy in 

tackling the issue. The Group suggest actions such as holding school competitions for the 
best carbon reducing ideas across Trafford or coordinating and facilitating young people’s 

Climate Emergency groups.  
 
5.11 The Group met with an officer from Oldham Council, who are leaders in Community 

Energy Projects. The Officer explained the projects which sought to use money borrowed 
by the Council in order to create social enterprises for the purpose of installing solar 

panels and other forms of green energy on buildings, such as schools, to provide all their 
energy needs. The community company borrows the money from the Council to install the 
solar panels on a building and then shares are sold to members of the public. The money 

from the shares then goes back to pay off the debt to the Council. If not enough shares are 
sold for the Council to recoup their money they can either continue to receive payments 

from the community company, which has a guaranteed income from the building using 
their energy, or they can convert the remaining debt into shares. When this was done in 
Oldham the Council used £250,000 to buy solar panels to fit on a school, sold £160,000 of 

shares and turned the remaining £90,000 pounds into shares in the community company. 
While the impact of such projects upon the area’s carbon footprint was small the projects 

had a large positive effect upon the community. It is in this respect that the group would 

Page 103



like the Council to consider investing in and supporting such projects e.g. The Fuse in 
Partington. 
 

5.12 During their meetings the group looked at a number of documents regarding actions 
that local authorities could take to combat the Climate Emergency and reduce their carbon 

footprint. Out these documents the Group believe the Friends of the Earth 33 actions for 
Local Authorities and the Greater Manchester 5 Year Plan provide a useful starting point 
for the council to act upon. Appendix 2 contains the Friends of the Earth 33 actions for 

Local Authorities mapped against the actions from the greater Manchester 5 year 
Environment Plan. This table has an additional column marked “Trafford position” as 

through the Groups discussions there have been indications that the Council is already 
working towards a number of these goals. The group requests that the Executive asks 
Officers to complete this column so that Trafford’s ongoing work is clear. Out of the 33 

actions there are a number that the Group believe can and should be implemented as 
soon as possible. These actions have been listed below amongst the other 

recommendations from this report. 
 
 
6. Summary of Recommendations 

6.1 It is felt by the group that while the task and finish group was a short term measure to 

work out how the Council should respond to the Climate Emergency a longer term solution 
is required. There are a number of elements that the group feel are critical in the work 
going forward which are listed below; 

 
1. That a Committee be established to coordinate the Council’s work relating to 

Climate Emergency. 

 

2. That the Committee complete activity one through four with the support of external 

experts and partners. 

 

3. That the Committee have executive membership as well as lead officers from Public 

Health, Licensing, Procurement, Amey, Highways, Planning, and any other key 

areas identified. 

 

4. That there be a lead Executive member dedicated to the Climate Emergency. 

 

5. That a dedicated officer role, reporting to the Corporate Director of Place, be 

created to drive the Climate Emergency Agenda forward. 

 

6. That the Committee will oversee the action plan and monitor Trafford’s performance 

against carbon reduction targets. 

  

7. That the Councils Carbon Budget be published annually alongside the Financial 

Budget. 

 

8. That an additional Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee be established with the 

sole purpose of Scrutinising the Council and their partners in relation to the Climate 

Emergency. 

  

Page 104



9. That Climate Emergency Implications and sustainability be listed as an area to be 

considered in reports and that the guidance to officers be updated to bring it in line 

with the Council’s current targets as per appendix 1. 

 

10. That Climate Emergency be added to the Corporate Plan an additional priority 

forming part of the annual report and performance monitoring. 

 

11. That the Council roll out Carbon literacy training across the workforce and 

Councillors. 

 

12. That Climate Emergency champions be recognised within the organisation. 

 

13. That a comprehensive Communication and Engagement Strategy be developed 

and considers the following methods; 

 Dedicated Climate Emergency Section of the Council’s Website 

 Wide distribution of the Public Health Annual Plan 

 Internal communications (sections on the intranet) 

 Have Climate Emergency resources available at Council Buildings  

 Hold Climate Emergency events or sessions at libraries 

 Hold Climate Emergency challenge among Trafford schools 

 Support of existing Climate Emergency VCSE groups within Trafford 

 Utilising Citizens Juries (Dr Malcolm Oswald) 

 Support the creation of a citizen’s assembly  

 Community energy projects 

 Advertise  and champion the resources created by Greater Manchester on 

tackling Climate Emergency 

 

14. That the Executive consider the 33 Actions for Local Authorities laid out by Friends 

of the Earth and implement as many as possible. 

  

15. That the Executive consider immediate implementation of the following actions as 

quick wins; 

 Buy Green Energy 

 Adjust the Council Social Value weighting in procurement so that reducing 

carbon footprint, planting trees etc. are counted as elements of social value 

 Increase number of EV Charging points in Trafford 

 Stop promoting measures that increase greenhouse gasses 

 Install food waste collection bins in all Council buildings (including in kitchens for 

employees)  

 

16. That the Executive ask officers to complete the Trafford position column of appendix 

2. 

 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
Report to:   Council 
Date:    24th November 2021 

Report for:    Decision 
Report of:  Executive Member for Environmental and Regulatory 

Services 

 

 
Report Title 

 

 

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Gambling Principles 2022-2025 
 

 

Summary 
 

 

The Council is required to prepare, consult on and publish a Statement of Gambling 
Principles in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005.  

 
The Council is invited to consider the summary of responses received following the 

statutory consultation. 
 

 

Recommendation(s) 
 

It is recommended that the Council note the recommendations of the Executive on the 

22nd November and: 

1. Note the feedback from the recent public and trade consultation on the 

proposed Statement of Gambling Principles; and 
2. Adopt the Statement of Gambling Principles 2022-2025 as attached at 

Appendix 3. 
 

 

   

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 

Name:  Joanne Boyle – Licensing Team Leader    
  joanne.boyle@trafford.gov.uk  

 
Background Papers: None 

 

 
 
 
1.0 Background 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



1.1 Under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 the Council is required to prepare, 
consult on and publish a statement of principles that it proposes to apply in 

exercising its functions under the Act, applicable to a three year period.  The 
Council published its last Statement of Gambling Principles on the 31st 

January 2019 and must now review and publish any revisions to its Principles 
by 31st January 2022. 

 

1.2 The Council’s Statement of Principles was reviewed to ascertain if it was 
necessary to update the policy to incorporate either any new guidance from 

the Gambling Commission; or any significant changes in the local area.  
 
1.3  This year the 10 Greater Manchester Licensing Authorities have agreed to 

take a common approach to refreshing their gambling policies, so this policy 
reflects the principles adopted across the region.  

 
 
 

 
 
2.0 Revisions (Highlighted yellow in Policy Document) 

 
 
3.0 Equality Impact Assessment 

Relationship to Policy 

Framework/Corporate Priorities 
 

 
Having a Policy on how the Council will administer its 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005 makes the 
processing of applications more efficient by giving 
residents,  applicants and decision makers clear 
guidance on what factors will be taken into 
consideration when making decisions.  
 

Relationship to GM Policy or 

Strategy Framework 

The Policy reflects the common approach to be taken 

across all 10 Greater Manchester Authorities. 

Financial  There will be no net additional cost to the Council 

Legal Implications: Section 349 of the Gambling Act requires the Council to 
publish a Statement of Gambling Policy every three 
years. 

Equality/Diversity Implications An EIA is attached to the report at Appendix 4 

Sustainability Implications None 

Carbon Reduction None 

Staffing/E-Government/Asset 
Management Implications 

None 

Risk Management Implications   None 

Health and Safety Implications None 

Health and Well-being Implications One of the aims of the policy is to prevent and reduce 
the negative impacts of gambling on individuals, 
families and communities. We are working with partners 
across Greater Manchester to ensure that gambling is a 
safe and enjoyable activity for all who choose to take 
part. 

Page 108



 
3.1 The assessment found no significant negative impact anticipated from 

implementing the proposed changes to the Policy. The Act is a permissive 

regime and applications must be granted unless there are good reasons not 

Paragraph Revision  Reason 

2.2- 2.5 Addition To define and differentiate clearly the definitions of 

‘Gaming’, ‘Betting’ and ‘Lottery’ 

2.6 Addition It changes the responsibility of the regulation of 

Gambling to being Shared between the Gambling 

Commission (GC) and Local Authorities (LA). GC 

take lead to ensure Gambling is conducted in a fair 

and open manner through administration and 

enforcement. GC are responsible for remote 

gambling activities via the internet, television or 

radio 

3.11-3.17 Addition  It includes the Councils commitment to reference 

and consult Public Health regarding their 

involvement/insight of research, raising 

awareness and treatment programmes relating to 

Gambling disorder within GM. 

It directs the Director of Public Health to the 

Gambling Commissions toolkit. 

3.23-3.28 Addition Clarifies the Local Authority (LA) view on sharing 

information in the course of processing 

applications, abiding by the Freedom of 

Information Act and the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR). 

Identifies what circumstances that information will 

be kept in the context of the Gambling Act. 

Places a Statutory duty on the LA to notify various 

parties regarding applications using statutory 

forms. 

Inserts a commitment by the LA in several 

circumstances to notify the GC of information 

received i.e. concern regarding serious disorder, 

the suitability of operators;  and if an alcohol 

licenced premise/club/institute are holding bingo in 

the week with stakes and prizes exceeding £2000 

Page 109



Emphasises that the LA will act in accordance with 

legislation and guidance from the commission and 

adopt better regulation 

3.36-3.39 Addition This section details factors which will not be 

relevant in respect of a licence application if 

‘Interested parties’ or ‘responsible authorities’ wish 

to comment. 

3.45- 3.47 Addition Inserts additional requirements of premises that 

can be used for gambling and will be granted a 

licence. It notes that a licence will not prejudice or 

prevent action under appropriate planning or 

building law. 

3.48-3.51 Addition Inserts applicant requirements set out under The 

Gambling Act (s51) to submit plans of premises to 

the LA to assess whether they are fit and proper 

for gambling, and is appropriate in conjunction with 

the risk assessment. 

3.52 Addition Inserts additional considerations for applicants in 

their plans of track events 

4.6-4.7 Addition  Adds additional considerations for the LA to 

consider in determining whether to grant or refuse 

an application. 

4.8- 4.10 Addition Sets out how the licensing committee decides 

what conditions are applied to a  premises licence 

and specifies the different organisations who can 

specify conditions. 

4.15 Addition Additional bullet point for the LA to consider when 

determining whether to go ahead and review a 

licence. 

5.1- 5.18 Addition To include additional relevant factors when 

determining an application and review. 

5.25- 5.27 Addition Additions and inclusions to prevent gambling from 

being a source of disorder and associated with 

crime or disorder; additional needs to consult and 

develop relationships with the police; additional 

measures to be considered and included. 

Page 110



to do so and each licence application, where representations are made, will 

be considered against the three key Gambling Act objectives, namely: 1. 

5.28 Addition Includes the general objective of ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

5.30-5.36 Addition Inserts how licensees and applicants will be 

expected to demonstrate they have carefully 

considered vulnerable persons and the protection 

of children from harm. It includes having 

arrangements in place for preventing underage 

gambling,  

It includes the onus to consult a Mental Health 

Advisor and formulate a policy to protect persons 

of mental impairment or mental health difficulties 

from being harmed, or exploited. 

Arrangements in place for multi-occupancy 

premises, having arrangements in place for 

controlling access to children and the capability of 

different uses. 

Children not being permitted to premises where 

there are, or being able to, use Category C 

machines or above 

5.37-5.39 Addition Inclusion of expectations of operators when it 

comes to their staffing provision. 

5.40-5.43 Addition Inclusion of expectation on operators to data 

share. Expectation to keep track of problem 

gambling in Trafford and share that information 

with the Licensing Section when requested. A 

template has been included of information to be 

provided. 

5.44-5.55 Addition Expectation of all customer facing staff and 

management staff to have knowledge and training 

to tackle risks and promote responsible gambling. 

It inserts a list of expectations of knowledge. There 

is also an expectation with managers to support 

standards with regard to protecting children from 

harm and vulnerable persons.  

5.46-5.51 Addition Sets out the expectation on how operators should 

monitor gaming and layout. 

Page 111



Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime, 2. Ensuring 

that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and 3. Protecting children 

and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited. 

3.2 In the policy applicants are requested to have regard to the type of people that 

are likely to visit their premises in their application when identifying the steps 

they will take to promote the licensing objectives. Applicants will be expected 

to propose steps to ensure that the physical layout of the premises does not 

present any risks to ‘vulnerable’ people, some of whom may be disabled. 

3.3 The policy outlines what the licensing authority’s duty is and what the Council 

expects from licence holders in respect of protecting young people from harm. 
The policy makes provision for Children and Young Peoples services to act as 

the responsible authority for matters relating to the protection of children from 
harm and enables them to comment on variations/new applications and request 
reviews of licences. 

 
4.0 Other Options 

 

6.12 Addition Expectation on operators to provide a breakdown 

of the number of electronic bingo machine 

terminals that they provide at their premises. 

6.13- 6.22 Addition Inserts requirements and restrictions for gaming 

machines at bingo premises, including limiting the 

number and times that the bingo machines are not 

provided. It allows for the licensing authority to limit 

the number. 

6.23- 6.25 Addition It acknowledges the phenomenon of Bongo Bingo 

in reliance of an alcohol licence. It encourages 

venues to send out responsible gambling 

messages. 

6.26-6.29 Addition Insertion to betting premises to encourage 

participation in the Safe Bet Alliance and 

demonstrate and incorporate safety measures. It 

stipulates times for betting premises, and that 

licensing authorities can only vary the hours if they 

have robust measures in place. It allows LA the 

power to restrict the number of betting machines  

7.6-7.9 Addition Inserts further measures for Unlicensed Family 

Entertainment centres, requiring the need for a 

permit if the premises does not hold a premises 

licence. 

Page 112



4.1 One option is for the Council not to approve and publish a Statement of 
Gambling Principles.  The consequences of this course of action would be 

that the Council would not be complying with the requirement of the Gambling 
Act 2005, and the Council would not be able to effectively carry out any 

function in respect of applications made under the Act.   
 

4.2 An alternative option would be to not include the proposed revisions in the 
Policy document. The consequences of this course of action would be that the 

Council could be seen as out of step with the other 9 Greater Manchester 
Authorities whose shared aim is to reduce the negative impacts of gambling; 
and to ensure that gambling is a safe and enjoyable activity for all who take 

part. 
 
5.0 Consultation 
  

5.1 The Act requires the Council to consult on its Policy with the police; those who 

represent the interests of gambling businesses in their area; and those which 
represent interested persons likely to be affected.  The Policy was consulted 

on between the 9th July 2021 and the 3rd September 2021.  
 
5.2 The Council received one direct response to its consultation which is detailed 

at Appendix 1 – Summary of Responses. 

 

5.3 Oldham and Manchester Councils received a response from the Betting and 
Gaming Council as part of their consultation which has been accepted as a 
response to all 10 authorities and is detailed at Appendix 2- Summary of 

Response - Betting and Gaming Council. 

 

5.4 A copy of the Council’s proposed Statement of Gambling Principles for 2022 – 
2025 is attached to this report at Appendix 3. 

  
5.5 The Principles, if approved, will come into force on 31st January 2022, and 

will remain in force for a period not exceeding three years, and will be subject 
to review and further consultation before 31st January 2025. The Council will 

keep the policy under review, making any amendments as it considers 
appropriate. 

 
6.0 Reasons for Recommendation 

 
6.1 The Council is legally required to prepare, consult on and publish a statement 

of principles that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the 

Gambling Act, applicable to a three year period. The Statement of Principles 
proposed reflects the common approach to be taken across all 10 Greater 

Manchester Authorities to the processing of applications, giving clear 
guidance on what factors will be taken into consideration when making 
decisions.  One of the aims of the policy is to prevent and reduce the negative 

impacts of gambling on individuals, families and communities. 
 

7.0 Recommendation. 

 

Page 113



7.1 It is recommended that the Council note the recommendations of the Executive 
on the 22nd November and: 

 
7.1.1 Note the feedback from the recent public and trade consultation on the 

proposed Statement of Gambling Principles; 
7.1.2 Recommend to Full Council to adopt the Statement of Gambling 

Principles 2022-2025 as attached at Appendix 3. 

 
 

Key Decision (as defined in the Constitution):    No 

If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   N/A 

Finance Officer Clearance PC 

Legal Officer Clearance  SL 

 

CORPORATEDIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE  

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the 

Executive Member has cleared the report. 

Page 114



APPENDIX 1 

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION 
 

POLICY RESPONSES COUNCIL RESPONSE 
 1 respondent 

Responded ‘Yes’ to having read the policy. 

Responded ‘Yes’ that they thought the policy was strong enough to 

prevent gambling shops being used as a source of crime. 

Responded ‘Yes’ that they thought the Gambling Policy will be 

effective in encouraging fairness and openness in gambling 

premises. 

Responded ‘Yes’ that they feel the draft policy does enough to help 

protect children and vulnerable people from harm. 

Responded ‘Agree’ that gambling premises should operate in 

shopping and business areas only, and should not be located near 

schools or in residential neighbourhoods. 

When asked for anything else they felt should be included in the 

Gambling Policy- no response was received. 

The Council notes the response made.  

 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

SUMMARY OF RESPONSE - Betting and Gaming Council (BGC) 

Introduction 

Oldham and Manchester Councils received a consultation response from the Betting and Gaming Council (BGC) to the proposed gambling 

licensing statement of principles.  This Appendix addresses the comments made by the BGC and provides suggested amendments to the draft 
statement of principles which are highlighted in green.  

 

Existing text BGC response Amendments Notes 

“In Greater Manchester we are 
thinking differently about 
gambling with a shared aim to 
prevent and reduce the negative 
impacts of gambling on 
individuals, families and 
communities. As part of our 
innovative public service reform 
and population health agenda we 
are working with partners across 
Greater Manchester to ensure 
that gambling is a safe and 
enjoyable activity for all who 
choose to take part.” 
(Forward) 

Overall, the draft statement of 
principles appears to adopt an 
anti-gambling stance and ignores 
the fundamental “aim to permit” 
principle contained within s153. 

None. We clearly state throughout the 
document that licensing decisions 
will be made in accordance with 
the Gambling Act “aim to permit” 
and that our objective is for 
“gambling to be a safe and 
enjoyable activity for all who 
choose to take part”. 

The Council has a responsibility 
under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
decide whether to grant or reject 
applications and in the case of 
premises licensing applications to 
decide any conditions to apply 
where the decision is taken to 
grant. 
(Para 2.7 in “Introduction” 
section) 

This omits a fundamental 
requirement of the Gambling Act 
to “aim to permit” 

None. The aim to permit is clearly 
included in the document at later 
stage and is referenced as “all 
decisions are based on the Act”. 

P
age 117



APPENDIX 2 

“While for some gambling is an 
enjoyable activity, it is a source of 
harm for many” 
(Para 3.11 under “Public Health”) 

This is, at best, misleading. Suggest an amendment to: 
 
“While gambling can be an 
enjoyable activity, it is a source of 
harm for many” 
 
With the addition of the following 
references: 
 
Citizens Advice (2018) Out of 
Luck - An exploration of the 
causes and impacts of problem 
gambling. Available at: 
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
about-us/policy/policy-research-
topics/consumer-policy-
research/consumer-policy-
research/out-of-luck-an-
exploration-of-the-causes-and-
impacts-of-problem-gambling/ 
 
IPPR (2016) Cards on the table: 
The cost to government 
associated with people who are 
problem gamblers in Britain, 
IPPR. Available at: 
https://www.ippr.org/research/pub
lications/cards-on-the-table  

We consider the original 
statement to be accurate as 
every person who directly 
experiences harm as a result of 
gambling, between 6-10 others 
are affected, suggesting that the 
impact of harm is widely felt 
beyond just those who participate 
in gambling, with resulting costs 
for wider society. 

P
age 118

http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/cards-on-the-table
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/cards-on-the-table


APPENDIX 2 

“Research suggests that in a city-
region like Greater Manchester 
there are approximately 39,000 
people living with a gambling 
disorder, with a further 118,000 at 
risk.” 
(Para 3.12 under “Public Health”) 

This refers to “research”, but it is 
not clear what this research is, 
when this research was 
conducted or where 

Retain this data but include the 
following reference: 
 
Kenyon (2017) Problem 
Gambling in Leeds: Report to 
Leeds City Council. Leeds 
Beckett. Available at: 
http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/i
d/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gam
bling%20Report.pdf.  

This is the most up to date data 
we have available and 
incorporated an estimate based 
on GM population demographics 
using analysis conducted by 
Leeds Beckett University 
specifically looking at urban 
areas.  
The national data for gambling 
harm quoted by the BGC 
includes areas that bear no 
similarity to GM (for example, 
rural areas in Devon), therefore 
we have used more specific data 
to inform our estimates so they 
are relevant to our local 
population. 

“Men, younger adults (aged 18-
34) and adults from a lower 
socio-economic or black and 
minority ethnic background are 
more likely to be classified as 
gamblers experiencing some 
level of harm.” 
(Para 3.13 under “Public Health”) 

This may be correct where those 
groups do engage in gambling 
but context is all important. 
Otherwise, a misleading 
impression is given. 
 
The letter goes on to quote an 
exploratory piece of research 
from 2015 looking at vulnerability 
to gambling harm. 

Retain this text but include the 
following reference: 
 
Dinos, S. et al. (2020) ‘Treatment 
Needs and Gap Analysis in Great 
Britain’, GambleAware p. 45. 
Available at: 
https://www.begambleaware.org/
sites/default/files/2020-
12/treatment-needs-and-gap-
analysis-in-great-britain-a-
synthesis-of-findings1.pdf  

Anyone who gambles is 
vulnerable to harm, however this 
data is taken from the most 
recent surveys conducted by 
Gamble Aware – more research 
has been done in this space 
following the quoted 2015 report.  
We know that gambling 
prevalence is lower among 
people from black and ethnic 
minority backgrounds so the 
overall numbers are lower, but of 
those who do participate more 
report experiencing harm as a 
result, therefore this statement is 
an accurate reflection of the data. 

P
age 119

http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf
http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf
http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf


APPENDIX 2 

“The licensing authority will not 
take into account representations 
that are 

 Repetitive, vexatious or 
frivolous 

 From a rival gambling 
business where the basis 
of the representation is 
unwanted competition 

 Moral objectives to 
gambling 

 Concerned with expected 
demand for gambling 

 Anonymous” 
(Para 3.38 – “Factors that will not 
be relevant”) 

This contains a list of bullet points 
detailing representations that 
would not be considered. This list 
should be expanded to include 
issues of nuisance and whether 
the proposals have or are likely to 
be granted building regulation 
approval or planning permission. 

None Current text sufficiently describes 
factors which will not be taken 
into account.  
 
There is no legal basis for 
planning permission to be 
incorporated into a licensing 
decision as these are determined 
on different grounds and 
therefore is irrelevant. 

How the licensing committee 
decides what conditions to apply 
to premises licenses 
(Para 4.8-4.12 “How the licensing 
committee decides what 
conditions to apply to premises”) 

This section would be assisted by 
a clear explanation that all 
Gambling Act 2005 premises 
licences are subject to mandatory 
and default conditions which are 
intended to be sufficient to 
ensure operation that is 
consistent with the licensing 
objectives, and it is unlikely that 
additional conditions will need to 
be imposed. 

None. The first bullet point of para 4.8 
refers to “conditions specified in 
the Gambling Act 2005”. 
 
Individual licensing authorities 
can determine what conditions 
apply in accordance with the 
Statement of Principles and the 
Gambling Act. While some 
conditions are mandatory these 
do not describe the minimum 
conditions that can be imposed 
on licenses. We consider the 
current operation of the Gambling 
Act to provide insufficient 
protection to gamblers from harm 
which is why we have developed 
risk-based conditions which may 
apply. 

P
age 120



APPENDIX 2 

Gambling related harm 
(Para 5.5-5.7 in the “Relevant 
factors when considering 
applications and reviews” 
section) 

These are headed “Gambling 
related harm”. It is not clear what 
the purpose of these paragraphs 
are, and they should be removed. 

None. 
 
For clarity we have referred to 
“Public Health (3.7-3.11)” in the 
paragraph title. 

This section provides context to 
inform the risk assessment and 
the Statement of Principles.  
 
In accordance with the objectives 
of the GM gambling harm 
reduction programme these are 
key factors to consider. 

Local risk assessments 
(Para 5.8-5.17 in the “Relevant 
factors when considering 
applications and reviews” 
section) 

These paragraphs explain the 
requirement for an operator to 
assess the local risk to the 
licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at 
its premises and have policies 
procedures and control measures 
to mitigate those risks. These 
paragraphs are overly 
prescriptive and unnecessary. 

None. This section is included 
specifically to provide clear 
guidance on what is expected 
from operators in accordance 
with our shared aim of preventing 
and reducing gambling harm.  

“The Authority will expect the 
local risk assessment to consider 
the urban setting: 

 Proximity of the premises 
to schools 

 The commercial 
environment 

 Factors affecting footfall 
 Etc. etc.” 

(Para 5.12 under “local risk 
assessments”) 

The policy should be clear that 
the mere presence of any of the 
issues outlined in the bullet points 
should not affect the grant of an 
application as long as an 
operator has assessed those 
risks and has control measures 
and strike control measures, 
policies and procedures in place 
to address and mitigate them. 

None. Para 5.8-5.10 clearly describes 
what is expected of the risk 
assessment and does not 
suggest that a licence will not be 
granted if these conditions are 
present. 

 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

 1 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Draft Statement of Principles under 

the Gambling Act 2005 
 

2022 - 2025 
 

Page 123



APPENDIX 3 

 2 

Table of Contents 

1. Foreword from Elected Member............................................................................................. 4 
2. Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Publication of this Policy ....................................................................................................................6 
Description of the Area ......................................................................................................................7 

3. General principles ................................................................................................................... 7 

Other regulatory regimes ...................................................................................................................8 
Responsible Authorities .....................................................................................................................8 
Public Health .....................................................................................................................................9 
Determining whether a person is an interested part in relation to a premises licence, or an application 
for or in respect of a premises licence............................................................................................... 11 
Exchange of information between the licensing authority and the Gambling Commission (s29 and s30 
of GA2005), and the exchange of information between the licensing authority and other persons listed 
in Schedule 6 of the Act.................................................................................................................... 12 
Functions of the licensing authority under Part 15 of the GA2005 with respect to the inspection of 
premises and the power under s346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified in that section...................................................................................................... 14 
Commenting on a licence application ............................................................................................... 15 
Factors that will not be relevant ....................................................................................................... 16 
Split Premises .................................................................................................................................. 16 
Premises “ready for gambling” ......................................................................................................... 16 
Applications and plans ..................................................................................................................... 18 
Tracks .............................................................................................................................................. 18 

4. Determining Premises Licences ............................................................................................ 20 

How the Licensing Authority decides whether to grant or refuse an application ................................ 20 
How the licensing committee decides what conditions to apply to premises licences......................... 20 
Determining whether to review a licence.......................................................................................... 22 

5. Relevant factors when considering applications and reviews ............................................ 24 

Location of the premises .................................................................................................................. 24 
Gambling-related harm .................................................................................................................... 25 
Local risk assessments...................................................................................................................... 26 
Local Area Profile ............................................................................................................................. 29 
How the premises will operate consistent with the licensing objectives ............................................ 30 
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder 
or being used to support crime: ........................................................................................................ 30 
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way .............................................................. 32 
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling ........ 32 
Expectations of operators: Staffing provision .................................................................................... 35 
Expectations of operators: Data gathering and sharing ..................................................................... 35 
Expectation of applicants: Staff Training and Knowledge................................................................... 36 
Expectation of applicants: Gaming machines / layouts ...................................................................... 37 

Page 124



APPENDIX 3 

 3 

6. Premises-specific considerations .......................................................................................... 38 

Adult Gaming Centres ...................................................................................................................... 38 
Casinos ............................................................................................................................................ 38 
‘No Casinos’ resolution..................................................................................................................... 38 
Bingo premises ................................................................................................................................ 39 
Electronic bingo gaming machines .................................................................................................... 40 
Gaming machines at bingo premises................................................................................................. 40 
'Entertainment’ Bingo ...................................................................................................................... 41 
Betting Premises .............................................................................................................................. 42 
(Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres .......................................................................................... 43 
Occasional use notices ..................................................................................................................... 43 

7. Permits and other permissions ............................................................................................. 44 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits ........................................................................ 44 
Prize Gaming Machine Permits ......................................................................................................... 44 
Unlicensed FECs (uFEC)..................................................................................................................... 45 
Small Society Lotteries ..................................................................................................................... 45 

8. Appendix 1 – Responsible Authorities .................................................................................. 47 
9. Appendix 2 – Template for data collection .......................................................................... 49 
10.  Appendix 3 - Glossary ............................................................................................................ 50 

 

 

Page 125



APPENDIX 3 

 4 

Foreword from Elected Member  

In Greater Manchester we are thinking differently about gambling with a shared aim to 

prevent and reduce the negative impacts of gambling on individuals, families and 

communities. As part of our innovative public service reform and population health 

agenda we are working with partners across Greater Manchester / Trafford to ensure 

that gambling is a safe and enjoyable activity for all who choose to take part. Our 

priorities are 

 Developing our understanding of gambling related harms 

 Improving access to high quality treatment and support 

 Supporting interventions to prevent gambling from becoming a harmful activity 

 Engaging with people and communities to co-design our work 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Stephen Adshead 

Executive Member for Environmental and Regulatory Services 

 

 

Page 126



APPENDIX 3 

 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1 As the licensing authority, we are required to perform the following functions under the 

Gambling Act:  

1) Be responsible for licensing premises where gambling activities are to take place 

by issuing premises licences  

2) Issue provisional statements where it is proposed that gambling activities will 

take place but a premises is not yet ready for use 

3) Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 

certain gaming activities by issuing club gaming permits and/or club machine 

permits 

4) Issue club machine permits to commercial clubs 

5) Issue permits for unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres where Category D 

machines may be used 

6) Receive notifications from premises licensed for on-sales of alcohol for use of 

two or fewer Category C or D gaming machines  

7) Issue licensed premises gaming machine permits for premises licensed for on-

sales of alcohol for use of two or more Category C or D machines 

8) Register small society lotteries 

9) Issue prize gaming permits  

10) Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices for temporary use of premises for 

gambling 

11) Receive Occasional Use Notices for betting at tracks 

2.1. Gambling is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery 

2.2. Gaming’ means playing a game for the chance to win a prize. 

2.3. ‘Betting’ means making or accepting a bet on: 

 the outcome of a race, competition or other event 

 the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring 

 whether anything is true or not.  

2.4. A ‘Lottery’ is where participants are involved in an arrangement where prizes are 

allocated wholly by a process of chance.  

Page 127



APPENDIX 3 

 6 

2.5. The responsibility for regulating gambling is shared between the Gambling Commission 

and local authorities. The Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing operating 

licences to organisations and individuals who provide facilities for gambling and 

personal licences to persons working in the gambling industry. The Commission takes 

the lead role on ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way through the 

administration and enforcement of operating and personal licence requirements. The 

Commission is also responsible for remote gambling activities such as facilities 

provided via the internet, television or radio.  

2.6. We are also required to: 

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 

issued 

 Maintain a register of the permits and licences that are issued under the 

functions above. 

2.7. The council has a responsibility under the Gambling Act 2005 to decide whether to 

grant or reject applications and in the case of premises licence applications to decide 

any conditions to apply where the decision is taken to grant. All decisions made by the 

licensing authority in relation to premises licences (and some other authorisations – see 

specific sections for details) are based on the Act, relevant guidance, Codes of Practice, 

our Gambling Policy and the three licensing objectives.  These objectives are: 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling 

2.8. In the case of premises licences (and some other authorisations – see specific sections 

for details), the licensing committee will permit gambling only so far as it is reasonably 

consistent with these three objectives. 

Publication of this Policy 

2.9. Licensing authorities have a requirement to develop, consult on, and publish a 

statement of licensing policy every three years with regards to the principles they 

propose to apply in exercising functions under the Gambling Act 2005.  

Page 128



APPENDIX 3 

 7 

2.10. The policy statement forms the licensing authority’s mandate for managing local 

gambling provision and sets out how the licensing authority views the local risk 

environment and therefore its expectations in relation to operators with premises in the 

locality.  

2.11. The authority is one of the 10 Metropolitan Districts of Greater Manchester. In Greater 

Manchester we have a shared aim reducing gambling related harms, our approach 

focuses on preventing gambling harms from occurring, as well as improving how we 

support our residents who are already experiencing harms, either directly or as a result 

of someone else’s gambling. The renewal of licensing policies presents an opportunity 

for local authorities to embed these principles. Licensing leads across Greater 

Manchester have agreed to take a common approach to refreshing gambling licensing 

policies. 

2.12. The following people and organisations have been consulted in preparing the 

statement: 

2.13. [summary of consultees] 

2.14. The Authority consulted upon this Policy before finalising at a full Council meeting held 

on the [enter date]. 

Description of the Area 

2.15 Trafford’s population in 2011 was 226,6005 (Source: Census 2011). Trafford occupies  

an area of 10,608 hectares and comprises Stretford, Sale, and Altrincham, together with  

the former urban districts of Bowdon, Hale and Urmston, and the parishes of Carrington,  

Warburton, Dunham Massey and Partington. 

  

2. General principles 

2.1 In making decisions on premises licences, the licensing authority shall aim to permit the 

use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it: 

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

 In accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy  

Page 129



APPENDIX 3 

 8 

2.2 As the licensing authority, we will regulate gambling in the public interest, which will be 

reflected in this policy statement. 

2.3 This policy statement does not undermine the right of any person to make 

representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence where provision has 

been made for them to do so. 

2.4 This policy does not override anybody’s right to make an application, make 

representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence.  

2.5 Each application will be considered on its merits in accordance with the requirements of 

the Gambling Act and without regard to demand. 

Other regulatory regimes 

2.6 The licensing authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes, so far as 

possible. A range of general duties are imposed on the self-employed, employers and 

operators of gambling premises, both in respect of employees and of the general public, 

by legislation governing health and safety at work and fire safety. Therefore, such 

requirements do not need to be included in the policy statement. 

Responsible Authorities 

2.7 Responsible Authorities are generally public bodies that must be notified of all 

applications and who are entitled to make representations to the Council if they are 

relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives.  

2.8 Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities. For this area they are: -  

 The Gambling Commission 

 Greater Manchester Police 

 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 

 The Planning Authority 

 The authority which has functions in relation to pollution to the environment or 

harm to human health 

 Trafford Strategic Safeguarding Partnership 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 The Licensing Authority.  

2.9 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities are available are set out in 

Appendix 1. 

Page 130



APPENDIX 3 

 9 

2.10 The licensing authority has designated the Trafford Strategic Safeguarding Board as the 

body that is competent to advise it about the protection of children from harm. The 

principles that have been used in making this designation is that the board is: 

 responsible for the whole of the licensing authority’s area  

 answerable to democratically elected persons 

Public Health 

2.11 While for some gambling is can be an enjoyable activity, it is a source of harm for many. 

 
Citizens Advice (2018) Out of Luck - An exploration of the causes and impacts of 
problem gambling. Available at: http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-
research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-
exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/ 
 

IPPR (2016) Cards on the table: The cost to government associated with people who are 
problem gamblers in Britain, IPPR. Available at: 
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/cards-on-the-table 

2.12 Research suggests that in a city-region like Greater Manchester there are 

approximately 39,000 people living with a gambling disorder, with a further 118,000 at 

risk, however we know that self-reported surveys underestimate true prevalence of 

harm given the unfortunately shame and stigma associated with gambling disorder. For 

every person who gambles, it is estimated that between six and ten people are ‘affected 

others’ and experience similar harms. These may be dependents, parents, partners, 

friends or colleagues. 

 

Kenyon (2017) Problem Gambling in Leeds: Report to Leeds City Council. Leeds 
Beckett. Available at: 
http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf 

 

Area Estimate of Adult 

Population 2016 

Estimated number of 

problem gamblers 

Estimated number 

of ‘at risk’ gamblers 

Greater 

Manchester 

2,148,660 38,676 118,176 

Bolton 216,920 3,905 11,931 

Bury 145,880 2,626 8,023 

Manchester 416,480 7,497 22,906 

Page 131

http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/policy/policy-research-topics/consumer-policy-research/consumer-policy-research/out-of-luck-an-exploration-of-the-causes-and-impacts-of-problem-gambling/
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/cards-on-the-table
http://eprints.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/id/eprint/3945/1/Problem%20Gambling%20Report.pdf


APPENDIX 3 

 10 

Area Estimate of Adult 

Population 2016 

Estimated number of 

problem gamblers 

Estimated number 

of ‘at risk’ gamblers 

Oldham 173,900 3,130 9,565 

Rochdale 164,820 2,967 9,065 

Salford 192,840 3,471 10,606 

Stockport 227,920 4,103 12,536 

Tameside 173,960 3,131 9,568 

Trafford 179,920 3,239 9,896 

Wigan 256,020 4,608 14,081 

 

2.13 Anyone who gambles is vulnerable to harm. Men, younger adults (aged 18-34) and 

adults from a lower socioeconomic or black and minority ethnic backgrounds are more 

likely to be classified as gamblers experiencing some level of harm. Gambling related 

harms are often described at an individual level, however these harms have a wider 

impact on communities and society with costs to the UK as a whole estimated at being 

between £260m and £1.16bn. 

Dinos, S. et al. (2020) ‘Treatment Needs and Gap Analysis in Great Britain’, 
GambleAware p. 45. Available at: 
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-
analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf 

2.14 People living with, or at risk of developing, a gambling disorder may experience stress, 

anxiety and depression, financial losses, debts and exhibit compulsive behaviours, such 

as chasing losses. Gambling related harms may accrue over a long period of time or 

very quickly at a time of crisis, many harms have a lasting legacy beyond initial recovery 

from gambling disorder. Harms associated with gambling include poor mental health 

and wellbeing, relationship breakdown, neglect of other priorities in life, poor 

performance at work or school and criminal activity. It is estimated that for every day of 

the year, one person takes their own life as a result of gambling disorder. 

2.15 Awareness of gambling harms as an emerging public health problem has increased in 

recent years, however Public Health are not a responsible authority under the Gambling 

Act 2005. Nonetheless, the licensing authority will consult the Director of Public Health 

on all premises licence applications and will advise the Director of Public Health to 

consider the use of the Gambling Commission’s toolkit for public health and 

Page 132

https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf
https://www.begambleaware.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/treatment-needs-and-gap-analysis-in-great-britain-a-synthesis-of-findings1.pdf


APPENDIX 3 

 11 

safeguarding: https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-

authorities/Licensingauthority-toolkit/Public-health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx 

2.16 Greater Manchester has a gambling harms reduction programme (which aims to reduce 

the harms caused by gambling to the population. Licence applicants and holders will be 

expected to show how they are actively protecting the local population from gambling 

harms with their processes and operations, and consider how the location, opening 

hours and promotion of their activities can minimize opportunities for harm to the 

vulnerable groups listed above. Section [] of this document on protecting vulnerable 

groups highlights some of the standards licence holders are expected to meet to 

minimize harm to customers and local residents. 

2.17 The licensing authority recognises that local authority public health teams can offer 

insights from those impacted by gambling harms and offer contextual information about 

treatment and support in the local area and can add value to the licensing application 

process where there are concerns raised about risk of harm to vulnerable groups 

locally.  

2.18 Greater Manchester’s gambling harms reduction programme is listening to residents 

with lived experience of gambling and is commissioning its own research to better 

understand problem gambling in the region. As findings from this research emerge, 

licence holders will be expected to support the delivery of recommendations to help 

minimize gambling harms to the local populations. 

Determining whether a person is an interested part in relation to a premises 

licence, or an application for or in respect of a premises licence 

2.19 For the purposes of the Gambling Act, an ‘interested party’ is: 

a) Someone who lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected 

by the gambling premises 

b) Has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities 

c) Represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) 

2.20 Whether or not a person is an ‘interested party’ is ultimately the decision of the 

Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to which the application is made.  

2.21 To determine who lives ‘sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by 

the gambling premises’, we will consider the following on a case-by-case basis: 

 The size of the gambling premises 

Page 133

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensingauthority-toolkit/Public-health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensingauthority-toolkit/Public-health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx


APPENDIX 3 

 12 

 The nature of the gambling premises 

 The distance of the premises from the address of the person making the 

representation 

 The potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be 

taken by those visiting the premises)  

 the circumstances of the person who lives close to the premises. This is not their 

personal characteristics, but their interests which may be relevant to the distance 

from the premises e.g. ‘sufficiently close to be likely to be affected’ could have a 

different meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for children 

with truanting problems and (c) a residential hostel for vulnerable adults 

 The ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit it). 

2.22 Having a ‘business interest’ will be given the widest possible interpretation and include 

community and voluntary groups, schools, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

The licensing authority will consider the following factors relevant when determining 

whether a person’s business interests may be affected: 

 The size of the premises 

 The ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit it) 

 whether the person making the representation has business interests in the 

affected catchment area  

2.23 In so far as who represents persons who satisfy paragraphs (a) or (b), this would 

include for example:  

i. Residents’ associations and tenants’ associations 

ii. Trade associations and trade unions 

iii. Any other person with written permission from somebody who satisfies 

paragraph (i) or (ii) 

iv. Local councillors and MPs 

Exchange of information between the licensing authority and the Gambling 

Commission (s29 and s30 of GA2005), and the exchange of information between 

the licensing authority and other persons listed in Schedule 6 of the Act 

2.24 The licensing authority may share application information received in the course of 

processing applications with the Gambling Commission, a constable or police force, an 

Page 134



APPENDIX 3 

 13 

enforcement officer, another Licensing Authority, her Majesty’s Commissioners of 

Customs & Excise, The Gambling Appeal Tribunal, The National Lottery Commission, 

The Secretary of State or Scottish Ministers. 

2.25 We will abide by the Freedom of Information Act and the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR) in its safeguarding/release of information or data. 

2.26 In the context of the Gambling Act, we will retain only that information which relates to 

the processing of applications for licences, permits, permissions and representations. 

Applications and representations in respect of applications are both in the public domain 

and are therefore available on request and may be published as part of our web 

register. Personal addresses/contact numbers attached with representations may also 

be released. Information may also be shared with other Gambling Act regulators or 

other parties prescribed by the Secretary of State. 

2.27 Licensing authorities have statutory duties to notify the Commission as well as the 

applicant and other responsible authorities of the grant/rejection of applications (new, 

variations, transfers etc) as well as the revocation, surrender or lapse of a premises 

licence using the correct statutory forms.  

2.28 We will inform the Gambling Commission without delay if:  

 The Licensing Authority receives information that causes it to question the 

suitability of the person holding/applying to hold an operating licence 

 There are persistent or serious disorder problems that an operator could or 

should do more to prevent, so that the Commission may consider the continuing 

suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence  

 If it comes to our attention that: alcohol-licensed premises or clubs or institutes 

are playing bingo during the course of a week which involves significant stakes 

and prizes and makes it possible that the £2,000 in seven days is being 

exceeded. 

2.29 The licensing authority will act in accordance with the relevant legislation and guidance 

from the Commission and will adopt the principles of better regulation. 

Page 135



APPENDIX 3 

 14 

Functions of the licensing authority under Part 15 of the GA2005 with respect to 

the inspection of premises and the power under s346 of the Act to institute 

criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified in that section  

2.30 Our principal enforcement role under the Gambling Act is to ensure compliance with the 

conditions of the premises licence and legal requirements in respect of other 

permissions the licensing authority regulates. However, we will also ensure that any 

unlicensed premises which are operating illegally are dealt with appropriately to ensure 

compliance. Where appropriate, we will work with the Gambling Commission in our 

enforcement activity. The Council will adopt a risk-based inspection and enforcement 

programme, which will mean giving greater attention to high-risk premises and a lighter 

touch for low-risk premises. In all cases we will ensure our inspection and enforcement 

programme is operated in accordance with any codes of practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission, in accordance with the Government’s Enforcement Concordat 

and the Compliance Code.  

2.31 The Council will take account of the Gambling Commissions guidance document issued 

in February 2015 (or any subsequent amendments) ‘Approach to Test Purchasing’ 

when considering making test purchases at gambling premises. The Council will also 

follow its own policies and procedures regarding the use of underage test purchasers. 

2.32 This licensing authority will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 

authorities and will endeavour to be: 

Proportionate regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies 

should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and 

minimised 

Accountable regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 

public scrutiny 

Consistent rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly 

Transparent regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and 

user friendly 

Targeted regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects 

2.33 Where there is a Primary Authority scheme in place, the council will seek guidance from 

the Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action. At the time of the 

Page 136



APPENDIX 3 

 15 

publication of this policy there were seven Primary Authority arrangements with host 

local authorities: 

Operator Primary Authority local authority 

BACTA Reading 

Coral Racing Milton Keynes 

Ladbrokes Milton Keynes 

Paddy Power Reading 

Rank Group City of Westminster 

Sky Betting & Gaming Wakefield 

William Hill Reading 

2.34 Further information, including an index of all Primary Authority arrangements can be 

found at:  Primary Authority Register (beis.gov.uk) 

Commenting on a licence application 

2.35 If ‘interested parties’ (see below for definition) or ‘responsible authorities’ wish to 

comment on an application for a premises licence relating to the licensing objectives, 

they can make a ‘representation’. The Licensing Authority can only consider 

representations if made by either an ‘interested party’ or ‘responsible authority’. 

2.36 A representation is a statement that outlines any comments that the party making the 

representation wants to be taken into consideration by the Licensing Authority when 

determining the application. In all cases representations will need to be ‘relevant’. The 

only representations likely to be relevant are those that meet one or more of the 

following criteria: 

 Relate to the licensing objectives 

 Relate to relevant matters in our gambling policy  

 Relate to relevant matters in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local 

Authorities 

 Relate to relevant matters in the Gambling Commission’s Codes of Practice 

 Relate to the premises that are the subject of the application  

AND 

 Are neither frivolous nor vexatious nor will certainly not influence the authority’s 

determination of the application. 

Page 137

https://primary-authority.beis.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3 

 16 

Factors that will not be relevant 

2.37 Any objections to new premises or requests for a review should be based on the 

licensing objectives of the Act. Unlike the Licensing Act 2003, the Act does not include 

the prevention of public nuisance as a specific licensing objective. 

2.38 The licensing authority will not take into account representations that are:  

 repetitive, vexatious or frivolous  

 from a rival gambling business where the basis of the representation is unwanted 

competition  

 moral objections to gambling  

 concerned with expected demand for gambling  

 anonymous       

2.39 Details of applications and representations referred to a licensing sub- Committee for 

determination will be published in reports that are made publicly available and placed 

on the council’s website in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000. Personal details will however be removed from 

representations in the final website version of reports    

2.40 Names and addresses of people making representations will be disclosed to applicants 

and only be withheld from publication on the grounds of personal safety where the 

licensing authority is specifically asked to do so. 

Split Premises      

2.41 The Licensing Authority will always give the closest consideration to whether a sub-

division has created separate premises meriting a separate machine entitlement. The 

Authority will not automatically grant a licence for sub- divided premises even if the 

mandatory conditions are met, particularly where the Authority considers that this has 

been done in order to sidestep controls on the number of machines which can be 

provided in a single premise. The Authority will consider if the sub-division has harmed 

the licensing objective of protecting the vulnerable. The Authority may also take into 

account other relevant factors as they arise on a case-by-case basis.   

Premises “ready for gambling”  

2.42 A licence to use premises for gambling will only be issued in relation to premises: 

Page 138



APPENDIX 3 

 17 

 that the Authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling 

in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations 

required before the premises are brought into use 

 where they are expected to be used for the gambling activity named on the 

licence. 

2.43 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 

applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 

statement should be made instead.  

2.44 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 

construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will determine applications 

on their merits, applying a two-stage consideration process: -  

1) Whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling  

2) Whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation that 

the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling 

takes place.  

2.45 Applicants should note that this Authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate to 

grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence. 

2.46 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing 

authority will not take into account: 

 whether those buildings have to comply with the necessary planning or building 

consents; 

 fire or health and safety risks.  

2.47 Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control, building and other 

regulations, and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence. 

2.48 It is noted that S.210 of the Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the 

likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when 

considering a premises licence application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises 

licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law 

relating to planning or building 

Page 139



APPENDIX 3 

 18 

Applications and plans  

2.49 The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their 

application, in order to ensure that the Licensing Authority has the necessary 

information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for 

gambling. The plan will also be used for the Authority to plan future premises inspection 

activity. 

2.50 It is the local authority’s policy that it will expect applicants for new premises licences 

and variations to provide a plan showing the indicative layout of the plan including, but 

not limited to: 

 Machines, specified by category 

 Staff counters 

2.51 We consider that this information is appropriate, in conjunction with the premises’ risk 

assessment, to effectively assess the provision of gambling facilities at the premises. 

Where this information is not provided, it is more likely that a representation will be 

made in order to enable the licensing authority to accurately assess the likely effect of 

granting the application relative to the LCCP and licensing objectives.   

  

2.52 The premises plan in itself is only one means by which the licensing authority may seek 

reassurance that the requirements will be met. It may be that conditions attached to the 

premises licence regarding lines of sight between the counter and the gaming 

machines, staffing arrangements or security devices are a more effective method of 

doing so. Local circumstances and concerns and the layout of a particular premises 

may well determine what is most appropriate for an individual application. 

Tracks 

2.53 Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale 

and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations.  

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by 

virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In such instances, 

where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary 

structures to restrict access to premises =In the rare cases where the outer perimeter 

cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in question will not be specifically designed 

for the frequent holding of sporting events or races. In such cases betting facilities may 

Page 140



APPENDIX 3 

 19 

be better provided through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not 

need to be defined.  

2.54 This authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of 

betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is 

not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is 

permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with 

pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  

2.55 Applicants should provide sufficient information that this authority can satisfy itself that 

the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in 

particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting 

rings) must be indicated on the plan. 

Page 141



APPENDIX 3 

 20 

3. Determining Premises Licences 

How the Licensing Authority decides whether to grant or refuse an application  

3.1 Where we receive an application for a gambling premises licence, we will aim to permit 

the use of premises for gambling where it is considered: 

a) In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 

b) In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  

c) Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to a and b) and 

d) In accordance with this policy (subject to a – c). 

3.2 Where we receive an objection to the grant of a licence the matter will be referred to the 

Council’s Licensing Sub-Committee for determination.  

3.3 Each case will be decided on its merits but it should be noted that the Council cannot 

reject applications on moral grounds. 

3.4 The Licensing Authority will not have regard to any demand issues for the premises.  

3.5 Where an area has known high levels of organised crime the licensing authority will 

consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and 

whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors. 

3.6 Rather than reject applications outright, wherever possible the Licensing Authority will 

look to work with gambling premises and tackle concerns with licence conditions that 

uphold the licensing objectives. However, where there are reasons that granting a 

licence would not be consistent with (a) - (d) above, the application will normally be 

refused. 

3.7 In accordance with the Guidance from the Gambling Commission, we will circulate 

‘clear and comprehensive’ reasons for any decision to all parties. We will also cite the 

extent to which decisions have been made in accordance with the Council’s gambling 

policy and the Guidance from the Gambling Commission. 

How the licensing committee decides what conditions to apply to premises 

licences 

3.8 Premises Licences may be subject to any or all of the following:  

 Conditions specified in the Gambling Act 2005  

Page 142



APPENDIX 3 

 21 

 Conditions specified in the regulations issued by the Secretary of State  

 Conditions attached by Trafford Council’s Licensing Committee following a 

hearing (where necessary). 

3.9 With respect to conditions, licensing authorities are able to:  

 Issue licences without modifying conditions set out in the Act and by the 

Secretary of State 

 Exclude default conditions  

 Attach conditions where it is believed to be appropriate 

 Conditions may be general in nature (i.e. they attach to all licences of a particular 

premises type e.g. all casinos) or they may be specific to a particular licence.  

3.10 We will ensure that any conditions we impose are:  

 Proportionate to the circumstances which they are seeking to address   

 Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 

facility 

 Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for 

 Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises 

 Reasonable in all other respects.  

3.11 There are also conditions, which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises 

licences: 

 Conditions on a premises licence which make it impossible to comply with an 

operating licence condition  

 Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 

operation 

 Conditions that require membership of a club or body. (The Gambling Act 

specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and 

this provision prevents it being reinstated) 

 Conditions relating to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes 

 Conditions relating to demand for the premises. 

3.12 Decisions about conditions will be taken on a case-by-case basis considering Gambling 

Commission guidance, Gambling Commission Codes of Practice, the Licensing 

Objectives and our policy. 

Page 143



APPENDIX 3 

 22 

Determining whether to review a licence   

3.13 After a licence is granted, where the day to day operation of a gambling premises is not 

felt to be ‘reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives’, a review of the premises 

licence can be requested at any time.  

3.14 A review may be initiated by the Licensing Authority or as a result of an application for 

review from an interested party or responsible authority. Where it is the Licensing 

Authority that initiate the review, they may do this for a whole class of premises e.g. all 

Adult Gaming Centres or in relation to particular premises. The Licensing Authority can 

review a licence for any reason it thinks appropriate.  

3.15 Where an application for review is received from an interested party or responsible 

authority, as a licensing authority we must decide whether to go ahead with the review. 

The application for review will be considered based on the following: 

 Does the request raise issues other than those found under the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance, Codes of Practice, the Licensing Objectives or our 

gambling policy? 

  Is it irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious? 

 Is it so minor that the authority will certainly not wish to revoke or suspend the 

licence or remove, amend or attach conditions? 

 Is it substantially the same as a previous application for review relating to the 

same premises? 

 Is the application for review substantially the same as a representation made at 

the time the application for a premises licence was considered?  

3.16 If the answer to ANY of the above questions is ‘yes’, the request for review may be 

rejected. The purpose of the review is to determine if the licensing committee should 

take any action in relation to the licence. If action is needed, the options are to either: 

 Revoke the premises licence • 

 Suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months 

 Exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (relating to, for 

example, opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion 

 Add, remove or amend a licence condition previously imposed by the Licensing 

Authority 

Page 144



APPENDIX 3 

 23 

3.17 To decide what action, if any, needs to be taken following an application for review, the 

licensing committee will make its determination:  

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 

 In accordance with relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 In so far as it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives 

 In accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy  

3.18 The committee will also consider any relevant representations and information given at 

the hearing. Codes or practice and the guidance referred to above may be obtained 

from the Gambling Commission. 

Page 145



APPENDIX 3 

 24 

4. Relevant factors when considering applications and reviews  

4.1 In considering applications for new gambling licences, variations to existing licences 

and licence reviews the licensing authority will consider the following matters:   

 the location of the premises  

 the Local Area Profile  

 the Local Risk Assessment (LRA)  

 the views of responsible authorities  

 the views of interested parties  

  compliance history of current management  

  the hours of operation         

  the type of premises         

 the operation of the premises in accordance with the expectations of the 

licensing authority, as set out in this policy 

  the physical suitability of the premises  

  the levels of crime and disorder in the area  

  the level of deprivation and ill health in the area  

4.2 The Licensing Authority believes that this list is not exhaustive and there may be other 

factors which may arise that could be considered relevant. The Licensing Authority will 

consider the relevance of any additional factors raised on a case-by-case basis. 

Location of the premises 

4.3 The location of the premises will be an important factor as it can impact on all three of 

the licensing objectives. The Licensing Authority will consider very carefully applications 

for premises licences that are located in close proximity to sensitive premises such as: 

 Schools, including universities 

 Parks, stations, other transport hubs and places where large numbers of school 

 children might be expected  

 other premises licensed for gambling  

 premises licensed for alcohol  

 children’s and vulnerable persons’ centres and accommodation  

 youth and community centres  

Page 146



APPENDIX 3 

 25 

 health and treatment centres  

 leisure centres used for sporting and similar activities by young persons and/or 

vulnerable persons  

 religious centres and public places of worship   

4.4 The Licensing Authority expects each premises to produce and keep on the premises a 

local risk assessment, covering the areas set out in this policy. 

Gambling-related harm (See also Public Health at para. 3.7-3.11) 

4.5 Between 61 and 73 percent of British adults gamble to some extent each year. For the 

majority of these people, gambling is a harmless and sociable activity. However, 

between 0.4 and 1.1 percent of British adults are estimated to be ‘problem gamblers’ 

who experience harm as a consequence of their gambling. A further 4 percent are 

estimated to be ‘at-risk gamblers’ who may go on to become problem gamblers.[1]  

4.6 Problem gambling has been defined as “gambling to a degree that compromises, 

disrupts or damages family, personal or recreational pursuits”[2]. Males are 5 times 

more likely than females to be problem gamblers. Problem gambling also varies by age 

with young people aged 16-24 the most likely to be affected. Problem gambling 

disproportionately affects people on low incomes and those from ethnic minorities. 

Individuals of Asian/Asian British heritage and Black/Black British heritage are more 

likely to be problem gamblers than people who identify as White/White British[3]. 

4.7 For problem gamblers, harms can include higher levels of physical and mental illness, 

debt problems, relationship breakdown and criminality. Problem gambling is also 

associated with domestic violence and substance misuse. Harms from gambling affect 

far more people than just the problem gambler: it is estimated that for every harmful 

gambler, between 6 and 10 additional people are directly affected (such as friends, 

family or colleagues)[4]. Problem gambling also has a significant impact on public 

finances due to increased costs to the welfare, housing, health and criminal justice 

sectors. For these reasons, gambling-related harm is increasingly recognised as a 

public health issue.  

 
[1] Institute for Public Policy and Research (2016). Cards on the table. The cost to government associated with 
people who are problem gamblers in Britain.  
[2] Lesieur, H. R. & Rosenthal, M. D. (1991). Pathological gambling: A review of the literature (prepared for the 
American Psychiatric Association Task Force on DSM-IV Committee on disorders of impulse control not elsewhere 
classified). Journal of Gambling Studies, 7 (1), 5-40. 
[3] See 1 above. 

Page 147

https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftn1
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftn2
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftn3
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftn4
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftnref1
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftnref2
https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftnref3


APPENDIX 3 

 26 

[4] Local Government Association and Public Health England (2018). Tackling gambling related harm A whole 
council approach. 

Local risk assessments 

4.8 Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new 

premises licence. Their risk assessment must also be updated: 

 when applying for a variation of a premises licence 

 to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 

identified in a licensing authority’s policy statement 

 when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 

mitigation of local risks. 

4.9 Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision 

of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and 

control measures to mitigate those risks. In undertaking their risk assessments, they 

must take into account relevant matters identified in the licensing authority’s policy 

statement. 

4.10 In conducting their risk assessment, the Licensing Authority will expect operators to 

follow the general principles of risk assessment: 

1) Identify hazards (think about what may cause harm using the information provided 

below as a guide and any other matters you consider relevant) 

2) Assess the risks (decide how likely it is that someone could be harmed and how 

serious it could be. This is assessing the level of risk). Decide: 

i) Who might be harmed and how 

ii) What you're already doing to control the risks 

iii) What further action you need to take to control the risks 

iv) Who needs to carry out the action 

v) When the action is needed by 

3) Control the risks (Look at what you're already doing, and the controls you already 

have in place.) Ask yourself: 

i) Can I get rid of the hazard altogether? 

ii) If not, how can I control the risks so that harm is unlikely? 

4) Record your findings (record your significant findings), including: 

i) the hazards (things that may cause harm) 

ii) who might be harmed and how 

Page 148

https://euc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fmanchestercitycouncil-my.sharepoint.com%2Fpersonal%2Ffraser_swift_manchester_gov_uk%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F68ba2a29bfdd4ccd819180116d33280d&wdorigin=OFFICECOM%2dWEB%2eMAIN%2eREC&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&wdodb=1&hid=F462CD9F-30CA-C000-3449-05ABD963B58E&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&usid=7341622a-930a-4518-8d91-283629c93749&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_ftnref4


APPENDIX 3 

 27 

iii) what you are doing to control the risks 

5) Review the controls. (You must review the controls you have put in place to make 

sure they are working.) You should also review them if: 

i) they may no longer be effective 

ii) Also consider a review if your workers have spotted any problems or there 

have been any accidents or near misses. 

iii) to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 

identified in this policy statement 

iv) when there are significant changes at the premises that may affect your 

mitigation of local risks 

v) Update your risk assessment record with any changes you make. 

4.11 The Licensing Authority considers the following as significant changes at the premises 

that may affect your mitigation of local risks: 

 Staffing changes 

 Layout of the premises 

 Changes to gaming facilities provided 

4.12 The Authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider the urban setting:  

 The proximity of the premises to schools 

 The commercial environment 

 Factors affecting the footfall 

 Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation 

 Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder 

 The ethnic profile of residents in the area. 

 The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 

 The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, 

leisure centres and other areas where children will gather 

 The range of facilities in the local area such as other gambling outlets, banks, 

post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities 

 Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, 

youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activity, etc. 

 The proximity of churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship 

Page 149



APPENDIX 3 

 28 

4.13 The local risk assessment must show how vulnerable people, including people with 

gambling dependencies, are protected through: 

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive 

gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of 

premises affects this. 

 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling.  

 Arrangements in place for local exchange of anonymised information regarding 

self-exclusion and gaming trends. 

 Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or 

benefit payments. 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with underage people and vulnerable 

people, which may include: 

o dedicated and trained personnel 

o leaflets and posters 

o self-exclusion schemes 

o window displays and advertisements designed to not entice children and 

vulnerable people. 

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care 

providers and other relevant information be provided in both English and the 

other prominent first language for that locality 

 The proximity of premises that may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 

hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor surgeries, council 

community hubs, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug 

dependent people may congregate 

4.14 The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected:  

 The proximity of institutions, places or areas where children and young people 

frequent such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment 

venues such as bowling allies, cinemas, etc. 

 The proximity of place where children congregate such as bus stops, cafes, 

shops. 

Page 150



APPENDIX 3 

 29 

 Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social behaviour, 

including activities such as graffiti, tagging, underage drinking etc. 

4.15 Other matters that the assessment will include as appropriate: -  

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the 

system will be monitored. 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of people 

using the premises. 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time. If at 

any time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring 

arrangements when that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted 

from supervising the premises and observing those people using the premises. 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in respect of a 

track, the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used to 

provide facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

4.16 Such information may be used to inform the decision the Authority makes about 

whether to grant the licence, to grant the licence with special conditions, or to refuse the 

application.  

4.17 This policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 

decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how the concerns 

can be overcome. 

Local Area Profile 

4.18 The Greater Manchester Gambling Harms Reduction programme is listening to 

residents with lived experience of gambling and is commissioning its own research to 

better understand problem gambling in the region. As findings from this research 

emerge, license holders will be expected to support the delivery of recommendations to 

help minimize gambling harms to the local populations. This research and evidence will 

be available online at: https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-

do/health/gambling/understanding-gambling-related-harms/ and should be referred to in 

Local Risk Assessments. 

Page 151

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/gambling/understanding-gambling-related-harms/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/gambling/understanding-gambling-related-harms/


APPENDIX 3 

 30 

How the premises will operate consistent with the licensing objectives 

4.19 We expect high standards from all gambling premises. Operators will be expected to 

demonstrate that they have given careful consideration to the licensing objectives and 

have appropriate measures in place to uphold them. 

4.20 The following paragraphs indicate the physical and management factors that the 

licensing authority may take into account when considering applications for new, varied 

licence applications and reviews. These are not mandatory requirements but should be 

used as a guide to applicants and licensees as to the sort of arrangements that it should 

have in place and demonstrate these are in place through their bespoke risk 

assessment. Where an applicant or licensee can demonstrate that these factors are not 

relevant, or alternative arrangements are more appropriate, the licensing authority will 

take these into account. 

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime:  

4.21 The Gambling Commission play a leading role in preventing gambling from being a 

source of crime, through maintaining rigorous procedures that aim to prevent criminals 

from providing facilities for gambling, or being associated with doing so, as a result of 

the operating licence procedure. 

4.22 However, as a Licensing Authority, we will take into account any local considerations 

that may impact with regard to this licensing objective, particularly in respect to the 

location of the premises, to ensure the suitability of the gambling premises. When 

considering whether a disturbance was serious enough to constitute disorder, we will 

have regard to the individual merits of the situation including, but not limited to, whether 

police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who 

could see or hear it. We acknowledge that the Gambling Commission highlights in its 

guidance to local authorities that “disorder is intended to mean activity that is more 

serious and disruptive than mere nuisance”. 

4.23 Whilst regulatory issues arising from the prevention of disorder are likely to focus almost 

exclusively on premises licensing, rather than on operating licences; if there are 

persistent or serious disorder problems that we consider an operator could or should do 

more to prevent, we will bring this to the attention of the Commission so that it can 

consider the continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence 

Page 152



APPENDIX 3 

 31 

4.24 Licensees and applicants will be expected to demonstrate that they have given careful 

consideration to preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.  

4.25 In addition to the need to consult a local Crime Reduction Officer, the operators of new 

premises/premises undergoing a refurbishment should also engage with the police’s 

architectural liaison unit at the design stage to ensure crime prevention and detection. 

4.26 We encourage that premises liaise with their Neighbourhood Policing Team to develop 

relationships at a local level and promote effective communication and co-operation. 

Additionally, operators are expected to actively support and participate in any local 

business partnership schemes, where any such schemes are in operation, and where 

such schemes are reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 

4.27 The measures to be considered should include:  

 The arrangements in place to control access (preventing unauthorised access 

shall not be limited to the provision of supervisory personnel; other options may 

include, but are not limited to, time-lock or maglock entrances) 

 The opening hours  

 The provision of registered door supervisors* 

 The provision of CCTV  

 The number of staff on duty and effective staff training, especially in relation to 

lone working 

 The provision of toilet facilities  

 Prevention of antisocial behaviour associated with the premises, such as street 

drinking, litter, activity outside the premises including the management of clients 

leaving the premises 

 Adequate lighting inside and out (appropriate to the premises in question) to 

ensure against robbery and other covert activity. 

* Only staff directly employed by Casinos and Bingo Clubs have an exemption from SIA 

registration. Where door supervisors are provided at these premises the operator should 

ensure that any people employed in this capacity are fit and proper to carry out such 

duties. Possible ways to achieve this could be to carry out a criminal records (DBS) 

check on potential staff and for such personnel to have attended industry recognised 

training. 

Page 153



APPENDIX 3 

 32 

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

4.28 Generally, this objective will be addressed by: 

 The management of the gambling business (in conjunction with the Gambling 

Commission, who are responsible for issuing and enforcement of the operating 

licence). 

 The personal licence holders proving their suitability and actions (which again is 

the responsibility of the Gambling Commission) 

4.29 Where we suspect that gambling is not being conducted in a fair and open way, we will 

bring this to the attention of the Gambling Commission, for their further consideration, 

and work in partnership with their officers In the case of those premises that do not hold 

an operating licence such as tracks, additional conditions may be required dependent 

on the risks outlined in the application. 

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling 

4.30 The Gambling Act defines ‘children’ as those persons under 16 years of age and ‘young 

persons’ as those persons aged 16 or 17 years of age. The term ‘vulnerable persons’ is 

not defined and what constitutes harm or exploitation will have to be considered on a 

case-by-case basis. 

4.31 Gambling-related harms are the adverse impacts from gambling on the health and 

wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and society. These harms are diverse, 

affecting resources, relationships and health, and may reflect an interplay between 

individual, family and community processes. The harmful effects from gambling may be 

short-lived but can persist, having longer- term and enduring consequences that can 

exacerbate existing inequalities. 

4.32 Regard will be had to current evidence in relation to vulnerability to gambling-related 

harm. In 2015, Manchester City Council in partnership with Westminster Council 

commissioned research into this issue and published a report: Exploring area-based 

vulnerability to gambling-related harm: Who is vulnerable? Findings from a quick 

scoping review by Heather Wardle, Gambling and Place Research Hub, Geofutures 

13th July 2015. Similarly, In 2016 Leeds City Council commissioned Leeds Beckett 

University to undertake research into Problem Gambling  (Problem Gambling in Leeds; 

Page 154

https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Problem-Gambling-Report.pdf


APPENDIX 3 

 33 

Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and Wardle, 2016) looking specifically at identifying groups 

of the society that could be considered (more) vulnerable to problem gambling: 

 Younger people, including students 

 Those who are unemployed and/or with constrained financial circumstances  

 Those from minority ethnic groups 

 Those under the influence of alcohol or drugs 

 Problem gamblers seeking treatment 

 Homeless people 

 Those living in areas of greater deprivation 

 Those with other mental health issues and substance abuse/misuse disorders  

 Those with poorer intellectual functioning  

 Custodial and non-custodial offenders 

4.33 Licensees and applicants will be expected to demonstrate they have carefully 

considered how to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm and have 

adequate arrangements for preventing underage gambling on their premises. The 

measures that should be considered where appropriate are:  

 The provision of CCTV 

 Location of entrances  

 Restricted opening and closing times to protect residents vulnerable to harm 

 Supervision of entrances        

 Controlled access to the premises by children under the age of 18  

 Dealing with pupils who are truanting, and policies to address seasonal periods 

where children may more frequently attempt to gain access to premises and 

gamble such as pre and post school hours, half term and school holidays  

 Design layout/lighting/fit out to not attract children or vulnerable persons having a 

nationally-recognised proof of age scheme – Think 21/25 

 The provision of registered door supervisors 

 Clear segregation between gaming and non-gaming areas in premises 

frequented by children 

 The provision of adequate signage and notices  

 Supervision of machine areas in premises, particularly areas to which children 

are admitted  

Page 155

https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Problem-Gambling-Report.pdf


APPENDIX 3 

 34 

 Controlled opening hours  

 Effective self-barring schemes  

 The provision of materials for GamCare, Betknowmore UK or similar, Citizens 

Advice Bureau information, local public and mental health and housing/homeless 

associations, printed in languages appropriate to the customer base.  

 Advertising local support services in the area such as Beacon Counselling Trust 

or the NHS Gambling Clinic. 

 The number of staff on duty and effective staff training, especially in relation to 

the ability to effectively Identify and engage with vulnerable persons, including 

primary intervention and escalation 

 A requirement that children must be accompanied by an adult (in premises where 

children are allowed) 

 Enhanced DBS checks of staff 

 Obscuring windows where appropriate and labelling premises so it is clear that 

they are gambling premises 

 Self-exclusion schemes 

4.34 With reference to those persons with a mental impairment or mental health difficulties, 

operators would be well-advised to consult a suitable Mental Health Advisor and 

formulate a policy to protect this category of vulnerable person from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 

4.35 For multi-occupied premises consideration should be given to the arrangements for 

controlling access to children and the compatibility of the different uses. Separate and 

identifiable entrances may be required to ensure that people do not drift inadvertently 

into a gambling area. 

4.36 Children are not permitted to use Category C or above machines and in premises 

where these machines are available and children are permitted on the premises the 

licensing authority will require: 

 all Category C and above machines to be located in an area of the premises 

which is separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier to 

prevent access other than through a designated entrance  

 adults only admitted to the area where these machines are located  

 adequate supervised access to the area where the machines are located  

Page 156



APPENDIX 3 

 35 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder  

 prominent notices displayed at the entrance to, and inside, any such areas there 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18  

Expectations of operators: Staffing provision      

4.37 Staff in licensed gambling premises are recognised as being subject to risk in the 

workplace from violence and verbal abuse, especially if working alone. In addition, lone 

workers may not be able to sufficiently serve and supervise the customers, identify and 

prevent young people from gambling, protect vulnerable persons, deal with customers 

who may be consuming alcohol and prevent the premises being used as a source of 

crime or supporting crime.  

4.38 We expect premises management to recognise and address this as part of their 

management arrangements, especially at times where it has been identified that there 

is a spike in crimes around the premises.  

4.39 We expect there to be an adequate number of staff and managers on the premises to 

cover key points throughout the day, especially where premises are close to 

schools/colleges/universities, pubs, bars, shopping centres and stadia. 

Expectations of operators: Data gathering and sharing 

4.40 Keeping track of the incidence and handling of problem gambling in Trafford is a key 

part of promoting the licensing objectives. We expect all gambling premises to maintain 

a log and share this and other information with the Licensing Unit upon request. 

4.41 Data that we consider should be recorded and shared includes (but is not exclusive to) 

We would expect that all records including time and date along with a short description 

of the incident and action taken: 

1) Customer interventions 

2) Cases where persons who have decided to voluntarily exclude themselves from 

the premises have tried to gain entry 

3) Mandatory exclusions needing enforcement  

4) Attempts to enter by those underage in a calendar month  

5) Attempts to enter by those underage in the company of adults  

6) Attempts to enter by those underage with complicit adults  

7) Incidents of ‘at risk behaviour’  

Page 157



APPENDIX 3 

 36 

8) Incidents of ‘behaviour requiring immediate intervention’  

4.42 We expect that this application will be provided to the licensing authority annually.  

4.43 A template for this information to be provided is at Appendix 2.  

Expectation of applicants: Staff Training and Knowledge 

4.44 We expect all customer-facing and management staff in premises licensed under the 

Gambling Act 2005 to have sufficient knowledge to tackle risks associated with 

gambling and know how to promote responsible gambling. Amongst other elements, 

staff knowledge should include (where appropriate): 

1) The importance of social responsibility (Premises may wish to seek an audit from 

GamCare in order to obtain a certificate of Social Responsibility) 

2) Causes and consequences of problem gambling 

3) Identifying and communicating with vulnerable persons: primary intervention and 

escalation, supported by high quality training given the challenging nature of 

these conversations. 

4) Dealing with problem gamblers: exclusion (mandatory and voluntary) and 

escalating for advice/treatment including local treatment providers  

5) Refusal of entry (alcohol and drugs)  

6) Age verification procedures and need to return stakes/withdraw winnings if under 

age persons found gambling 

7) Importance and enforcement of time/spend limits 

8) The conditions of the licence 

9) Maintaining an incident log 

10) Offences under the Gambling Act 

11) Categories of gaming machines and the stakes and odds associated with each 

machine 

12) Types of gaming and the stakes and odds associated with each 

13) Ability to signpost customers to support services with respect to problem 

gambling, financial management, debt advice etc. 

14) Safe cash-handling/payment of winnings 

15) Identify forged ID and bar those using forged ID from the premises 

16) Knowledge of a problem gambling helpline number (for their own use as well as 

that of customers) 

Page 158



APPENDIX 3 

 37 

17) The importance of not encouraging customers to: 

(a) Increase the amount of money they have decided to gamble  

(b) Enter into continuous gambling for a prolonged period 

(c) Continue gambling when they have expressed a wish to stop 

(d) Re-gamble winnings 

(e) Chase losses. 

4.45 Above and beyond this we expect managers to have an in-depth knowledge of all of the 

above and be able to support staff in ensuring the highest standards with regard to 

protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling. In so far as training, we do not intend to duplicate any existing training 

requirement, such as may be required by the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice. 

Expectation of applicants: Gaming machines / layouts 

4.46 It is an operator’s responsibility to ensure staff are able to effectively monitor gaming 

machine play for a number of reasons that are part of the operator’s licence conditions. 

Age verification, customer interaction and self-exclusion policies all require operators to 

take into account the structure and layout of their gambling premises.  

4.47 The Licence conditions and code of practice (LCCP) state: ‘Facilities for gambling must 

only be offered in a manner which provides for appropriate supervision of those facilities 

by staff at all times’.  

4.48 A screen or pod around a gaming machine, designed to increase the privacy of the 

player, could prevent staff in a gambling premises from effectively monitoring gaming 

machine play  

4.49 Operators will be expected to be able to evidence to the licensing authority how they 

have considered the risk to the licensing objectives and implemented effective controls, 

prior to the introduction of any new machine arrangements. 

4.50 It will be important to consider the means by which gaming machines are supervised 

(e.g. line of sight to counter, effective CCTV, mirrors or floor staff) and consider whether 

that is appropriate for that premises.     

4.51 Whether amendments to a premises amount to a ‘material change’ warranting an 

application to vary the premises licence under s.187 of the Gambling Act is a matter for 

local determination and the licensing authority will adopt a common-sense approach. 

Page 159



APPENDIX 3 

 38 

5. Premises-specific considerations 

Adult Gaming Centres 

5.1 Adult gaming centres (AGCs) are premises able to make category B, C and D gaming 

machines available to their customers. Persons operating an AGC must hold a gaming 

machines general operating licence from the Commission as well as a premises licence 

from the Council. 

5.2 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 

applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, 

ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.   

5.3 Where gambling facilities are provided at premises as a supplementary activity to the 

main purpose of the premises; e.g. motorway service areas and shopping malls. The 

council will expect the gambling area to be clearly defined to ensure that customers are 

fully aware that they are making a choice to enter into the gambling premises and that 

the premises is adequately supervised at all times. 

Casinos 

 

5.4 Trafford Council has no licensed casinos. 

5.5 The Gambling Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the 

opportunity to participate in one or more casino games whereby casino games are 

defined as a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming. This means that 

casino games offer the chance for multiple participants to take part in a game 

competing against the house or bank at different odds to their fellow players.  Casinos 

can also provide equal chance gaming and gaming machines. 

‘No Casinos’ resolution 

5.6 This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the 

Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.   Should this licensing 

authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update this policy 

statement with details of that resolution.  Any such decision will be made by the Full 

Council. 

Page 160



APPENDIX 3 

 39 

Bingo premises 

5.7 The Gambling Act 2005 does not contain a definition of Bingo. It is to have its ordinary 

and natural meaning and the Act does stipulate that “bingo” means any version of that 

game, irrespective of how it is described. Two types of bingo may be offered: 

 Cash bingo, where the stakes panel made up the cash prize that’s won; or 

 Prize bingo, where various forms of prizes is won, not directly relating to the 

stakes panel 

5.8 Subject to the rules of individual operators, children and young people are allowed into 

bingo premises. However, they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if 

category B or C machines are made available for use these must be separated from 

areas where children and young people are allowed. 

5.9 Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are 

admitted then the council will ensure that: 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 

remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 

access other than through a designated entrance. For this purpose a rope, floor 

markings or similar provision will not suffice and the council may insist on a 

permanent barrier of at least one metre high  

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times 

 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by staff 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to people under 18 

 children will not be admitted to bingo premises unless accompanied by an adult.  

5.10 The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing Authorities and 

Licence Conditions and Code of Practice which are applied to Operator’s Licences.  

The council will take this into consideration when determining licence applications for 

bingo premises.  

5.11 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default 

conditions, the Gambling Commission Code of Practice or the applicant, the council 

may consider licence conditions to address such issues. 

Page 161



APPENDIX 3 

 40 

Electronic bingo gaming machines 

5.12 Where a premises intends on providing electronic terminals to play bingo, we will expect 

operators (as part of their application) to provide a breakdown of the number of 

electronic bingo terminals that will be provided at the premises 

Gaming machines at bingo premises 

5.13 In addition to bingo, this premises licence will authorise the provision of a limited 

number of gaming machines in line with the provisions of the Act. Bingo premises 

licences authorise a maximum of 20% of the total number of gaming machines which 

are available for use on the premises categories B3 or B4. 

5.14 Bingo facilities in bingo premises may not be offered between the hours of midnight and 

9am. However, there are no restrictions on access to gaming machines in bingo 

premises.  

5.15 The LCCP requires (Social Responsibility Code Provision 9) that gaming machines are 

only made available in combination with the named non-remote activity of the operating 

licence. So, unless a bingo premises operator offers substantive facilities for non-

remote bingo it should not make gaming machines available for use on the premises in 

question. 

5.16 As the licensing authority, we will need to satisfy ourselves that a premises applying for 

or licensed for bingo is operating or will operate in a manner which a customer would 

reasonably be expected to recognise as a premises licensed for the purposes of 

providing facilities for bingo. Equally, we must ensure that a premises licensed for the 

purposes of providing facilities for bingo is operating as such and is not merely a vehicle 

to offer higher stake and prize gaming machines. 

5.17 Therefore, we will expect operators (as part of their application) to provide information 

on: 

 any times they intend to provide gaming machines at any times that bingo 

facilities are not provided 

 how the premises will be recognised as a premises licensed for providing 

facilities for bingo 

 A breakdown of gaming machine numbers (by category)  

5.18 The licensing authority is concerned that later opening hours will attract the more 

vulnerable, such as those who are intoxicated or who have gambling addictions. The 

Page 162



APPENDIX 3 

 41 

licensing authority will expect applicants can demonstrate that robust measures will be 

in place to protect the vulnerable and the additional hours are not being sought to take 

advantage of the gaming machine entitlement. 

5.19 The licensing authority will use their power to restrict the circumstances in which they 

are available for use when appropriate by way of conditions. When considering 

imposing conditions, the licensing authority will take into account, among other factors:  

 the size and physical layout of the premises  

 the number of counter positions and staff on the premises  

 the ability of staff to monitor the use of machines by children, young persons 

under the age of 18 or vulnerable people 

5.20 The licensing authority will not seek to limit the number of gambling machines by 

category as this entitled provision is defined in the Gambling Act. However, we will seek 

to ensure that the number and provision of gaming machines are only provided in a 

manner which a customer would reasonably be expected to recognise as a premises 

licensed for the purposes of providing facilities for bingo. 

5.21 To contain the unavoidable risk to the licensing objectives associated with gaming 

machines, premises which offer machines must be appropriately supervised. 

5.22 The licensing authority will information required from an applicant for a new premises or 

for a variation to an existing premises in order to satisfy themselves as to the matters 

set out at s153 of the Act. This includes the codes of practice and the Gambling 

Commission’s guidance to licensing authorities. 

'Entertainment’ Bingo  

5.23 A phenomenon over recent years has been the evolution of businesses, such as 

Bongo’s Bingo, providing facilities for high turnover bingo (the aggregate stakes or 

prizes for bingo in any seven day period may exceed £2,000); typically providing equal 

chance gaming at pubs and nightclubs, in reliance on the alcohol licence held by the 

premises, and therefore doing so under the rules for exempt gaming. 

5.24 We note that it is a condition of some such companies’ operator’s licence that they must 

notify both the Commission and the relevant LA at least 28 days before any event takes 

place in new premises, by providing a description of the event taking place, a copy of 

the premises contract and any amendment to the rules of the bingo. 

Page 163



APPENDIX 3 

 42 

5.25 We would encourage venues hosting such events to promote responsible gambling 

messaging at them. 

Betting Premises        

5.26 We encourage operators to participate in the Safebet Alliance in order to help ensure 

the highest standards for the safety and security of staff working at betting premises. 

Where an operator does not participate in the scheme, it is expected that they can 

satisfactorily demonstrate the security measures they incorporate are adequate.  

5.27 Licensed betting premises are only permitted to offer gambling facilities between 7am 

and 10pm, unless the licensing authority has granted a variation application to extend 

these hours. The licensing authority is concerned that later opening hours will attract the 

more vulnerable, such as those who are intoxicated or who have gambling addictions. 

The licensing authority also has concerns that licensed betting premises operators may 

seek to extend the permitted hours for the primary purpose of making gaming machines 

available to customers for longer.  

5.28 As a consequence, the licensing authority is unlikely to grant variation of hours’ 

applications unless applicants can demonstrate that robust measures will be in place to 

protect the vulnerable and the additional hours are not being sought to take advantage 

of the gaming machine entitlement.  

5.29 The licensing authority will use their power to restrict the number of betting machines 

(bet receipt terminals), their nature and the circumstances in which they are available 

for use when appropriate by way of conditions. When considering imposing conditions, 

the licensing authority will take into account, among other factors:  

  the size and physical layout of the premises  

  the number of counter positions and staff on the premises  

  the ability of staff to monitor the use of machines by children, young persons 

under the age of 18 or vulnerable people  

5.30 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission's 

Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 

available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of 

the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) 

or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 

Page 164



APPENDIX 3 

 43 

machines an operator wants to offer. It is noted that that children are not able to go into 

premises with the benefit of a Betting Premises Licence.    

(Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 

5.31 The Act creates two classes of family entertainment centre (FEC). Licensed FEC’s 

provide category C and D machines and require a premises licence. Unlicensed FEC’s 

provide category D machines only are regulated through FEC gaming machine permits. 

5.32 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 

applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be sufficient measures to 

ensure that under 18-year-olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine 

areas. Operators should ensure that a proof of age scheme is in force. 

5.33 This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to the 

Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences covering 

the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be delineated.  

This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default 

conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published. 

Occasional use notices       

5.34 Occasional Use Notices (OUN) are designed to allow licensed betting operators to 

provide betting facilities at genuine sporting events, such as point-to point racecourses 

and golf courses for major competitions, within the boundaries of the identified venue on 

a specific date. 

5.35 An OUN must be submitted for EACH day that the betting activity will be conducted on 

the premises. For example, four notices for four consecutive days of betting and not one 

notice covering the four days. 

5.36 We will liaise with the Gambling Commission should we receive an OUN that does not 

relate to a genuine recognised sporting event to ensure that OUN’s are not misused, for 

example, venues seeking to become tracks through a contrived sporting event, utilising 

OUNs to solely or primarily facilitate betting taking place on events occurring away from 

the identified venue.

Page 165



APPENDIX 3 

 44 

6. Permits and other permissions 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 

6.1 Premises licensed to sell alcohol that have a bar and the alcohol is not ancillary to food 

for consumption on the premises, having more than two gaming machines, will need to 

apply for a permit and must also notify the Licensing Authority if they have one or two 

machines. In considering whether to grant a permit, the licensing authority will have 

regard to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by the Gambling Commission and 

any other relevant matters. Permits will not be granted to licensees who have failed to 

demonstrate compliance with the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice.    

6.2 In addition to the requirements of the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice, the 

Licensing Authority expects applicants to:   

 display adequate notices and signs, advertising the relevant age restrictions   

 position machines within view of the bar in order for staff to be able to monitor the 

machines for use by under age or misuse of the machines  

 challenge anyone suspected of being under age and refuse access  

 provide information leaflets and / or help-line numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare and Betknowmore UK. 

Prize Gaming Machine Permits  

6.3 Prize gaming premises will appeal to children and young persons and weight will be 

given to child protection issues. Therefore, the licensing authority will expect the 

applicant to demonstrate that they are suitable to hold a permit (i.e. if the applicant has 

any convictions which would make them unsuitable to operate prize gaming) and the 

suitability of the premises. 

6.4 The licensing authority expects applicants to set out the types of gaming machines that 

they intend to offer and be able to demonstrate that:  

 they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in regulations  

 that the gaming offered is within the law 

6.5 The Gambling Commission website gives advice on types of permits, conditions, stakes 

and prizes. See https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Page 166

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3 

 45 

Unlicensed FECs (uFEC) 

6.6 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (FEC’s) will perhaps be most commonly 

located at places such as airports and at motorway service centres, and will cater for 

families, including unaccompanied children and young persons. Unlicensed FEC’s will 

be able to offer only category D machines in reliance on a gaming machine permit.  

6.7 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 

machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It should be noted that 

the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making 

gaming machines available for use (Section 238). As a result, it is generally not 

permissible for such premises to correspond to an entire shopping centre, airport, 

motorway service station or similar. Typically, the machines would be in a designated, 

enclosed area. 

6.8 Given that the premises is likely to appeal particularly to children and young persons, 

when considering applications for permits we will give weight to matters relating to 

protection of children from being harmed or exploited by gambling and are keen to 

ensure that staff supervision adequately reflects the level of risk to this group. 

Therefore, we will generally expect such risks to be addressed through effective: 

 Staff supervision and training  

 Detailed plan  

 Social responsibility policies  

 Staff being easily identifiable  

 Clear signage 

6.9 As part of an application for a uFEC, it is our policy that a plan for the uFEC must be 

submitted. 

Small Society Lotteries 

6.10 A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is £20,000 or 

less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a calendar year is £250,000 or 

less. 

6.11 To be ‘non-commercial’ a society must be established and conducted: 

 for charitable purposes, 

 for the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a 

cultural activity; or 

Page 167



APPENDIX 3 

 46 

 for any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 

6.12 This licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its enforcement 

responsibilities for small society lotteries. This authority considers that the following list, 

although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator: 

 Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three months 

after the date on which the lottery draw was held) 

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns  

 Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries  

 The eligibility of society as ‘non-commercial’ 

Page 168



APPENDIX 3 

 47 

7. Appendix 1 –Responsible Authorities 

 

Licensing Authority 

Licensing  
Regulatory Services 
Trafford Council  
Trafford Town Hall 
Talbot Road 
Stretford 
M32 0TH 
Email: Licensing@trafford.gov.uk 

Environmental Health 

 
Environmental Health 
Regulatory Services 
Trafford Council 
Trafford Town Hall 
Talbot Road 
Stretford 
M32 0TH 
Tel: 0161 912 4916 
Email: environmental.heath@trafford.gov.uk 

Greater Manchester Police 

The Chief Superintendent 
Stretford Police Station 
Talbot Road 
Stretford 
M32 0XB 
Tel: 0161 856 7745 
Email: Karen.Packer@gmp.police.uk 
Email: Nicolas.Young@gmp.police.uk 

Safeguarding Board 

Children and Young People’s Service 
Trafford Town Hall 
Talbot Road 
Stretford 
M32 0TH 

Tel: 0161 912 4009 
Email: SafeguardingChildrenTeam@trafford.gov.uk 

 

Page 169

mailto:Licensing@trafford.gov.uk
mailto:environmental.heath@trafford.gov.uk
mailto:Karen.Packer@gmp.police.uk
mailto:Nicolas.Young@gmp.police.uk
mailto:SafeguardingChildrenTeam@trafford.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3 

 48 

HM Revenue & Customs 

Excise Processing Teams 
BX9 1GL 

Planning 

Trafford Council 
Planning & Development 
Trafford Town Hall 
Talbot Road 
Stretford 
M32 0TH 

Tel: 0161 912 3149 
Email: development.management@trafford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170

mailto:development.management@trafford.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3 

 49 

8. Appendix 2 – Template for data collection 

The data collection template is available as an Excel file upon request from the Licensing Unit. 

The screenshots below demonstrate the information to be collected. 

 

 

 

 

  

Gambling Licence 
Data Collection Template.xls

 

Page 171



APPENDIX 3 

 50 

9. Appendix 3 - Glossary 

 
Term  Description  

ATM  Auto teller machine or cash machine.  

Betting  Betting is defined as making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition or other event 
or process or on the outcome of anything occurring or not occurring or on whether anything is or is 
not true. It is irrelevant if the event has already happened or not and likewise whether one person 
knows the outcome or not. (Spread betting is not included within this definition).  

Betting Machines / Bet 
Receipt Terminal  

Betting machines can be described as automated betting terminals where people can pla ce bets on 
sporting events removing the need to queue up and place a bet over the counter.  

Bingo  There are essentially two types of bingo: cash bingo, where the stakes paid make up the cash prizes 
that can be won and prize bingo, where various forms of prizes can be won, not directly related to the 
stakes paid.  

Book  Running a 'book' is the act of quoting odds and accepting bets on an event. Hence the term 
'Bookmaker'.  

Casino games  A game of chance, which is not equal chance gaming. Casino games includes Roulette and black 
jack etc.  

Chip  Casinos in the UK require you to use chips to denote money. They are usually purchased and 
exchanged at a cashier's booth.  

Coin pusher or penny 
falls machine  

A machine of the kind which is neither a money prize machine nor a non-money prize machine  

Crane grab machine  A non-money prize machine in respect of which every prize which can be won consists of an individual 
physical object (such as a stuffed toy) won by a person’s success in manipulating a device forming 
part of the machine so as to separate, and keep separate, one or more physical objects from a group 
of such objects.  

Default condition  These are prescribed in regulations and will be attached to all classes of premises licence, unless 
excluded by the Authority.  

Equal Chance Gaming  Gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank.  

Fixed odds betting  If a gambler is able to establish what the return on a bet will be when it is placed, (and the activity is 
not 'gaming' see below), then it is likely to be betting at fixed odds.  

Fixed Odds betting 
terminals (FOBTs)  

FOBTs are a type of gaming machine which generally appear in licensed bookmakers. FOBTs have 
‘touch-screen’ displays and look similar to quiz machines familiar in pubs and clubs. They normally 
offer a number of games, roulette being the most popular.  

Gaming  Gaming can be defined as 'the playing of a game of chance for winnings in money or monies worth, 
whether any person playing the game is at risk of losing any money or monies worth or not'.  

Gaming Machine  Any type of machine allowing any sort of gambling activity including betting on virtual events but not 
including home computers even though users can access online gaming websites.  

Licensing Objectives  The licensing objectives are three principal goals which form the basis of the Act. Stakeholders who 
have an interest in the Act need to try and promote these objectives. The licensing objectives are:  
• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or 
disorder or being used to support crime.  
• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  
• Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by gambling.  

Lottery  A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are distributed by chance among entrants 
who have given some form of value for their chance to take part. A lottery is defined as either a simple 
lottery or a complex lottery. A simple lottery is one where people are required to pay to participate and 
one or more prizes are allocated to one or more members of a class and the prizes are allocated by 
a process which relies wholly on chance. A complex lottery is where people are required to pay to 
participate and one or more members of a class and the prizes are allocated by a series of processes 
where the first of those processes relies wholly on chance. Prize means money, articles or services 
provided by the members of the class among whom the prize is allocated. (It should be noted that the 
National Lottery is not included in this definition of lottery and is regulated by the National Lottery 
Commission).  

Money prize machine  A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of us ing the machine is a 
money prize.  

Page 172



APPENDIX 3 

 51 

Term  Description  

Non-money prize 
machine  

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result of using the machine is a 
non-money prize. The winner of the prize is determined by:  
(i) the position in which the coin or token comes to rest after it has been inserted into the machine, 
together with the position of other coins or tokens which have previously been inserted into the 
machine to pay a charge for use, or  
(ii) if the insertion of a single coin to pay the charge for use enables the person using the machine to 
release one or more tokens within the machine, the position in which such tokens come to rest after 
being released, together with the position of other tokens which have previously been so released.  

Odds  The ratio to which a bet will be paid if the bet wins, e.g. 3-1 means for every £1 bet, a person would 
receive £3 of winnings.  

Off-course betting 
operator  

Off-course betting operators may, in addition to premises away from the track, operate self-contained 
betting premises within a track premises. Such self-contained premises will provide facilities for 
betting on both events taking place at the track (on-course betting), as well as other sporting events 
taking place away from the track (off-course betting). In essence such premises operate like a 
traditional high street bookmakers. They will however only normally operate on race days.  

On-course betting 
operator  

The on-course betting operator is one who comes onto on a track, temporarily, while races are taking 
place, and operates at the track side. On-course betting operators tend to offer betting only on the 
events taking place on the track that day (on-course betting).  

Pool Betting  For the purposes of the Gambling Act, pool betting is made on terms that all or part of the winnings:  
1) Shall be determined by reference to the aggregate of the stakes paid or agreed to be paid by the 
people betting  
2) Shall be divided among the winners or  
3) Shall or may be something other than money. For the purposes of the Gambling Act, pool betting 
is horse-race pool betting if it relates to horse-racing in Britain.  

Regulations or 
Statutory instruments  

Regulations are a form of law, often referred to as delegated or secondary legislation. They have the 
same binding legal effect as Acts and usually state rules that apply generally, rather than to specific 
people or things. However, regulations are not made by Parliament. Rather, they are made by people 
or bodies to whom Parliament has delegated the authority to make them, such as a minister or an 
administrative agency.  

Representations  In the context of the Gambling Act representations are either positive statements of support or 
negative objections which are made in relation to a licensing application. Representations must be 
made in time, e.g. during a designated notice period.  

Responsible authority 
(authorities)  

Responsible authorities (RAs) are agencies which have been appointed by the Gambling Act or 
regulations to fulfil a designated role during the licensing process. RAs must be sent copies  
of all licensing applications and have the power to make representations about such  
applications.  RAs also have the power to ask for licences to be reviewed. 

Skill machine / Skill 
with prizes machine  

The Act does not cover machines that give prizes as a result of the application of pure skill by players. 
A skill with prizes machine is one on which the winning of a prize is determined only by the player’s 
skill – any element of chance imparted by the action of the machine would cause it to be a gaming 
machine. An example of a skill game would be trivia game machines, popular in pubs and clubs, 
which require the player to answer general knowledge questions to win cash prizes.  
 

Spread betting  A form of investing which is more akin to betting, and can be applied either to sporting events or to 
the financial markets. Spread betting is regulated by the Financial Services Authority.  

Stake  The amount pledged when taking part in gambling activity as either a bet, or deposit to the bank or 
house where the house could be a gaming machine.  

Statement of principles 
document  

A document prepared by the Authority which outlines the areas that applicants need to consider 
before applying for gaming permits.  

Table gaming  Card games played in casinos.  

Tote  "Tote" is short for Totaliser, a system introduced to Britain in 1929 to offer pool betting on racecourses.  

Track  Tracks are sites (including horse tracks and dog tracks  and stadia) where races or other sporting 
events take place 

 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4 

1 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 

  A. Summary Details 
 

1 Title of EIA: 
 

Statement of Gambling Principles 2022-2025 

  2 Person responsible for the assessment:  
 

Joanne Boyle 

  3 Contact details: 
 

licensing@trafford.gov.uk 

  4 Section & Directorate: 
 

Licensing, Place 

  5 Name and roles of other officers  
involved in the EIA, if applicable: 

N/A 

 
        B. Policy or Function 
 
  1 Is this EIA for a policy or function?  

 
Policy                         Function      

  2 Is this EIA for a new or existing policy or 
function? 

New                Existing     
Change to an existing policy  

   
  3 What is the main purpose of the 

policy/function? 

This is an equalities impact assessment of the Council’s revised policy 
for the licensing of gambling premises and permits. Under Gambling 
Act 2005 local authorities are responsible for issuing premises 
licences, permits and notices in respect of gambling premises. The 
Council are required to adopt a gambling policy every three years, the 
first of which came into effect on 31 January 2007. We now need to 

P
age 175



APPENDIX 4 

2 

 

prepare and publish a new policy by 31 January 2022.  
 
Function of the Policy: 
 
The gambling policy may be referred to by officers and members of 
committees when determining licensing applications and is available 
for all parties when applying for licences and submitting 
representations. As mentioned above this policy is relevant to various 
permissions and authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005 relating 
to gambling premises and permits, there are separate policies for other 
areas of licensing e.g. alcohol and entertainment, street trading, taxis 
and sexual entertainment venues. 
 
The policy has served the council well and has not been subject to any 
challenge since implementation. The licensing of gambling related 
activities is a well-regulated low risk licensing function.  
 
Licensing leads across Greater Manchester have agreed to take a 

common approach to refreshing gambling licensing policies. The 

revised policy has been amended to reflect this approach. 

The legislation sets out a consultation process and framework which 
the council has a statutory responsibility to follow. The Licensing 
Authority’s role is limited as we licence premises and related activities 
e.g. Amusements with prizes (AWP) machines in licensed premises.  
 
The bulk of policy and operations are held with the Gambling 

P
age 176



APPENDIX 4 

3 

 

Commission, which licences and regulates the operators through 
issuing operating licences. Our experience of processing gambling act 
applications is that they are non-contentious. Since the legislation 
came into force only a small number of applications have been referred 
to the Licensing Committee for determination. These applications were 
for betting premises licences and representations were received from 
interested parties. The applications were granted by the Licensing 
Committee 
 

  4 Is the policy/function associated with any 
other policies of the Authority? 
 

The Council has seven corporate priorities.  
  
The Licensing Policy can be linked to the priorities of: Children and 
Young People; Health and Wellbeing; and Successful and Thriving 
Places  
  
♦ Children and Young People - Licenses premises must be safe for all 
users and staff - public safety, the protection of children from harm and 
the prevention of crime and disorder are key objectives ♦ Health and 
Wellbeing - Licensed premises and their clientele should not cause 
undue noise and nuisance to neighbours - prevention of public 
nuisance is a key objective ♦ Successful and Thriving Places - The 
licensing regime has led to an increase in licensed premises which will 
help to boost the local economy which will bring new jobs and more 
prosperity to the Borough ♦  
  
The revised policy is intended to address issues in relation to living 
well, and is intended to help strike the right balance between the 

P
age 177



APPENDIX 4 

4 

 

development of town centres and its potential adverse impact on local 
residents. 

  5 Do any written procedures exist to enable 
delivery of this policy/function? 

Yes, these are contained in a separate procedure manual. 

 6 Are there elements of common practice 
not clearly defined within the written 
procedures? If yes, please state. 

No 

 7 Who are the main stakeholders of the 
policy?  How are they expected to 
benefit?  

Licence holders ● Potential licence holders ● Residents or their 
representatives ● Local businesses or their representatives ● 
Government bodies and other external agencies, such as Police, Fire 
& Rescue Service ● Council departments, such as Planning Control 
and the Safeguarding Children Board, Pollution Control Team and 
Food Safety Team. ● Councillors as the decision makers and 
representatives of residents. 
 
The benefits of the Policy are that it provides: a fair and consistent 
approach to licensing enforcement administration for any service user; 
easy to understand information regarding licence application and 
decision making processes to anybody who wants it; and enables any 
service user to understand and comply with current legislation. 
 

 8 How will the policy/function (or change/ 
improvement), be implemented? 

The Gambling Policy will be agreed formally by the Full Council in 
November 2021 and will become effective on the 31st January 2022. 
 
The Policy then has to be reviewed and renewed at least every 3 
years.  
 

P
age 178



APPENDIX 4 

5 

 

Once implemented guidance and information will be available for 
businesses.  
  
Guidance and advice will also be available to individuals who wish to 
make representations (objections) to an application.  
 
Unlicensed activity and compliance will be monitored by enforcement. 

 9 What factors could contribute or detract 
from achieving these outcomes for service 
users? 

No barriers identified 

10 Is the responsibility for the proposed 
policy or function shared with another 
department or authority or organisation? If 
so, please state? 

No 

 

       C. Data Collection on People Impacted by Policy or Function 
 
1 Do you have monitoring data on the 

number of people (from different equality 
groups) who are using or are potentially 
impacted upon by your policy/ function?  

General  
 
The Council’s Gambling Policy covers the whole of Trafford. Any 
resident of Trafford who engages in gambling with licensed operators 
has the potential to be affected.  
 
Licence or permit holders  
 
There is no data available specifically in respect of the demography of 
licence or permit holders in Trafford. This is primarily because 

P
age 179



APPENDIX 4 

6 

 

application forms are prescribed by the Home Office and currently do 
not request equalities information. Furthermore licence holders are often 
businesses. Therefore, when considering the impact on licence holders 
and the public we need to rely on data covering the whole of the area 
whilst bearing in mind that spatially the demography of Trafford varies.  
 
The Gambling Commission gathers national data on gambling 
participation the last of which was published in April 2020, detailed 
below;  
-46% of people have gambled in the last four weeks  
-50% of men have gambled in the last four weeks  
-43% of women have gambled in the last four weeks  
-21% of people have gambled online in the last four weeks  
 
Age  
 
Children were explicitly identified as being vulnerable to harm in the 
Gambling Act 2005. National data indicates younger people are the age 
group most likely to gamble.  
 
Health and lifestyle 
 
Related Data GamCare is the leading national provider of information, 
advice, support and free counselling for the prevention and treatment of 
problem gambling. GamCare highlights the impact of gambling on 
mental health. ‘ According to the Royal College of Psychiatrists problem 
gamblers are more likely than others to suffer from low self-esteem, 

P
age 180



APPENDIX 4 

7 

 

develop stress-related disorders, to become anxious, to have poor sleep 
and appetite, to develop a substance misuse problem and to suffer from 
depression’.  
 
Sex and gender  
 
The Gambling Commission data indicates that both men and women 
gamble – men are about 5% more likely to gamble than women. 
GamCare data of 30,000 callers each year indicates that both men and 
women can develop problem gambling habits and men and women 
gamble in different ways. Men are more likely to use betting shops and 
women are more likely to use fruit machines and Bingo 
 
Ethnicity  
We do not have data on the ethnicity of people who gamble. The 2007 
and 2010 British Gambling Prevalence Surveys have shown a 
consistent relationship between ethnicity and the people who gamble. In 
both studies, problem gambling prevalence rates were higher among 
those from non-White ethnic backgrounds. More recently, Gamcare 
have included information on the ethnicity of their 30,000 callers a year 
who report concerns about their own gambling, or the gambling of a 
family member or partner. This data indicates problem gambling affects 
people of all ethnicities therefore we can assume that Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic people gamble in similar proportions to their 
representation within the community.  
 
Religion and belief Religions have differing views on gambling, and 

P
age 181



APPENDIX 4 

8 

 

problem gamblers from some faith groups may be reluctant to seek help 
within their own community because it is forbidden . There is no data on 
what proportion of people with a faith and those with no faith participate 
in gambling. 
 

 2 Please specify monitoring information 
you have available and attach relevant 
information*. 

The information required from applicants is set down in Regulations and 
does not include any form of profile monitoring. In essence the same is 
true of any residents who object to any application.    
 

 3 If monitoring has NOT been undertaken, 
will it be done in the future or do you 
have access to relevant monitoring data?  

There is no information currently available that adequately profiles users 
or beneficiaries.  
 
An action point from this assessment will be to consider what 
meaningful profiling can be done of service users that will inform future 
initiatives and policy to ensure there is no unequal impact on the 
relevant target groups. 
 
The EQIA will be reviewed in the event of any equalities issues being 
raised by respondents to the consultation and will be updated after the 
consultation is concluded 

 
*Your monitoring information should be compared to the current available census data to see whether a proportionate 
number of people are taking up your service 

 

       D. Consultation & Involvement 
 
1 Are you using information from any There is very little data regarding existing licensees available to inform 

P
age 182



APPENDIX 4 

9 

 

previous consultations and/or 
local/national consultations, research or 
practical guidance that will assist you in 
completing this EIA? 
 

this process.  
 
All local authorities have to use prescribed processes and forms 
produced by Central Government. The forms used do not include 
equalities issues.  
  
The Government have not permitted application forms to contain 
anything except that which is specified in the regulations. This has had 
implications not just for previous equalities impact assessments for 
licensing consultation but also monitoring all Council interventions under 
the act. 
 
The Council will not be in a position where it can proactively affect the 
profile of licence holders. The policy we adopt though will ensure that 
the process of obtaining a licence will be fair and free of discrimination.   
  

 2 Please list any consultations planned, 
methods used and groups you plan to 
target. (If applicable) 
 

A public consultation took place between the 9th July 2021 and the 3rd 
September 2021. This the policy will be considered by the Full Council 
on 24th November 2021. 

 3 **What barriers, if any, exist to effective 
consultation with these groups and how 
will you overcome them? 
 

No barriers identified 

  
**It is important to consider all available information that could help determine whether the policy/ function could have 
any potential adverse impact. Please attach examples of available research and consultation reports  

P
age 183



APPENDIX 4 

10 

 

 

E: The Impact – Identify the potential impact of the policy/function on different equality target groups 
The potential impact could be negative, positive or neutral. If you have assessed negative potential impact for any 
of the target groups you will also need to assess whether that negative potential impact is high, medium or low  
 

 Positive Negative (please 
specify if High, 
Medium or Low) 

Neutral Reason 

General    No negative impact anticipated. 
The Act is a permissive regime 
and applications must be 
granted unless there are good 
reasons not to do so and each 
licence application, where 
representations are made, will 
be considered against the three 
key Gambling Act objectives, 
namely: 1. Preventing gambling 
from being a source of crime or 
disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used 
to support crime, 2. Ensuring 
that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way, and 3. 
Protecting children and other 
vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by 

P
age 184



APPENDIX 4 

11 

 

gambling. 

Sex  
 

   There is some evidence to 
support a higher risk of problem 
gambling in men rather than 
women. In 2015-16 over 70% of 
calls to Gamcare support-line 
were from men, and the majority 
of calls from women were as an 
‘affected other’. 
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/
default/files/file_attach/GamCare
%20Annu 
al%20Statistics%202015-16.pd 

Pregnant women & women on 
maternity leave 

   No expected impact 

Gender Reassignment  
 

  No expected impact 

Marriage & Civil Partnership  
 

  No expected impact 

Race- include race, nationality & 
ethnicity (NB: the experiences may be 
different for different groups)  

   The policy will ensure that all 
services are aware of the need 
to abide by the Equality Act 
(2010) 

Disability – physical, sensory & 
mental impairments 
 

   No positive or negative impact 
anticipated but each licence 
application, where 
representations are made, will 

P
age 185

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/GamCare%20Annu%20al%20Statistics%202015-16.pd
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/GamCare%20Annu%20al%20Statistics%202015-16.pd
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/GamCare%20Annu%20al%20Statistics%202015-16.pd
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/GamCare%20Annu%20al%20Statistics%202015-16.pd


APPENDIX 4 

12 

 

be considered against the three 
key Gambling Act objectives, 
namely: 1. preventing gambling 
from being a source of crime or 
disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used 
to support crime, 2. ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair 
and open way, and 3. protecting 
children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. In the 
policy applicants are requested 
to have regard to the type of 
people that are likely to visit their 
premises in their application 
when identifying the steps they 
will take to promote the licensing 
objectives. Applicants will be 
expected to propose steps to 
ensure that the physical layout of 
the premises does not present 
any risks to ‘vulnerable’ people, 
some of whom may be disabled 

Age Group - specify e.g. older, 
younger etc.  

   This policy will have a positive 
impact on age. Actions and 
objectives are stated in the 

P
age 186



APPENDIX 4 

13 

 

policy that will help protect 
vulnerable and young people. 
The policy at outlines what the 
licensing authority’s duty is in 
and what the Council expects 
from licence holders in respect 
of protecting young people from 
harm. The policy makes 
provision for Children and Young 
Peoples services to act as the 
responsible authority for matters 
relating to the protection of 
children from harm and enables 
them to comment on 
variations/new applications and 
request reviews of licences 

Sexual Orientation – Heterosexual, 
Lesbian, Gay Men, Bisexual people 

   No expected impact 

Religious/Faith groups (specify) 
 

   Most religions do not condone 
gambling for money; 
consequently some sectors 
could view the gambling policy 
as an endorsement of this kind 
of activity. There is however no 
expected significant negative 
impact 

P
age 187



APPENDIX 4 

14 

 

As a result of completing the above what is the potential negative impact of your policy? 
High     Medium     Low     Neutral  
 

   F. Could you minimise or remove any negative potential impact?  If yes, explain how. 
 
Race: 
 

N/A 

Sex & Gender, including pregnancy & maternity,  
gender reassignment, marriage & civil partnership 

N/A 

Disability: 
 

N/A 

Age: 
 

N/A 

Sexual Orientation: 
 

N/A 

Religious/Faith groups: 
 

N/A 

Also consider the following:  
1 If there is an adverse impact, can it be justified on 

the grounds of promoting equality of opportunity 
for a particular equality group or for another 
legitimate reason?  

N/A 
 
 

2 Could the policy have an adverse impact on 
relations between different groups? 

No 

3 If there is no evidence that the policy promotes 
equal opportunity, could it be adapted so that it 
does? If yes, how? 

The aims of the policy are:  
 
1. Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-

P
age 188



APPENDIX 4 

15 

 

social behaviour and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible 
licensed premises;  
2. Giving the police, licensing officers and responsible 
authorities the powers they need to effectively manage and 
police the night-time economy and take action against those 
premises that are causing problems;  
3. Recognising the important role which licensed premises play 
in our local communities and economy by minimizing the 
regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and 
supporting responsible premises;  
4. Providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects 
the needs of local communities and empowers local authorities 
to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate 
licensing strategies for their local area; and  
5. Encouraging greater community involvement in licensing 
decisions and giving local residents the opportunity to have 
their say regarding licensing decisions that may impact upon 
them.  
 
The policy itself is therefore intended to have an overall positive 
impact on the area and its residents, supporting the safe 
operation of licensed premises in the Trafford. 

G. EIA Action Plan 

 

Recommendation Key activity When Officer  
Responsible 

Progress  
milestones 

P
age 189



APPENDIX 4 

16 

 

 
 

    
 
 

 
The policy has a statutory 
review process. The policy 
has to be updated at least 
every 3 years. 
 

 
Keep the policy under 
review  

 
On-going 

 
Joanne Boyle 

 
 
 

     

     

 
 
Please ensure that all actions identified are included in the attached action plan and in your service plan. 
 

Signed Joanne Boyle     Signed  A G Fisher     

Lead Officer        Director      
Date  28/09/2021      Date 28/09/2021 
 

 
 
 

P
age 190



TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 

 

Report to:   Council 

Date:    24th November 2021 

Report for:    Decision 

Report of:  Executive Member for Environmental and Regulatory 

Services 

Report Title 

 

Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire 

Stage 2 - Vehicles 

 

 

Summary 

 

To set out the proposed Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards (MLS) 

for Taxi and Private Hire.   This report represents Stage Two of the Standards which 

relate to Vehicles.   Stage One relates to Drivers, Operators and Local Authorities 

and these proposals were reported to Executive in September.  This report sets out 

the responses to the recent public and trade consultation for Stage Two, and 

outlines the proposed standards, policies and procedures which will be considered 

by Council on 24th November 2021.    

 

Recommendations 

 

It is recommended that the Council note the recommendations of the Executive on 

the 22nd November and: 
 
1. Note the feedback from the recent public and trade consultation on the proposed 

Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire. 
 

2. Approve that: 
 wheel chair access for licensed hackney carriage vehicles is applied 

as per Standard 1 in Table A of this report.  

 age limits for vehicles are applied as per Standard 2 in Table A of this 
report. 

Page 191

Agenda Item 8



 emission standards for vehicles are applied as per Standard 3 in 
Table A of this report 

 the standards for vehicle colour are applied as per Standard 4 in Table 
A of this report.  

 the standards for vehicle colour are applied as per Standard 4 in Table 
A of this report 

 the standard for livery for vehicles is applied as per Standard 5 in 

Table A of this report. 
 the standards for vehicle testing are applied as per Standard 6 in 

Table A of this report 
 the provision of CCTV in vehicles is applied as per Standard 7 in 

Table A of this report. 

 the standards for Executive hire are applied as per Standard 8 in 
Table A of this report.  

 the standards for Executive hire are applied as per Standard 8 in 
Table A of this report. 

 vehicle design standards are applied as per Standard 9 in Table A of 

this report.  
 vehicle conditions are applied as per Appendix 2 of this report and 

Standard 10 in Table A of this report.  
 the implementation dates for standards and conditions contained 

within this report within Table A are applied   
 
 
3. Note the Equalities Impact Assessment, as set out at Appendix 3. 

 

 

   

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 

 

Name:             Adrian Fisher  

                       Director of Growth & Regulatory Services  

Email:    Adrian.fisher@trafford.gov.uk  

 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

 

 

Page 192



Relationship to Policy 

Framework/Corporate Priorities 

The Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing 

Standards for Taxi and Private Hire align closely 

with our priorities on Health & Well-being and 

Green & Connected Places. 

Relationship to GM Policy or 

Strategy Framework  

The Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing 

Standards for Taxi and Private Hire is a GM wide 

initiative, led by the Greater Manchester Licensing 

Managers Network on behalf of the ten districts. 

Financial  Revenue and Capital: The Licensing Regime is a 

self-funded service.  Any additional resource 

implications will be addressed through the annual 

fee review. 

Legal Implications: The policy changes recommended, if agreed by the 

Council, will be implemented and form the basis on 

which decisions are made on applications received 

by the Council. 

Equality/Diversity Implications Equality Impact Assessment is provided at 

Appendix 3. 

 

Sustainability Implications The MLS supports the GM Clean Air Plan which is 

consistent with and will support delivery of the 

Council’s Carbon Neutral Action Plan 2020 and the 

aims and objectives relating to the Council’s 

Climate Emergency declaration. 

Carbon Reduction The MLS supports the GM Clean Air Plan which is 

a place-based solution to tackle roadside NO2 

which will have a positive impact on carbon. 

Resource Implications e.g., Staffing 

/ ICT / Assets 

There are no implications for ICT and Assets as a 

consequence of this report.  The staff time 

implications have been identified and processes 

will be amended. 

Risk Management Implications   Risk to delivery of the interventions detailed within 

the new policies and procedures will be monitored 

and updated as required. 

 

Health & Wellbeing Implications The basic rationale of the MLS is that it will  improve 

standards of safety for the travelling public and the 

improvements to the vehicle fleet will support the 

objectives of the Clean Air Plan in that it will  

Page 193



improve health and wellbeing across the borough 

through improving air quality 

Health and Safety Implications As set out above the new standards have public 

safety as a core objective. 

 

1. Background 

 

1.1 There are over 1440 licensed drivers, over 840 private vehicle licenses, 117 
hackney carriage licenses and 25 operators in Trafford.   An efficient and safe 

taxi service has a significant contribution to the well-being and economy of 
Trafford.  Minimum Licensing Standards for Greater Manchester raises the 

profile of the service across the region and aims to encourage the trust and 
appreciation of GM registered taxis.       

 

1.2 This report outlines the final recommendations for the Standards for Vehicles 

at Stage 2 of the project.  These same standards will be considered by all ten 
of the Greater Manchester Authorities. The standards have been subject to 
extensive public and trade consultation in 2020. 

 

1.3 The recommendations were finalised following GM Licensing Managers 
considering all the consultation feedback both at a GM and district level and 
further to additional discussions held during consultation summary briefings 

presented at district level to Members and trade representatives at the end of 
June 2021. Additional detailed discussions also took place with Members of 

District Licensing Committees to help officers finalise a set of recommended 
Standards at Stage 2. 

 

2 Introduction 

2.1 Around 2,000 hackney vehicles, approximately 11,500 private hire vehicles and 

upwards of 18,600 drivers are currently licensed across the ten Greater 

Manchester Authorities. Whilst there are many similarities in terms of policy 

standards and licence conditions, there are also significant differences, 

particularly when it comes to policies relating to the licensing of vehicles, the 

calculation of licensing fees and the approach to proactive compliance. 

2.2 In 2018, Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities agreed to collectively 

develop, approve and implement a common set of minimum licensing 

standards (MLS) for taxi and private hire services.  

2.3 At that time, the primary driver for this work was to ensure public safety and 

protection, but vehicle age and emission standards in the context of the Clean 

Air and the decarbonisation agendas are now also major considerations. In 

addition, by establishing standards around common vehicle specifications, MLS 

is an important mechanism that permits the systematic improvements to taxi 

and private hire service across Greater Manchester and their visibility. 

Page 194



2.4 This approach stands to benefit drivers and the trade more widely as public 

confidence in a well-regulated and locally licensed taxi and private hire sector 

grows and will contribute directly to better air quality and lower carbon 

emissions. By establishing and implementing Greater Manchester-wide 

minimum licensing standards, we can help to ensure that all residents and 

visitors see these services as safe and reliable, and preferable to those not 

licensed by Greater Manchester local authorities. 

2.5 This collaborative approach seeks to establish a basic and common minimum 

in key areas, whilst allowing Districts to exceed these minimums where they 

consider this to be appropriate. As licensing is a local authority regulatory 

function, the Standards have been devised by the GM Licensing Managers 

Network who work in partnership across Greater Manchester to drive 

innovation, partnership and change agendas. MLS is also related to other key 

Greater Manchester priorities, most notably the GM Clean Air Plan and 

decarbonisation strategies, hence TfGM has been supporting the development 

of MLS ensuring it complements wider objectives.  

2.6 Ultimately the collaborative approach that the MLS represents will help achieve 

the vision of Taxis and Private Hire as a crucial part of the overall transport 

offer; a strong, professional and healthy taxi sector that can deliver safe and 

high-quality services to residents and visitors across the whole of Greater 

Manchester. The proposed MLS, together with funding from the GM Clean Air 

Plan, will help deliver improved safety, customer focus, higher environmental 

standards and accessibility. 

2.7 Local reform through MLS can deliver real improvements across Greater 

Manchester, but the growth of out-of-area operation undermines local licensing, 

and gives cause for real concern that vehicles and drivers licensed outside our 

conurbation (but carrying Greater Manchester residents and visitors) may not 

be regulated to the high standards we expect.  In this regard, it is important to 

recognise that Government reform of taxi and private hire legislation and 

regulation remains as critical as ever. Further work to press the case to 

Ministers for reform is a key part of the overall approach. 

 

3 Minimum Licensing Standards 

3.1 The GM MLS were ready to be consulted on when the Department for Transport 

published statutory guidance for taxi and private hire licensing authorities in July 
2020. The MLS project has had regard for that guidance, which largely mirrors 

what is already proposed across GM, and reference is made in the report where 
appropriate.  
 

3.2 It should be noted however that the statutory guidance firmly highlights the past 
failings of licensing regimes in putting public safety at the forefront of their 

policies and procedures. The guidance asks authorities to have due regard to 
reviewing its policies thoroughly and considering good practice in the 

Page 195



implementation of robust standards that address the safeguarding of the public 
and the potential impact of failings in this area.  

 
3.3 To that end, it is important to recognise that Taxis and Private Hire services are 

unique in the potential opportunity and risks they present to the travelling public. 
In no other mode of public transport are passengers as vulnerable or at risk to 
those who have mal intent; risks that are increased for children and vulnerable 

adults. The sector itself is also vulnerable to being used for criminal activity such 
as child sexual exploitation, county lines and other drug dealing/money 

laundering activity.  
 

3.4 The Casey Report (2015) also made it clear that weak and ineffective 

arrangements for taxi and private hire licensing had left children and the public 
at risk: 
 

The safety of the public should be the uppermost concern of any licensing 

and enforcement regime: when determining policy, setting standards and 

deciding how they will be enforced. This is nowhere more important than 

in taxi licensing where sometimes vulnerable people are unaccompanied 

in a car with a stranger1 

 
3.5 It is with public safety as our primary duty in mind as Licensing Authorities that 

the MLS are proposed.  
 
Overall, the GM approach looks to provide: 

 

 the public with safe, visible, accessible and high-quality hackney and private 

hire services 

 the hackney and private hire trades with clarity over what the required 

standards will be over the long term, and through the GM Clean Air Plan, 

with unprecedented investment to help renew the fleet   

 local authorities with the continued regulatory role in relation to driver, 

vehicle and operator licensing whilst retaining scope to exceed the MLS as 

agreed locally by elected members 

 

3.6 The MLS are divided into four distinct sections as follows: 
 

Licensed Drivers; including criminal records checks, medical examinations, 
local knowledge test, English language requirements, driver training including 
driving proficiency and common licence conditions.  
 

Licensed vehicles; including vehicle emissions, vehicle ages, common vehicle 
colour and livery, vehicle testing, CCTV, Executive Hire and vehicle design 

common licence conditions 
 

                                                                 
1 Report of Inspection of Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council, February 2015  

Page 196



Licensed private hire operators; including common licence conditions, DBS 
checks for operators and staff every year, fit and proper criteria for operator 

applications and common licence conditions.  
 

Local Authority Standards: including application deadlines and targets, GM 
Enforcement Policy, Licensing Fee Framework, annual councillor training 
requirements and Officer delegations. 

3.7 As Members will know, due to the breadth of proposals to be considered, the 

final Standards recommendations have been split into two Stages. This Stage 

2 report seeks to provide Members with detailed consultation feedback and 

officer recommendations on the Vehicle Standard proposals.  

 

4 Link to the Clean Air Plan 

4.1 An important element of the overall approach is to provide clarity and long term 

certainty for vehicle owners, so that they are able to plan the upgrade of their 

vehicles in a way that meets and contributes positively to GM’s Air Quality, 

Carbon and other environmental obligations.   

 

4.2 This will also help ensure that applicants to the Clean Taxi Fund, secured as 

part of the GM Clean Air Plan, will have a clear understanding of what locally 

licensed vehicle requirements will be over the longer term, for example in terms 

of emissions, age and other criteria, so they can determine the best use of the 

available funds given their specific circumstances.  Note that only those vehicle 

owners who have licensed their vehicle with one of the GM local licensing 

authorities prior to 3 December 2020 will be eligible for Clean Taxi Funds to 

support upgrade.  

 

5 The Consultation 

5.1 Members have already been provided with a summary of the GM wide public 

consultation that took place between 8 October and 3 December 2020 in the 

Stage 1 Report.  

 

5.2 For a full breakdown of demographics and to view the complete GM 

consultation report please visit www.gmtaxistandards.com 

 

5.3 The response breakdown for Trafford was as follows: 

 

 

 

Page 197

http://www.gmtaxistandards.com/


 Questionnaire* Letter / 

email 

Total % 

General public 83 0 83 70% 

Hackney drivers 14 0 14 12% 

Private hire vehicle drivers 14 0 14 12% 

Private hire operators 5 0 5 4% 

Vehicle leasing companies 1 0 1 1% 

Businesses 1 0 1 1% 

Representatives  0 0 0 0% 

Base 118 0 118 100% 

 

5.4 The following table provides a comparison of driver trade response levels 

across each of the 10 districts (with numbers on the left column and split 

shown between Hackney and Private Hire):  

 
 

5.5 As Members will see, the response rates were generally low across the board, 

particularly from members of the trade. This isn’t uncommon compared to 

Officers reflections on previous engagement with the trade. At a GM level, there 

are enough responses to draw conclusions, however, the number of responses 

in some sub-groups at district level is small and as such, the data should be 

treated with caution. 

 

5.6 Across GM there were monthly meetings with trade and union representatives 

to update and reflect on the work being undertaken. Twelve briefings sessions 

were held for representatives at GM level in MLS and clean air. There were also 

61%

94%

93%

50%

20%

77%

86%

63%

52%

50%

56%

39%

6%

7%

50%

80%

23%

14%

37%

48%

50%

44%

All drivers licensed in
GM (n=570)

Bolton (n=78)

Bury (n=29)

Manchester (n=105)

Oldham (n=74)

Rochdale (n=70)

Salford (n=22)

Stockport (n=62)

Tameside (n=44)

Trafford (n=28)

Wigan (n=71)

Private hire drivers Hackney carriage drivers

Page 198



twenty five briefing sessions for all trade sectors affection by clean air and at 

local level a number of local briefings were held and various communication 

methods used to notify all affected that consultation was underway including 

emails, newsletters and contact via operator bases.   

 

5.7 It should be noted that the findings of the in-depth interviews and focus groups 

have been included alongside the findings from the questionnaire, expanding 

on the findings to provide deeper insight and examples in commentary form. 

The in-depth interviews enabled those who may be specifically impacted to 

provide additional detail and specific examples e.g. from a specific business 

sector. 

 

5.8 The Consultation document provided detail on 10 separate vehicle standard 

proposals and asked the following questions:  

 

1. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum 

licensing standards for Vehicles in Greater Manchester? 

 

2. Please use this space to provide any comments relating to the proposals 

for the minimum licensed standards for Vehicles 

For question 1 on each section, response options were: 

- strongly agree 

- agree 

- neither agree or disagree 

- disagree 

- strongly disagree 

- don’t know 

 

Respondents were then asked a series of other questions to gain further 

insight into their views on implementation and impact of the proposals, 

including free text responses to gain more qualitative feedback.   

 

5.9 Copies of the Consultation Questionnaire and accompanying information 

booklet are available at www.gmtaxistandards.com  

 

6 SUMMARY FINDINGS  

 

6.1 The following paragraphs provide summaries of the consultation responses at 

a GM level. District specific comments and feedback on individual standards 
are included within Appendix 1 to the report. 

 

6.2 Vehicle Standards 

 

 High level of agreement from members of the public (88%) 

Page 199

http://www.gmtaxistandards.com/


 Greater overall level of disagreement from Trade (Hackney 69% and PH 

63%) 

 Trade mostly commented on age policy proposals; disagreeing 

 Concerns raised about the charging infrastructure for electric vehicles 

 Public liked the proposal of CCTV but concerns raised by the Trade with 

regards to cost and data privacy 

 High number of comments and disagreement across both public and trade 

with regards to colour policy proposals 

 

6.3 Drivers from an Asian background were more likely to disagree with the vehicle 

standards than hackney / PHV drivers from a White British background (70% 

compared to 58%). Drivers in Bolton (88%), Oldham (91%) and Rochdale (71%) 

did not agree with the proposals.  

 

6.4 Drivers who rent or lease their vehicle were more likely to agree with the 

proposed vehicle standards compared to those who own their vehicle (37% and 

22% respectively), likely due to the lower likelihood of significant direct financial 

impact, however in both cases more drivers disagree than agree with the 

proposed vehicle standards.  

 

6.5 The following table shows the number of total comments made (GM level) for 

each standard category by respondent type: 

 

 
Category 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

General Comments 95 11 32 6 3 1 3 

Vehicle Emissions 39 20 10 5 1 2 4 

Age of Vehicle 82 78 84 8 1 1 10 

Vehicle Colour 214 23 95 12 2 1 13 

Accessible vehicles 54 38 1 1 1 0 4 

Vehicle Livery 62 7 47 6 1 3 11 

Vehicle Maintenance 

and Testing 

44 20 31 4 0 0 2 

CCTV 83 16 51 6 1 3 8 

Executive Hire and 

specialist vehicles 

8 0 5 2 0 0 1 

Vehicle Design 9 4 0 0 0 0 1 

Vehicle Conditions 24 1 3 2 0 0 0 

Base 449 114 187 24 7 6 20 

Proportion of 

respondent type 

45% 49% 53% 75% 37% 60% 56% 

Page 200



 

 

6.6 Some of the general comments about the vehicle standards as a whole are as 

follows: 

“Really impressed with the standards I hope it is brought in sooner rather 

than later.” (Public, age 35-44, Trafford) 

“All of these are important” (Public, age 55-64, Bury) 

“These measures will make all passengers safer.” (Public, age 35-44, 
Tameside) 

“I feel this is a policy that is being rushed through without full thought of 

the cost and consequences to the self-employed sole trader who has 
been badly affected by Covid 19.” (Hackney Driver, Tameside)  

“Standardising of vehicles leads to a higher demand for a smaller range 
of vehicles which, in turn, increases initial purchase cost and ongoing 
maintenance costs (due to high parts demand). The vast majority of 

private hire drivers are living close to minimum wage and any increasing 
in their running cost will be pushed directly onto the customers. Resulting 

in the continuing demise of the industry and customers turning to 
subsidised transport systems.” (Public, age 25-34, Wigan) 

“I believe that wanting completely emission-free taxis by 2028 is a goal 

that should be circumstantial. Most drivers use these vehicles for their 
private life too and electric vehicles must have the range and practicality 

to serve both needs before making it mandatory to have an emission-free 
vehicle.” (PHV Driver, Stockport) 

 

 

7    Evaluation of proposals and reasons for recommendations 

7.1 The detail of the proposals, current Trafford Standards, consultation feedback on 

the proposals at both a Greater Manchester and Trafford level and consideration 

of that feedback are given in Appendix 1 - Vehicle Standards.  Table A gives a 

summary of the proposals.  Any standard that is contained within the Department 

for Transport’s Statutory Guidance is highlighted with an asterisk*.    

 

Table A 

Standard 1 
Accessible 
Hackney 

Carriages 

 

To retain the Council’s current standard that all licensed 
Hackney Vehicles be wheel chair accessible (WAV).  
 

To defer the decision on side/rear loading at this time as 
the consultation response on this specific point was 

particularly low. 
 

Page 201



Standard 2 
Vehicle Age 
 

To implement the following as the minimum standard: 

 PHV – under 5 years on to fleet and 10 years off  

 PHV WAV – under 7 years on to fleet and 15 years 
off 

 Purpose built HCV– under 7 on to fleet and 15 

years off  

 Air quality metrics and impacts and testing data to 

be reviewed over the next 2-3 years by the 
Licensing Network and risks or proposed 

amendments brought back to Members as 
necessary 

 To remove the exceptional condition (age) test.  

 
That the standard be implemented for new to licence 

vehicles from the 1st January 2022; and that the existing 
fleet is compliant with the policy standard by 1 April 2024. 
This will mean that from the 1st April 2023 a vehicle licence 

will not be renewed if the vehicle does not meet this 
standard. 

 
Standard 3 
Vehicle 
Emissions 

To require licensed vehicles to be compliant with the 
current Euro emissions standard as follows: 
 

 For new to licence vehicles from the 1st January 
2022; and for the existing fleet vehicles are 

compliant with the policy standard by 1 April 2024.* 
This will mean that from the 1st April 2023 a vehicle 

licence will not be renewed if the vehicle does not 
meet this standard. 

 

 To note the strong ambition to move existing fleets 
to ZEC as soon as possible 

 
*vehicle must also be compliant with the age policy 

 
Standard 4 

Vehicle Colour 
 

To retain the Council’s current policy standard that all 

Hackney Carriage Vehicles should be black in colour with 
the following exceptions: 

 London Style Taxis may be of the manufacturer’s 
colour 

 Advertising is allowed on London Style Taxis 

 
Not to recommend a specific colour requirement for 

Private Hire vehicles at this stage. A piece of research is 
to be commissioned to further consider the risks/benefits 

of this policy. However, single colour for private hire 
vehicles remains an aspiration of the MLS programme. 
 

Standard 5 To require that all vehicles will: 

Page 202



Vehicle Livery 
 

 display permanently affixed licence plates on the front 
and back of the vehicle 

 display a ‘GM approved’ sticker on the bonnet 
 
To require that all PHVs will: 

 only display stickers provided by the licensing 
authority (at cost) which will bear the operator name, 

‘advanced bookings only’, ‘not insured unless pre-
booked’ and the licensing authority logo  

 display those stickers on both rear side doors and the 

back window 

 not use any magnetic stickers 

 
*Specified design/dimensions and placement on vehicles to be 
provided 

 
That the implementation date for this standard be 

delegated to the Corporate Director of Place in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Environment 

and Regulatory Services with consideration of the need 
to procure the necessary supplier/materials; to 
communicate the changes to the trade; and to ensure 

that processes are in place for a robust implementation of 
the standard. 

 
 

Standard 6 
Vehicle Testing 

 

To retain Trafford’s current standard of requiring vehicles 
to be tested on first application and every six months 

thereafter, irrespective of the age of the vehicle. All 
vehicles to be tested against the DVSA MOT standard plus 

Trafford’s Vehicle Compliance Manual. 
 

Standard 7 

CCTV 
 

To approve the drafting of a CCTV policy for further 

consideration and consultation 

Standard 8 
Executive Hire 

 

The retain Trafford’s current standards including the 
following conditions:  

 Bookings to be confirmed by written contract 

 Payments made in advance of the journey or by 

invoice afterwards 

 Stipulation on the types of vehicles to be licensed 

 Dress code 

 Business plan shared with licensing authority 

 Vehicles not to be fitted with data heads, radios or 
meters 

 Exemptions from plates and door signs only to be 

given when used exclusively for executive hire 
 

Page 203



The standard to apply to new to licence and existing fleet 
from 1st January 2022 
 

Standard 9 
Vehicle Design 
 

The following standards will apply: 

 all vehicles conform to the M1 standard (any 
modified vehicle at M2 standard must have an 

appropriate test to ensure conformity with single 
vehicle type approval) 

 No retrofitting of engines into older vehicles will be 
allowed. LPG conversions will be accepted 

 Where retrofit emissions technology is installed it 

shall be approved as part of the Clean Vehicle 
Retrofit Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS) 

 Specification for window tints will be: 
o Front windscreen – min. 75% light transmission 

o Front side door glass – min. 70% light 
transmission 

o Remaining glass or rear side windows (exc. 

Rear window) - allow manufacturer’s tint to a 
minimum 20% light transmission 

 

 No vehicle first being licensed will have been 
written off in any category and will not be renewed 

(if previously written off) after 1 April 2022.  

 No roof signs permitted on PHVs 

 No advertising other than Council approved 
signage on PHVs 

 To defer the decision on swivel seats at this time 
as the consultation response on this specific point 

was particularly low. 
 

The standards to apply to new to licence and existing fleet 

from 1st January 2022 with the exception of written off 
vehicles which will apply from 1st April 2022. 

 
Standard 10 
Vehicle 
Conditions 

A set of proposed conditions for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicles are set out at Appendix 2.  

 

To implement the standard as proposed with the addition 
of the DBS requirement for vehicle proprietors who are not 

licensed drivers. 
 
The standard to apply to new to licence vehicles from 1st 

January 2022; and for existing fleet on renewal of the 
licence. 

 
 

 

 

Page 204



 

 

8 Equality Impact Assessment 

8.1 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) showed that there were both positive 

and negative impacts of the proposals.  The main positives are that this 

provides for greater protection for vulnerable people from harm and should also 

increase the accessibility of the fleet for disabled persons.   The contrary issues 

are that the higher standards may make access to becoming a driver more 

costly and therefore may reduce the fleet size and therefore mean that there 

are less taxis available and people may be more tempted to use non licensed 

vehicles.   There are two ways that this impact can be lessened; namely by 

ensuring that the drivers have adequate time to adjust to the new standards 

and also that we publicise the benefits of taking a Trafford licensed vehicle.    

 

9 Timescales for Implementation 

9.1 It is recommended that Council approves the implementation dates detailed in 
this report. 

 

10 Conclusion 

10.1 The ‘golden thread’ of licensing is that of pubic protection. We have seen from 

the consultation that the public are overwhelmingly in support of the additional 

safeguards and protection this project can deliver. As well as the local policy 

strengthening that minimum licensing standards will bring across Greater 

Manchester it delivers on the implementation of the statutory standards on 

safeguarding that the Government have introduced.  

 

10.2 The vision of Greater Manchester is to continue to work closely together, 

influence policy change and support the licensed trade by delivering on its 

promise to provide financial support to move to greener vehicles. This is the 

start of a journey to continue to deliver excellence in licensing regulation in 

Greater Manchester. However, we cannot underestimate the challenges the 

trade continues to face and our continued support for  them,  and the public, in 

delivering safe journeys in safe licensed vehicles, driven by safe licensed 

drivers is essential. We will continue to work with the hackney and private hire 

trade to provide that ever important support and guidance whilst ensuring that 

public  protection is at the forefront of our considerations. 

 

11 NEXT STEPS    

Page 205



11.1 That the Council approves the standards as detailed within this report. 

 

12 OPTIONS 

12.1 The Council could decide to not implement the MLS.  This would mean that the 

opportunities for a safer taxi service in Trafford, which are outlined in the report, 
are missed.    

 

13 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

13.1 The primary driver for this work was to ensure public safety and protection, and 

to improve vehicle emission standards in the context of the Clean Air and the 
decarbonisation agendas. In addition, by establishing standards around 
common vehicle specifications, MLS is an important mechanism that permits 

the systematic improvements to taxi and private hire service across Greater 
Manchester and their visibility. 

13.2 The adoption of these policies stands to benefit drivers and the trade more 
widely as public confidence in a well-regulated and locally licensed taxi and 
private hire sector grows; they will also contribute directly to better air quality 

and lower carbon emissions. By establishing and implementing Greater 
Manchester-wide minimum licensing standards, we can help to ensure that all 

residents and visitors see these services as safe and reliable, and preferable to 
those not licensed by Greater Manchester local authorities. 

 

14 APPENDIX 1 – Vehicle Standards 

14.1 Attached as a supplementary paper. 

15 APPENDIX 2 – Vehicle Conditions 

14.1 Attached as a supplementary paper. 

15  APPENDIX 3   - Equality Impact Assessment 

15.1 Attached as a supplementary paper 

 

Key Decision (as defined in the Constitution):    No 

If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   N/A 

 

 

 

Page 206



Finance Officer Clearance PC 

Legal Officer Clearance SL 

 

CORPORATEDIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE  

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the 

Executive Member has cleared the report. 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

VEHICLE STANDARDS  

Vehicle Proposed Standard 1 Trafford Current standard 

 

Hackney Carriages 

It was proposed that all licensed hackney 
carriages should be wheelchair accessible 

vehicles (WAV), and that there is a 
consistent approach to makes and models 

of vehicles that will be accepted onto fleets 
as Hackney Carriages. 
It was also prosed for consultation whether 

a purpose-built HC vehicle should be side 
or rear loading.  
 
 

 

 

Trafford’s current policy is that all hackney 
carriages must be wheelchair accessible.   

 
 

 
 
Trafford does not have a policy in respect 

of side or rear loading vehicles; or swivel 
seats. 

Reason for Proposal 

 

Currently not all GM authorities have a wheelchair accessible or purpose-built hackney 
carriage policy. Passengers with additional mobility needs should not have to wait for 
long periods at a taxi rank for a suitable accessible vehicle. Licensing Authorities need 

to ensure their policies are non-discriminatory and inclusive. This standard proposal 
seeks to ensure that there is sufficient availability of accessible vehicles for residents 

and visitors to the region, and that there is a more consistent standard across the 
conurbation for the makes/model and specifications of Hackney Carriage vehicle allowed 
onto the fleets.  

 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
This proposal elicited a fair number of comments compared to some other standards, as 
per the table below: 

 
 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Accessible vehicles 54 38 1 1 1 0 4 

 

This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent categories:  
 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

A mixed fleet (types of 

vehicles) is important 
13 23 0 1 0 0 2 

Page 209



 
 

 

 

Accessible vehicles are 

expensive / need to be 

subsidised 

3 6 1 0 0 0 0 

PHV should have to 

have same rules about 

accessibility 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

More accessible 

vehicles are needed 
34 6 0 0 1 0 3 

More consultation with 

disabled people required 
5 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Problem with design of 

accessible vehicles 
3 5 0 0 0 0 2 

Base 54 38 1 1 1 0 4 

 

 
34 members of the public commented that more accessible vehicles were needed as did 

6 hackney drivers. Some members of the public shared how they often encounter 
difficulty booking wheelchair accessible vehicles due to their lack of availability, and those 
hackney drivers who have accessible vehicles noted how they are relied upon by many 

who do not have many other options for transport.  

“Accessible Hackney carriages - we have extreme trouble booking a taxi in 

advance that has wheelchair access as the taxi company do not always 
know when their wheelchair accessible vehicle will be available. In the past 
we have been asked to ring at the time an accessible taxi is needed - and 

in every occasion one was not and our family has had to pick her up instead 
- not an ideal situation for a young lady who would like some 

independence.” (Public, age 45-54, Bury) 

“Make it all wheelchair accessible vehicles, known as a level playing field.” 
(Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

In contrast, 23 hackney drivers felt having a mixed fleet was more important, with some 
sharing how they feel some passengers are deterred by larger vehicles. 

“As a Hackney driver, I don't agree for all Hackney carriage vehicles to be 
wheelchair accessible. Reason is for that we do, need mixed fleet for elderly 
people who do not like getting into bigger vehicles. I believe it will make 

them go to private hire offices and that will affect our business. Also, it’s 
more affordable to buy a normal electric car.” (Hackney Driver) 

One operator who took part in the focus groups specialises in the transportation of 
customers who need wheelchair accessible vehicles.  He stated hackneys were not 
suitable for all. 

“On the black cabs and I’ve got two of them, okay.  The ramps that come 
down, they come down on an angle and, you know, that ramp the 

wheelchairs cannot actually get up on them and also the people, when 
they’re sat in them, they’ll bang their head against the roof. So for some 

Page 210



 
 

 

 

reason licensing seemed to think that anybody who’s in a wheelchair would 
fit in a black cab. It’s not the case, so you might have two thousand black 
cabs out there and they could say, oh, they’re all wheelchair accessible. 

They are for full manual wheelchairs. Electric ones they can’t fit. (Operator, 
Trafford). 

Representatives also argued for a mixed fleet: 

“This is totally not acceptable because [it] is not meeting the needs of 
vulnerable or disabled [people]. Many old [and] disabled don’t use 

wheelchair vehicles either [because] it’s too high or [they] dislike it them”. 
(Organisation, NPHTA)  

“There is very little evidence to support the need for an entire trade to cater 
for wheelchair bound passengers, potentially at the cost of the majority of 
disabled passengers who are not confined to a wheelchair and therefore 

find it far more difficult to access the higher vehicles that are WAV, so a 
mixed fleet is a better approach”. (Organisation, NPHTA) 

Some hackney drivers and operators expressed concerns with the design of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles, with 5 explaining their preference is for side loading accessible 
vehicles rather than rear loading and expressing their safety concerns. 

“All Hackney carriages should be side loading wheelchair accessible, rear 
loading takes up too much space on ranks, they are also dangerous when 

unloading passengers in the middle of the road.” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

“Accessible Hackney carriages: It is proposed that all hackney carriages 
should be wheelchair accessible. Agreed. Particularly important condition 

which will help to prevent the influx of out-of-town licensed saloon cars 
plated as Hackney carriages from working within the GMC area. Side and 

/ or rear loading without the need for swivel seats: A policy as to whether 
purpose-built accessible vehicles should be side and/or rear loading 
without the need for swivel seats is being considered. The choice of entry 

location generally determines the floor plan available. Rear entry vehicles 
offer two floor plans for up to four or six passengers. A side entry van has 

more options when it comes to the floor plan. Side entry vehicles will lower 
the available space inside, as the maximum number of ambulatory 
passengers in this option is four including three in the rear bench seat. 

Swivel seats in taxis where fitted should remain as they are an additional 
feature making it easier to enter or exit the car without undue discomfort. 

For those who have conditions such as arthritis, multiple sclerosis, or 
osteoarthritis, which can limit their mobility will benefit as they reduce strain 
otherwise placed on the hips and back.” (Operator, Manchester) 

“I mean I have a sliding door on the side, two sliding ones and the rear 
loaded is the big door that comes up. Okay, there’s a row of seats there, 

but the row of seats can be moved. I mean I do put, where the large 
wheelchairs fit and if I do one, because it can be that you can’t get them 
through the side door, because there’s a big person, so they have to go 

through the rear door. So, what you do is, you just push the seats right 

Page 211



 
 

 

 

forward, because they’re all tracking, you just push them right forward. So, 
I would be fine.” (Licensed hackney driver – own my vehicle, Stockport) 
 

A further 6 hackney drivers felt wheelchair accessible vehicles were expensive or need 
to be subsidised if they are all required to be wheelchair accessible.  

“Vehicle emissions. what I can gather from the information available is that 
driver is responsible for all the costs involved. Accessible Hackney is very 
expensive it will put almost every Hackney driver out of business in 

Rochdale for sure even Euro six diesel is unaffordable.” (Hackney Driver, 
Rochdale) 

Concerns were raised by members of the public about the impact on the cost of using a 
hackney / PHV. 

“Wheelchair accessible vehicles are more expensive than normal cars. And 

that's tough for people who need them. One solution would be to provide a 
subsidy to anyone buying an accessible vehicle to use as a taxi. But what 

makes absolutely zero sense is to make the non-wheelchair-using public 
(the VAST majority of people) pay for accessibility features they do not 
need.” (Public, age 35-44, Manchester) 

Some users and drivers felt a few drivers use the fact they are transporting someone 
who needs an accessible vehicle to their advantage: 

“But a lot of the time they do treat you, you know, what they do is they 
charge, they put the timer on and if it takes you ages to get into the cab and 
put your belt on and everything, they charge you for all that, you know and 

getting out the cab, they don’t always put seatbelts on properly and things 
like that, but then the private hire companies don’t usually have accessible 

vehicles.” (User, Group 1) 

Others highlighted not all disabilities are visible: 

“More accessible vehicle design for disabled people. Not everyone with a 

disability you see looks disabled very important not to forget for drivers.” 
(Public, age 45-54, Oldham) 

 
Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Accessible vehicles 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Two members of the public felt that a mixed fleet was important; other comments from 

the public were that accessible vehicles are expensive and need to be  subsidised; there 
should be more consultation with disabled people and PHVs should be have the same 
rules about accessibility.  One hackney carriage driver commented that more accessible 

vehicles are needed. 
 

Page 212



 
 

 

 

Comments and considerations 

 
All purpose-built Hackney Carriages are wheelchair accessible, but also have additional 

mobility and accessibility design features such as passenger compartment controls, 
additional lighting, additional space, visibility strips, audio loops, steps, swivel seats (may 
built in as standard), wide doors etc.  

 
As well as providing better access for those with additional needs, purpose-built 

Hackneys also make it much easier for the travelling public to distinguish between a 
licensed Taxi and a private hire vehicle. As such, 7 of the 10 districts currently only 
licence purpose built/Wheelchair Accessible vehicles as Hackney Carriages in their 

policy. 
 

Where mixed fleets exist, and ordinary saloon cars are licensed as Hackneys, these are 
commonly permitted to have a hire light installed on the roof to enable them to legally ply 
for hire. However, in the current landscape where these vehicles can undertake pre-

booked private hire work in other areas, and/or are more likely to be crossing local 
boundaries, it can serve to undermine local purpose built only Hackney policies, and 

potentially undermine the legitimate business undertaken by Hackneys in certain areas. 
The public observe saloon vehicles in one area legally plying for hire and not understand 
that this is not permissible in another area, and this serves to encourage illegal activity 

as confusion provides an opportunity for those looking to illegally ply. 
 
Therefore, it should also be noted that a decision on this policy standard has knock on 

considerations/decisions for the following: 

 Age Policy for Hackneys (WAV/non-WAV – standard Proposal 2) 

 Colour and livery policies for Hackney vehicles (see Standards Proposals 4 and 
5) 

 Intended use policy for Hackneys (see Standard Proposal 10 – Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle Conditions) 

 
As outlined within the proposal section above, this policy standard is not just about 
wheelchair accessibility. For a City Region like Greater Manchester, with ambition to 

licence a high-quality service offer that supports economic and business growth, 
including accessibility standards within the public transport network; it must therefore 

follow that all licensed Hackney Carriages are purpose built accessible vehicles, 
providing all the benefits to users that such vehicles do. The objective to ensure that no 
one with additional needs should ever have to wait on a rank for a suitable vehicle has 

considerable merit, and the policy has the added safety benefit of properly distinguishing 
licensed Hackneys and Private Hire vehicles in all fleets. An additional consideration is 

that there will be no better time to implement this transition, as the funding opportunity 
provided through the Clean Air Plan is unique and time limited providing much needed 
support to those that seek to make this transition. 

 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 
To retain the Council’s current standard that all licensed Hackney Vehicles be wheelchair 

accessible (WAV).  
 

Page 213



 
 

 

 

To defer the decision on side/rear loading at this time as the consultation response on 
this specific point was particularly low. 
 

 

 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 2 Trafford’s Current standard 

Vehicle Age 

 

It was proposed that all licensed vehicles 
are under 5 years old at first licensing and 

no more than 10 years old. 
 
Views were sought on consideration of a 

different age policy for electric and 
wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV). 

 
 

On first application for a licence 
 

TYPE OF VEHICLE MAXIMUM AGE 
 

Private Hire Vehicle  4 years 
 
Hackney Carriage 

Vehicle   10 years 
 
LICENCE RENEWALS  
 
TYPE OF VEHICLE MAXIMUM AGE 

 

Private Hire Vehicle  6 years 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle  15 years 
 

All maximum age limits are subject to the 

proviso that if an older vehicle is deemed 
by the Council to be in exceptional 
condition for its age it can be eligible to be 

licensed. 
 
 

Reason for Proposal 

 
The majority of GM districts have upper limits for both the age at which a vehicle must 
be under to be first licensed, and the age at which it will cease to be licensed, although 

these currently vary across the conurbation, with some districts having never 
implemented any age restriction on its licensed fleets. The proposal seeks to rationalise 

the variance across the conurbation and ensure that GM districts do not undermine each 
other’s policies; deterring applicants from seeking the authority with a significantly lower 
standard in this regard. 

 
Licensed vehicles undertake significantly more miles than an average domestic vehicle, 

meaning they are likely to deteriorate more quickly and experience structural 
weaknesses over time which impacts on vehicle safety. Where vehicle testing data is 

Page 214



 
 

 

 

held by the local authority (as it is delivered inhouse), this generally evidences that the 
older a vehicle is, the more likely it is to fail tests, and usually with a higher number of 
major faults. So where vehicle age policies already exist within GM, this encouraged 

lower polluting vehicles, ensured higher levels of safety in vehicles and also supported 
the strategic objectives to have a better quality of fleet for residents and visitors within 

this key section of the transport network. The specific purpose of having an age limit for 
vehicles ‘coming on to fleet’ is to safeguard against having the majority of the licensed 
fleet at the older end of the age limit scale and is a common policy among licensing 

authorities nationally. 
 

 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
This proposal elicited a much higher number of comments: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Age of Vehicle 82 78 84 8 1 1 10 

 
The following table sorts the comments by theme according to respondent: 

 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Agree with Age Limit 

proposals 
18 1 7 1 1 0 0 

Age limit should be 

higher than 10 years 
4 37 16 1 0 0 2 

Age limit should be less 

than 10 years 
11 1 4 0 0 0 0 

Electric cars should 

have same age limit as 

non-electric 

7 4 0 1 0 0 3 

No age limit or higher 

for electric vehicles 
1 5 5 0 0 0 1 

Minibus maximum age 

should be 15years 
0 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Age is not important 45 33 47 6 0 1 6 

10 years isn't enough 

time to return 

investment 

0 8 2 2 0 0 2 

Page 215



 
 

 

 

Suggestion of different 

Minimum age 
2 4 13 2 0 0 0 

Base 82 78 84 8 1 1 10 

 

A relatively small number of comments were made (28) in support of the age limit 
proposals. Comments included the reference to the poor condition of vehicles not subject 
to an age limit: 

 
“I live in Bolton, and the current standard of taxis is appalling - it’s like a rolling 

scrap yard. Other parts of Greater Manchester seem to have much nicer, 
newer taxis, but Bolton is full of decrepit, shonky old rust boxes, limping 
around the town, pumping out clouds of smoke and regularly breaking down. 

I saw an “S” reg taxi not long ago - registered in 1997! The car was older than 
it’s driver!  We pay good money to be driven around in these awful heaps, and 

it’s about time something was done about it” (Public, age 45-54, Bolton) 

However, the vast majority of comments expressed a view that the age limit was either 
not important/not necessary or should be higher than 10 years, with significantly fewer 

responses supporting the proposal. A high number of comments were received 
expressing the age of a vehicle should not matter if the vehicle is well-serviced and 

maintained, with this being expressed by 33 hackney drivers, 47 PHV drivers, 6 PHV 
operators, and 45 of members of the public. 
 

“Vehicle age shouldn't matter as long as it is in good condition. We have two 
MOTs in a year, so the vehicles are good for customers”.  (PHV Driver, Bolton) 

Some respondents commented about hackneys being more expensive to replace 
and upgrade, with some comparing the costs to PHVs. Therefore, 37 hackney 
drivers and 16 of PHV drivers felt the age limit should be higher. Drivers licensed in 

Manchester raised this more than any other area.   

“Age shouldn't be a problem as long as kept up with maintenance and repairs 
to a good standard. Personally, I think if a vehicle needs welding, it's past its 

best for the job, and licenses should be granted for 12 months after repairs to 
give drivers the time to invest in a replacement. Also, Hackney carriages cost 

a hell of a lot more money than a private hire car, £30.000 upwards whereas 
a new Dacia car can be purchased for £8000, so should be given 15-year age 
limit” (Hackney Driver, Stockport) 

Both the LPHCA and Unite Union did not feel the age standard was appropriate: 

“As a former qualified engineer and operator that had over 2,000 vehicles 

used, leased or owned by my business for Private Hire usage and as many 
experienced operators, taxi & PHV hirers will tell you – it is the condition of, 
not the age of a vehicle that is critical. A combination of condition and vehicle 

emissions requirements (as you have set out above) is a far better way to 
determine the fitness for a taxi or PHV to be licensed. It is reasonable to 

subject older PHVs to more frequent MOTs and other inspections whilst 
meeting established Euro Standards and Air Quality requirements, rather than 
the outdated and inappropriate use of age policies.” (Organisation, LPHCA) 

Page 216



 
 

 

 

Setting the hackney vehicle age limit at 10 years is a nonsense. It provides 
insufficient time for recovery on investment. And these vehicles will become 
scrap at end of arbitrary lifespans as numbers of charging CAZs increase and 

residual values disappear, accordingly. The upper age limit for hackneys 
should be 15 years”. (Organisation, Unite the Union- Manchester Hackney 

Carriage) 

The same argument was strongly raised in the in-depth interviews with both users, 
drivers and operators arguing a vehicle should be able to be used regardless of age 

if it was fit for purpose and passed all the relevant tests.  

“And most people get cars maybe like every five or six years, so ten is quite 

old for a car. The more modern the car is, the less likely it is to have bad 
emissions and a lot of them have things put in place when they’re being built 
to not release as many”. (User, Group 15) 

The in-depth interviews with hackney and private hire drivers highlighted concerns 
about removing vehicles considered roadworthy and of a good standard from 

working. This was felt to be not only wasteful but forced drivers to replace their 
vehicles earlier than envisaged. This was particularly mentioned by drivers in 
Rochdale and Oldham as they currently have a longer age limit on their vehicles. 

“This will hit drivers hard in this area. You only need to look at the cars on the 
road currently to see that a lot of them will not meet this age criteria. No one 

has the money to update these cars, we are all still paying money off on them 
and getting no money in at the moment. Here is one of the most deprived 
parts of Manchester.” (PHV Driver, Rochdale) 

Drivers and operators currently trading in the regions that are currently under 
standards of between 7 and 12 years for the age limit of their vehicle understood 

why ten had been suggested and felt it fell in line with their own district. A couple of 
drivers / operators highlighted specialist vehicles, i.e. adapted for wheelchair 
transportation should be given an exemption to the age standard due to the need 

for their type of vehicles.  

“Number one, the most important thing for me in my business, I need vehicles 

to be able to drive, okay, to be able to bring people.  The maximum age of ten 
years for a vehicle in my opinion is going to wipe out, number one my company 
completely and 80% of the hackney carriage trade.” (Operator, Trafford) 

Two operators mentioned the impact the standard would have on their operations 
as currently they are able to manage their fleet by moving older vehicles to other 

areas where the current age standards are lower for example, Manchester to 
Trafford, enabling them to stagger the replacement of their vehicles and therefore 
the finance needed to do this.  

“I usually move the vehicles from Manchester to Trafford once they hit their 
age limit in Manchester. I now will be able to keep them longer in Manchester 

but will get less out of them overall and won’t be able to move them on to 
Trafford so I will now need to update more vehicles in a smaller timescale.” 
(Operator, Trafford / Manchester).  

 

Page 217



 
 

 

 

 
Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Age of Vehicle 7 4 3 0 0 0 0 

 
More than half of the hackney drivers who commented about vehicle standards felt 

that the age limit should be higher than 10 years or that age was not important at 
all (n=2). This was also mentioned by PHV drivers (n=1 and n=1 respectively). 
 

“I purchased my vehicle in 2014 and was told no road tax due to low emissions. 
Now I'm being told its euro 5 and I will have to pay a charge if I drive it. I cannot 

afford to buy a new one and the grant of £2000 is not enough.” (PHV driver) 
 
 

“It would not be possible to run a Hackney Carriage business under these age 
restrictions. The end term of 10 years should be extended to a minimum of 15 

years to give the proprietor a chance to make the buying of a suitable vehicle 
worthwhile and cost efficient.” (Hackney driver) 

 

 
Comments and considerations 

 
Upper age limits across GM currently vary from 7 years (for private hire) to 15 years (for 

Hackneys), with 3 authorities currently not having any upper age limit at all. As can be 
seen from some of the comments, this has resulted in older, more polluting and lower 

standard vehicles being passed to those authorities with higher or no age limits. This 
practice undermines the attempt by those authorities seeking to raise the quality and 
safety standard of its vehicle fleet and goes against the collaborative approach that GM 

districts wish to take. It also means that residents and visitors will have a significantly 
different experience depending on which district they live/visit and that is a scenario this 

project aims to address. 
 
Many individuals within the trade expressed views that standards in relation to vehicle 

condition and emissions could negate the need for an age policy altogether. Whilst there 
initially appears to be some merit in this assertion, it is important to note that compliance 
with an emissions policy that required (for example) the vehicle to be of the current Euro 

emissions standard, would currently allow a vehicle registered in 2005 to be licensed on 
the fleet. Similarly, a significantly older vehicle can be fitted with retrofit technology to 

bring it into emissions standard compliance, but all the other risk associated with the 
vehicle age will continue to exist. There is also significant testing data to evidence that 
the older the licensed vehicle is (and the more mileage it undertakes), the more likely it 

is to fail mechanical tests.  
 

 
It should also be noted that there is currently a wide variance across GM districts on how 
authorities monitor/test the condition of vehicles. Whilst some authorities carry out this 

function in house and can therefore conduct a full compliance check (ensuring 

Page 218



 
 

 

 

compliance with all licence conditions/policy as well as testing the mechanical structure) 
and be fully assured as to the mechanical and cosmetic condition of the vehicle; others 
permit proprietors to test vehicles at approved testing stations and usually only require 

the tester to perform a DVSA standard MOT, which will not consider whether the other 
aspects of the vehicle are compliant with relevant policies. Therefore in order to fully rely 

upon the testing regime to safeguard against the risk that vehicles that fall below the 
desired standard on the licensed fleets, a deeper review of the how this is harmonised 
and delivered across the conurbation would be required.  

 
It is critically important for all districts, but primarily the trade themselves, that the 

Hackney and Private Hire sectors remain integrated into the sustainable transport 
network within GM, moving passengers with minimal environmental impact and remain 
a key transport mode of choice. To this end, it would be desirable to implement a limit to 

ensure a ‘line in the sand’ for all concerned and continue to promote the safety and 
quality that a younger fleet provides. However, officers are cognisant of the strong views 

expressed by the trade in relation to the capital cost and return on investment particularly 
with regards to purpose built and ZEC/EV taxis, as well as the ongoing impact of Covid.  
 

Further research of other non-GM authorities policies in this regard provides that the 
majority of licensing authorities do impose an age limit (both for coming on to the fleet 

and for continuing to be licensed), including those authorities who are also subject to 
Clean Air Zone emissions requirements; further supporting the view that an age limit is 
a useful policy standard in ensuring a better quality fleet. 

 
In considering all the consultation feedback and the relevant risks, it is proposed that the 

age limits are changed from that proposed to: 
 
PHV – under 5 on to fleet and 10 years off 

PHV WAV – under 7 on to fleet and 15 years off 
Purpose built WAV HCV – under 7 on to fleet and 15 years off 

 
Testing data (where held) will be reviewed periodically by the Licensing Network group, 
alongside air quality metrics to assess any negative impacts of these age policies on 

both the safety of vehicles and air quality. Any issues or future risks will be brought back 
to Members as necessary. 

 
Subject to policy decisions (where relevant) with regards to the Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle Policy and Wheelchair Accessibility, a separate age policy for non-WAV 

Hackneys may also need to be introduced. 
 

Members should be aware that some authorities in GM and beyond currently operate an 
‘Exceptional Use’ or ‘Beyond the Age Limit’ or similar policy that enables vehicles of a 
determined condition and testing record to continue to be licensed as exceptions to the 

normal age limit policy. However, in recognition of the significant concession made on 
the age policy, it is proposed that such explicit exception policies are removed. As with 

any Council policy, it will always be within the gift of an individual to ask the authority to 
depart from policy. 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 

To implement the following as the minimum standard: 

Page 219



 
 

 

 

 PHV – under 5 years on to fleet and 10 years off  

 PHV WAV – under 7 years on to fleet and 15 years off 

 Purpose built HCV– under 7 years on to fleet and 15 years off  

 Air quality metrics and impacts and testing data to be reviewed over the next 2-3 

years by the Licensing Network and risks or proposed amendments brought back 
to Members as necessary 

 To remove the exceptional condition (age) test.  

 
That the standard be implemented for new to licence vehicles from the 1st January 2022; 

and that the existing fleet is compliant with the policy standard by 1 April 2024. This will 
mean that from the 1st April 2023 a vehicle licence will not be renewed if the vehicle does 
not meet this standard. 

 
 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 3 Trafford’s Current standard 

 
Vehicle Emissions 

It was proposed for consultation that all licensed 
vehicles must comply with the current Euro 

standard when they are first licensed with an 
ambition for a zero-emission capable fleet by 
2028. 

 
The following was also proposed within the 

Timetable section of the consultation: 
 
i. New vehicles being licensed from 1 April 2021 

will be required to meet the standards 
approved following this consultation 

ii. From April 2021, existing licensed vehicles will 
begin transitioning to comply with the 
standards approved following consultation 

iii. Transition periods will be determined by each 
district having considered existing local 

policies and impacts on the trade with an 
expectation that all vehicles will be compliant 
by 1 April 2024 (non-compliant vehicles will 

still be liable to pay the Clean Air Zone charge 
subject to any exemptions permitted under the 

Clean Air Plan) – this will be that all licences 
due for renewal from April 2023 onwards will 
need to have a compliant vehicle attached to 

be compliant by 1 April 2024. 

 

 

No current vehicle emission standard 

Page 220



 
 

 

 

iv. From 2025 all new to licence would need to be 
Zero Emissions Capable (ZEC*)  

v. From April 2028 onwards all vehicle licences 

would need a ZEC vehicle attached to the 
licence. 

 
Reason for Proposal 

 
It is important that taxi and private hire vehicle policies interrelate with other relevant 

policies, and in this case that the emissions standard requirement for licensed vehicles 
reflects the ambition set out in the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
Environmental Plan which states: 

“We want Greater Manchester to be a clean, carbon neutral, climate resilient city region 
with a thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy”.  

 
It was therefore proposed that all licensed vehicles comply with the vehicle emissions 
standards set out in the government’s Clean Air Zone framework and thereby will comply 

with the GM Clean Air Zone as proposed in the GM Clean Air Plan in the short to medium 
term. 

 
In recognition of the fact that the GM Environmental Plan has also set the date of 2038 
to be carbon neutral, it was proposed for consultation that all licensed vehicles should 

therefore be zero-emissions capable (ZEC) by 2028 (to take vehicle age requirements 
into account). The GM Environment Plan clearly indicates that this shift from vehicles 

powered by fossil fuels to ones that are ZEC is required as soon as possible in order to 
achieve carbon neutral targets within the set timeframe and it is important that licence 
holders understand these key dates to inform their business choices. 

 
 
Consultation Response  

 

GM level summary: 
 
This proposal elicited one of the smallest number of responses across vehicle standards, 

with only 39 members of the public commenting and 42 members/representatives of the 
trades: 

 
 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Emissions 39 20 10 5 1 2 4 

 
There was a mix of views in the comments, with some support for the timeline, 

particularly from the public, but many concerns expressed about the timings, funding 
support and charging infrastructure: 

 

Page 221



 
 

 

 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Agree with timeline 

for a transition to a 

fully electric fleet 

23 3 4 0 1 0 0 

Should have a fully 

electric fleet earlier 

than proposed 

8 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Should give more 

time to switch to a 

fully electric fleet 

3 3 5 2 0 2 1 

Comment / concerns 

about suitability of 

some electric 

vehicles 

2 7 3 1 0 0 3 

Electric vehicles too 

new to understand 

suitability 

1 1 0 1 0 0 0 

Charging 

infrastructure needs 

improving / not yet 

ready 

5 7 2 3 0 0 1 

General 

Disagreement with 

Age 

1 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Base 39 20 10 5 1 2 4 

 
Comments in support included: 

 
“Good to aim for fully electric fleet by 2028, but I feel taxi drivers should be 

offered grants and financial incentives to encourage early take up, 
therefore creating demand and bringing down the price.” (Public, age 35-
44, Manchester) 

“Agree with emission requirements given ample support is provided to 
upgrade vehicles.” (PHV Driver, Stockport) 

 “Vehicle emissions: what will it take to move to electric vehicles at a faster 
pace than proposed? I think the [proposal] is too loose around what's going 
to be expected of taxi operators so surely we should be looking for their 

commitment to move to electric as early as possible.” (Public, age 65-74, 
Stockport) 

 
 
 

Page 222



 
 

 

 

Concerns expressed from the trade included detailed comments made during in depth 
interviews where drivers and operators describe purchasing a vehicle as an investment, 
budgeted for the expected lifespan of a vehicle. Therefore, drivers who have already 

invested in vehicles that haven’t reached their expected lifespan cannot afford to replace 
them within the proposed timescale. 

 
“Vehicle Emissions. This is a very big step, and I think the GM Councils 
should allow more time to help operators safely and economically phase 

out old cars.” (Operator, Trafford) 

“Emissions should be allowed to come in as and when the vehicles are 

replaced so that over the coming years the fleet would naturally be 
replaced with zero emission vehicles. Retrofitting of emission kits on older 
vehicles should be allowed, as the money is not being earned by the 

drivers to be able to afford an electric taxi.” (Hackney Driver, Trafford / 
Manchester and Salford) 

"I think it’s going to be unfair to say to someone your vehicle’s not fit for 
purpose, you need to go and buy this vehicle now and it’s just going to be 
really really difficult to do that to people who’ve been doing it thirty, forty 

years, they’re struggling to make ends meet and it’s hard work." (Operator, 
Bury) 

 “We agree with the first part but must point out the ambition for a zero-
emission capable fleet by 2028, whilst sensible cannot at this stage form a 
policy as the supply, charging infrastructure, cost, ability for drivers to 

charge at home is uncertain, especially post-pandemic.   There is also 
uncertainty on grant funding for drivers, so this aspiration needs to be kept 

under review as events become clearer.” (Organisation, LPHCA) 

 “The effect on me in terms of additional crippling costs to comply with 
some of the proposals in terms of going electric will be detrimental, and 

restrictions on vehicle colour and age limit is questionable. If TfGM are 
willing to supply all the taxi industry with all new electric vehicles and 

guarantee a lifetime service and warranty, then we, the taxi industry, can 
consider the proposals. The support funding for drivers to switch to electric 
is nowhere near enough to cover the cost of these vehicles, and limited 

charging points which you can never match the fuelling stations 
accessibility and coverage for petroleum fuelling.” (PHV Driver, 

Manchester) 

The in-depth interviews provided more detail of the industry’s concerns with 
electric vehicles; the lack of electric charging points infrastructure and the lack of 

technological advancements in battery life, parts maintenance and overall 
servicing and trust in the lifespan of the vehicle.  

"A brand new electric cab, the bottom end is £55,000. So even if they gave 
you £17,500 towards one of those vehicles you’re saddling somebody with 
a debt of almost £30,000." (Hackney Driver, Salford) 

“70,000 miles he said he’d done, and his batteries are goosed and he didn’t 
realise how much the batteries were.  It’s all right for 180 miles, then you 

Page 223



 
 

 

 

get 160 miles and as the batteries start to die and get weaker and weaker 
you start getting electrical problems, you’re getting forty miles, fifty miles, 
you’ve got to replace them for new ones then. So that’s the problem with 

having electric vehicles on, good for the environment, but rubbish for the 
job, unless Tesla with their million-mile battery come along with a decent 

priced vehicle.”  (Operator, Tameside) 

"Right, because they’ve now set the standards of Euro 6, Euro 5 vehicles 
are not wanted, they’re not worth the trade-in.  I’ve enquired about this.  

The best they would offer me is three grand." (Hackney Driver, Stockport) 

"I bought a very very clean 11 plate cab in February (right before COVID) 

and I paid £5,000 for it.  I won’t get £1,000 for that now, purely because of 
this." (Operator, Stockport) 

“That’s one of their standards, they’ve raised it to thirteen years now, but 

at the time, my vehicle was too old, so I asked specifically what vehicle I 
needed to get, they told me a Euro 5, I’ve gone out and got it and now 

they’ve moved the goalpost, Euro 6 or you pay this emissions charge.” 
(Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

 

 
 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Emissions 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Two respondents had concerns regarding vehicle fraud. There were a number of 
comments about electric vehicles with two respondents agreeing with the timeline for 

transition; one felt that a fully electric fleet should be introduced earlier and another felt 
that there should be more time to switch. 
 

 

Comments and considerations 

 
Regardless of licensing policy, a required emissions standard for licensed vehicles will 

be implemented by way of the GM Clean Air Zone (where taxis and private hire vehicles 
feature in every zone category), and so it is important that the licensing regulatory 

framework complements those same requirements. It is also important in any event that 
local authorities do all they can to support the move towards a carbon neutral city region 
by 2038, and this means ensuring all council services and policies seek to reduce 

emissions at every possible opportunity, including our licensed vehicle sector.  
 
In terms of the existing fleet becoming compliant with both this policy standard and the 

CAZ; in recognition of the challenge this poses to many of our vehicle licence holders 
who own their vehicles, the disparity across the districts, as well as the impact of the 

pandemic, the GM local authoirties have worked closely with TfGM to secure essential 

Page 224



 
 

 

 

financial support from government totalling £19.7m (£9.5m for Taxis and £10.2m for 
Private Hire). This funding support will be managed through a Clean Taxi Scheme, where 
licensees will be able to apply for various grants ranging from £3k to £10k that will be 

paid directly to accredited suppliers of retrofit and replacement upgrade options. The 
higher-level grants are limited to replacing existing vehicles with ZEC or electric vehicles 

in order to support and encourage vehicle owners to transition as soon as possible. 
 
To set a date in licensing policy for a requirement to be ZEC at this time poses a 

significant risk to authorities in the current regulatory landscape. If GM authorities require 
ZEC only vehicles on the fleet when this is not a national requirement, the risk is that 

existing fleets will use the GM funding scheme to upgrade to an emissions compliant 
vehicle, but then move to non-GM licensing authorities who do not require ZEC vehicles 
in their policies. Under current regulations, these private hire vehicles and drivers will be 

able to work and operate in GM, with a CAZ compliant vehicle (assuming the CAZ 
requirement remains as is) but not be governed by GM regulations and therefore the 

only disbenefit will be to GM licensing authorities who stand to lose income recovery and 
regulatory authority. Further discussions with government about these impacts of the 
current regulatory system need to be had. 

 
Therefore, in consideration of this significant risk alongside the impacts of Covid on the 

trade, the proposal is that in the short to medium term authorities in GM will only require 
licensed vehicles to be compliant with the current emissions standard, and not to set a 
date at this time by which vehicles need to be ZEC. However, it is extremely important 

that the licensed vehicle trade understand that there is a pressing need to shift to ZEC 
only vehicles over the next decade, in order to achieve our carbon neutral targets and 

that it remains our joint ambition across the combined authorities to move existing fleets 
to ZEC in line with the GMCA Environment Plan. Proprietors would be wise to transition 
earlier wherever possible, using the funding available. 

 
The policy to require licensed vehicles to be compliant with the current emissions 

standard is now proposed as follows: 

 From the date local policy is determined; all new to licence vehicles (not temporary 
replacement vehicles on an existing licence), must be compliant with the current 

emissions standard. 

 Local transition arrangements can commence for existing fleets to be current 

emissions compliant from the date the policy decision is confirmed – with all 
existing licenses required to have compliant vehicles attached to them by 1 April 

2024. 
 
In further recognition of the significant challenge posed by this policy change, the current 

proposal under the CAZ will be that all non-compliant GM licensed vehicles will be 
exempt from the daily CAZ charge until 31 May 2023.  

 
Whilst the challenges of this proposal are acknowledged and efforts to mitigate the 
impact are proposed, the transport sector has to make significant changes at pace to 

support the reduction in harmful emissions and the achievement of carbon neutrality. As 
such, it is considered that the proposed timeline and support package will provide the 

existing fleet adequate time and opportunity to make suitable business choices going 
forward.  
 

Page 225



 
 

 

 

 
Lead Officer recommendation 

 
To require licensed vehicles to be compliant with the current Euro emissions standard 

as follows: 
 

 For new to licence vehicles from the 1st January 2022; and for the existing fleet 

vehicles are compliant with the policy standard by 1 April 2024.* This will mean 
that from the 1st April 2023 a vehicle licence will not be renewed if the vehicle does 

not meet this standard. 

 

 To note the strong ambition to move existing fleets to ZEC as soon as possible 

 
*vehicle must also be compliant with the age policy 

 

 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 4 Trafford’s Current standard 

 

Vehicle Colour 

It was proposed that all private hire vehicles 

should be white in colour and hackney 
carriages should be black with the following 
exceptions:  

 London style taxis which may be of the 
manufacturer’s colour;  

 To allow advertising on some hackney 
carriages;  

 Executive hire (for example chauffeur 
services) 

 

 

 

Trafford’s current policy is that London 

style taxis may be any manufacturer’s 
colour; but any other vehicle licensed 
as a taxi must be black. 

 
There are no colour restrictions for 

private hire vehicles other than the 
Mercedes Vito and Peugeot E7 which 
must be white or silver (this is to 

distinguish those vehicles from 
Mercedes Vitos and Peugeot E7s 

which have been licensed as hackney 
carriages). 
 

Reason for Proposal 

 
The Standard was proposed primarily in the interests of public safety, to enable 
passengers to better distinguish (alongside other vehicle standard requirements) 

between a licensed Hackney Carriage and a licensed Private Hire Vehicle; to distinguish 
between a legitimately licensed vehicle and a bogus vehicle, and to better distinguish 

between a vehicle licensed by a GM authority and that from out of the area. The proposal 
also intended to bring a more uniform appearance to vehicles licensed in GM to support 
strategic objectives around the quality of offer withing the transport network. 

 
The exception to allow London Style cabs to be of the manufacturer’s colour was in 

acknowledgement of the very recognisable and unique design of the traditional London 

Page 226



 
 

 

 

Style cab, which doesn’t have to be black in colour to be clearly recognised as a Hackney 
Carriage. 
 

 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
This proposal provoked a significantly larger number of comments than other standards, 

particularly amongst the public and private hire trade as can be seen below: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle Colour 214 23 95 12 2 1 13 

 

This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Agree with white colour 

proposals 
46 2 3 0 1 0 2 

Support one colour but 

not white 
27 0 11 1 0 0 3 

Don't think standard 

colours are necessary 
138 20 68 10 1 1 8 

Vinyl wraps should be 

allowed as well as full 

resprays 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Driver should have a 

choice of colour 
8 1 14 2 0 0 0 

Base 214 23 95 12 2 1 13 

 
Whilst there was some support for this proposal, the overwhelming majority of 

respondents that commented opposed the proposal of a colour policy. Not many 
comments referenced the proposal with regards to Hackney vehicles, although the 

following comments were made in relation to this which assumed that non purpose-built 
taxis will still be allowed to be licensed as Hackneys: 
 

“As Oldham, Rochdale and Wigan councils are allowed white saloon cars as Hackney, 
these white cars can be changed to black colour with minimum cost. Then black saloon 

cars can be easily blended with rest of Hackney fleets”. (Association Rep, Oldham) 
 
Most respondents only referencing the proposal with regards to private hire: 

 

Page 227



 
 

 

 

“There will be a massive shortage in available white vehicles suitable for 
private hire use, and the few that are available (New or used) will be at 
premium cost. Will the licensing district be assisting in paying this extra cost 

or assisting to resolve the lack of supply.” (Organisation, Anonymous)   

“There’s ten boroughs in the whole of Greater Manchester, right.  Only one 

borough has got white colour private hire taxis, which is Manchester, so 
shouldn’t they come to our standard and be a normal colour, why should 
we go to their standard?  I don’t understand, above the rules, so why are 

we being pushed to Manchester standards, when Manchester city, they can 
afford, they have the businesses, there, what do we have in Rochdale?  

You know, how can we sustain, how can they justify making us pay extra 
money to paint our car a white colour, what’s the benefit for the driver, tell 
me what is the benefit for our drivers?  I’m sorry, but there’s no benefit, is 

there?” (Licensed private hire driver – own my vehicle, Rochdale) 

“We are supportive of any measure that can assist in promoting the safety 

of private hire passengers and the public more generally. However, it is 
unclear to us how a single colour policy would contribute to the safety 
message and we are concerned that it could be detrimental to passenger 

safety and hinder the transition to a zero emission private hire fleet. By 
anchoring passengers to the belief that their private hire vehicle will be 

white, it potentially reduces the additional safety checks passengers will 
make prior to entering a vehicle. The limited supply of electric vehicles and 
wheelchair accessible vehicles in white will also exacerbate the shortage 

of suitable vehicles of these types forcing drivers into vehicles that do not 
support Manchester’s zero carbon ambitions” (PH Operator, Manchester) 

“I think it’s an unreasonable request, because it doesn’t affect the running 
of the car, but I think certain companies like to have all their vehicles a 
certain colour and I think they’re the people who could dictate.  It’s like 

corporate identity, really, it’s corporate identity and I think it would be wrong 
of the Government or any local authority to say this has to be this colour”. 

(Licensed private hire driver – own my vehicle, Trafford) 
 

This was also raised in the in-depth interviews as the following quotes illustrate: 

“Yeah, I just don’t understand that possibly spraying up to fifty thousand 
cars white is good for the environment.” (PHV driver, Wigan) 

“What about the likes of like me who bought this two years ago, a couple of 
drivers have just bought new vehicles that are blue, there’s one company 
that’s bought twenty odd, dark blue and red minibus wheelchair vehicles, 

so have they got to spray all their vehicles white?” (Hackney Driver, 
Tameside) 

Many of the comments related to how quickly white cars become dirty. Not all PHV 
drivers were opposed to the idea of a common colour, but they were opposed to 
the colour white as the following quote illustrates: 

“With white cars, we struggle to keep them looking clean. There have been 
times where I’ve taken my white car for a wash in the morning, and by the 

Page 228



 
 

 

 

evening, the car is dirty from outside. I’m not saying that my silver car 
remains clean. However, I’d like to point out the fact that dirt stands out 
significant on white cars than it does on silver cars.” (PHV driver, 

Manchester) 

The following comment was received about the risk to people with sight 

impairments: 

Guide Dogs welcomes the proposal for standardised colours and marking 
on private hire vehicles and taxis across Greater Manchester … however 

some passengers with low vision told us that they had concerns regarding 
the use of the colour white for PHVs, as it may make it more difficult to 

identify a PHV easily. This is because sunlight reflecting off a white car 
creates glare, which can, in the words of one GM guide dog owner, “cause 
white vehicles to blend into the background”. Another regular taxi user with 

sight loss also expressed concerns that white isn’t a colour that is easily 
identifiable.” (Guide Dogs organisation) 

Most members of the public were also less concerned about colour of the vehicle: 

“I'm not concerned on the colour of the vehicles as long as they display the 
correct approval information (decals) on the bodywork” (Public, age 45-54, 

Bolton) 

“Vehicle colour - I don’t agree with. I don’t understand why having a white 

car for private hire will improve the service and standards.  What will be put 
on place to support drivers in replacing brand new vehicles?” (Public, age 
not provided, Bolton) 

However, a few members of the public did feel a consistent colour would make it 
easier to identify a PHV. 

“Vehicle colour - Would not improve driving standards but easier for public 
to identify” (Public, age 45-54, Bolton) 

Representatives also argued against the proposed standard colours: 

“With respect this is an extremely poor proposal, the few people within the 
PHV industry that I have spoken to that would accept this as being rational, 

either run or own white vehicles and even they accept that prescribing white 
only will almost certainly increase prices, reduce model availability and 
potentially create a shortage of available vehicles. Here are just some of 

the other reasons not to do this: 

 Private Hire Vehicles are Privately booked not taxis 

 A uniform colour will make PHVs look more like taxis 

 Modern technology and the number plate identifies vehicles to 

customers 

 Passengers will start approaching white vehicles (this is dangerous) 

 Bogus drivers will use a white vehicle (this is dangerous) 

Page 229



 
 

 

 

 Passengers from neighbouring authorities will be confused 

 Tourists travelling to multiple destinations will be confused 

 Drivers who move into TfGM with a vehicle they used elsewhere won’t 
be able to get licensed 

 Electric and Hybrid vehicles are not predominantly white 

 Colour schemes are unwelcomed by vehicle hirers, replacement vehicle 
suppliers and major trade suppliers 

 Colour schemes for PHVs have been successfully challenged in the 
courts 

 Some excellent PH industry vehicles are not available in white” 
(Organisation LPHCA) 

“This approach actually promotes, encourages and support the issue of 
cross border hiring, since all 10 districts (and indeed further afield such as 
Rossendale and others.) will look identical, and therefore there will be very 

little to demonstrate to passengers whether the vehicle is correctly licensed 
or not” (Organisation, NPHTA) 

“Making all the vehicles uniform in colour could result in some negative 
unintended consequences. Suddenly, a fleet of white GM private hire 
vehicles become taxis and many will exploit this by plying for hire without a 

relevant licence”. (Unite the Union - Manchester Hackney Carriage) 

  

Trafford Response: 
 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Colour 15 1 2 0 0 0 0 

 
More than half of the comments regarding vehicle colour by the public (n=9) stated 

that they didn’t feel the single colour was necessary as did one each of hackney 
and PHV drivers. 
 

“not sure that one is necessary - also would make cloning a car easier (i.e. 
you could buy two Skoda Octavia, both white, register one to licence team 

then clone the licence plate, and two drivers could use the "same car"” 
(Public, age 45-54) 
 

“I don’t think this is necessary, sometimes it can be helpful if looking for a 
specific colour if the company tells you what colour to expect” (Public, age 

25-34) 
 

 
Comments and considerations 

Page 230



 
 

 

 

 
Background in GM and the National landscape 
It is generally accepted in licensing practice that in order to support and promote public 

safety, the public need to be able to clearly identify legitimately licensed Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles; that licensed vehicles must be distinguishable from 

each other (clear demarcation between Hackney and Private Hire) and from other 
vehicles. As such, many licensing authorities have requirements on the types of vehicles 
that can be licensed as either a Hackney or Private Hire, have stipulations around 

signage/livery and plates, and have some element of colour policy (usually requiring 
Hackney’s to be of a certain colour, and stipulating that private hire vehicles can be 

anything but that colour). Having clear identifiers for a legitimately licensed vehicle (and 
enforcing those policies) better mitigates the risks of travelling in a mode of transport that 
carries the highest risk for individuals and vulnerable passengers. 

 
Across GM, policies relating to colour, make/model, roof signs, livery, stickers and plates 

vary widely. Within these proposals are other standards around vehicle specifications to 
bring about consistency of these identifying requirements. This standard proposal deals 
with colour only and as set out above, proposed that Hackney’s be black and Private 

Hire be white in colour to support clear identification and public safety. 
 

Most members may be aware that several GM authorities have had Hackney vehicle 
colour policies for some time; currently requiring within their Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Policy that all licensed Hackneys (that are not purpose built taxis) must be black in colour. 

Purpose Built or London Style Hackney vehicles may be the manufacturer’s colour. 
 

Manchester City Council (MCC) also currently has a Private Hire Vehicle (PHV) Colour 
Policy, which appears unique in the industry (officers are not aware of any similar PHV 
policy in the UK). This policy was introduced in 2001 alongside other vehicle 

requirements in response to the death of student Rachel Thacker, who was brutally 
sexually assaulted and murdered in Manchester after getting into a vehicle posing as a 

licensed PHV after a night out in 1996. The policy intention was to improve public safety 
by making legitimately licensed PHVs more distinguishable and make it more difficult for 
an unlicensed driver to masquerade in the City. This approach was supported by the 

Suzy Lamplugh Trust, whose longest running campaign related to the regulation of the 
taxi and private hire industry. The Suzy Lamplugh Trust were also a member of the Task 

and Finish Group on Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing that presented its report to 
government in September 2018, and they state in their continued lobbying of 
government: “National minimum standards should also strengthen requirements to 

ensure that the public are able to distinguish easily between tax is and PHVs, and 
licensed and unlicensed vehicles”. 

 
Initially in 2001, MCC’s policy stated that all licensed PHVs had to be white in colour (and 
gave over 5 years for the existing fleet at the time to transition). In 2003, the policy was 

amended following submissions by the trade about the increased cost of white vehicles 
as a direct consequence of the policy, as well as the availability of vehicles. The trade at 

the time suggested the inclusion of silver within the PHV colour policy and this 
amendment was accepted by the Committee at the time. The only subsequent change 
to the policy since 2003 was to clarify what would be acceptable as ‘silver’ due to wide 

variances from manufacturers. The trade have not expressed any major issues obtaining 
white or silver vehicles since 2003. The size of the licensed PHV fleet in MCC has 

Page 231



 
 

 

 

increased in that time from under 2000 to currently around 2860, having previously 
peaked at over 3400. 
 

It is fair to say that there is no hard evidence by which to accurately assess the impact 
of MCC’s colour policy and no data is held about enforcement activity 20 years ago by 

which to compare current data. From a proactive compliance point of view, it has 
certainly made it easier for officers to distinguish between an MCC and non-MCC 
licensed vehicle and anecdotally officers say there is some public awareness of this, but 

also there remains significant levels of ignorance of and/or apathy towards the policy 
amongst the public and particularly the younger generations within the night time 

economy. It is also fair to say that the policy has been undermined since its inception by 
the fact that vehicles from neighbouring districts (and more recently from further afield) 
with no colour and varying vehicle identifying policies, have always been able to enter 

the city to pick up, drop off or sub-contract; and this undermining has increased tenfold 
since the changes made in the Deregulation Act.  

 
Response to specific concerns raised in the consultation 
 

It should be noted that apart from generalised comments in relation to ‘not thinking 
standardised colours are necessary’, there were no specific comments disagreeing with 

the proposal for all licensed Hackney Vehicles to be black in colour (or manufacturer’s 
colour for London Style cabs). Some comments have however been received with 
regards to extending the exception on manufacturer’s colour to any Hackney Carriage 

that is purpose built as such by the manufacturer, which includes all the additional needs 
adaptations built as standard (and not converted to a Wheelchair Accessible Taxi after 

manufacture). Given the significant challenge to proprietors in acquiring second hand 
compliant purpose built/WAV Hackneys at present, it is considered reasonable at this 
stage to permit manufacturer’s colour for any purpose-built Hackney. 

 
All the following concerns outlined are in relation to the proposal for PHVs to be white in 

colour: 
 
Expense/Availability: there were a number of comments raise in relation to the cost of 

vehicles of a specified colour increasing (as they did in response to Manchester’s 2001 
policy) or the cost of re-sprays to make vehicles compliant. This risk could be mitigated 

with the introduction of another specified colour, and/or the phasing of a transition period 
for existing licence holders (for example 5 years) should the policy proposal go ahead. 
However the availability of specific vehicles, particularly EV, Hybrid models remains 

limited on the market at present and it may be considered too onerous to have the 
additional requirement that it be a specific colour also at this stage. 

 
Uniformity would make PHVs look more like Taxis / reduce safety: This is a relevant 

consideration and one which should be carefully considered. Whilst on the one hand 

without the policy standard it could be more difficult for members of the public to easily 
identify operators that use vehicles licensed within a GM district, on the other hand, the 

higher the number of PHVs operating within GM, the higher the possibility that members 
of the public don’t perceive them as working for separate businesses or indeed as 
licensed by separate authorities. In turn it stands to reason that there also follows a 

higher possibility of illegal plying for hire, as the uniformity of appearance across a larger 
fleet comprising of all 10 districts could be perceived as ‘taxis’ by the public. Practically 

Page 232



 
 

 

 

this could also be a challenge for compliance officers, who may struggle to identify which 
district a vehicle is licensed by sight, and it could increase the possibility of cross border 
hiring. 

 
The comments from the Guide Dogs organisation about the colour white being 

challenging for those with sight impairments have not been expressed previously in 
relation to MCC’s current policy but will need to be given due consideration in the context 
of this proposal. 

 
Risk of licensees moving out of GM: As this was one of the standards within the policy 

proposals that members of the trade most disagreed with, it can reasonably be inferred 
that there is a significant risk that existing PHV licence holders would move out of GM 
before they were subjected to the policy condition, possibly after already making use of 

the Clean Taxi Fund. Members will know that this won’t preclude those licensees (both 
drivers and vehicles) from operating and working back within GM, but subject to the 

policies, conditions and checks conducted by other authorities. As well as losing recovery 
of costs within licensing regimes, the public safety assurances afforded by GM districts’ 
policies will not necessarily apply. The further risk to licensing services business models 

is that given the strength of negative feeling in relation this policy, it could preclude GM 
districts attracting licensees back to their local area. 

 
Modern Technology and number plates identify vehicles to customers: It is a 

relevant point that the technology that currently exists and is used by many PH 

Operators, was not available in 2001 when Manchester introduced its policy and there 
are now other means available to assist the public in ensuring they are entering the 

correct vehicle they have pre-booked. It should be noted that not all PH Operators make 
use of such technology and so this cannot be fully relied upon. It is also the case that 
despite these provisions and other identifying specifications, many passengers, 

particularly those travelling in the night-time economy, will still enter vehicles they have 
not pre-booked.  

 
Bogus drivers can still use the colour white: It is a fact that a bogus driver with ill 

intent could just as easily access a white coloured vehicle and attempt to pose as a 

legitimately licensed driver. The colour policy alone was never intended to mitigate this 
risk in isolation, and it is alongside other policies relating to livery requirements that a 

colour policy would have more effect. However, as outlined above, the impact of such a 
policy can also be severely undermined if not implemented at a national level in the 
current landscape.  

 
 

Other considerations: 
 
In Manchester where the policy has existing for almost 20 years, intelligence from MCC’s 

compliance officers suggests that bogus/unlicensed drivers has reduced significantly 
over that time, but this cannot necessarily be solely attributed to the policy in isolation 

and it is likely there are a number of factors contributing to this. MCC also conducts 
regular undercover operations with GMP (on average once a month) where plain clothed 
Special Constables, posing as potential customers, undertake journeys when 

approached by private hire drivers illegally plying for hire. Operations are run during peak 
periods into the early hours during of the night-time economy and often detect upwards 

Page 233



 
 

 

 

of seven offences each night, and since it has been running over the last four years, has 
detected no unlicensed/bogus drivers. Whilst it is not known that any licensed drivers 
illegally approaching customers without a booking have any malintent, clearly the 

existence of the colour policy in conjunction with other policies and a robust proactive 
compliance approach, does not sufficiently deter many drivers from approaching 

customers without bookings within a busy social economy.  
 
There is a strong argument that the existence of other official livery requirements, i.e. 

properly attached and easily readable plates and non-magnetic Council issued stickers 
placed in specific locations on the vehicle, alongside other vehicle specifications should 

be sufficient to assist passengers in identifying a properly licensed private hire vehicle, 
particularly if they have any additional identifying information provided by the Operator 
when they book. Recommendation 5 helps fulfil this important consideration. 

 
 

All of these concerns emphasise the importance of public awareness and personal 
responsibility around the risks posed by not properly pre-booking PHVs, and not 
checking the vehicle you are entering is the one dispatched by the Operator. There is 

another risk that passengers could overly rely on the colour policy and may be less likely 
therefore to make additional checks prior to entering a vehicle. Whilst licensing 

authorities can seek to mitigate the very real risks as much as possible, it is known that 
people are less inclined to take necessary precautions in particular circumstances, there 
is only so much that authorities can do to remove these risks entirely and continuing to 

raise public awareness to encourage individuals to make sufficient checks and 
supporting better travel choices is key to improving public safety. 

 
Finally, if Members are not inclined to support this proposal either in part or whole, it is 
important to note that this will not preclude any authority from retaining or introducing a 

specific colour policy if they wish to do so. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 

To retain the Council’s current policy standard that all Hackney Carriage Vehicles should 
be black in colour with the following exceptions: 

 London Style Taxis may be of the manufacturer’s colour 

 Advertising is allowed on London Style Taxis 

 
Not to recommend a specific colour requirement for Private Hire vehicles at this stage. 
A piece of research is to be commissioned to further consider the risks/benefits of this 

policy. However, single colour for private hire vehicles remains an aspiration of the MLS 
programme. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



 
 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 5 Trafford’s Current standard 

 

Vehicle Livery 

It was proposed that all vehicles will: 

 display permanently affixed licence 

plates on the front and back of the vehicle 

 display a ‘GM approved’ sticker on the 

bonnet 
 

It was proposed that all PHVs will: 

 only display stickers provided by the 
licensing authority (at cost) which will 

bear the operator name, ‘advanced 
bookings only’, ‘not insured unless pre-

booked’ and the licensing authority logo  

 display those stickers on both rear side 
doors and the back window 

 not use any magnetic stickers 
 

 

 

Trafford currently requires that licence 
plates are firmly affixed to the rear only 

of licensed vehicles. 
 

 
 
Trafford requires that all private hire 

vehicles display a roof sign showing the 
operator name and telephone number. 

Reason for Proposal 

 

As outlined in Standard 4 above, having clear and consistent specification for livery that 
helps identify and distinguish properly licensed vehicles as either Hackney Carriages or 

Private Hire vehicles is a significant aspect of reducing the risk to public safety. 
Stipulating that officially issued plates and stickers have to be properly affixed is an 
important feature of this mitigation, so that stickers and plates cannot be easily 

transferred or used on non-licensed vehicles and help give assurance and confident to 
the travelling public.  

 
Specifying and standardising what stickers can be placed where also helps raise the 
aesthetic look of the fleet, ensuring consistency, neatness and guards against the use of 

inappropriate material or messaging that would fall below the standard the authority 
expects in representing the district. 

 
 
Consultation Response  

 

GM level response: 
 
This proposal generated a fairly high number of comments compared to many other 

standards: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Livery 62 7 47 6 1 3 11 

 
This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Page 235



 
 

 

 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle liveries should 

still be regulated 
9 3 9 2 0 0 3 

Problems with liveries 

e.g. distracting 
3 1 27 1 0 2 0 

Liveries cause 

devaluation 
0 0 6 0 0 0 1 

Use stickers / livery to 

make cabs identifiable  
27 1 1 1 0 0 4 

Large fines for improper 

use of liveries 
2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Include GM branding 

e.g. bee / variation by 

district 

9 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Liveries can hinder 

driver ability to use 

vehicle for personal use 

2 0 3 0 1 1 0 

Disagree with livery - 

unspecified 
12 2 7 3 0 0 2 

Advertisement is a 

source of income 
6 1 0 0 0 0 2 

Base 62 7 47 6 1 3 11 

 

27 Members of the public and 1 PHV operator agreed with use of stickers/livery to make 
vehicles more identifiable for customers and authorities equally, on the road and on 

CCTV. Some feel it will increase safety, such as making it easier for customers to hail 
hackney in the evening / when visibility is poor. 

“Vehicle livery - operator logo should also be displayed on bonnet to assist 

authorities in identifying taxi via CCTV when required.” (Public, age 35-44, 
Bury) 

“I think it's very important that taxis still have their company logo on the side.  
When I personally order a taxi that's the first thing I look for before checking 
with the driver.” (Public, age 25-34, Stockport) 

There were some suggestions to include Manchester branding like “The Bee” symbol or 
have colour on bonnet based on the licensing authority. 

“Livery: I think it's important to recognise each vehicle especially at night-time 
and have Manchester Theme e.g. "the Bee" symbol.  Name of operator or 
driver again may not be too visible at night” (Public, age 75+, Bolton) 

Page 236



 
 

 

 

“All private hire vehicle should be white with an identifiable stripe on the 
side/bonnet depicting a colour coordinating with the issuing authority. ie 
Stockport Mauve. Tameside Yellow, Bolton blue etc. This would identify the 

vehicle to that particular issuing authority, ensuring an easily identifiable vehicle 
correct to the area.” (Public, age 55-64, Tameside) 

Eight respondents commented about how they felt livery could be a means of additional 
income to drivers, with some feeling advertisements add interest and support their use. 

“The advertisements that sometimes cover Hackney cabs can be interesting 

and eye catching to passengers. They make the city more colourful and 
interesting.” (Public, age 25-34, Manchester) 

“As regard to advertising on cabs this is a second source of income and a big 
part of diversity of generating revenue.” (Hackney Driver, Tameside) 

However, PHV drivers raised issues with the use of livery including:  

 Use of vehicle for personal use: PHV owners were concerned they will not be 

able to use their vehicle for personal use.  

“I think there is no need to slap stickers on private hire cars. We can't use 
that car for personal use or social, if I would out with family people would 

approach my car asking if it is their taxi. That’s mean I have to buy another 
car for personal use causing more pollution and traffic on the road. I hope 
this makes sense. Greater London has no stickers on PHVs, which is much 

bigger in size and population. Thanks.” (PHV Driver, Bolton) 

 Lead to distraction: liveries on vehicles may lead to distraction and take the 

essence of the hackney. 

“Another thing I don’t agree with is that purpose-built black cabs e.g. 
London style only taxis would lose their prestige if stickers were put all over 

them and could cause a distraction if they are on the bonnet, as well as 
they don’t slope away like in other vehicles.” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

 Vehicles become targeted: liveries lead to vehicles being targeted by vandals, 

with some respondents expressing concerns about their vehicles being damaged 
deliberately. 

“Vehicle Livery - this is already an issue for Manchester licensed vehicles 
that become a target for vandals as they are easily recognisable.  Stone 

throwing, egg throwing is commonplace on the streets of Manchester.  I 
would like to see an alternative to the visible livery.” (Vehicle leasing 
company, Manchester) 

 Devaluation of Vehicles: stickers affect the paintwork leading to devaluation of the 

taxis. 

“Vehicle livery I agree with this but NOT the placement of the bonnet sticker 
as a Manchester licence vehicle this has always been and caused issues 

with paintwork damage as any stickers on the bonnet and wings of a 
vehicle are the worst place you could choose to put them as the heat from 
the engine causes paint damage and discolouration when they are on for 

many years and cause vehicle depreciation value due to the paintwork 

Page 237



 
 

 

 

damage and in my honest opinion make the vehicles look horrible just 
stickers on the rear doors is good placement even the sticker in the rear 
window is sometimes now not suitable as with the shape and style of some 

vehicles rear window the sticker placement can cause issues with rear view 
through the rear view mirror when reversing a vehicle.” (PHV Driver, 

Manchester) 

“Why is there a need to have a sticker on the bonnet? With licence plates 
front and back plus side stickers. The stickers cause damage to paint work 

plus discolouration.” (PHV Driver, outside Greater Manchester) 

Two representatives suggested including livery advertisement as a source of income 

within the current restrictions. 

“The restriction on livery has been long established, but there is merit in 
considering an exemption for public health or public interest livery pre-

approved by the licensing authority. This could provide additional income to 
drivers who are faced with escalating costs and increased competition, and 

assist with public health campaigns; for instance, on Covid-19, smoking 
cessation or other important campaigns.” (Councillor / Elected official, 
Oldham West) 

 
 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle Livery 9 1 6 0 0 0 0 

 

The public liked the proposal as it would help them identify specific cars but drivers 
were concerned about damage to their vehicles and subsequent devaluation: 

 
“All taxis whether they are hackney carriages or private hire should be 
identifiable by the general public so mistakes are not made.” (Public, age 55- 

64)) 
 

“Big bold stickers are an eyesore. One has to also consider drivers utilise 
vehicles for personal use.” (PHV driver) 

 

 
 
Comments and considerations 

 

As outlined above, the livery policies are integral to supporting the identification of 
properly licensed vehicles and help distinguish between the two sectors. The governing 
legislation simply requires that the council issue a plate and stipulate how it should be 

‘exhibited on the vehicle’, but caselaw has determined that the design of the plate is a 
matter for the issuing authority and cannot be challenged by the licence holder. Most 

licensing authorities stipulate additional identification requirements in order to support 
proper identification, and therefore in turn support public safety.  

Page 238



 
 

 

 

 
This proposal requires both a rear and front plate to better enable the public and officers 
to identify properly licensed vehicles more readily. Requiring the plate to be properly 

affixed also safeguards against the plate being used on non-licensed vehicles and in turn 
supports public confidence in the regulatory regime. Too often licensed vehicles are seen 

with plates that are affixed with clips, Velcro or other temporary fixings from other 
authorities and this undermines our local efforts to safeguard the travelling public. Whilst 
the DfT did not refer to any specific vehicle standards in its Statutory Guidance published 

in 2020, it did make reference in its ‘Best Practice Guide’ March 2010 to it being helpful 
‘if licence plates are displayed on the front as well as the rear of vehicles’, and it suggests 

that licence conditions requiring a sign on the vehicle in specified forms that help identify 
the operator, the licensing authority and some words such as ‘pre-booked only’ seem to 
be best practice. It stands to reason therefore that policies prohibiting the use of other 

signs/stickers would be preferable so as not to confuse the public and make identification 
a clearer process. The best practice guide also warns against the use of roof mounted 

signs on PHVs which are liable to cause confusion with a taxi. 
 
Similarly, not permitting the use of stickers that are not permanently affixed has the same 

safeguarding intention. When officers are conducting proactive compliance on the 
streets, particularly within the night-time economy when passengers may be more 

vulnerable, it is much more effective if officers can easily identify a licensed vehicle, the 
authority it is licensed by and for PHVs, the Operator it is working for. Without this easier 
identification on the street, lengthy enquiries may need to be conducted and 

drivers/vehicles cannot be dealt with as quickly if there are concerns warranting the use 
of immediate action. If licensees can only use officially approved stickers for example 

(and in addition their distribution is effectively managed) it makes it much more difficult 
to obtain those stickers and pose as a legitimately licensed vehicle. Additionally, those 
drivers in vehicles that may not be as easily identifiable, may be subject to less scrutiny 

when in other districts and therefore less accountable to their licence conditions and 
responsibilities. 

 
Some respondents in the consultation made a number of points in relation to stickers 
which are addressed in turn below: 

 
Personal Use: Caselaw has determined that a private hire vehicle is always a private 

hire vehicle (Benson v Boyce 1997), even if it is being used for domestic/personal use 
and cannot be driven by a non-licensed driver; therefore there can be no scope for 
enabling licence holders to remove identification if they wish to use it for personal use.  

 
Licensed Vehicles being targeted: Authorities are aware of allegations being made 

intermittently that licensed private hire vehicles are targeted with anti-social behaviour 
and therefore request the removal of identifying stickers. For all the reasons outlined 
above, most authorities in GM that have relevant sticker policies have resisted this. Anti -

social behaviour in all its forms should be challenged and tackled directly by partners 
working effectively together to identify the offenders and take relevant action. The 

removal of identifying stickers that perform a safeguarding function in one respect in a 
bid to prevent/deter anti-social behaviour, only serves to weaken public safety. 
Additionally, whilst there is no doubt that some drivers have suffered targeted anti -social 

behaviour, it is unclear what the true frequency of such occurrences is and some 
suggestion by other members of the trade that this allegation of targeting is made in a 

Page 239



 
 

 

 

bid to allow PHVs to work for more than one operator at a time. Enquiries with relevant 
authorities with regards to reporting, and requests for specific information/evidence, have 
often resulted in very little information coming forward and concurrently a number of 

approaches have been made by drivers to relax sticker policies to enable working for 
more than one operator at a time. As such, on balance, it is considered the best approach 

that licensing authorities do not remove or relax safeguarding measures with regards to 
stickers, but instead work with drivers, operators and partners wherever anti -social 
behaviour is reported to hold those individuals to account and deter such behaviour. 

 
 
Devaluation of vehicles: Whilst there may be some risk of discolouration or damage to 

paintwork from the use of adhesive stickers if they are left affixed for a long period, it is 
not considered a strong enough reason to allow the public safety risks associated with 

the use of magnetic stickers. A licensed vehicle is a business and just like any other 
business that may use vehicles (that will always depreciate in value in any event) as well 

as use identifiers on vehicles, should consider and build these costs into the business 
model.  
 

 
Depictions of the proposals can be found at Appendix 2. It should be noted that colour 

of the vehicles is for illustrative purposes only, and exact branding has not been finalised; 
but the intention is that: 

 required stickers be yellow in colour with an ambition to link to the wider Bee 

Network transport brand for Greater Manchester 

 have the local authority crest/logo clearly identifiable 

 plate colours and sizes will be specified by individual districts 
 

 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 
To require that all vehicles will: 

 display permanently affixed licence plates on the front and back of the vehicle 

 display a ‘GM approved’ sticker on the bonnet 

 
To require that all PHVs will: 

 only display stickers provided by the licensing authority (at cost) which will bear the 

operator name, ‘advanced bookings only’, ‘not insured unless pre-booked’ and the 
licensing authority logo  

 display those stickers on both rear side doors and the back window 

 not use any magnetic stickers 

 
*Specified design/dimensions and placement on vehicles to be provided 

 
That the implementation date for this standard be delegated to the Corporate Director 

of Place in consultation with the Executive Member for Environment and Regulatory 
Services with consideration of the need to procure the necessary supplier/materials; to 
communicate the changes to the trade; and to ensure that processes are in place for a 

robust implementation of the standards. 
 

Page 240



 
 

 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 6 Trafford’s Current standard 

 
Vehicle Testing 

It was proposed that all vehicles more than 3 
years old will be tested at least twice a year 
and that all vehicles will be tested against the 

DVSA MOT standard as a minimum. (This will 
be at cost to the vehicle licence 

proprietor/driver). 
 

 
 

Trafford’s current policy is to require 
vehicles to be tested on first application 
and every six months thereafter, 

irrespective of the age of the vehicle. All 
vehicles are tested against the DVSA 

MOT standard plus Trafford’s Vehicle 
Compliance Manual. 
 

Reason for Proposal 

 

The legal requirement for licensed vehicles is that they are subject to at least an annual 
test (MOT or equivalent) – for taxis this is always at least annually and for PHVs this is 

after the vehicle is 3 years old. 
 
Those authorities within GM that have introduced a more frequent testing regime to the 

basic annual test required by law, have done so on the back of testing data that has 
evidenced high levels of testing failures in older vehicles.  

 
Licensing figures would also suggest that with the increase of ‘licence shopping’ since 
the impact of the Deregulation Act, vehicle licence holders have sought out those 

authorities that have lower testing frequencies (alongside other lower policy standards) 
and so this proposal seeks to harmonise the testing regimes across GM to minimise the 

variance and better ensure the safety standard of vehicles carrying the public.  
 
 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 
 

This standard received a fair number of responses compared to some others: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Maintenance 

and Testing 

44 20 31 4 0 0 2 

 

 
This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent categories: 

 

Page 241



 
 

 

 

Comment Category 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Agree with proposed 

plan for vehicle testing 
20 7 8 1 0 0 1 

More vehicle testing 

required than proposed 
3 1 0 1 0 0 0 

Less vehicle testing 

required than proposed 
10 4 16 2 0 0 1 

Reporting unroadworthy 

vehicles should be 

simple 

4 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Maintenance spot 

checks should be 

performed 

3 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Stricter checks on 

testing centres 
2 3 0 0 0 0 0 

Need more places to be 

able to conduct tests 
0 6 5 0 0 0 0 

Cars that have been 

written off and repaired 

should be allowed to be 

licensed again 

0 1 4 0 0 0 1 

Testing frequency 

should be based on the 

vehicle mileage 

5 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Base 44 20 31 4 0 0 2 

 

 
Most respondents that commented provided a general comment of support for the 

proposed standard: 

“Vehicle testing should be twice a year, main renewal and a 6-month 
inspection throughout the 10 years of licence as Manchester have 4 tests 

for vehicles over 5 years old which is ridiculous as the standard DVSA 
MOT test is valid for all road vehicles for 12 months by general public, so 

for taxis, twice a year is acceptable.” (PHV Driver, Manchester) 

“Also, important that if we're mandating twice-yearly safety checks these 
are not prohibitively expensive or driver's may be priced out of operation.” 

(Public, age 25-34, Rochdale) 

Five respondents suggested more testing is needed than what is proposed, feeling the 

additional checks are needed due to the high mileage such vehicles generally do.  

Page 242



 
 

 

 

“Vehicle testing should be more frequent; these vehicles are higher than 
average mileage vehicles so need more testing.” (Public, age 45-54, 
Oldham) 

Four hackney drivers, 16 PHV drivers and 10 members of the public felt less testing was 
needed. Drivers from an Asian background were more likely to give this comment. 

“Testing - Tests should not be conducted twice per year. This is overkill.” 
(Public, age 18-24, location not provided) 

“Annual mot test seems adequate to me.  As I have a 14-year-old car, I 

would be ok with a taxi over 10 years old.” (Public, age 65-74, Stockport) 

Some respondents suggested the amount of vehicle testing should depend on the age 

of the vehicle, with newer vehicles requiring less testing.  

“Vehicle age: having bought many vehicles for private hire. Usually around 
3-4 years old, and financing over three years. Doesn't leave me with a 

finance free private hire vehicle for very long. So I would welcome the 10 
years. The vehicle is being tested twice a year. Maybe the final one or two 

years could be three times a year.” (PHV Driver, Manchester) 

“On vehicle testing, I think vehicles under three years old should have one 
test a year, and vehicles three years and over should have two.” (Hackney 

Driver, Stockport) 

“Vehicle testing instead of making a car redundant at 10 years old. Why 

not change and at eight years old and put the cars on three tests per year 
at least then the vehicle stays in maintained condition and keeps the driver 
in work as there are enough taking taxpayers money without the councils 

making more unemployed.” (Public, age 55-64, Wigan) 

A small number of respondents, both members of the public and drivers, suggested 

testing frequency should be based on vehicle mileage. 

“Vehicle testing should be linked to the amount of mileage a taxi covers.” 
(Public, age 55-64, Rochdale) 

“Vehicle testing - I believe a more onerous testing regime should be 
avoided. Speaking personally, I have seen the number of miles that I cover 

in a year reduce to a level that is less than most private cars, yet I have to 
produce my vehicle for two enhanced tests every year. Obviously, vehicles 
must be safe as a priority but so should every vehicle that is on the road.” 

(Hackney Driver, Stockport) 

Six hackney drivers and five PHV drivers felt more testing places were needed, and three 

Hackney drivers also felt stricter checks should be required at testing centres to ensure 
vehicles are roadworthy and safe.  

“Vehicle Testing Vehicles should be tested twice a year to a more rigorous 

test at a local authority test centre and not at a for profit MOT station. 
There should be less chance of favouritism and corruption.” (Hackney 

Driver, Wigan) 

Page 243



 
 

 

 

“Private hire should not look like a Hackney Hackneys should be the most 
versatile vehicle Testing Vehicles should be tested at least twice a year at 
the local authority testing facilities. At a higher standard than the MOT 

standard. And not at any MOT station or not for profit.” (Hackney Driver, 
Wigan) 

“Vehicle testing should be allowed at any government approved testing 
station and not just be tested by local authorities so they can take 
advantage.” (Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

Three respondents suggested maintenance spot checks should be performed.  

“Vehicle conditions should be subject to an annual check to ensure fit for 

purpose and that spot checks should be made around the Borough to 
ensure these standards are maintained.” (Public, age 45-54, Rochdale) 

Four respondents felt the process for reporting unroadworthy vehicles should be simple.  

“Members of the public should have the ease of reporting the poor condition 
of a vehicle to the issuing authority easily through a call centre or web 

address instead of going through the hoops and jumps that occurs today.” 
(Public, age 55-64, Tameside) 

 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle Maintenance 

and Testing 

3 0 3 0 0 0 0 

 
Four of the respondents felt that there should be less testing than proposed and one 
respondent felt that there should be more. 

 
 

 
Comments and considerations 

 
In busier licensing authorities, where licensed vehicles may be more likely to conduct 

higher mileage compared to other less populated areas, it is considered reasonable to 
test vehicles more frequently than the minimum required by law – a view also supported 
by the DfT’s Best Practice Guidance March 2010. A quick review of several city and large 

town licensing authorities reveals a varied picture with 6 monthly tests as common as 
the basic minimum requirement.  
 

In general, licensed vehicles undertake much higher mileage than domestic vehicles (a 
recent report from one GM authority shows that in 2018-19 both Hackneys and PHVs 

were conducted on average around 30,000 miles per annum) and therefore will wear 
more quickly (both mechanically and cosmetically). Therefore, in the interests of 
passenger and other road user’s safety, a more stringent maintenance and testing 

regime is required. A best practice guide for the Inspection of Hackney Carriage and 

Page 244



 
 

 

 

Private Hire Vehicles produced by the Freight Transport Association (published August 
2012) on behalf of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Inspection Technical Officer 
Group, Public Authority Transport Network (PATN) (and supported by VOSA), states: 

 
The purpose of the HC and PHV test is to confirm vehicles meet these more stringent 

standards. Vehicles must be submitted fully prepared for the test. It is not intended that 
the test be used in lieu of a regular preventative maintenance programme. If, in the 
opinion of the vehicle examiner, the vehicle has not been fully prepared, the test will be 

terminated and a further full test shall be required. It is an offence under the road traffic 
regulations to use an unroadworthy vehicle on the public highway. HC proprietors and 

PHV drivers/owners and operators failing to maintain their vehicles in a safe and 
roadworthy condition may have their vehicle licence suspended, revoked or their 
licensing application refused by the local licensing authority. In addition, licence holders 

risk the suspension or revocation of their driver or operator licences by the local licensing 
authority. This best practice guide should be read in conjunction with Vehicle & Operator 

Services Agency (VOSA) publication ‘MOT Inspection Manual – Private Passenger and 
Light Commercial Vehicle Testing’, ISBN 978-0-9549352-5-2. This best practice guide 
provides a working document for those who inspect, maintain and prepare vehicles for 

inspection prior to being issued with a hackney carriage or private hire licence. Although 
detailed in its content the best practice guide is not exhaustive. However, in assessing 

the mechanical condition of a vehicle, it is more likely an item which would ordinarily pass 
an MOT test with an advisory note, could fail the HC and PHV test. 
 

As with many of these standard proposals, there is a risk that introducing more stringent 
requirements than other local authorities, may result in private hire licensees taking their 

business to other authorities of lower standards. As many other authorities already 
require more than the minimum annual test, this standard may be considered to present 
a lower risk than others. As with all proposals that seek to raise the quality and safety of 

the fleet licensed within GM, the key to effective implementation will be public awareness 
and continued lobbying of government to highlight the constraints and risks to authorities 

that strive to improve standards. 
 
Authorities have a duty and must be able to assure the public with regards to the safety 

levels of its licensed fleet and it is considered that once a vehicle is over 3 years of age, 
it is reasonable to seek to ensure that both the mechanical and internal/cosmetic features 

of the vehicle remain to a standard expected by the authority. 
 
 

 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 
 

To retain Trafford’s current standard of requiring vehicles to be tested on first application 
and every six months thereafter, irrespective of the age of the vehicle. All vehicles to be 

tested against the DVSA MOT standard plus Trafford’s Vehicle Compliance Manual. 
 
 

 

 

Page 245



 
 

 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 7 Trafford’s Current standard 

 
CCTV 

It was proposed that all licensed vehicles 
are fitted with mandatory CCTV to a 
standard yet to be determined. 
 

 
 

Trafford does not currently permit CCTV in 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. 

Reason for Proposal 

 
The presence of cameras can act as a deterrent to criminal behaviour and can protect 

both drivers and passengers. If the principle of a CCTV policy is agreed, it is proposed 
that audio as well as video recording is required, triggered by a panic button system. 
 

Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 
 

This proposal evoked a greater number of comments from both the public and members 
of the trade: 

 
 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

CCTV 83 16 51 6 1 3 8 

 
This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent categories: 

 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Agree CCTV should be 

mandatory 
46 6 12 2 0 0 3 

CCTV should not be 

necessary it’s should be 

optional / no need for 

CCTV 

10 1 11 0 0 0 3 

CCTV is expensive / 

Council should help 

fund 

5 5 21 2 0 2 2 

All vehicles should also 

have a dash-cam filming 

outside of the car 

7 1 2 0 0 0 0 

CCTV should be used to 

assess driving 

standards too 

4 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 246



 
 

 

 

Concern about privacy / 

data protection worries 
20 4 11 3 0 0 2 

Both drivers and 

passenger should have 

panic button 

5 0 0 1 1 1 1 

Base 83 16 51 6 1 3 8 

 

The majority of respondents were in favour of the proposal in principle: 
 

“CCTV if used in a way that doesn’t cause an invasion of privacy to the driver, 

is very important for the safety of the public.  Any livery should be suitably 
visible for people with limited vision” (Organisation, Brandlesholme 

Community Centre) 

“CCTV will be essential to ensure safety and crime prevention on both sides” 
(Public, age 25-34, Rochdale) 

“I like the CCTV has this will help the trade in lots of ways including Panel 
Hearings” (Organisation, The Hackney Drivers Association Ltd) 

However, 5 hackney drivers and 21 PHV drivers expressed concerns about the cost of 
CCTV and felt funding should be provided via the council for this purpose. This was also 
raised in the in-depth interviews where drivers questioned the cost implications of the 

installation and maintenance of CCTV and what expense would be incurred to download 
and submit data when there was a problem.  

“It’s a very good idea having CCTV in the vehicle, because at the end of 
the day it’s safety for yourself and safety for your passengers, but you 
know, who’s going to pay for it, it’s about £1,500 for a CCTV in a vehicle, 

especially for licensed.” (PHV Driver, Rochdale) 
 

There were several concerns raised about privacy, GDPR, and the use and storage of 
recordings, with 4 hackney drivers and 11 PHV drivers raising concerns related to this, 
compared with 3 PHV operators and 20 members of the public. 

“CCTV is an invasion of the public privacy and I’m sure will be challenged 
in Court. whose paying for this, who under the GDPR is retaining the 

recordings? How long are those recording retained? Who gets to see 
them? (Operator, Trafford)” 
 

“We support the introduction of mandatory CCTV in taxi and private hire 
vehicles and the role that it can play in protecting drivers and passengers 

and reducing the incidents of serious safety incidents. In order for CCTV to 
act as an effective deterrent it must be only accessible by the Local 
Authority, acting as Data Controller, to prevent unauthorised access, 

distribution or deletion of data by drivers or proprietors.” (Operator, several 
GM authorities) 

 
Two vehicle leasing companies suggested a panic button would be more effective. 

Page 247



 
 

 

 

“More than CCTV a panic button is a more effective tool. Panic buttons 
which are connected directly to the police are important CCTV is not very 
clear when these incidents happen the perpetrators are always wearing 

caps and hoodies which makes them hard to identify. Therefore, panic 
buttons alone are more effective.” (Vehicle leasing company, Salford)  

In the in-depth interviews further concerns were raised by drivers about the responsibility 
for data storage and management. Queries were raised about whether drivers would be 
required to upload data to the authority and how will the data recorded be secure and 

managed by the drivers. 

“Who is going to be responsible for the data? Are we going to have to 

download the data all the time and provide it? At what cost? I understand 
why this is being considered but practically I’m not sure how this will work.” 
(Hackney Driver Manchester) 

Some drivers already had dashcams, which offered the additional benefit of lowering 
their insurance however, there are strict rules on ensuring the camera only points 

outwards of the vehicle and not into the car therefore protecting the privacy of the 
occupants.  Questions were raised about the impact of CCTV on their insurance. 

“You see I have a dashcam as it is cheaper for my insurance, but it has to 

point outwards, my insurance is very clear on that. Will my insurance now 
accept this CCTV inside the car? (PHV Driver, Tameside) 

 
 
Trafford Response: 

 
 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

CCTV 3 0 8 0 0 0 0 

 

Three quarters of the comments from PHV drivers were about the CCTV proposals with 
some agreeing with them (n=3), but some expressed concerns at the cost (n=3) or 
concerns about data protection (n=2). Three members of the public commented on 

CCTV with one generally agreeing to the proposal, one suggesting additional uses for 
CCTV and one expressing concerns about data protection: 

 
“CCTV recording with audio if that is legal inside and outside recording is a 
must and should be made compulsory ASAP.” (PHV driver) 

 
“I don’t want CCTV in my vehicle as I use personal with my kids and wife also 

I’m on monthly instalment with Santandar” (PHV driver) 
 

“Having CCTV in the cars would be a good idea. I already have one & I strongly 

feel its a good safety feature, as long as its not going to come on a big price tag 
& a lot of minimum requirements” (PHV driver) 

 
“The retention, distribution, access, security and ownership of recorded images 
and sound would need to be GDPR compliant and safeguarded from abuse.” 

Page 248



 
 

 

 

(Public, age 45-54 
 
 

Comments and considerations 

 
A mandatory CCTV policy is a complex standalone piece of work and so the purpose of 
proposing this standard as part of the MLS project, was to consider whether the 

introduction of a mandatory policy would be supported in principle.   
 

It is clear that there is considerable support for such a policy, notwithstanding the 
concerns raised which would need to be addressed within a separate policy proposal, 
and this will now enable officers to draft a full policy for further public consultation.   

 
   

 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 
To approve the drafting of a CCTV policy for further consideration and consultation. 

 
 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 8 Trafford’s Current standard 

 

Executive Hire 

It was proposed that the following conditions apply 
to executive hire vehicle (eg chauffeur driven) 

policies  

 Bookings to be confirmed by written contract 

 Payments made in advance of the journey or 
by invoice afterwards 

 Stipulation on the types of vehicles to be 
licensed 

 Dress code 

 Business plan shared with licensing authority 

 Vehicles not to be fitted with data heads, 

radios or meters 

 Exemptions from plates and door signs only 

to be given when used exclusively for 
executive hire 

 

 

 

Trafford’s Executive Hire policy 
is similar to the standard being 

proposed. 

Reason for Proposal 

 
This proposal seeks to ensure that policies relating to Executive Hire services across 
GM are consistent.  

 
 

Page 249



 
 

 

 

Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
Extremely few comments were received about this standard proposed: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Executive Hire and 

specialist vehicles 

8 0 5 2 0 0 1 

 
 
This table breaks down those comments thematically across the respondent 

categories: 
 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackne

y 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Executive hire should be 

exempt from colour 

regulations 

0 0 1 2 0 0 0 

Executive hire operators 

should have more duties 

of care 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Executive hire should be 

exempt from CCTV 
0 0 0 2 0 0 0 

Should be exclusions for 

specialist vehicles 
3 0 1 1 0 0 1 

The exclusive use 

clause for executive hire 

vehicles may be unfair 

on owner drivers 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Executive hire shouldn't 

have different rules 
3 0 4 0 0 0 0 

Base 8 0 5 2 0 0 1 

 

Two operators provided comments citing executive hire vehicles should be exempt 
from CCTV:  

“Executive Fleet. This will raise a lot of issue with the high-end 

customers we pick up on daily basis. Celebrities, Corporate Staff and 
others who will surely object to being recorded in the vehicle. Privacy 

is very important to these individuals.” (Operator, Trafford) 

“CCTV will break NDA's and client confidentiality and would be strongly 
opposed by clients who use executive hire services. Colour creates 

Page 250



 
 

 

 

issues within Chauffeur/Executive hire and would destroy industry if it 
resulted in having to have white cars.” (Operator, Bury) 

The two operators and respondents who took part in the focus groups gave the 

following arguments for why the colour standard should not be applied.  

“We believe there should be at least 2 vehicle choices.  Executive Fleet.  

We work with lots of Global Travel agents and Executive Chauffeur 
companies and the most preferred colour for executive work is BLACK 
/ SILVER. White colour for corporate Executive Fleet is a NO NO.  

Majority of such firms specifically ask that the vehicle be strictly Black 
or Silver in colour.   White Executive cars are mostly in demand for 

Weddings etc but DEFINITELY NOT FOR CORPORATE SECTOR.” 
(Private hire operator) 

Two respondents felt executive hire operators should have more duties of care and 

they must maintain their high standards. 

“Executive hire operator should have greater operating duties as to 

drivers' hours records vehicle usage.” (Public, age 55-64, Tameside) 

“Executive taxi operators must use latest technologies and way of 
communication with the customers and drivers to maintain the highest 

standards in the business, bringing in line with the European, American 
or Australian counterparts’ standards.” (PHV Driver, Bury) 

However, five respondents (4 PHV drivers and 3 members of the public) felt executive 
hire should not have different rules, explaining the same rules should apply to all.  

“Why does “executive” hire get lower restrictions and some 

exemptions? It’s elitist. Manchester is a city of Marx and Engels. All 
should adhere to the same standards. People with money should not 

be exempt from ANY rules or regulations. Why should their cars not 
have plates? But the working classes have? Zero justification.” (Public, 
age 35-44, Manchester) 

“As for executive hire as far as I am concerned they should be treated 
in the same way as private hire as they are just a glorified taxi for people 

with a bit more money to waste such as councillors etc.” (Public, age 
55-64, Wigan) 

“It is also discriminatory as you have allowed executive vehicles to drive 

with door stickers, yet you have discriminated us normal PHVs. Why 
are executive taxis allowed to drive without signage and not us? They 

are pre booked so are we. We take care of our customers as much as 
them, by creating a separate rule for executive taxis, you have 
inadvertently discriminated against normal taxis and it promotes 

classism and shows that you have 2 different standards in your 
dealings with us. One for the rich and one for the poor. We should be 

allowed to drive without any livery at all.” (PHV Driver, Rochdale) 

 
 

Page 251



 
 

 

 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Executive Hire and 

specialist vehicles 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

The one respondent felt that there should be exclusions for specialist vehicles. 
 

 
Comments and considerations 

 
Policies for Executive Hire (or Non-Standard Private Hire) are common amongst 

licensing authorities and a number of such policies already exist within GM and have 
done for some time. The purpose of such policies are to recognise the difference in 
business/service offer of specialised contract executive or chauffeur hire services. 

These services are markedly different to standard private hire, in the their business 
plans (for example prestige or vintage vehicles are often used with a much higher 

monetary value), clientele who may be in the public eye and require a higher level of 
security; and therefore in working with such companies, a separate set of licence 
conditions are determined in recognition of the very different type of service they 

operate.  
 

Non-standard or Executive Private Hire vehicles are not permitted to also operate as 
standard private hire vehicles, which is how risk to public safety is mitigated. 
 

This proposal seeks to bring about a level of consistency for these elements of 
Executive Hire policies across GM. 

 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 
 The retain Trafford’s current standards including the following conditions:  

 Bookings to be confirmed by written contract 

 Payments made in advance of the journey or by invoice afterwards 

 Stipulation on the types of vehicles to be licensed 

 Dress code 

 Business plan shared with licensing authority 

 Vehicles not to be fitted with data heads, radios or meters 

 Exemptions from plates and door signs only to be given when used exclusively 

for executive hire 
 

The standard to apply to new to licence and existing fleet from 1st January 2022 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 252



 
 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 9 Trafford’s Current standard 

 

Vehicle design 

It was proposed that: 

 all vehicles conform to the M1 standard (any 

modified vehicle at M2 standard must have an 
appropriate test to ensure conformity with 

single vehicle type approval) 

 No retrofitting of engines into older vehicles 

will be allowed. LPG conversions will be 
accepted 

 Where retrofit emissions technology is 

installed it shall be approved as part of the 
Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme 

(CVRAS) 

 Specification for window tints will be: 
a) Front windscreen – min. 75% light 

transmission 
b) Front side door glass – min. 70% light 

transmission 
c) Remaining glass (exc. Rear window) 

min. 70% light tranmission 

 No vehicle first being licensed will have been 
written off in any category and will not be 

renewed (if previously written off) after 1 April 
2021.  

 No roof signs permitted on PHVs 

 No advertising other than Council issued 

signage on PHVs 

 The question was also posed whether a swivel 
seat should be required in a Hackney Carriage 

vehicle 
 

 

 

Trafford’s current policy is as 
proposed in that all vehicles 

conform to the M1 standard (any 
modified vehicle at M2 standard 

must have an appropriate test to 
ensure conformity with single 
vehicle type approval) 

 
Specification for window tints is 

as proposed: 
a) Front windscreen – 

min. 75% light 

transmission 
b) Front side door glass – 

min. 70% light 
transmission 

c) Remaining glass (exc. 

Rear window) min. 
70% light transmission 

 
Trafford currently allow written 
off vehicles to be licensed 

provided the owner submits an 
engineer’s report confirming the 

vehicle is roadworthy. 
 
Trafford permits roof signs on 

PHVs. 
 

No advertising other than 
Council issued signage on PHVs 
 

Reason for Proposal 

 

GM districts currently have fairly similar licensing requirements with regards to the 
type and design of vehicles permitted on fleets, however where some minor variations 

do exist, these proposals bring those into line and provide consistency for what will 
and won’t be acceptable criteria for vehicles being licensed. Requirements relating to 
the categorisation of vehicles having had modifications or accidental damage are 

clearly aimed at ensuring the structural safety of such vehicles to carry passengers. 
 

Window tint requirements are for the safety of passengers and drivers; to ensure that 
compliance and other authorised officers (but also generally members of the public) 
can conduct a quick visual check inside the vehicle, view how many passengers are 

being transported, and safeguard against criminal activity taking place inside the 

Page 253



 
 

 

 

vehicle. Some passengers, particularly vulnerable passengers may feel safer if they 
can be seen from outside the vehicle. 
 

At the time of consultation, the proposed effective date for written off vehicles not 
being renewed was 1 April 2021, and as this date has passed, it is proposed that this 

date now be amended to be effective immediately upon the determination of policy 
locally 
 

Roof signs on PHVs give a false impression to the public that the vehicle is a licensed 
Hackney Carriage and works against our aim to ensure greater awareness among the 

public about the key differences between the two sectors and prevent/deter illegal ply 
for hire, so it is proposed that this cease to be allowed where it currently is. 
 

In support of our objective to have a clearer and cleaner visual identity for vehicles 
licensed by GM districts, it is proposed that advertisements on PHVs are not permitted 

unless they are issued/approved by the relevant authority. Currently where there are 
no restrictions on this, vehicles can have advertising stickers placed in various places 
around the vehicle, often haphazardly, which really detracts from the image of a high-

quality licensed fleet that authorities wish to promote. It will also safeguard against the 
use of material that could cause offence or be in poor taste. 

 
It was also posed within the consultation document, whether Hackney Carriages 
should have a requirement to have a swivel seat or not. 

 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
This proposal received the second fewest number of comments within the vehicle 

standards: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Design 9 4 0 0 0 0 1 

 

Comments that were made, touched upon the following themes: 
 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

General Disagreement 6 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Issue with the 

accessible vehicle 
1 3 0 0 0 0 0 

Roof top signs that light 

up to identify a PHV 
2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Base 9 4 0 0 0 0 1 

Page 254



 
 

 

 

 
Those 12 respondents who expressed disagreement with the vehicle design 
standards and elaborated explained they felt the required standards were “too 

severe”, need “further consideration”, and the swivel seat requirement “restricts 
vehicle availability” and is not necessary or asked for by passengers.  

“I feel that the vehicle design propositions are too severe.” (Public, age 55-64, 
Manchester) 

“I think the seats and loading rules appear to exclude virtually all private hire 

vehicles. This needs further consideration.” (Public, age 75+, Trafford) 

“The swivel seat requirement needs to go. It restricts vehicle availability and is 

almost never requested out on the streets.” (Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

 
 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle Design 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
There was general disagreement from the one respondent to the proposals. 
 

 
Comments and considerations 

 
The general vehicle design specifications are mainly enshrining in a consistent policy 

many requirements that already exist throughout GM, and general requirements in 
law for passenger carrying vehicles. Whilst consultation responses were very low, it 

makes sense for all GM authorities to take a consistent approach to some of the more 
common design variations, particularly where they affect public safety.  
 

One issue that trade bodies did raise strong objection to was the tint level allowed (or 
minimum light transmission) for rear side windows. Whilst purpose built taxis are 

manufactured without significant window tints as standard, standard saloon vehicles 
used for private hire work are not similarly purpose built, and manufacturers who are 
making vehicles for the wider market are increasingly manufacturing’ with a rear side 

window tint or ‘privacy glass’ as standard. As such, the private hire trade are finding it 
increasingly difficult to source a vehicle that complies with the tint requirements, and 
costs can be up to £1000 for window replacements, which in turn may then carry a 

safety risk dependent on the standard of replacement. Authorities have also 
acknowledged the intent to move to mandatory CCTV requirements for vehicles that 

would mitigate the safety concerns relating to tint. Therefore, in recognition of this fact, 
the significant additional cost to the trade within the context of the other costs 
associated with these proposals, and the risks of licence shopping if introducing 

significantly more stringent policies than other authorities for private hire, it is proposed 
to amend this part of the policy standard to: 

Page 255



 
 

 

 

 Remaining glass or rear side windows (excl. rear window) allow manufacturer’s 
tint to a minimum of 20% light transmission 

 
On reflection and in light of experience during the pandemic (where districts were 
happy to approve a use of a product i.e. NHS signage, but don’t necessarily wish to 

issue), it is intended to amend the advertisement proposal from: 

 No advertising other than Council issued signage on PHVs to: 

 No advertising other than Council approved signage on PHVs 
 
 

Lead Officers recommendation 

 
 
The following standards will apply: 

 all vehicles conform to the M1 standard (any modified vehicle at M2 standard 
must have an appropriate test to ensure conformity with single vehicle type 

approval) 

 No retrofitting of engines into older vehicles will be allowed. LPG conversions 

will be accepted 

 Where retrofit emissions technology is installed it shall be approved as part of 
the Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS) 

 Specification for window tints will be: 
o Front windscreen – min. 75% light transmission 

o Front side door glass – min. 70% light transmission 
o Remaining glass or rear side windows (exc. Rear window) - allow 

manufacturer’s tint to a minimum 20% light transmission 
 

 No vehicle first being licensed will have been written off in any category and 

will not be renewed (if previously written off) after 1st April 2022.  

 No roof signs permitted on PHVs 

 No advertising other than Council approved signage on PHVs 

 To defer the decision on swivel seats at this time as the consultation 

response on this specific point was particularly low. 
 

The standards to apply to new to licence and existing fleet from 1st January 2022 with 

the exception of written off vehicles which have been written of which will apply from 
1st April 2022. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 256



 
 

 

 

Vehicle Proposed Standard 10 Trafford’s Current standard 

 

Vehicle Licence Conditions  

A set of proposed conditions for Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Vehicles are set out at Appendix 

2. The conditions cover a comprehensive set of 

expectations with regards to the livery, condition, 

fares and the responsibilities of the proprietor. 
 

 

 

Trafford currently has conditions which 
are broadly similar to the proposed 

conditions. 

Reason for Proposal 

 

Each local authority already has licence conditions for each vehicle fleet, but they vary 
across the conurbation. The Licensing Managers Group reviewed their own conditions and 
collectively proposed a set of updated and revised conditions, that reflect proposed policy 

standards and complement conditions also required of drivers and operators, to set clear 
parameters by which licence holders can be held to account. 

 
 
Consultation Response  

 
GM level response: 

 
There were relatively few comments made with regards to the proposed vehicle licence 

conditions, with most coming from members of the public and only 6 comments coming from 
the trade: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Vehicle Conditions 24 1 3 2 0 0 0 

 
Comments tended to centre around vehicle cleanliness. This table breaks down those 

comments thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme 
General 

Public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 
Business 

Vehicle 

Leasing 

Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle cleanliness is 

important 
24 1 3 2 0 0 0 

 

Respondents discussed how vehicle condition is important, including interiors, condition of 
current vehicles, hygiene, smell, and general road worthiness.  

“Vehicle Conditions: in our geographical area, the condition of some of the 
vehicles are a disgrace - just by looking at them you can see they are not fit for 
purpose ie battered, worn tyres, rust, filthy and disgusting with drivers smoking 

in them and not maintaining them inside or out; some are totally unhygienic 
which, at the best of times is unhealthy but particularly now during the Covid-19 

Page 257



 
 

 

 

pandemic. Our suggestion would be that testing standards are raised and 
adhered to, to ensure, that only roadworthy and clean cars are licensed i.e. only 
the very best cars are licensed.” (Operator, Wigan) 

“People should feel safe in the vehicle they are travelling in. Regular testing 
should be compulsory as well as a standard of cleanliness.” (Public, age 45-54, 

Oldham) 

“Our suggestion would be that testing standards are raised and adhered to, to 
ensure, that only roadworthy and clean cars are licensed i.e. only the very best 

cars are licensed.” (Operator, Wigan) 

“Vehicle colour is not particularly important. Emphasis should be on condition of 

vehicle both mechanically and inside.” (Public, age 55-64, Salford) 

 
 

Trafford Response: 
 

 
Standard 

General 

public 

Hackney 

Drivers 

PHV 

Drivers 

PHV 

Operators 

Business Vehicle 

Leasing 
Company 

Represent-

atives 

Vehicle Conditions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
 
Comments and considerations 

 
Whilst responses were relatively low, there were no strong objections to any specific aspects 
of the proposed vehicle licence conditions.  

 
It should be noted that the requirement for a vehicle licence holder to undertake a basic DBS 

check will be added into both sets of licence conditions. This was recommended in the 
Department for Transport’s Statutory Guidance for Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Authorities in July 2020. 

 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 

 

 
To implement the standard as proposed with the addition of the DBS requirement for vehicle 
proprietors who are not licensed drivers. 

 
 

 

Page 258



 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 

Standard Proposal 5: Livery 

Illustrative examples (NB. Vehicle colour is not relevant): 

 

 

 

Page 259



 
 

 

 

 

 

              

Page 260



 
 

 

 

 

STANDARD PROPOSAL 10      APPENDIX 2 

PROPOSED PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE CONDITIONS 
The licensee shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions hereinafter 
provided.  

 

1. Definitions 

For a legal definition of the following terms, see the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.       

 “Appointed Test Station” a garage approved by the Council for the purposes of carrying out 
a Vehicle Test  

"Authorised Officer" any Officer of the Council authorised in writing by the Council for the 
purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

"The Council"   …………………   Council 

"Identification Plates" means the plates issued by the Council for the purpose of identifying 
the vehicle as a private hire vehicle 

"The Licensee" means the holder of a private hire vehicle licence. 

"The Operator" / “PHO” a person who makes provisions for the invitation and acceptance of 
booking / hiring for a Private Hire Vehicle.  

"The Private Hire Vehicle" a motor vehicle constructed to seat fewer than nine passengers, 
other than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle which is provided for hire with the 
services of a driver for the purpose of carrying passengers 

"The Proprietor" means the person(s) who owns, or part owns the private hire person who 
is in possession of the vehicle if subject to a hiring or hire purchase agreement. 

"The Meter" means any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any 
journey in a private hire vehicle by reference to the distance travelled or time elapsed since 
the start of the journey or a combination of both 

“Test” a compliance test of the vehicle undertaken at an Appointed Test Station 

Words importing the masculine gender such as “he” and “him” shall include the feminine 
gender and be construed accordingly. 

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council, unless 
otherwise stipulated, all communication must be to the Council’s Licensing Department.  

 

 

Page 261



 
 

 

 

2. Identification Plates 

2.1 The vehicle front and rear licence identification plates must be displayed in the 
authorised plate holder, obtained from the Licensing Department; and the plate must 
be fixed in the plate holder using the clips provided, so as to allow them to be easily 
removed by an authorised officer. The plate holder should be securely fixed to the 
vehicle in such a way that neither it, nor the number plate are obscured; and that both 
are 100% visible. Cable ties are not an acceptable means of fixing plates to a vehicle 
or indeed to the plate holder.  

2.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘Identification Plates’ are maintained and kept in 
such condition that the information contained on the plate is clearly visible to public 
view at all times. 

2.3 The Council has specified that the vehicle licence number, make, model and licence 
 expiry date together with the number of passengers it is licensed to carry shall be 
 placed on the identification plate attached to the vehicle. This plate must not be 
tampered with  or amended by anybody other than an Authorised Officer. 

 

3.  Condition of Vehicle  

3.1 The Licensee shall ensure that the private hire vehicle shall be maintained in good 
 mechanical and structural condition at all times and be capable of satisfying the 
Council’s mechanical and structural inspection at any time during the period the vehicle 
is licensed. 

3.2 The interior and exterior of the Private Hire Vehicle shall be kept in a clean and safe 
 condition by the Proprietor. 

3.3 The Licensee shall not allow the mechanical and structural specification of the Private 
Hire Vehicle to be varied without the written consent of the Council. 

3.4 The Licensee of the Private Hire Vehicle shall: -  

● provide sufficient means by which any person in the Private Hire Vehicle may 
communicate with the driver during the course of the hiring; 

● ensure the interior of the vehicle is kept wind and water tight and adequately 
ventilated; 

● ensure the seats in the passenger compartment are properly cushioned and 
covered; 

● ensure the floor in the passenger compartment has a proper carpet, mat or other 
suitable covering; 

● ensure fittings and furniture of the Private Hire Vehicle are kept in a clean 
condition and well maintained and in every way fit and safe for public use; 

● provide facilities for the carriage of luggage safely and protected from damaging 
weather conditions. 

 

Page 262



 
 

 

 

3.5 All vehicles must undertake and pass any further Test at the Appointed Test Station in 

accordance with Council policy (Arrangements for vehicle testing are entirely the 
responsibility of the Licensee). 

3.6 A daily vehicle check log must be completed by the driver of the vehicle at the 
beginning of each shift. The checks to be carried out are as follows: 

● Lights and indicators 

● Tyre condition, pressures and tread 

● Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels 

● Cleanliness inside and out 

● Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges 

● Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions  

● Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see. 

● Door and bonnet stickers on display 

● Tariff sheet in display 

● Horn in working order 

 The Licensee shall record the above information and keep it in the vehicle at all times 
and make it available to an authorised officer upon request.  

 

4.  Accidents 

4.1 The Licensee shall report to the Council, in writing, as soon as is reasonably 
practicable and in any case within 72 hours any accident causing damage materially 
affecting the  safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers.  The report should contain full details of the accident 
damage including photos.  

 

5. Vehicle signage 

5.1 No sign, notice, flag or emblem or advertisement shall be displayed in or on any Private 
Hire Vehicle without the express permission of the Council.  

5.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the Council issued mandatory bonnet and rear door 
and rear window signs are affixed permanently to the vehicle and are not removed 
whilst the vehicle is licensed.   

 

 

 

 

Page 263



 
 

 

 

6. Assistance Dogs 

6.1 The Licensee shall permit any assistance dog to ride in the vehicle (in the control and 
custody of the passenger) and allow it to be carried in the front passenger seat 
footwell of the vehicles if required.  

6.2 The location of the assistance dog must be agreed with the passenger at all times. 

6.3 The Licensee will ensure that any certificates exempting drivers of the vehicle from 
duties to carry assistance dogs, are displayed visibly and prominently as prescribed by 
the Council. 

 

7.  Other Animals 

7.1 Any other animal may be carried in the vehicle at the discretion of the driver and must 
be carried in the rear of the vehicle in the custody and control of the passenger.  

 

8. Meters 

8.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter: 

● The licensee shall ensure the meter is of a type approved by the Council and 
maintained in a sound mechanical condition at all times  

● The licensee shall ensure the meter is set to display any fare table which may be 
adopted by the private hire operator 

● The Council may ensure calibrate and seal, at the expense of the licensee, any 
meter which is to be used in the licensed vehicle 

● The licensee shall ensure the meter is illuminated and is located in a position 
where any hirer can see the fare easily 

● The licensee shall ensure that the words ‘FARE’ shall be printed on the face of 
the meter in clear letters so as to apply to the fare recorded thereon 

● The licensee shall ensure that the meter and any connected equipment is fitted 

securely without the risk of impairing the driver’s ability to control the vehicle or 
be a risk to any person in the vehicle 

● No meter shall be replaced without the consent of an authorised officer of the 
council.  

 

9. Fare Tables 

9.1 The Licensee shall ensure that a copy of the current fare table is available, when not 
working for an ‘app only’ based operator, at all times, so it can be easily read by 
passengers. 

Page 264



 
 

 

 

9.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the fare table is not concealed from view or rendered 
 illegible whilst the vehicle is being used for hire. 

 

10. Licence  

10.1 The Licensee shall retain a copy of the original private hire vehicle drivers’ licences of 
all drivers driving the private hire vehicle and produce the same to an Authorised 
Officer or Police Constable on request. 

 

11. Convictions and Suitability Matters 

11.1 The licensee shall ensure they provide a relevant DBS certificate as required by the 
Council to assess their fit and proper status; and that it is kept up to date and remains 
‘valid’ in line with the Council’s policies. 

 
11.2 The licensee will register and remain registered with the DBS Update Service to enable 

the Council to undertake regular checks of the DBS certificate status as necessary. 

11.3 The licensee shall notify the Council if they are subject to any: 

• arrest or criminal investigation, 

• summons,  

• charge,  

• conviction,    

• formal/simple caution,  

• fixed penalty,  

• criminal court order,  

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,  

• domestic violence related order,  

• warning or bind over  

• or any matter of restorative justice   

 against them immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 hours) and shall provide 
such further information about the circumstances as the Council may require. 

 

12. Notifications and Licence Administration  

12.1 For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall pay the reasonable administration 
charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant 
certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process. 

Page 265



 
 

 

 

12.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of 
ownership of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details 
of the new owner. 

12.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address 
or contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 
days of such change taking place. 

12.4 If requested by an Authorised Officer the Licensee must provide, in the timescale 
requested, in writing, to Council the following information: - 

● The name of the driver and their badge number; 

● The address of the driver; 

● The company for whom the driver works for; 

● The date and time you hired / lent / leased / rented your vehicle to the driver; 

● Whose insurance the driver will be using the vehicle under; 

● Whether the driver will have sole use of the vehicle; if not sole use whom else 
will have access to the vehicle;  

● The expected duration the vehicle will be hired / lent / leased / rented to the 
driver 

 

13. CCTV 

13.1 The licensee shall ensure that, in accordance with any Council policy, that CCTV 
 cameras are fitted and in good working order.  

 NB: This proposed condition is subject to change and further consultation if 

CCTV is mandated either by GM or the Government. At this stage further 

conversations will take place with the Surveillance Commissioner and relevant 
parties.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 266



 
 

 

 

STANDARD PROPOSAL 10     APPENDIX 2 

 

PROPOSED HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE 

CONDITIONS 

This Licence is issued subject to compliance with the Council’s current Hackney Carriage 
byelaws and the relevant provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

1. Definitions  

“Appointed Test Station” a garage approved by the Council for the purposes of 
carrying out a Test  

"Authorised Officer" any Officer of the Council authorised in writing by the Council 
for the purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

"The Council” means  ………………   Council  

"Hackney Carriage" has the same meaning as in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

"The Identification Plates" the plates issued by the Council for the purpose of 
identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage 

The “Licensee” is the person who holds the Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence 

 "The Proprietor" means the person(s) who owns or part owns the private hire person 
who is  in possession of the vehicle if subject to a hiring or hire purchase agreement. 

"Taximeter" any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any 
journey in a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle by reference to the distance 
travelled or time elapsed since the start of the journey, or combination of both 

“Test” a compliance test of the vehicle undertaken at an Appointed Test 
Station
  

“Vehicle” the vehicle licensed as a Hackney Carriage 

Words importing the masculine gender such as “he” or “him” shall include the 
feminine gender and be construed accordingly. 

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council 
unless otherwise stipulated, all communication must be with the Council’s Licensing 
Department. 

 

Page 267



 
 

 

 

 

2. Identification Plates 

2.1 The front and rear vehicle identification plates must be displayed in the authorised plate 
 holder, obtained from the Licensing Department; and that the plate must be fixed in 
the plate holder using the clips provided so as to allow them to be easily removed by 
an authorised  officer. The plate holder should be fixed to the vehicle in such a way 
that neither it nor the number plate are obscured; and that both are 100% visible. Cable 
ties are not an acceptable means of fixing plates to a vehicle or indeed to the plate 
holder.  

2.2 The Licensee of the vehicle shall ensure that the ‘Identification Plates’ are maintained 
and kept in such condition that the information on the plate is clearly visible to public 
view at all times. 

2.3 The Council has specified that the vehicle licence number, make, model and licence 
 expiry date together with the number of passengers it is licensed to carry shall be 
 placed on the identification plate attached to the vehicle. This plate must not be 
tampered with  or amended by anybody other than an Authorised Officer. 

 

3. Condition of Vehicle  

3.1 The Licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is always maintained in a good mechanical 
and structural condition and be capable of satisfying the Council's mechanical and 
 structural inspection at any time during the period of the licence. 

3.2 The interior and exterior of the Hackney Carriage shall be kept in a clean condition by 
the Proprietor. 

3.3 The Licensee shall not allow the mechanical and structural specification of the vehicle 
to be varied without the consent of the Council. 

3.4 The Licensee of the vehicle shall: -  

● provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate 
with the driver during the course of the hiring; 

● ensure the interior of the vehicle to be kept wind and water tight and adequately 
ventilated; 

● ensure the seats in the passenger compartment are properly cushioned and 
covered; 

● cause the floor in the passenger compartment to be provided with a proper 
carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 

● ensure fittings and furniture of the vehicle are kept in a clean condition and well 
maintained and in every way fit and safe for public use; 

● provide facilities for the carriage of luggage safely and protected from damaging 
weather conditions. 

Page 268



 
 

 

 

3.5 All vehicles must undertake and pass any further Test at the Appointed Test Station in 
 accordance with Council policy (Arrangements for vehicle testing are entirely the 
 responsibility of the Proprietor). 

3.6 The Licensee must ensure that a daily vehicle check log must be completed by the 
licensee or driver(s) of the vehicle at the beginning of each shift. The checks to be 
carried out are as follows: 

● Lights and indicators 

● Tyre condition, pressures and tread 

● Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels 

● Cleanliness inside and out 

● Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges 

● Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions 

● Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see. 

● Door and bonnet stickers on display 

● Tariff sheet in display 

● Horn in working order 

 

3.7  The Licensee shall ensure that he or the driver shall record the above information 

and keep it in the vehicle at all times and make it available to an authorised officer 
upon request.  

 

4. Accidents 

4.1 The Licensee shall report to the Council, in writing, as soon as is reasonably 
practicable and in any case within 72 hours any accident causing damage materially 
affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers. The report should contain full details of the accident 
damage including photos.  

 

5. Advertisements 

5.1 The Licensee may only display advertisements on the outside of a London Style 
Hackney Carriage which must comply with the Council’s policy and for which consent 
has been provided by an Authorised Officer. 

 

 

 

 

Page 269



 
 

 

 

6. Vehicle Signage  

6.1 The Licensee will not allow any sign, notice flag, emblem or advertisement to be 
displayed in or from any Hackney Carriage Vehicle without the express permission of 
the Council 

6.2 The Licensee will ensure that any mandatory signs be affixed permanently to the 
vehicle as directed by the Council and are not removed whilst the vehicle is licensed.   

 

7. Assistance Dogs 

6.1 The Licensee shall permit any assistance dog to ride in the vehicle (in the control and 
custody of the passenger) and allow it to be carried in the front passenger seat 
footwell of the vehicles if required.  

6.2 The location of the assistance dog must be agreed with the passenger at all times. 

6.3 The Licensee will ensure that any certificates exempting drivers of the vehicle from 
duties to carry assistance dogs, are displayed visibly and prominently as prescribed by 
the Council. 

 

8.  Other Animals 

8.1 Any other animal may be carried in the vehicle at the discretion of the driver and must 
be carried in the rear of the vehicle in the custody and control of the passenger.  

 

9. Taximeters 

9.1 The Licensee shall ensure the vehicle is fitted with a Council approved, tested and 
sealed  Taximeter before plying or standing for hire and shall use the approved meter 
only. 

9.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the Taximeter is located within the vehicle in 
accordance with the reasonable instruction of an authorised officer, and sufficiently 
illuminated that when it is in use, it is visible to all passengers.  

9.3 The Licensee shall ensure that the authorised Taximeter is maintained in a sound 
 mechanical/electrical condition at all times and programmed to calculate the fare in 
accordance with the current fares tariffs fixed by the Council.  

9.4 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘for hire’ sign is extinguished when the fare 
commences, and the taximeter is brought into operation.  

9.5 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘for hire’ sign is not illuminated when the vehicle is 
outside of its licensing district.  

 

 

Page 270



 
 

 

 

10. Tampering with Taximeters 

10.1 Taximeters must not be tampered with by anybody other than an Authorised Officer or 
an approved contractor approved by the Council.  

 

11. Fare Table  

11.1 The Licensee shall ensure that a copy of the current fare table supplied by the Council 
is displayed and visible at all times so that it can be easily read by passengers. 

 

12. Drivers Licence  

12.1 The Licensee shall retain copies of the hackney carriage drivers’ licence of each driver 
of his vehicle and produce the same to an Authorised Officer or Police Officer on 
request.  

 

13. Communication Equipment 

13.1 The Licensee shall ensure that any communication equipment, used to communicate 
with passengers, fitted to his Hackney Carriage is at all times kept in a safe and sound 
condition and maintained in proper working order. 

 

14. Convictions and Suitability Matters  

14.1 The licensee shall ensure they provide a relevant DBS certificate as required by the 
Council to assess their fit and proper status; and that it is kept up to date and remains 
‘valid’ in line with the Council’s policies. 

14.2 The licensee will register and remain registered with the DBS Update Service to enable 
the Council to undertake regular checks of the DBS certificate status as necessary. 

14.3 The licensee shall notify the Council if they are subject to any: 

• arrest or criminal investigation, 

• summons,  

• charge,  

• conviction,    

• formal/simple caution,  

• fixed penalty,  

• criminal court order,  

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,  

Page 271



 
 

 

 

• domestic violence related order,  

• warning or bind over  

• or any matter of restorative justice   

against them immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 hours) and shall provide 
such further information about the circumstances as the Council may require. 

 

15. Notifications and Licence Administration 

15.1 For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall pay the reasonable administration 
charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant 
certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process. 

15.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of 
ownership of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details 
of the new owner. 

15.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address 
or contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 
days of such change taking place. 

15.4 If requested by an Authorised Officer the Licensee must provide, in the timescale 
requested, in writing, to Council the following information: - 

● The name of the driver and their badge number; 

● The address of the driver; 

● The company for whom the driver works for; 

● The date and time you hired / lent / leased / rented your vehicle to the driver; 

● Whose insurance the driver will be using the vehicle under; 

● Whether the driver will have sole use of the vehicle; if not sole use whom else 
will have access to the vehicle;  

● The expected duration the vehicle will be hired / lent / leased / rented to the 
driver 

 

16. Intended Use  

16.1 The Licensee of the Hackney Carriage vehicle licence shall ensure that an accurate 
and contemporaneous record is made and maintained either by himself or the driver 
of the vehicle, of all uses of the vehicle when being used to fulfil pre-booked hiring’s 
on behalf of a private hire operator licensed by another local authority;  

Page 272



 
 

 

 

16.2 The accurate and complete record should include, as a minimum, the following 
information, and be recorded in a stitch or heat / glue bound book so as to provide a 
continuous record without breaks between rows: - 

● date; 

● time of first pick up; 

● first ‘pick up’ point by location / name / address including house number; 

● destination point by location / name / address including house number; 

● the name and address of the operator on behalf of which the journey was 
being undertaken. 

16.3 Each book shall legibly and clearly display the details of the vehicle to which it relates, 
 including the make, model, registration number and vehicle licence number; 

16.4 The record of journeys shall be available for inspection at any time by a Police Officer 
or PCSO; and an Authorised Officer of any local authority who through the course of 
their normal duties are authorised to inspect the licensed vehicle;  

16.5 Each book, when full, shall be delivered to the Council’s Licensing Department; 

16.6 Where the Licensee wishes to maintain a record of use in any other format than set 
out above, prior approval must be obtained from an Authorised Officer. 

 

17. CCTV 

17.1 The licensee shall ensure that, in accordance with any Council policy, that CCTV 

 cameras are fitted and in good working order.  

 NB: This proposed condition is subject to change and further consultation if 

CCTV is mandated either by GM or the Government. At this stage further 

conversations will take place with the Surveillance Commissioner and relevant 
parties.  

 

 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Equality Impact Assessment  

    

Title of the Assessment GM Common Minimum Licensing Standards  

Lead Officer for this initiative John Garforth 

Officer completing the 

analysis 
 Danielle Doyle 

Phone  07789 508546 

Email  danielle.doyle@manchester.gov.uk 

    

Question 1 

What is the main aim and purpose 

of the activity? 

The main purpose of the activity is to propose a set of taxi 

and private hire minimum licensing standards for adoption by 

Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities. The purpose of this 

is to standardise licensing conditions and policies across 

Greater Manchester (GM) so that the travelling public can 

have greater assurance with regard to the safety and risk 

assessments that have taken place for licensed drivers and 

vehicles, including the emissions standard of vehicles they are 

travelling in. The activity will also provide a valuable platform 

from which to raise public awareness about the variance in 

standards nationally and deter the use of non-GM licensed 

vehicles within the conurbation, thereby protecting business 

within GM.  

 

    

Question 2 

List the main elements of the 
activity? 

The project includes a set of standards split into 4 main 
categories: Drivers, Vehicles, Operators and Local Authority. 

The standards are a set of policy requirements or licence 

conditions by which licence holders and local authorities have 
to adhere to.   

    

Question 3 

What outcomes does the activity 
aim to achieve? 

The project aims to: 
1. Meet the requirements of the DfT’s Statutory 

Guidance for Taxis and Private Hire 
2. Improve public safety 

3. Improve the customer experience (both passengers 
customers and licensee customers) 

4. Achieve clean air objectives 

5. Deter GM residents and visitors from using non-GM 
licensed vehicles 

 

    

Question 4 

Who are, or will be, the main 

beneficiaries of the activity? 
Passengers who use taxi/PH services, taxi/PH operators, 
proprietors and drivers, and licensing authorities themselves.  

    

Question 5 

Page 275



Do you need to consult with people 

who might be affected by it directly 

or indirectly?  

Please justify your response 

Yes – a public consultation has already taken place, alongside 

targeted direct consultation with impacted groups. 

    

Question 6 

Having due regard for the equality duty involves: 

 
- Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics; 

- Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where these are 
different from the needs of other people; 

- Encourage people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

 

Please complete the table below and give reasons, evidence and comment, where appropriate, to 
support your judgement(s). 

- Use the table below to record where you think that the activity could have a positive impact on any 
of the target groups or contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations 

within equality target groups. 

- Use the table below to record where you think that the activity could have an adverse impact on 
any of the equality target groups i.e. it could disadvantage them and impact is high.  

- Use the last column in the table below to give reason/comments/evidence where appropriate to 
support your judgement. 

Age 

Target Group 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Children and Young People (aged 
19 and under) 

Highly 
likely 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Very low 

likelihood 

Children and Young people are by 

definition ‘vulnerable’ individuals. 
Improvements to the way licence 

applicants are assessed and 
monitored for compliance can only 

serve to improve the quality and 
safety of the licensed fleets, and 

reduce the risk of harm to the 

travelling public, particularly those 
classed as vulnerable. The MLS 

should also serve to raise greater 
awareness of the risks of travelling 

in vehicles licensed outside of GM to 

unknown standards, with little to no 
proactive compliance activity within 

GM 
 

There is a risk that the higher 
standards across GM will result in 

higher licence fees and improved 

compliance across the board, and 
this could mean that whilst they are 

able to, GM based operators could 
still choose instead to obtain licences 

outside of GM authorities. These 

operators may provide school 
contract based services, and this 

could be a risk if the processes and 
compliance monitoring of other 

authorities are not as robust as the 

GM MLS. This risk could be mitigated 
by authorities amending their 

schools contracts to require the use 
of licensed vehicles in the area 

where the school is based only. 

Page 276



Older People (aged 60 and over) 
Highly 

likely 

  

 
 

 
Medium - 

high risk 

Many older people are reliant on 

taxis and private hire vehicles to 
travel. Improvements to the way 

licence applicants are assessed and 
monitored can only serve to improve 

the quality and safety of the licensed 

fleets, and reduce the risk of harm 
to the travelling public. 

 
There is a risk of the activity causing 

a reduction in the Hackney licensed 
fleet (cost of vehicles meaning risk 

of individuals leaving this trade), 

and a risk of licensees going to 
authorities outside of GM to get 

licensed due to the applications 
criteria, standards, compliance and 

therefore cost being higher; so GM 

travelling public could be forced to 
travel in vehicles with drivers of a 

lower quality and assessment 
standard. 

 
The MLS (if adopted in full) will likely 

result in higher costs to some 

licensees as proposals include 
additional testing requirements (eg. 

enhanced driving test), additional 
processing/checking requirements in 

the application process (background 

checks), and in some areas 
additional compliance activity to 

ensure the integrity of the activity, 
which in turn will result in higher 

licence fees. Data we currently hold 
on the age profile of our licensed 

fleet of drivers shows that around 

40% of our licensees are over the 
age of 50, with 13% of licensees 

over the age of 60. 

Disability 

Target Group 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Disability (people with physical 
impairments,  communication or 

sensory impairments, a learning 

disability or cognitive impairment, 
mental health problems, 

longstanding illness/health 
condition, other disability 

impairment). 

Highly 
likely 

 Medium 

- high 
risk 

Improvements to the way licence 
applicants are assessed and 

monitored for compliance can only 
serve to improve the quality and 

safety of the licensed fleets, and 

reduce the risk of harm to the 
travelling public, particularly those 

classed as vulnerable. The proposals 
also seek to increase the number of 

Wheelchair Accessible and 
Accessibility enhanced public hire 

vehicles (Purpose built Hackneys 

with sight and audio adaptations) 
across the conurbation which would 

result in reducing the risk of people 
with disabilities not being able to get 

a suitable vehicle on a public rank. 

The MLS also seeks to improve the 
quality of training required of 

Page 277



licensed drivers, including their 

awareness of their responsibilities 
towards passengers with disabilities, 

as well as improve the level of 
proactive compliance to ensure 

these standards are being adhered 

to and improve public confidence to 
report, as complaints from people 

with disabilities are traditionally low.  
 

The MLS should also serve to raise 
greater awareness of the risks of 

travelling in vehicles licensed outside 

of GM to unknown standards, with 
little to no proactive compliance 

activity within GM. 
 

However, the proposed MLS also 

carries a fairly high risk of reducing 
the licensed Hackney fleet, thereby 

conversely increasing the risk of 
people with accessibility needs not 

being able to access a suitable 
vehicle either by pre-booking or on a 

public rank. The MLS will also likely 

lead to increased licence fees, which 
in turn will result in increased fares, 

potentially affecting people with 
disabilities disproportionately if the 

individual is more reliant on 

accessible vehicles not widely 
available in the private hire 

industry.or for public hire. 
  

Gender 

Target Group 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Men 
 Highly 
likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 

affect all members of the travelling 
public that use Taxi and Private Hire 

services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 

that will be assessed and monitored 

to be safe and minimise risk to the 
public. 

 
If there are any adverse implications 

of the MLS proposals for licensees, 

then this will affect men more than 
women, as 97% of our licence 

holders are male* (identified from 
their stated title on their licence 

application). 
 

 

There is a risk that if the proposed 
MLS drives growth of non-GM 

licensed vehicles being used by 
operators within GM, then all 

passengers will be travelling in 

vehicles with drivers to unknown 
standards with minimal compliance. 

Page 278



Women 
Highly 
likely 

Low  

/medium 

risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 

affect all members of the travelling 
public that use Taxi and Private Hire 

services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 

that will be assessed and monitored 

to be safe and minimise risk to the 
public. 

 
There is a risk that if the proposed 

MLS drives growth or non-GM 
licensed vehicles being used by 

operators within GM, then all 

passengers will be travelling in 
vehicles with drivers to unknown 

standards with minimal compliance, 
and females are more vulnerable 

when travelling alone in that regard. 

Transgender People 
Highly 

likely 
Low risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 
affect all members of the travelling 

public that use Taxi and Private Hire 

services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 

that will be assessed and monitored 
to be safe and minimise risk to the 

public. 

 
 

There is a risk that if the proposed 
MLS drives growth or non-GM 

licensed vehicles being used by 
operators within GM, then all 

passengers will be travelling in 

vehicles with drivers to unknown 
standards with minimal compliance. 

Race 

Target Group 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Asian or Asian British Backgrounds 
(This includes Pakistani, Indians 

and Bangladeshi, Chinese or any 
other Asian background) 

Highly 

likely 

Medium - 

high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 
collected or recorded as part of the 

licensing process, but we know from 

seeing our applicants in person and 
our daily interactions that the vast 

majority of our licensed fleet are 
non-white males (both British and 

non-British); therefore any impacts, 

both positive and adverse will likely 
affect this target group 

disproportionately.   
 

BAME licensees are also more likely 
to live in Lower Super Output Areas 

(LSOAs) with higher levels of 

deprivation and this is borne out in 
the postcode data of our licence 

holders where the overwhelming 
majority have postcodes identified 

as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 

inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-

economic pressures and live in 
housing that is less likely to have 

Page 279



private parking and the ability 

therefore for at home EV charging; 
therefore requirements for more 

expensive fully electric vehicles 
carry an adverse risk to the viability 

of these individuals continuing in the 

industry. 
 

All sections of the travelling public 
should benefit from MLS. 

Black or Black British Backgrounds 

(This includes Caribbean, African or 
any other black background) 

Highly 
Likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 

collected or recorded as part of the 
licensing process, we know from 

seeing our applicants in person and 

our daily interactions that the vast 
majority of our licensed fleet are 

non-white males (both British and 
non-British); therefore any impacts, 

both positive and adverse will likely 
affect this target group 

disproportionately.  

 
BAME licensees are also more likely 

to live in Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs) with higher levels of 

deprivation and this is borne out in 

the postcode data of our licence 
holders where the overwhelming 

majority have postcodes identified 
as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 

inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-

economic pressures and live in 

housing that is less likely to have 
private parking; therefore 

requirements for more expensive 
fully electric vehicles carry an 

adverse risk to the viability of these 

individuals continuing in the 
industry. 

 
 

All sections of the travelling public 
should benefit from MLS. 

Mixed /Multiple Ethnic Groups (This 

includes White and Black 

Caribbean, White and Black African, 
White and Asian or any other mixed 

background) 

Highly 

Likely 

Medium - 

high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 

collected or recorded as part of the 

licensing process, we know from 
seeing our applicants in person and 

our daily interactions that the vast 
majority of our licensed fleet are 

non-white males (both British and 
non-British); therefore any impacts, 

both positive and adverse will likely 

affect this target group 
disproportionately. 

 
BAME licensees are also more likely 

to live in Lower Super Output Areas 

(LSOAs) with higher levels of 
deprivation and this is borne out in 

the postcode data of our licence 
holders where the overwhelming 

majority have postcodes identified 

Page 280



as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 

inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-

economic pressures and live in 
housing that is less likely to have 

private parking; therefore 

requirements for more expensive 
fully electric vehicles carry an 

adverse risk to the viability of these 
individuals continuing in the 

industry. 
 

All sections of the travelling public 

should benefit from MLS. 

White British Background (This 

includes English, Scottish & Welsh, 

Irish and Gypsy or Irish Travellers) 

Highly 
likely 

 Low risk 

Whilst all sections of the travelling 
public should benefit from MLS, 

there is little to no evidence to 
suggest that this target group would 

be particularly adversely affected 
over any other. 

Non-British White Backgrounds 

(This includes Irish, Polish, Spanish, 
Romanians and other White 

backgrounds) 

Highly 
likely 

Low risk 

Whilst all sections of the travelling 

public should benefit from MLS, 

there is little to no evidence to 
suggest that this target group would 

be particularly adversely affected 
over any other. 

Arabs  -- -- 

Don’t have the data to specifically 

address the factor but would 
otherwise say would be impacted in 

the same way as other BAME 

groups. 

Any other background not covered 

by any of the above 
 __ __ 

Data on race and ethnicity not held 

so no data  

Religion/Belief 

Target Group 
Positive 

Advers
e 

Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Buddhists     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Christians     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 

from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Hindus     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 

from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Jews     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Muslims     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 

from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Sikhs     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 

from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Page 281



Others     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Sexual Orientation 

Target Group 
Positive 

Advers

e 
Comment or 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Gay men     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 

from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Lesbians     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

Bisexual     

Data not held but all sections of the 

travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 

should deliver 

    

Question 7 

Have you identified two or more 

high adverse impacts in the table 
above? 

 Yes 

    

Question 8 

If you have identified one high 
adverse impact or any medium/low 

adverse impacts, what 
improvements to the activity could 

you make to mitigate high/medium/ 

low adverse impacts? Please give 
details of the improvements you 

plan to make. 

The highest cost risk is that around the requirements for 
vehicles. Mitigation has already been identified in the form of 

a substantial Clean Taxi Fund and discussions are ongoing 
with central government with regards to additional funding 

support in this area. Engagement with the trades continues in 

order to understand the ongoing impacts and risks, 
particularly in the recovery from the pandemic. 

 
Further mitigation is proposed by way of and extended 

exemption period for the CAP, for GM licensed Hackneys and 

Private Hire vehicles. 
 

In order to mitigate the risk of introducing MLS in the absence 
of wider and meaningful national reform, a public awareness 

campaign is essential to encourage residents and visitors to 
use only GM licensed vehicles (and drivers) when travelling. 

 

    

Question 9 

Have you set up equality monitoring systems to carry out regular checks on the effects your activity 

has on the following groups?  

Equality Group 

Has an 

equality 
monitorin

g system 
been set 

up? (Y/N) 

Details 

Age  N 

Whilst we capture this data, we are not 

monitoring regularly. In order to monitor we’d 
have to change our Data sharing agreements to 

explain how this will be used.  

Page 282



Disability  Y 

We currently monitor on a quarterly basis the 
number of complaints we get relating to a 

disability issue, so we can continue to monitor 
the impacts over the course of the activity.  

Gender  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 

capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

Race  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 

capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 
monitor this information would increase 

processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 
 

Religion/Belief  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 

capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 
monitor this information would increase 

processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

 

Sexual Orientation  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 
capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

 

Other  N   

    

Question 10 

How will you measure the success 

of any equality monitoring systems 
identified in Question 9 above? How 

will you ensure that everyone 
involved in the activity knows and 

understands what improvements 
you intend to make and is able to 

put the activity into practice with 

those improvements? 

Regular engagement sessions with trade representatives have 

taken place throughout the activity. Feedback and information 
gathered from these sessions helps inform the assessment of 

the identified risks. Ongoing engagement will ensure that any 
adverse impacts are identified and responded to. 

 
 

    

Question 11 

Are there any elements within this 

activity that require a separate 
Equality Impact Analysis? 

 

    

Question 12 

Is a Full Impact Analysis needed?  
If in Question 6 you identified two 

or more adverse impacts then you 
should either  

 
- abort the activity, or  

- carry out a full analysis  

  

    

Question 13 

List all of the information that you 

have taken into account in carrying 

out this Equality Analysis. 

Data held on the Council’s licensing business system. 

Information known by Service Managers through service 

delivery and daily interaction with customers. 

 

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Corporate Plan Refresh 2021-24
	6 Trafford Climate Emergency Progress Report
	Climate Change Appendix 1 - Climate Change Report Format - Exec
	Climate Change Appendix 2 - CC task and Finish Group GM 5 Year plan and FOE 33 Points
	Climate Change Emergency Task and Finish Group Report v4

	7 Gambling Act 2005 - Statement of Gambling Principles 2022-2025
	SGP Appendix 1 - Summary of Responses
	SGP Appendix 2 - Summary of Response - Betting and Gaming Council
	SGP Appendix 3 - Draft Statement of Gambling Principles v2
	SGP Appendix 4 - Statement of Gambling Principles - EIA

	8 Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 2 Recommendations Report (Vehicles)
	MLS Appendix 1 - Vehicle Standards
	MLS Appendix 2 - Livery and Vehicle Conditions
	MLS Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment


